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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

HALIFAX, Tuesday, November 21, 2017
(121)

[Translation]

The Standing Senate Committee on National Finance met this
day at 9:04 a.m., in Salons A/B of the Westin Nova Scotian, the
chair, the Honourable Percy Mockler, presiding.

Members of the committee present: The Honourable Senators
Andreychuk, Cools, Eaton, Marshall, Mockler and Neufeld (6).

Other senator present: The Honourable Senator Oh (1).

In attendance: Sylvain Fleury, analyst, Parliamentary
Information and Research Service, Library of Parliament.

Also present: The official reporters of the Senate.

Pursuant to the order of reference adopted by the Senate on
Tuesday, September 26, 2017, the committee continued its study
on the Minister of Finance’s proposed changes to the Income Tax
Act respecting the taxation of private corporations and the tax
planning strategies involved. (For complete text of the order of
reference, see proceedings of the committee, Issue No. 39.)

WITNESSES:

Dairy Farmers of Nova Scotia:

Gerrit Damsteegt, Chair.

Nova Scotia Federation of Agriculture:

Chris van den Heuvel, President.

Halifax Chamber of Commerce:

Patrick Sullivan, President and Chief Executive Officer.

Atlantic Chamber of Commerce:

Glenn Davis, Vice President, Policy.

Cape Breton Barristers’ Society:

Nicole LaFosse, Lawyer, LaFosse MacLeod.

The chair made a statement.

Mr. Damsteegt and Mr. van den Heuvel each made a
statement and answered questions.

At 10:22 a.m., the committee suspended.

At 10:35 a.m., the committee resumed.

Mr. Sullivan, Mr. Davis and Ms. LaFosse each made a
statement and answered questions.

At 11:54 a.m., the committee adjourned to the call of the chair.

ATTEST:

PROCÈS-VERBAUX

HALIFAX, le mardi 21 novembre 2017
(121)

[Français]

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des finances nationales se
réunit aujourd’hui, à 9 h 4, dans les salons A/B de l’hôtel Westin
Nova Scotian, sous la présidence de l’honorable Percy Mockler
(président).

Membres du comité présents : Les honorables sénateurs
Andreychuk, Cools, Eaton, Marshall, Mockler et Neufeld (6).

Autre sénateur présent : L’honorable sénateur Oh (1).

Également présent : Sylvain Fleury, analyste, Service
d’information et de recherche parlementaires, Bibliothèque du
Parlement.

Aussi présents : Les sténographes officiels du Sénat.

Conformément à l’ordre de renvoi adopté par le Sénat le mardi
26 septembre 2017, le comité poursuit son étude sur les
modifications proposées par le ministre des Finances à la Loi de
l’impôt sur le revenu concernant l’imposition des sociétés privées et
les stratégies de planification fiscale connexes. (Le texte intégral de
l’ordre de renvoi figure au fascicule no 39 des délibérations du comité.)

TÉMOINS :

Dairy Farmers of Nova Scotia :

Gerrit Damsteegt, président.

Fédération de l’agriculture de la Nouvelle-Écosse :

Chris van den Heuvel, président.

Chambre de commerce d’Halifax :

Patrick Sullivan, président-directeur général.

Chambre de commerce de l’Atlantique :

Glenn Davis, vice-président, Politique.

Cape Breton Barristers’ Society :

Nicole LaFosse, avocate, LaFosse MacLeod.

Le président fait une déclaration.

MM. Damsteegt et van den Heuvel font chacun une
déclaration et répondent aux questions.

À 10 h 22, la séance est suspendue.

À 10 h 35, la séance reprend.

M. Sullivan, M. Davis et Mme LaFosse font chacun une
déclaration et répondent aux questions.

À 11 h 54, la séance est levée jusqu’à nouvelle convocation de la
présidence.

ATTESTÉ :
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HALIFAX, Tuesday, November 21, 2017
(122)

[Translation]

The Standing Senate Committee on National Finance met this
day, at 1:03 p.m., in Salons A/B of the Westin Nova Scotian, the
chair, the Honourable Percy Mockler, presiding.

Members of the committee present: The Honourable Senators
Andreychuk, Cools, Eaton, Marshall, Mockler and Neufeld (6).

Other senator present: The Honourable Senator Oh (1).

In attendance: Sylvain Fleury, analyst, Parliamentary
Information and Research Service, Library of Parliament.

Also present: The official reporters of the Senate.

Pursuant to the order of reference adopted by the Senate on
Tuesday, September 26, 2017, the committee continued its study
on the Minister of Finance’s proposed changes to the Income Tax
Act respecting the taxation of private corporations and the tax
planning strategies involved. (For complete text of the order of
reference, see proceedings of the committee, Issue No. 39.)

WITNESSES:

Doctors Nova Scotia:

Dr. Maria Alexiadis, Family Doctor, Past President.

Cape Breton Medical Staff Association:

Dr. Craig Stone, Physician, President.

Maritime Resident Doctors:

Dr. Caitlin Lees, Chair.

Atlantic Provinces Economic Council:

Finn Poschmann, President and Chief Executive Officer.

As an individual:

Dr. Pierre Schmit, Associate Professor, Radiology and
Pediatric, Dalhousie University — IWK Health Centre.

Flaim Wolsey Hall, Chartered Professional Accountants:

Don Wolsey, Partner.

Halifax-Dartmouth & District Labour Council:

Suzanne MacNeil, President.

The chair made a statement.

Dr. Alexiadis, Dr. Stone and Dr. Lees each made a statement
and answered questions.

At 2:12 p.m., the committee suspended.

At 2:20 p.m., the committee resumed.

Mr. Poschmann, Mr. Schmit, Mr. Wolsey and Ms. MacNeil
each made a statement and answered questions.

HALIFAX, le mardi 21 novembre 2017
(122)

[Français]

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des finances nationales se
réunit aujourd’hui, à 13 h 3, dans les salons A/B de l’hôtel Westin
Nova Scotian, sous la présidence de l’honorable Percy Mockler
(président).

Membres du comité présents : Les honorables sénateurs
Andreychuk, Cools, Eaton, Marshall, Mockler et Neufeld (6).

Autre sénateur présent : L’honorable sénateur Oh (1).

Également présent : Sylvain Fleury, analyste, Service
d’information et de recherche parlementaires, Bibliothèque du
Parlement.

Aussi présents : Les sténographes officiels du Sénat.

Conformément à l’ordre de renvoi adopté par le Sénat le mardi
26 septembre 2017, le comité poursuit son étude sur les
modifications proposées par le ministre des Finances à la Loi de
l’impôt sur le revenu concernant l’imposition des sociétés privées et
les stratégies de planification fiscale connexes. (Le texte intégral de
l’ordre de renvoi figure au fascicule no 39 des délibérations du comité.)

TÉMOINS :

Doctors Nova Scotia :

Dre Maria Alexiadis, médecin de famille, ancienne présidente.

Association du personnel médical du Cap-Breton :

Dr Craig Stone, médecin, président.

Maritime Resident Doctors :

Dre Caitlin Lees, présidente.

Conseil économique des provinces de l’Atlantique :

Finn Poschmann, président-directeur général.

À titre personnel :

Dr Pierre Schmit, professeur agrégé, Radiologie et Pédiatrie,
Université Dalhousie — Centre de soins de santé IWK.

Flaim Wolsey Hall, Chartered Professional Accountants :

Don Wolsey, associé.

Halifax-Dartmouth & District Labour Council :

Suzanne MacNeil, présidente.

Le président fait une déclaration.

Les Drs Alexiadis, Stone et Lees font chacun une déclaration et
répondent aux questions.

À 14 h 12, la séance est suspendue.

À 14 h 20, la séance reprend.

M. Poschmann, M. Schmit, M. Wolsey et Mme MacNeil font
chacun une déclaration et répondent aux questions.
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It was agreed that the document provided by Ms. MacNeil
entitled ‘‘Proposed measures to address tax loopholes for wealthy
owners of Canadian-Controlled Private Corporations’’ (Canadian
Labour Congress/Congrès du travail du Canada), be filed as an
exhibit (Exhibit 1120-1.42/NFFN-SS-4-50 ‘‘5’’).

At 3:33 p.m., the committee adjourned to the call of the chair.

ATTEST:

Gaëtane Lemay

Clerk of the Committee

Il est convenu que le document intitulé « Proposed measures to
address tax loopholes for wealthy owners of Canadian-Controlled
Private Corporations » (Canadian Labour Congress/Congrès du
travail du Canada), présenté par Mme MacNeil, soit classé
comme pièce à l’appui (pièce 1120-1.42/NFFN-SS-4-50 « 5 »)

À 15 h 33, la séance est levée jusqu’à nouvelle convocation de la
présidence.

ATTESTÉ :

La greffière du comité,
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EVIDENCE TÉMOIGNAGES

HALIFAX, Tuesday, November 21, 2017 HALIFAX, le mardi 21 novembre 2017

The Standing Senate Committee on National Finance met this
day at 9:04 a.m. to study the Minister of Finance’s proposed
changes to the Income Tax Act respecting the taxation of private
corporations and the tax planning strategies involved.

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des finances nationales se
réunit aujourd’hui, à 9 h 4, pour étudier les modifications
proposées par le ministre des Finances à la Loi de l’impôt sur le
revenu concernant l’imposition des sociétés privées et les
stratégies de planification fiscale connexes.

Senator Percy Mockler (Chair) in the chair. Le sénateur Percy Mockler (président) occupe le fauteuil.

[English] [Traduction]

The Chair:  Welcome to this meeting of the Standing Senate
Committee on National Finance. My name is Percy Mockler, a
senator from New Brunswick and chair of the committee.
Honourable senators, at this time I would like to ask the senators
to introduce themselves, starting to my left, please.

Le président : Bienvenue à cette séance du Comité sénatorial
permanent des finances nationales. Je m’appelle Percy Mockler
et je suis un sénateur du Nouveau-Brunswick et président du
comité. Je demanderai maintenant à mes collègues de se
présenter successivement, en commençant par ma gauche.

Senator Marshall:  Elizabeth Marshall, Newfoundland and
Labrador.

La sénatrice Marshall : Elizabeth Marshall, Terre-Neuve-et-
Labrador.

Senator Neufeld:  Richard Neufeld, British Columbia. Le sénateur Neufeld : Richard Neufeld, Colombie-
Britannique.

Senator Oh: Victor Oh, Ontario. Le sénateur Oh : Victor Oh, Ontario.

Senator Eaton:  Nicole Eaton, Ontario. La sénatrice Eaton : Nicole Eaton, Ontario.

Senator Cools:  Anne Cools, Toronto, Ontario. La sénatrice Cools : Anne Cools, Toronto, Ontario.

Senator Andreychuk:  Raynell Andreychuk, Saskatchewan. La sénatrice Andreychuk : Raynell Andreychuk,
Saskatchewan.

The Chair:  We also have with us our clerk, Ms. Gaëtane
Lemay, and our analyst, Sylvain Fleury.

Le président : Nous avons aussi avec nous la greffière du
comité, Mme Gaëtane Lemay, et notre analyste, Sylvain Fleury.

This morning the committee continues its special study on the
proposed changes to the Income Tax Act respecting the taxation
of private corporations and the tax planning strategies involved,
changes that the Minister of Finance proposed during the
summer of 2017.

Ce matin, le comité poursuit son étude spéciale sur les
modifications proposées à la Loi de l’impôt sur le revenu
concernant l’imposition des sociétés privées et les stratégies de
planification fiscale connexes, modifications que le ministre des
Finances a proposées au cours de l’été 2017.

The committee received this mandate from the Senate of
Canada on September 26, 2017. The Standing Senate Committee
on National Finance was authorized to examine and report on the
Minister of Finance’s proposed changes to the Income Tax Act
respecting the taxation of private corporations and the tax
planning strategies involved, in particular income sprinkling,
holding passive investments inside a private corporation, and
also converting income into capital gains. The committee was
also asked to take particular note of the impact of the
government’s proposed changes on incorporated small
businesses and professionals, economic growth and government
finances, the fairness of the taxation of different types of income
and other related matters.

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des finances nationales a reçu,
le 26 septembre 2017, du Sénat du Canada le mandat d’examiner
les modifications proposées par le ministre des Finances à la Loi
de l’impôt sur le revenu concernant l’imposition des sociétés
privées et les stratégies de planification fiscale connexes,
notamment la répartition du revenu, le placement de revenu
passif dans une société privée et la conversion des revenus d’une
société en gains en capital, et de faire rapport à ce sujet. Il a
également été demandé au comité de se pencher de façon
particulière sur les répercussions des changements proposés par
le gouvernement sur les petites entreprises et les professionnels
constitués en société, sur la croissance économique et les
finances publiques, sur l’équité de l’imposition des différents
types de revenus et sur d’autres questions connexes.
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That said, the committee will submit its final report to the
Senate no later than December 15, 2017, and will retain all
powers necessary to publicize its findings for 180 days after
presenting the final report.

Cela étant dit, le comité présentera son rapport final au Sénat
au plus tard le 15 décembre 2017 et conservera tous les pouvoirs
nécessaires pour rendre publiques ses conclusions pendant les
180 jours qui suivent.

This morning marks our twenty-fourth public meeting dealing
with this subject matter. Yesterday we were in St. John’s,
Newfoundland and Labrador, for a full day of hearings.

La séance de ce matin constitue notre 24e réunion publique sur
le sujet. Hier, nous étions à St. John’s, Terre-Neuve-et-Labrador,
où nous avons tenu une journée complète d’audiences.

In Ottawa, earlier this fall, we held 13 public meetings where
we heard from over 60 witnesses.

Plus tôt cet automne, nous avons tenu à Ottawa 13 réunions
publiques au cours desquelles nous avons entendu plus de
60 témoins.

Two weeks ago, we were in Western Canada where our
hearings generated a lot of interest from the business community,
the health, agricultural, and farming industries. More than 30
witnesses testified before us at our meetings in Vancouver,
Calgary, Saskatoon, and Winnipeg.

Il y a deux semaines, nous étions dans l’Ouest canadien où nos
audiences ont suscité beaucoup d’intérêt de la part du milieu des
affaires et des secteurs de la santé, de l’agroalimentaire et de
l’agriculture. Plus de 30 témoins ont comparu devant nous à
Vancouver, Calgary, Saskatoon et Winnipeg.

Honourable senators, this morning we have on our first panel
the Dairy Farmers of Nova Scotia, Gerrit Damsteegt, Chair. We
also have, from the Nova Scotia Federation of Agriculture, Chris
van den Heuvel, President.

Chers collègues, nous accueillons ce matin, dans notre premier
groupe de témoins, Gerrit Damsteegt, président de Dairy
Farmers of Nova Scotia, et Chris van den Heuvel, président de la
Fédération de l’agriculture de la Nouvelle-Écosse.

You will have approximately five minutes to make your
presentations and it will be followed by questions from senators.

Les témoins disposeront d’environ cinq minutes pour faire leur
exposé, après quoi les sénateurs pourront y aller de leurs
questions.

The chair will recognize Gerrit Damsteegt, to be followed by
Mr. van den Heuvel.

Je laisse la parole à nos témoins, d’abord à M. Gerrit
Damsteegt et ensuite à M. van den Heuvel.

Gerrit Damsteegt, Chair, Dairy Farmers of Nova Scotia:
Thank you very much for the opportunity to speak to you today.

Gerrit Damsteegt, président, Dairy Farmers of Nova
Scotia : Je vous remercie beaucoup de l’occasion qui m’est
donnée de comparaître devant vous aujourd’hui.

Just to give you a bit of background of who I am, I farm about
40 minutes north of here with my family on a dairy farm. I am
Chairman of Dairy Farmers of Nova Scotia. I am also a director
on Dairy Farmers of Canada.

Je vous donnerai, si vous le voulez bien, quelques
renseignements sur moi-même. Je suis exploitant, avec ma
famille, d’une ferme laitière qui se trouve à environ 40 minutes
au nord d’ici. Je suis président du conseil de Dairy Farmers of
Nova Scotia. Je suis également membre du conseil
d’administration des Producteurs laitiers du Canada.

In my presentation I want to set the stage a little bit to get an
indication of what the industry is like. So, without wasting any
of my precious minutes, I would like to present to you the
following.

Je voudrais aujourd’hui, dans mon exposé, décrire
sommairement le cadre dans lequel nous fonctionnons pour que
vous puissiez vous faire une idée de ce qu’est l’industrie laitière
canadienne. Comme les minutes me sont comptées, j’entreprends
sans plus tarder mon exposé.

Thank you, Mr. Chair and committee members, for the
opportunity to share our perspective on the proposed changes on
tax planning to private corporations.

Je me félicite, monsieur le président et membres du comité,
d’avoir la possibilité de faire connaître notre point de vue sur les
changements proposés, qui se répercuteront sur la planification
fiscale des sociétés privées.

Dairy Farmers of Canada is a national policy, lobbying, and
promotional organization representing Canada’s farmers living
on approximately 11,000 dairy farms, about 220 in this province.
Dairy Farmers of Canada strives to create stable conditions for
the Canadian dairy industry today and in the future, and works to

Organisme national d’étude des politiques, de lobbying et de
promotion, les Producteurs laitiers du Canada représentent
approximativement 11 000 exploitants de fermes laitières au
Canada, dont environ 220 dans cette province. Les Producteurs
laitiers du Canada s’emploient à instaurer des conditions stables
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maintain policies that foster the viability of the Canadian dairy
farmers to promote dairy products and their health benefits.

pour l’industrie laitière canadienne d’aujourd’hui et de demain et
à maintenir des politiques qui favorisent la viabilité des
producteurs laitiers canadiens dans le but de promouvoir les
produits laitiers et leurs bienfaits pour la santé.

The Canadian dairy sector is a consistent, positive contributor
to the economic stability of the Canadian economy. In 2015, the
sector’s economic contribution amounted to $11.9 billion
towards Canada’s GDP, and $3.8 billion in tax revenue. In
addition, the dairy sector sustains approximately 221,000 jobs in
Canada, while providing Canadians with fresh, high-quality,
nutritious products without any of the direct government
subsidies provided in other jurisdictions.

Le secteur laitier canadien contribue de façon constante et
positive à la stabilité économique de l’économie canadienne. En
2015, il a compté pour 11,9 milliards de dollars dans le PIB du
Canada et pour 3,8 milliards de dollars en recettes fiscales. De
plus, tout en offrant aux Canadiens des produits frais, nutritifs et
de haute qualité, mais sans bénéficier de subventions
gouvernementales directes comme celles accordées ailleurs, le
secteur laitier représente environ 221 000 emplois au Canada.

Now regarding the proposed tax changes, I would like to note
that Dairy Farmers of Nova Scotia fully support the Canadian
Federation of Agriculture in all of its advocacy on this issue. In
general, I would say that, at this point, although we are
cautiously optimistic as an industry about the changes announced
to date, it is my understanding that there is still a number of
details that remain to be sorted out.

Pour ce qui est des modifications fiscales proposées, je tiens à
signaler que notre organisme, Dairy Farmers of Nova Scotia,
appuie sans réserve les efforts de la Fédération canadienne de
l’agriculture dans ce dossier. De façon générale, je dirais qu’à ce
stade-ci, bien que nous, de l’industrie, soyons prudemment
optimistes quant aux changements annoncés jusqu’à présent,
j’estime qu’il reste encore bon nombre de détails à régler.

In particular, on income sprinkling a simplified reasonableness
test was announced with a decision made not to move forward on
the more troubling limitations that were proposed for the lifetime
capital gains exemption. The primary concern we have now with
this proposal is the potential applications of the simplified test to
capital gains. This could complicate succession planning.

En particulier, au chapitre de la répartition du revenu, un
critère simplifié de raisonnabilité a été annoncé et la décision a
été prise de ne pas aller de l’avant avec la proposition
comportant des restrictions plus inquiétantes visant l’exonération
cumulative des gains en capital. Ce qui nous préoccupe
principalement en ce moment dans cette proposition, ce sont les
applications éventuelles du critère simplifié aux gains en capital.
Cela pourrait compliquer la planification de la relève.

There is also a concern that any test, even a simplified one
based on determining whether any meaningful contributions
were made, will create subjectivity and a significant compliance
burden for producers.

Nous nous préoccupons également du fait que tout critère,
même simplifié et visant la confirmation de contributions
véritables, ouvrira la porte à la subjectivité et imposera aux
producteurs le lourd fardeau d’avoir à démontrer leur conformité.

Now on passive investment income, while the decision to
announce a $50,000 threshold that grandfathers existing assets
looks like a step in the right direction, further analysis will be
required once more details are available to determine its
appropriateness. The major concern we have is with the
treatment of rented out land and what these rules could mean for
producers’ risk management and succession plans. It is my
understanding that the Canadian Federation of Agriculture has
also recommended that a $50,000 threshold be cumulative and
indexed to inflation, which we will support.

J’arrive au revenu de placements passifs. Bien que la décision
d’annoncer un seuil d’exonération de 50 000 $ pour les actifs
existants semble être un pas dans la bonne direction, il faudra,
pour en déterminer la pertinence, une analyse plus poussée une
fois que des détails supplémentaires seront connus. Nous nous
préoccupons surtout du traitement des terres louées et des effets
que ces règles pourraient avoir sur la gestion du risque et les
plans de relève des producteurs. Je crois comprendre que la
Fédération canadienne de l’agriculture a également recommandé
qu’un seuil de 50 000 $ soit cumulatif et indexé sur l’inflation.
Nous entérinons cette recommandation.

On conversation of income and capital gains, like the CFA we
are pleased to see that government will no longer move ahead
with any of the proposed changes. It is our understanding that
CFA will work closely with the Minister of Finance on how to
better facilitate genuine intergenerational business transfers.

Quant à la discussion sur le revenu et les gains en capital, nous
sommes heureux, tout comme la FCA, de constater que le
gouvernement n’ira de l’avant avec aucun des changements
proposés. Il nous a été donné de comprendre que la FCA
travaillera en étroite collaboration avec le ministre des Finances
en vue de trouver une formule pour faciliter les authentiques
transferts intergénérationnels d’entreprises.
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I would like to point out that, although the government has
rightly identified agriculture as an economic driver and an area
of growth, some of the policies currently under consideration put
all of that at risk. Indeed, if you ask farmers about supply
management, they will probably say that it is hard not to feel like
we are being targeted in the current climate by these proposed
taxation changes, from the removal of dairy products as a
category in the Canadian Food Guide to demonizing nutritious
dairy products by characterizing them as unhealthy and branding
them with warning labels. Although the government and all
parties have repeatedly and publicly noted their support for
supply management, it is difficult not to feel like we are being
slashed by 1,000 cuts.

Je tiens à signaler que, bien que le gouvernement ait, à juste
titre, reconnu l’agriculture comme un moteur économique et un
secteur de croissance, certaines des politiques actuellement à
l’étude mettent tout cela en péril. De fait, si vous interrogez les
agriculteurs au sujet de la gestion de l’offre, ils diront
probablement qu’il est difficile, dans le climat actuel, de ne pas
avoir l’impression d’être ciblés par les modifications fiscales
proposées, comme d’ailleurs par la suppression de la catégorie
des produits laitiers du Guide alimentaire canadien ou la
diabolisation de produits laitiers nutritifs en les qualifiant de
malsains et en leur apposant des étiquettes de mise en garde.
Bien que le gouvernement et tous les partis se soient à maintes
reprises et publiquement prononcés en faveur de la gestion de
l’offre, il est difficile de ne pas sentir que nous sommes touchés
par mille traits.

While we certainly continue to appreciate the government’s
ongoing support on challenges like the renegotiation of NAFTA,
Canada’s domestic policies are completely within the
government’s control. It is incumbent upon the government to
listen to the concerns of stakeholders on any proposed policy and
to take that input into account and make adjustments as
necessary when they are confronted with a solid evidence base. It
is my sincere hope that the input of stakeholders will be
predominantly featured in the final version of this policy and all
others.

Il va sans dire que nous apprécions le soutien constant apporté
par le gouvernement confronté à des défis comme la
renégociation de l’ALENA, mais il importe de rappeler que les
politiques intérieures du Canada sont entièrement sous le
contrôle du gouvernement. Il incombe au gouvernement de
prendre connaissance des préoccupations des intervenants au
sujet de toute politique proposée, de tenir compte de leurs
observations et d’apporter les ajustements nécessaires en
conséquence des arguments probants portés à sa connaissance.
J’espère sincèrement que les observations des intervenants
inspireront profondément la version finale de cette politique,
ainsi que de toutes les autres.

With that, I will end my presentation and welcome any
questions that you may have. Thank you once again for the time.

Je terminerai là-dessus, en vous remerciant de nouveau pour le
temps de parole que vous m’avez accordé. Je me ferai un plaisir
de répondre à vos questions.

The Chair:  The chair recognizes Mr. van den Heuvel. Le président : Je cède maintenant la parole à M. van den
Heuvel.

Chris van den Heuvel, President, Nova Scotia Federation
of Agriculture:  Thank you, Mr. Chairperson, committee
members, for the opportunity to speak here before you today on
the proposed tax changes that will impact our farms and
consequently our industry.

Chris van den Heuvel, président, Fédération de
l’agriculture de la Nouvelle-Écosse : Je vous remercie,
monsieur le président, ainsi que les membres du comité, de
m’avoir donné l’occasion de prendre la parole devant vous
aujourd’hui au sujet des modifications fiscales proposées, qui ne
manqueraient pas d’avoir des répercussions sur nos exploitations
agricoles et, par conséquent, sur notre industrie.

A little bit of background on myself. My name is Chris van
den Heuvel. I am a dairy farmer from the western part of Cape
Breton Island, and I am President of the Nova Scotia Federation
of Agriculture. We represent the 27 different commodity groups,
13 different county federations, and the over 2,400 farm families
that are present within Nova Scotia.

Je m’appelle Chris van den Heuvel, et je suis un producteur
laitier dans la partie ouest de l’île du Cap-Breton. Je suis
également président de la Fédération de l’agriculture de la
Nouvelle-Écosse, qui représente les agriculteurs des 27 différents
groupes de produits, 13 fédérations de comté et plus de
2 400 familles d’agriculteurs en Nouvelle-Écosse.

I first want to applaud the federal government for listening to
farmers’ concerns about the proposed changes this summer.
Pulling back on many of the proposed changes shows that they
were listening to us and to many of our concerns. There were;
however, a couple of alarming points with regard to the changes.

Je tiens d’abord à féliciter le gouvernement fédéral d’avoir
écouté les préoccupations des agriculteurs au sujet des
changements proposés cet été. Le fait de revenir sur bon nombre
des changements proposés montre qu’il nous a écoutés et a tenu
compte de beaucoup de nos préoccupations. Il y a eu cependant
quelques points forts inquiétants autour de ces changements.
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The first obvious alarm was the timing. Proposed changes
were announced during the busy season for farmers, and
consultations closed during the same busy season. Ultimately,
this provided very limited time for farms and farm organizations
to study in detail the implications that these complex changes
would have on farm businesses.

Le premier point ayant suscité l’inquiétude tenait au calendrier
établi pour les consultations. Les changements proposés ont été
annoncés pendant la saison de forte activité pour les agriculteurs
et les consultations se sont terminées pendant la même saison.
Au bout du compte, les agriculteurs et les organisations agricoles
ont disposé de très peu de temps pour étudier en détail les
répercussions que ces changements complexes auraient sur les
entreprises agricoles.

The tax tools that were being targeted were not the vicious tax
adverting loopholes that were being portrayed. They are financial
planning tools that provide strategy for farm succession plans
across generations and within families. Most farms, even your
typical traditional family farm, incorporate for a variety of
reasons. The tax cost of transferring a farm within the family is
much higher, almost double that if you transfer outside of your
family, unless using private corporations. We are talking about
farms valued at millions of dollars and the difference of 15 or so
percentage points can add up in a hurry.

Les outils fiscaux visés n’étaient pas les vilaines échappatoires
fiscales que l’on décrivait. Il s’agit d’outils de planification
financière qui offrent des stratégies pour les plans de relève
agricole entre générations et à l’intérieur des familles. La plupart
des exploitations agricoles, même la ferme familiale
traditionnelle, sont constituées en société pour diverses raisons.
Le coût fiscal du transfert d’une exploitation agricole au sein de
la famille est beaucoup plus élevé, presque le double de celui
d’un transfert à l’extérieur de la famille, à moins de le faire par
l’intermédiaire d’une société privée. Il est question ici
d’exploitations agricoles dont la valeur se situe dans les millions
de dollars, et la différence d’environ 15 points de pourcentage
peut s’accumuler rapidement.

Another reason farms incorporate is to allow access to capital
gains exemption on the sale of a farm. In the sale of a company
shares to a non-related corporation, a holding company is
generally used, and this allows the purchaser to access the
acquired company’s income stream and allows the vendor to
access the enhanced capital gain exemption on the sale.
However, as mentioned, when dealing with family members the
proceeds are treated as a dividend, preventing farm families from
being able to access the capital gains exemption.

Une autre raison qui incite les exploitations agricoles à se
constituer en société, c’est de bénéficier de l’exonération des
gains en capital au moment de leur vente. Pour la vente d’actions
d’une société à une société non liée, on passe généralement par
une société de portefeuille, ce qui permet à l’acheteur d’avoir
accès au flux de revenus de la société acquise et au vendeur
d’avoir accès à l’exemption pour gains en capital bonifiée à la
vente. Toutefois, comme cela a été mentionné, le produit de la
vente est traité comme un dividende, ce qui empêche les familles
d’agriculteurs de bénéficier de l’exonération des gains en capital.

Section 84.1 of the Income Tax Act must be amended to
facilitate access to the capital gains exemption for farm transfers
to immediate family members, thus ensuring equal treatment.

L’article 84.1 de la Loi de l’impôt sur le revenu doit être
modifié pour faciliter l’accès à l’exonération des gains en capital
pour les transferts agricoles aux membres de la famille
immédiate, ce qui permettrait d’assurer l’égalité de traitement.

I would also like to touch on income sprinkling. Farms are
family operations by their nature, with every generation playing
their appropriate role in the day-to-day tasks. Income sprinkling
is a way that we recognize the value and the work that our
children and their children put into their farms and growing our
crops each and every year. There are many benefits to children
working on the farm: Instilling a strong work ethic and teaching
valuable life lessons are just two of these benefits. Appropriate
tasks are identified using the National Children’s Centre for
Rural and Agricultural Health and Safety, and they have
agricultural youth work guidelines that help parents and others in
assigning age appropriate tasks for youth who live or work on
farms.

Je veux également aborder la question de la répartition du
revenu. Les exploitations agricoles sont, de par leur nature, des
affaires familiales, chaque génération jouant le rôle qui lui
revient dans le travail quotidien. La répartition du revenu est un
moyen de reconnaître la valeur et le travail que nos enfants et
leurs enfants apportent, année après année, à la ferme elle-même
et aux travaux de culture. Il y a de nombreux avantages pour les
enfants qui travaillent à la ferme, notamment l’acquisition d’une
solide éthique de travail et l’enseignement de précieuses leçons
de vie. Les tâches qui leur conviennent sont définies par le
National Children’s Centre for Rural and Agricultural Health and
Safety, qui a établi des lignes directrices sur le travail agricole
des jeunes afin d’aider leurs parents et d’autres personnes à
assigner les tâches en fonction de l’âge des jeunes qui vivent ou
travaillent à la ferme.
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Another alarming point was the impact that these proposed
changes would have compounded on the industry. The Advisory
Council on Economic Growth has identified agriculture as a key
priority sector that has great potential in both the domestic and
international markets. The challenges presented in the council’s
report to increase agricultural exports by 50 per cent over the
next 10 years will require on-farm investments, and the amount
of funds that would have been available for farms to contribute
to these challenges would have been significantly lower if the
proposed tax changes to private corporations went through.

Les répercussions que les changements proposés auraient eues
sur l’industrie sont un autre point qui a soulevé de vives
inquiétudes. Le Conseil consultatif en matière de croissance
économique a déterminé que l’agriculture est un secteur
prioritaire clé qui a un grand potentiel sur les marchés intérieur
et extérieur. Les défis exposés dans le rapport du conseil pour
augmenter les exportations agricoles de 50 p. 100 au cours des
10 prochaines années nécessiteront des investissements au
niveau des exploitations agricoles, et le montant des fonds qui
auraient été disponibles pour que celles-ci puissent aider à
relever ces défis aurait été beaucoup moins élevé si les
modifications fiscales proposées visant les sociétés privées
avaient été adoptées.

In closing, I would like to make a few recommendations. The
reasonableness test for income sprinkling must be better defined.
The timeframe for consultations on the changes was
unacceptable and any future consultations on anything that
would impact agriculture and farmers should not take place
during our busy cropping seasons.

En terminant, j’aimerais formuler quelques recommandations.
Il faut mieux définir le critère de raisonnabilité pour la
répartition du revenu. Le calendrier des consultations était
inacceptable et toute consultation future sur quoi que ce soit qui
pourrait avoir une incidence sur l’agriculture et les agriculteurs
ne devrait pas avoir lieu durant la saison de forte activité
agricole.

On the topic of taxes, facilitate the transfer of family farms by
levelling the playing field. In a sale of company shares to non-
related corporations, as I mentioned, holding companies are
generally used allowing the purchaser to access the company’s
income stream and the vendor to access the enhanced capital
gains exemption. But when dealing with family, the proceeds are
treated as a dividend. So, we must change Section 84.1 of the
Income Tax Act to facilitate access to that capital gains
exemption for farm transfers to immediate family members, thus
ensuring equal treatment to all farm families.

Quant à la fiscalité, il faut faciliter le transfert des
exploitations familiales en uniformisant les règles du jeu. Dans le
cas de la vente d’actions d’une société à des sociétés non liées,
comme je l’ai déjà mentionné, on passe généralement par une
société de portefeuille afin de permettre à l’acheteur d’avoir
accès au flux de revenus de la société et au vendeur d’avoir accès
à l’exemption pour gains en capital bonifiée. Mais lorsque le
transfert se fait au sein de la famille, le produit de la vente est
traité comme un dividende. Il faut donc modifier l’article 84.1 de
la Loi de l’impôt sur le revenu de façon à faciliter l’accès à cette
exonération des gains en capital dans le cas des transferts d’une
exploitation agricole aux membres de la famille immédiate,
assurant ainsi un traitement égal à toutes les familles
d’agriculteurs.

Once again, thank you very much for the opportunity to speak
before you here today and I will gladly welcome any questions
that you may have.

Encore une fois, je vous remercie de m’avoir donné l’occasion
de prendre la parole devant vous aujourd’hui. Je serai heureux de
répondre à vos questions.

The Chair:  The first question will go to Senator Marshall, to
be followed by Senators Eaton, Andreychuk and Neufeld.

Le président : La sénatrice Marshall sera la première à poser
des questions et sera suivie des sénatrices Eaton et Andreychuk,
et du sénateur Neufeld.

Senator Marshall:  Thank you for being here this morning. I
will start off with a detailed question and then I will ask a
general question.

La sénatrice Marshall : Merci de vous être déplacés ce
matin. Je commencerai par une question détaillée, puis je poserai
une question générale.

Mr. Damsteegt, I am looking at your opening remarks and at
the dollar numbers you provided; the $19.9 billion toward
Canada’s GDP. You estimate $3.8 billion in tax revenues. I
know that when the Minister of Finance spoke about the
proposals that are on the table, he mentioned with regard to the
tax on split income that they are looking at raising an additional
$250 million, and from passive income he indicated multiples of
$250 million, although I suspect that has been downgraded with

Monsieur Damsteegt, je reviens sur vos observations
préliminaires et sur les chiffres que vous avez avancés, soit les
19,9 milliards de dollars pour le PIB du Canada. Vous estimez à
3,8 milliards de dollars les recettes fiscales. Je sais que le
ministre des Finances, lorsqu’il a parlé des propositions qui sont
sur la table, a mentionné, relativement à l’impôt sur le revenu
fractionné, qu’il envisageait de percevoir 250 millions de dollars
de plus, et, à partir du revenu passif, il a fait état de multiples de
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the revisions to the proposals. Do you have any idea what impact
those two proposals will have on your $3.8 billion in tax
revenue? Has there been any discussion on that? I know the
details of the proposals have not been released, but I am curious
as to the dollar impact.

250 millions de dollars, quoique je soupçonne que ce chiffre a
été revu à la baisse dans les propositions révisées. Avez-vous
une idée de l’incidence que ces deux propositions auraient sur les
recettes fiscales de 3,8 milliards de dollars? Y a-t-il eu des
discussions à ce sujet? Je sais que les détails des propositions
n’ont pas été rendus publics, mais je suis curieuse de savoir
quelle serait leur incidence financière.

Mr. Damsteegt:  Thank you for the question. Certainly I
think you hit the nail on the head with your last comment. The
details have not been released and I think the uncertainty around
all of this is the big issue. I cannot give you any revised numbers
at this point in time. What I can give you is the reality of the
uncertainty of this tax bill hanging above us, not knowing if it is
retroactive or what is required in regard to this reasonableness
test?

M. Damsteegt : Merci pour la question. Certes, je pense que
vous avez frappé dans le mille avec votre dernière remarque. Les
détails n’ont pas été rendus publics, et je suis d’avis que
l’incertitude entourant toute cette question est un gros problème.
Je ne peux pas vous donner de chiffres révisés pour le moment.
Ce que je peux vous dire, c’est que l’incertitude que ce projet de
loi fiscal fait planer sur nos têtes est bien réelle, puisque
personne ne sait si la mesure sera rétroactive, ni ce qui sera exigé
pour l’application de ce critère de raisonnabilité.

I want to share something with this committee. I have a son at
home right now who wants to take over. He hears all these things
and he asks me, “Dad, should I really do this?” That is the reality
of it.

Je veux vous faire part d’un cas qui me touche
personnellement. J’ai un fils à la maison qui veut prendre le
relais. Il entend toutes ces choses et me demande : « Papa, dois-
je vraiment faire ça? » Telle est la réalité.

On supply management, I can speak for the dairy sector; Chris
will speak for all the other commodities. It is the stability. This
industry is growing. It is growing exponentially in this country.
But because of the things that they are hanging above us, there
are a lot of people holding off on investments because they want
to know where this will go. That is what we need.

En ce qui concerne la gestion de l’offre, je peux parler au nom
du secteur laitier; Chris parlera au nom des producteurs de tous
les autres secteurs. L’essentiel, c’est la stabilité. Notre industrie
est en pleine croissance. Elle croît de façon exponentielle au
Canada. Mais à cause des incertitudes qui pendent au-dessus de
nos têtes, beaucoup de gens hésitent à investir parce qu’ils
veulent savoir où cela va nous mener. C’est la stabilité qu’il nous
faut.

Senator Marshall:  I realize that there is a lot of uncertainty,
and I know that it is not just the tax changes. You mentioned
supply management, so NAFTA would be a concern. I would
expect rising interest rates would be a concern, and there is some
indication of an economic slowdown. All of those things play
into the mix.

La sénatrice Marshall : Je me rends compte qu’il y a
beaucoup d’incertitude, et je sais qu’il n’y a pas que les
modifications fiscales. Vous avez parlé de la gestion de l’offre;
l’ALENA serait alors une source de préoccupation. Je
m’attendrais à ce que la hausse des taux d’intérêt en soit une
également. Il y a aussi des signes de ralentissement économique.
Tous ces facteurs jouent dans le mélange.

Could you tell us what exactly your members are saying to
you? In your remarks, you gave some general information. But
what are your members saying with regard to how this will
impact them individually? Could you relate some specific
examples to us? I know that these changes will have significant
implications for a lot of families. I know, for example, that the
split income proposal is really going to impact you because you
have a family farm.

Pourriez-vous nous dire ce que vos membres vous disent
exactement? Dans vos remarques, vous avez donné des
informations générales. Mais qu’est-ce que vos membres disent
de la façon dont cela les touchera individuellement? Pourriez-
vous nous donner quelques exemples précis? Je sais que ces
changements auront des répercussions importantes sur de
nombreuses familles. Je sais, par exemple, que la proposition
visant le fractionnement du revenu vous touchera vraiment,
puisque vous avez une ferme familiale.

We heard from other witnesses that some farmers are actually
doing things. They are trying to second guess the federal
government. They are taking action now as a pre-emptive strike,
not knowing if they are going to hit the nail on the head. So,
could you give us just some ideas as to what you are hearing
from your members?

D’autres témoins nous ont dit que certains agriculteurs sont
déjà passés à l’action. Ils tentent de deviner ce que le
gouvernement fédéral décidera. Ils agissent dès maintenant,
comme par mesure préventive, sans savoir, bien sûr, s’ils auront
bien deviné. Alors, pourriez-vous nous donner quelque idée de
ce que vous entendez de vos membres?
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Mr. van den Heuvel:  Thank you very much for the question.
Both of us have touched a little bit on this subject. I think the
biggest thing that we are hearing, obviously, is the uncertainty
about these proposed changes, and the devil is in the details, as
they always say. Some of the biggest concerns that we are
hearing from our memberships are especially around the income
sprinkling. All of the concerns are very important, but we hear a
lot about this reasonableness test and what will be allowed or
disallowed insofar as on-farm work, on-farm labour, and on-farm
valuation of the contributions that family members make.

M. van den Heuvel : Je vous remercie beaucoup pour cette
question. Nous avons tous les deux touché un peu à ce sujet. Je
pense que ce que nous entendons principalement, c’est,
évidemment, l’incertitude entourant les changements proposés,
et, comme on dit souvent, c’est dans le détail que les choses
accrochent. Parmi les grandes préoccupations exprimées par nos
membres, beaucoup ont trait à la répartition du revenu. Toutes
les préoccupations ont leur importance, mais nous entendons
beaucoup parler de ce critère de raisonnabilité et de ce qui sera
permis ou non pour ce qui est du travail à la ferme, de la main-
d’œuvre agricole et de l’évaluation des contributions faites par
les membres de la famille à la ferme.

They are family farms by nature, as I mentioned in my
remarks. My son is a partner with me right now. His daughter,
who is just growing up, is already in the barn, and she is not
quite two years old. She knows that she has to give one scoop of
feed to those cows. I mean, they start learning these things at a
very young age and they start learning the value of a great work
ethic. We need to be able to show them, and instill those values
in them, and provide value for their efforts.

Ce sont des fermes familiales par nature, comme je l’ai
mentionné dans mes observations. Mon fils est mon associé en
ce moment. Sa fille, qui n’a pas encore deux ans, est déjà dans la
grange et elle sait qu’elle doit donner une pelletée de moulée à
chaque vache. Ce que je veux faire ressortir, c’est que les enfants
apprennent ces choses à un très jeune âge et commencent à
comprendre très tôt la valeur d’une bonne éthique de travail.
Nous devons pouvoir leur montrer comment faire, leur inculquer
ces valeurs et valoriser leurs efforts.

So I think that being lumped in with some of the tax averting
methods that some of these other corporations were trying to
achieve is unfair to our members, and I think those are some of
the biggest things.

Je pense donc qu’il est injuste que nos membres soient
assimilés aux propriétaires de certaines autres sociétés qui
tentent de recourir à des méthodes d’évitement fiscal. Voilà
quelles sont, d’après moi, quelques-unes des grandes
préoccupations.

Senator Marshall:  What are they are saying about the
passive income proposal? I am looking for a definition. What is
included in passive income? Black and white, what will be in
there?

La sénatrice Marshall : Que disent-ils de la proposition sur
le revenu passif? Je cherche une définition. Que comprend le
revenu passif? En noir sur blanc, qu’y aura-t-il là-dedans?

Mr. Damsteegt:  I have to admit I am not a specialist in this
field. To be a little bit more prepared to speak to you today, I had
a meeting yesterday with my accountant, who is with
PriceWaterhouseCoopers. They are very well recognized. From
talking to them, as you just mentioned earlier, some individuals
are taking action, guessing what government might do. They are
really discouraging producers from doing this because you can
move money around, but you do not know.

M. Damsteegt : Je dois reconnaître que je ne suis pas
spécialiste de ce domaine. Pour me préparer un peu mieux à vous
parler aujourd’hui, j’ai vu hier mon comptable, chez
PriceWaterhouseCoopers. Ces gens-là ont une excellente
réputation. En discutant avec eux, comme vous venez de le
mentionner, j’ai appris que certaines personnes anticipent les
intentions du gouvernement pour agir. Les comptables
déconseillent vraiment d’agir ainsi : on peut toujours déplacer de
l’argent, mais on ne sait jamais.

With the passive income proposal, certainly that is an issue
because as farmers you make certain investments. You have
investments in land, certain properties, and so on, and you do
that for strategic reasons.

Avec la proposition sur le revenu passif, c’est certainement un
problème parce que les agriculteurs font certains
investissements. Ils font des investissements dans des terres,
certaines propriétés, et ainsi de suite, pour des raisons
stratégiques.

I have four kids, and the youngest one is a 13-year-old
daughter. I believe she was born in the barn because she just
loves to be there. As soon as she comes home from school, she is
in the barn. That is what she wants today. For her to have the
opportunity 10 years from now to be part of the farm, I might
have to make decisions today with regard to purchasing land,
doing things to create opportunity.

J’ai quatre enfants; ma plus jeune a 13 ans. Je crois qu’elle est
née dans la grange, parce qu’elle adore s’y trouver. Sitôt rentrée
de l’école, elle est dans la grange. C’est ce qu’elle veut
aujourd’hui. Pour lui donner la possibilité de faire partie de la
ferme dans 10 ans, je devrai peut-être décider aujourd’hui
d’acheter une terre, pour ouvrir de nouvelles perspectives.
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Senator Marshall:  Looking forward. La sénatrice Marshall : Il faut penser à l’avenir.

Mr. Damsteegt:  I might not need it today. Is it not a passive
investment? I do not use it directly.

M. Damsteegt : Je n’en aurai peut-être pas besoin
aujourd’hui. N’est-ce pas un investissement passif? Je ne l’utilise
pas directement.

In regard to this reasonableness test, I have to admit to all of
you that dairy farmers do not work by the hour. I do not know
what I make an hour. My kids do not know what they make an
hour. We pay our children a reasonable amount of money to
offset the work they do. It is not from 8:00 until 4:00. When I
need help at 5 o’clock in the morning, the knock is on the door
and they come and help. If it is 9 o’clock at night, so be it. So for
that very reason when we talk about reasonable, that is
reasonable. For quite a few people it is not reasonable to ask
somebody at 9 o’clock to come and help, but that is what we are
up against.

Quant au critère de raisonnabilité, je dois vous avouer à vous
tous que les producteurs laitiers ne travaillent pas à l’heure.
J’ignore combien je fais à l’heure. Mes enfants ignorent combien
ils font à l’heure. Nous leur payons un montant raisonnable pour
le travail qu’ils font. Ce n’est pas du 8 à 4. Quand j’ai besoin
d’aide à 5 heures du matin, je frappe à la porte et ils viennent
m’aider. À 21 heures, c’est pareil. Pour bien des gens, il n’est
pas raisonnable de demander l’aide de quelqu’un à 21 heures,
mais c’est notre réalité.

Senator Marshall:  It is very grey and at some point, I expect
they will define it. I do not know if they will be defining it in
black and white though.

La sénatrice Marshall : C’est une zone très grise et je
m’attends qu’on la définisse à un certain moment donné.
J’ignore si on la définira noir sur blanc.

Senator Eaton:  Mr. Damsteegt, I want to come back to
something you said in your presentation. It is my understanding
that CFA has recommended that the $50,000 threshold be
cumulative and indexed to inflation, which we would support.
Being a dairy farmer, obviously you have your good years and
your bad years. You also have your retirement to consider. As
you said, you do not know which of your children, or how many
of your children, might want to stay on the land. You have new
equipment to buy, milkers and all the various new equipment. I
was just at the Royal Winter Fair and watched them, it is quite
extraordinary. Do you really think that $50,000 cumulative is
enough to expand, renew your equipment, provide for retirement,
and for bad years?

La sénatrice Eaton : Monsieur Damsteegt, j’aimerais revenir
sur une chose que vous avez dite dans votre exposé. Je crois
savoir que la Fédération canadienne de l’agriculture a
recommandé que le seuil de 50 000 $ soit cumulatif et indexé sur
l’inflation, ce que nous appuierions. En tant que producteur
laitier, vous avez évidemment de bonnes et de mauvaises années.
Vous devez aussi préparer votre retraite. Comme vous l’avez dit,
vous ne savez pas si vos enfants voudront garder la terre. Vous
avez de nouvelles machines à acheter, des trayeuses et tout le
nouveau matériel. J’ai visité récemment la Royal Winter Fair et
j’ai trouvé cela extraordinaire. Pensez-vous vraiment que le seuil
cumulatif de 50 000 $ est suffisant pour prendre de l’expansion,
renouveler votre équipement, assurer votre retraite et survivre
aux mauvaises années?

Mr. Damsteegt:  It is a very good question, and I am actually
impressed that you recognize the investments involved in
farming and so on.

M. Damsteegt : Très bonne question. Je suis impressionné
que vous reconnaissiez les investissements dans l’agriculture et
tout le reste.

Senator Eaton:  My uncle was a dairy farmer. La sénatrice Eaton : Mon oncle était producteur laitier.

Mr. Damsteegt:  I have to admit that we have allowed CFA,
the Canadian Federation of Agriculture, to take the lead on this
because it is not just for dairy farms, but we have accepted the
$50,000. Is it enough? Is it not enough? I cannot really speak to
the detail of that. That is an amount that we agreed upon. It is
certainly something I can take back and ask some questions
about. Maybe Chris has more info on that.

M. Damsteegt : Je dois admettre que nous avons laissé la
FCA, la Fédération canadienne de l’agriculture, prendre
l’initiative dans ce dossier, parce que ce n’est pas seulement pour
les fermes laitières. Nous avons accepté les 50 000 $. Est-ce
assez? N’est-ce pas assez? Je ne peux pas vraiment entrer dans
les détails. Reste que nous nous sommes mis d’accord sur ce
montant. C’est certainement une question que je peux poser.
Chris en sait peut-être plus à ce sujet.

Senator Eaton:  I would, if I were you. I think it is very
interesting. You carry huge risk.

La sénatrice Eaton : Si j’étais vous, je le ferais. Ce serait très
intéressant. Vous prenez un énorme risque.
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Mr. van den Heuvel, I understand that Nova Scotia has a top
combined tax rate of 54 per cent, which is one of the highest in
Canada. Regarding income sprinkling, anybody who has worked
or lived on a farm knows that you do not keep time sheets for
labour. Are you going to start keeping a time sheet for your
granddaughter, at two, who may be in the barn, or your wife, or
your children? How do you think you could make a better case to
explain it? A farm is an all hands on deck kind of operation, as
are a lot of small businesses.

Monsieur van den Heuvel, je crois savoir que la Nouvelle-
Écosse a un taux d’imposition combiné maximal de 54 p. 100, un
des plus élevés au Canada. Au sujet de la répartition du revenu,
quiconque a travaillé ou vécu dans une ferme sait que vous ne
tenez pas de feuille de temps pour la main-d’œuvre. Allez-vous
commencer à en tenir une pour votre petite-fille de deux ans, qui
est parfois dans la grange, pour votre femme ou pour vos
enfants? Comment pensez-vous pouvoir mieux expliquer cela?
Comme bien des petites entreprises, l’exploitation d’une ferme
mobilise tout le monde.

Mr. van den Heuvel:  Thank you very much for the question.
I think the easiest way for us to make a case is to invite you out
to the farm, invite some of these folks out to a farm and give
them a real sense and appreciation of what we go through on a
daily basis. Gerrit mentioned it is not a 9 to 5 job. It is not even a
5 to 9 job. It is often times much more than that.

M. van den Heuvel : Merci beaucoup de la question. La
meilleure façon de promouvoir notre cause serait de vous inviter,
d’inviter certains de ces gens-là dans une ferme, et de leur
donner une bonne idée de notre quotidien. Gerrit a mentionné
que ce n’est pas du 9 à 5. Ce n’est même pas du 5 à 9. C’est
souvent beaucoup plus que cela.

Senator Eaton:  Have you studied what that could do to your
tax rate if you can no longer give some income to your children
or your wife for participating in the running of the farm?

La sénatrice Eaton : Avez-vous étudié ce que serait votre
taux d’imposition si vous ne pouviez plus céder une part de votre
revenu à vos enfants ou à votre femme pour leur participation à
l’exploitation de la ferme?

Mr. van den Heuvel:  Again, we do not know the details of
what will be allowed and disallowed, but ultimately it will have a
significant negative impact because we are not going to be able
to use those expenses to account against. If we cannot pay our
children, our sons and daughters, or our wives or husbands,
whatever the case might be, for the work they do; that ultimately
will have an effect on raising our income and we are going to be
paying more in taxes.

M. van den Heuvel : Encore une fois, nous n’avons pas les
détails de ce qui sera permis et interdit, mais au bout du compte,
cela aurait serait très lourd de conséquences parce que nous ne
pourrons pas déduire ces dépenses. Si nous ne pouvons pas payer
nos enfants, nos fils et nos filles, ou nos femmes ou nos maris,
selon le cas, pour leur travail, nous aurons plus de revenu et plus
d’impôt à payer.

Again, we do not have the details of what they are going to
consider to be reasonable amount of labour and a reasonable
amount of remuneration for our farmers, so it is pretty hard to
come up with a ballpark of what the impact will be, other than it
will be negative. There is no doubt about that.

Là encore, nous n’avons pas les détails de ce qui sera
considéré comme une quantité raisonnable de main-d’œuvre et
un montant raisonnable de rémunération pour nos agriculteurs. Il
est donc très difficile de donner une estimation grossière de ce
que seront les répercussions, si ce n’est qu’elles seront négatives.
Cela ne fait aucun doute.

Senator Andreychuk:  Mr. van den Heuvel, could you tell
me a little more about the other farming ventures in this province
beyond the dairy farmers? Have you heard from those who are
into horticulture, apples, whatever, so that we have an idea of
what agriculture means in this province?

La sénatrice Andreychuk : Monsieur van den Heuvel,
pourriez-vous m’en dire un peu plus sur les exploitations
agricoles non laitières de la province? Savez-vous ce qu’en
pensent ceux qui sont dans l’horticulture, les pommes, ou quoi
encore, pour nous donner une idée de la situation de l’agriculture
dans la province?

Mr. van den Heuvel:  Dairy is the largest contributor to the
agricultural GDP in this province. But there are some other very
significant industries. The fur industry, blueberries, beef, maple,
dairy, the horticultural industry. There is a number of them right
across the whole realm.

M. van den Heuvel : Le secteur laitier est celui qui contribue
le plus au PIB agricole de la province. Mais il y a d’autres
industries très importantes : la fourrure, les bleuets, le bœuf,
l’érable, les produits laitiers et l’horticulture. Il y en a plusieurs
dans toute la province.

As I mentioned in my opening remarks, we represent 27
different commodity groups. Farm gate revenues for 2016 were
about $580 million. So, it is a significant amount of revenue and
I think dairy represented about $130 million of that $580 million,
so it is a significant contributor to economic activity.

Comme je l’ai mentionné dans ma déclaration préliminaire,
nous représentons 27 groupes de producteurs différents. Les
revenus à la ferme en 2016 ont été d’environ 580 millions de
dollars. C’est beaucoup, et je crois que le secteur laitier a
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représenté 130 de ces 580 millions de dollars; c’est un apport
important à l’activité économique.

We are hearing a lot of the same things from all of our
members because a lot of these issues are not supply managed
specific. All of our farms use on-farm family labour. When our
farms are being transferred they have a significantly higher value
and they are under the same tax rules for transferring to family
members, as they are when selling outside the family. A lot of
the implications are the same, and we are hearing the exact same
things from everybody right across the entire industry.

Nos membres nous disent à peu près tous la même chose parce
qu’une foule de ces enjeux ne sont pas directement liés à la
gestion de l’offre. Toutes nos fermes utilisent de la main-
d’œuvre familiale à la ferme. Lorsque nous transférons nos
fermes, elles ont une valeur nettement plus élevée et sont
assujetties aux mêmes règles fiscales, peu importe que nous les
transférions à des membres de la famille ou que les acheteurs ne
soient pas de la famille. Un grand nombre des conséquences sont
les mêmes, et on nous dit exactement la même chose partout
dans l’industrie.

Senator Andreychuk:  One of the terms is “income
sprinkling.” It seems to me it is not sprinkling. It is reward for
work done or risk taken. Were you given any indication that
these changes were coming? Were you consulted in any way?

La sénatrice Andreychuk : On parle notamment de
« répartition du revenu ». Pour moi, il ne faut pas y voir la
connotation de saupoudrage que suggère le « sprinkling »
anglais. C’est une récompense pour le travail accompli ou le
risque pris. Vous a-t-on donné quelque indication que ces
changements s’en venaient? Avez-vous été consultés?

I presume that with your business plans you are relying on
what you have been doing for the last 30 years and what the laws
have been on transfer of property. Did you know this was
coming?

Je suppose que vos plans d’affaires reposent sur ce que vous
faites depuis 30 ans et sur les lois sur le transfert de propriété.
Saviez-vous que cela s’en venait?

Mr. van den Heuvel:  Not until the consultation was released.
We certainly had no prior indication and I think that is what
caught everybody off-guard. I know that in their defence they
were portraying this, “Well this is not definite. This is not what
we are going to do. These are the consultations, so we are putting
these ideas out there to see what feedback we get.”

M. van den Heuvel : Pas avant la publication des résultats de
la consultation. Nous n’avons eu aucune indication et tout le
monde a été pris au dépourvu. À leur défense, je sais qu’ils
disaient ceci : « Eh bien, ce n’est pas certain. Ce n’est pas ce que
nous allons faire. Ce sont-là les consultations, et nous lançons
ces idées pour voir la rétroaction qu’elles susciteront. »

As I mentioned, the timing of that was very bad from our
perspective, as was the lack of consultation ahead of time. I think
any time that you are going to impact an industry with changes
as significant as these, we would hope for pre-emptive
consultations in order to facilitate. Maybe we could have avoided
some of this backlash if they had talked to CFA or NSFA or
Dairy Farmers of Canada, or whatnot, ahead of time.

Comme je l’ai mentionné, le moment était très mal choisi,
dans notre perspective, et l’absence de consultation préalable
était tout aussi déplorable. Chaque fois que vous allez toucher
une industrie par des changements aussi considérables que ceux-
là, nous souhaiterions des consultations préventives pour faciliter
les choses. On aurait peut-être pu éviter une partie de ce retour
de fouet en parlant d’avance à la Fédération canadienne de
l’agriculture ou à la Fédération de l’agriculture de la Nouvelle-
Écosse ou encore aux Producteurs laitiers du Canada, ou quoi
que ce soit.

Senator Andreychuk:  Following up on that, the government
is saying now that they are proceeding and CRA will develop the
guidelines. Have you been consulted on that basis? In other
words, there will be a test of what is reasonable in income
allocations within the family unit and the CRA will give you a
determination. You will have to then either agree with it, or find
some evidence or some way to prove that their test of
reasonableness is unreasonable. Have you been consulted at all
about what their guidelines for this test of reasonableness will
be?

La sénatrice Andreychuk : À ce sujet, le gouvernement dit
maintenant qu’il va de l’avant et que l’ARC élaborera les lignes
directrices. Avez-vous été consultés là-dessus? Autrement dit, il
y aura un critère de raisonnabilité dans les allocations du revenu
au sein de la cellule familiale et l’ARC vous rendra une décision.
Vous devrez alors soit être d’accord, soit faire la preuve que le
critère de raisonnabilité n’est pas raisonnable. Avez-vous été
consultés sur les lignes directrices pour le critère de
raisonnabilité?
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Mr. van den Heuvel:  I haven’t heard of anything to date. We
just got back from Ottawa a couple of weeks ago from a session
on the Hill where we were talking to various MPs at a Canadian
Federation of Agriculture meeting. We were pleased around that
same time that they announced a couple of key points around
these proposed tax changes and were recognizing that agriculture
needed to be consulted and needed to be thought about
separately because of the importance of the industry. To my
knowledge, as of yet, there has not been any detailed
conversations around that. I hope that they will happen very
soon. Perhaps there is something happening that I am not aware
of.

M. van den Heuvel : Je n’ai encore entendu parler de rien.
Nous revenons tout juste d’Ottawa, il y a quelques semaines,
après une séance sur la Colline où nous avons parlé à divers
députés lors d’une réunion de la Fédération canadienne de
l’agriculture. À peu près au même moment, on a annoncé, à
notre grande satisfaction, quelques points clés concernant les
modifications fiscales proposées et reconnu la nécessité de
consulter le secteur agricole et de lui faire une place spéciale
dans la réflexion en raison de l’importance de l’industrie. Que je
sache, il n’y a pas encore eu de conversations détaillées à ce
sujet. J’espère qu’il y en aura très bientôt. Il se passe peut-être
des choses dont je ne suis pas au courant.

Senator Andreychuk:  What type of records do you keep
about your family operation? In my province they are saying,
“We have lived under this system for 30 years and it has been
acceptable to the government.” These rules are going to come in
immediately. They are not going to be delayed although some
people are asking for delays.

La sénatrice Andreychuk : Quel type de dossiers tenez-vous
au sujet de votre exploitation familiale? Dans ma province, on
dit : « Nous vivons sous ce régime depuis 30 ans et c’est
acceptable pour le gouvernement. » Ces règles vont entrer en
vigueur immédiatement. Elles ne seront pas retardées, comme
certains le voudraient.

If you were the one that CRA was approaching to justify your
spreading of income in a family unit, have you talked to your
accountants about what you are going to have to prove that it is
legitimate?

Pour le cas où l’ARC vous demanderait de justifier la
distribution de votre revenu dans l’unité familiale, avez-vous
demandé à vos comptables ce que vous devrez avoir pour
prouver que c’est légitime?

Mr. van den Heuvel:  Again, this goes right back to the
uncertainty of what that reasonableness test will be. One of our
policies at the Nova Scotia Federation of Agriculture, the CFA
and beyond is undue regulatory burden.

M. van den Heuvel : Encore une fois, cela nous ramène à
l’incertitude quant au critère de raisonnabilité. Une de nos
politiques à la Fédération de l’agriculture de la Nouvelle-Écosse,
à la Fédération canadienne de l’agriculture et ailleurs est le
fardeau excessif de la réglementation.

Gerrit mentioned in his presentation that we feel that some of
these rules and regulations are going to place an extra layer of
recordkeeping, and whatnot, on top of our farms when we are
already busy. It is difficult enough as it is.

Gerrit a mentionné dans son exposé que, selon nous, une partie
de ces règles et règlements imposeront à nos fermes un niveau
supplémentaire de tenue de livres, et d’autres choses, alors que
nous sommes déjà occupés. C’est déjà assez difficile.

As was said, you can be called out at 5 o’clock in the morning
for half an hour or 45 minutes, and then you are back to bed; or 9
o’clock at night, whatever the case might be. You are doing such
a varied number of tasks, and it is not like a traditional business
where you are able to clock in at the start of the day and clock
out. We are on call 24 hours a day as farm owners. So, any of
these types of things are going to create an undue amount of
recordkeeping.

On l’a dit, nous pouvons être appelés à 5 heures du matin pour
une demi-heure ou 45 minutes avant de retourner au lit ou alors à
21 heures, selon le cas. Les tâches sont si variées; ce n’est pas
comme dans une entreprise traditionnelle où le chronomètre part
au début de la journée et s’arrête à la fin. Nous sommes sur appel
24 heures par jour en tant que propriétaires de la ferme. Donc,
toutes ces choses vont créer un travail excessif de tenue de
dossiers.

What will the definition of reasonableness be? Are we going
to have to start recording every single little detail of every
activity that we do throughout the day? That will be a difficult
task. Are we going to have to tell our children to record when
they fed the calves, or when they mucked out the stalls, or did
whatever? These are some serious questions that we feel are
going to have a fairly significant impact on our ability to move
forward and do what we love doing, which is produce food for
Canadians.

Quelle sera la définition de raisonnabilité? Allons-nous devoir
commencer à noter tous les petits détails de chaque activité tout
au long de la journée? Ce sera pénible. Allons-nous devoir dire à
nos enfants d’écrire quand ils ont nourri les veaux, ou quand ils
ont nettoyé les stalles, ou quoi encore? Ce sont des questions
sérieuses qui, à notre avis, seront assez lourdes de conséquences
sur notre capacité d’avancer et de faire ce que nous aimons faire,
c’est-à-dire produire de quoi nourrir les Canadiens.

The Chair:  Senator Neufeld, to be followed by Senators Oh
and Cools.

Le président : Le sénateur Neufeld, suivi du sénateur Oh et
de la sénatrice Cools.
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Senator Neufeld:  Thank you gentlemen for sharing your
views today on the government’s changes to the taxation
process.

Le sénateur Neufeld : Merci, messieurs, de nous avoir
présenté vos vues sur les changements que le gouvernement
apporte au régime fiscal.

When I got smarter than my dad, when I was a very young
man, he told me that if I had the world figured out, I better go
out and prove it, and I did. I worked on a dairy farm for $5 a day
milking cows by hand. So, I’ve milked a few cows in my life.
That is a long time ago, and the world has certainly changed
since then.

Lorsque, tout jeune homme, je suis devenu plus brillant que
lui, mon père m’a dit que, si j’avais tout compris dans le monde,
je ferais mieux de me mettre en campagne pour le prouver. Ce
que j’ai fait. J’ai travaillé dans une ferme laitière à 5 $ par jour à
traire les vaches à la main. Je peux dire que j’en ai trait des
vaches dans ma vie. Il y a bien longtemps de cela, et le monde
n’est certainement plus ce qu’il était à l’époque.

I am sure you have heard the Minister of Finance and the
Prime Minister constantly talking about the middle class. Where
would you say you fit in that, in the middle class? Do you have
any thought process on whether you are middle class or not
middle class?

Vous avez sûrement remarqué que le ministre des Finances et
le premier ministre parlent constamment de la classe moyenne.
Selon vous, où vous situez-vous là-dedans, dans la classe
moyenne? Vous êtes-vous déjà demandé si vous êtes dans la
classe moyenne ou pas?

Mr. Damsteegt:  Yes, I believe we are middle class. I know
sometimes consumers look at farm operations, and seeing the
buildings and all the land, they believe you are a millionaire.
You are not because all your money is tied up in the operation.
That is what generates my income. For that very reason, yes, we
are part of the middle class. This government came out at the
beginning and expressed that they were going to fix this tax law
because of loopholes, and that is hurtful because you put your
work in every day.

M. Damsteegt : Oui, je crois que nous sommes dans la classe
moyenne. Je sais que les consommateurs qui voient les
exploitations agricoles, avec leurs bâtiments et toute leur terre,
pensent que nous sommes millionnaires. Ce n’est pas le cas,
parce que tout notre argent est bloqué dans l’exploitation. C’est
ce qui génère mon revenu. Pour cette raison précise, oui, nous
faisons partie de la classe moyenne. Le gouvernement a dit au
début qu’il allait réparer cette loi fiscale à cause des
échappatoires, ce qui fait mal parce que nous faisons notre
travail chaque jour.

I will speak for myself because I am familiar with my own
situation. We incorporated as a farm about nine years ago. We
did that for a reason. We did it for the reason of taxes because it
is more attractive to be incorporated than not. The biggest reason
was planning ahead for succession. Planning ahead to give the
opportunity to the next generation, because no matter whether I
am a farmer, a senator or a carpenter, we all need to eat. If we
create an environment in which the next generation says, “I am
not interested in doing this anymore, dad,” who will feed us?

Je parlerai pour moi-même parce que je connais bien ma
situation. Nous avons constitué notre ferme en société il y a neuf
ans environ. Nous avions une raison pour cela. Nous l’avons fait
pour les impôts parce que nous trouvions intéressant de nous
constituer en société. La principale raison était la planification de
la relève. La planification pour donner la chance à la prochaine
génération, parce que peu importe que je sois agriculteur,
sénateur ou menuisier, il faut bien que je mange. Si nous créons
un environnement où la prochaine génération dit : « Je n’ai plus
envie de faire cela, papa », qui nous nourrira?

Mr. van den Heuvel:  Thank you for the question. I couldn’t
agree with Gerrit more. I do believe that we are part of the
middle class solidly, for all of the same reasons that Gerrit
mentioned. Yes, people do look at our infrastructure and whatnot
and think that we’re driving a big truck, or whatever the case
might be and therefore we are well off.

M. van den Heuvel : Merci de votre question. Je suis
totalement d’accord avec Gerrit. Je crois que nous faisons
solidement partie de la classe moyenne, pour toutes les mêmes
raisons que Gerrit a mentionnées. Oui, les gens voient notre
infrastructure et tout le reste et pensent que nous sommes riches
parce que nous conduisons un gros camion, ou quoi que ce soit.

However, we put in our time. We pay for that in ways that a
lot of people cannot or do not imagine the amount of work, time
and labour that goes into these types of operations. So, for those
reasons I think that we are definitely in that middle class of
Canadians.

Mais nous y mettons notre temps. Nous payons cela d’une
façon que bien des gens ne peuvent pas ou ne veulent pas
imaginer : la quantité de travail, de temps et de main-d’œuvre
que demandent ces types d’exploitation est inimaginable pour
eux. Pour ces raisons, je pense que nous faisons certainement
partie de la classe moyenne des Canadiens.

Senator Neufeld:  For a government that constantly talks
about helping the middle class, would you say they have done a
good job of helping you gentlemen in the middle class with these

Le sénateur Neufeld : Ce gouvernement qui parle toujours
d’aider la classe moyenne, diriez-vous qu’il a bien réussi à vous
aider, messieurs de la classe moyenne, avec ces modifications
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tax changes? Do you think they have helped you or hindered?
Yes or no is good.

fiscales? Pensez-vous qu’il vous a aidés ou qu’il vous a nui? Oui
ou non, votre réponse sera bonne.

Mr. Damsteegt:  A lot of uncertainty; no. M. Damsteegt : Beaucoup d’incertitude; non.

Mr. van den Heuvel:  No. M. van den Heuvel : Non.

Senator Neufeld:  Well, that will be a good message to take
back to those two gentlemen that talk about the middle class all
the time. To be honest, the minister has been asked numerous
times to define middle class. You have done a better job. He has
yet to be able to define the middle class definitively with
anybody. I have been at hearings where he has been present, but
he cannot define middle class. I am glad you have.

Le sénateur Neufeld : Ma foi, voilà un bon message à
rapporter à ces deux messieurs qui ne cessent de parler de la
classe moyenne. Pour être honnête, disons qu’on a demandé
maintes fois au ministre de définir la classe moyenne. Vous avez
fait mieux que lui. Il n’a pas encore réussi à définir la classe
moyenne de manière définitive avec qui que ce soit. J’ai assisté à
des audiences où il était présent, et il ne peut pas définir la classe
moyenne. Je vous remercie de l’avoir fait.

The second thing is the passive income issue. Would you say
that the $50,000 cap is sufficient for every dairy farm across
Canada regardless of what size it is, or what they farm?

La deuxième chose est la question du revenu passif. Diriez-
vous que le plafond de 50 000 $ est suffisant pour toutes les
fermes laitières du Canada, peu importe leur taille ou la nature de
leur produit?

Mr. Damsteegt:  As I mentioned, the Dairy Farmers of
Canada have supported the Canadian Federation in regard to this
$50,000. I have to admit to you I’m not qualified if that is
enough. That is certainly a question that I will take back and
certainly we will channel it through the CFA. You are right,
there is quite a discrepancy between one operation and another.

M. Damsteegt : Comme je l’ai mentionné, les Producteurs
laitiers du Canada ont appuyé la Fédération canadienne de
l’agriculture pour ce qui est de ces 50 000 $. Je dois vous avouer
que je ne suis pas qualifié pour dire si c’est suffisant. Je vais
certainement noter la question pour la transmettre à la FCA.
Vous avez raison, la différence entre une exploitation et une
autre est énorme.

Mr. van den Heuvel:  I would echo Gerrit’s remarks there
that we will take that question back. It has been mentioned a
couple of times and it would be in our best interest to do so.

M. van den Heuvel : Je suis d’accord avec Gerrit pour dire
que nous allons noter la question. Elle a été mentionnée à
quelques reprises et nous avons intérêt à y revenir.

There is a huge variance in size of operation, not just within
dairy farms, but within agricultural operations across Canada. To
broadly paint a sector with one brush when, as you have
mentioned, the devil is in the details, demands that we go
through that with a fine-tooth comb.

L’importance de l’exploitation varie beaucoup, non seulement
dans le secteur des fermes laitières, mais encore dans l’ensemble
des exploitations agricoles au Canada. Pour brosser un vaste
tableau d’un secteur quand, comme vous l’avez mentionné, le
diable se cache dans les détails, il faut travailler au peigne fin.

I have a neighbour who has 12 cows and his 10 kgs. of quota.
There are other farms in this province with quotas that are at
250, 300, 350 kgs. There is a very large disparity in operations.
The same can be said when you look at farm operations across
Canada. There are grain farmers out West that, when they look at
our 200, 300 or 400 acres, say, “Well, that is what it takes me to
turn my combine around.” They are farming 5,000 acres, 10,000
acres, 15,000 acres of land. So there is a huge disparity in size
and that has to be taken into account.

J’ai un voisin qui a 12 vaches et un quota de 10 kilogrammes.
Il y a d’autres fermes dans la province qui ont un quota de 250,
300 ou 350 kilogrammes. Il existe une très grande disparité entre
les exploitations. On peut en dire autant des exploitations
agricoles de tout le Canada. Il y a des céréaliculteurs dans
l’Ouest qui, lorsqu’ils voient nos 200, 300 ou 400 acres, disent :
« Eh bien, c’est juste assez pour faire faire demi-tour à ma
moissonneuse-batteuse. Ils ont 5 000 acres, 10 000 acres,
15 000 acres de terre. Il y a donc une énorme disparité de taille,
dont il faut tenir compte.

Senator Neufeld:  I totally agree with you. In fact, when you
look at all businesses, not just dairy farms, or agriculture, it is
the same. You can have a small business for which $50,000 may
be enough. For others, that $50,000 is just peanuts to their
business. I appreciate that answer.

Le sénateur Neufeld : Je suis tout à fait d’accord avec vous.
En fait, cette observation s’applique à tout le monde des affaires
et non uniquement à l’agriculture. La somme de 50 000 $ suffit
peut-être à une petite entreprise, mais pour de plus grandes
sociétés, cet argent est moins que rien. Je vous remercie pour
cette réponse.
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When you fellows work on your farm, do you think about your
retirement and what you would get for your investment and the
hours that you have worked? Do you plan for retirement using at
least some of the money from what you would get out of the
farm, whether you sell it to your child, or to another corporation?
Do you think of that?

Quand vous travaillez à la ferme, pensez-vous à la retraite et à
ce que vous retireriez de votre investissement et de vos
innombrables heures de travail? Comptez-vous, dans votre plan
de retraite, une partie au moins de ce que vous obtiendriez pour
votre ferme si vous la vendiez à l’un de vos enfants ou à une
autre société? Ces questions vous viennent-elles à l’esprit?

Mr. Damsteegt:  Thank you for the question; and, yes, we do
and we should.

M. Damsteegt : Je vous remercie d’avoir posé cette question.
En effet, nous y pensons. Il est bon que nous réfléchissions à ces
choses.

Having said that, it goes beyond mere retiring. It goes to the
very point of allowing an opportunity for the next generation to
farm, and also to being fair to those children who are not going
into farming, to ensure they get a fair share out of the operation.

Cela dit, il ne s’agit pas uniquement de la retraite. Nous tenons
à assurer à la prochaine génération la possibilité d’exploiter une
ferme. Nous voulons également traiter équitablement les jeunes
qui ne se lanceront pas dans l’agriculture afin qu’ils reçoivent
une part équitable de notre exploitation.

As I mentioned earlier it’s the financial aspect, and when you
look at this farm you see this capital, but it is tied up. It is part of
the operation. In being fair to the rest of your children, you have
got to set up a structure beforehand to allow the operation to go
on for the ones who go on. But at the same time, you have to be
fair to everyone in the family, and that is why I have put a
structure in place

Comme je vous l’ai dit tout à l’heure, nous parlons là de
l’aspect financier de l’exploitation, mais dans le cas d’une ferme,
ce capital est immobilisé. Cela fait partie de notre exploitation.
Pour traiter nos enfants équitablement, nous devons établir
d’avance une structure qui perdurera pour les enfants qui la
reprendront et qui nous permettra aussi de traiter équitablement
le reste de la famille.

Mr. van den Heuvel:  Thank you for the question. It is
something that is always on a lot of our minds and particularly
here in Nova Scotia which has one of the highest average ages of
farmers in Canada. I think we are somewhere around, on
average, 56 and a half years old as a sector.

M. van den Heuvel : Merci d’avoir posé cette question. Oui,
nous y pensons très souvent, puisqu’ici en Nouvelle-Écosse,
l’âge moyen des agriculteurs est le plus élevé au Canada. Je crois
que nous avons tous en moyenne 56 ans et demi.

Retirement is always something that you are thinking about.
As Gerrit mentioned, just being able to provide the ability to
move on to that next generation in a fair and equitable way that
puts them in a position to be able to succeed. That is the key. It is
easy to transfer something, but it is not easy to do it in such a
way that you can ensure a quality of life for your children,
grandchildren, and so on and so forth.

Nous pensons continuellement à la retraite. Comme l’a dit
Gerrit, nous désirons plus que tout transmettre notre exploitation
à la prochaine génération d’une manière équitable pour assurer
sa réussite. Cet objectif est crucial. Il est facile de transférer
l’exploitation, mais il n’est pas facile de le faire de manière à
assurer une bonne qualité de vie pour les enfants, pour les petits-
enfants et ainsi de suite.

I think at the end of the day, given the opportunity, we are in
the business because we love it. We know we are not going to
become millionaires. We know we are not going to be
challenging Bill Gates for the top spot on that list any time soon.
We do this because we have a passion for the industry and
because we love it. And we hope to be able to instill that in our
children and give them the opportunity to be able to do
something, to live and grow and raise their kids here in Nova
Scotia, rather than moving away out West or wherever. It is
definitely something that is always on my mind, for sure.

Je crois que, en réalité, nous exploitons nos fermes parce que
nous adorons le faire. Nous savons que nous ne deviendrons pas
millionnaires. Nous savons bien que nous ne volerons pas la
place de Bill Gates au sommet de cette liste. Nous le faisons
parce que ce secteur nous passionne et parce que nous l’adorons.
Nous espérons transmettre cette passion à nos enfants afin qu’ils
réussissent dans ce secteur ici en Nouvelle-Écosse avec leurs
enfants. Nous espérons qu’ils ne s’en iront pas dans l’Ouest ou
ailleurs. Nous y pensons continuellement, c’est sûr.

Senator Neufeld:  I want to read to you a bit of what the
Minister of Finance, this fellow who talks about helping the
middle class, and you have identified that you are the middle
class, or believe you are in the middle class. The Minister of
Finance told the committee that the government recognizes the
need to retain funds within a corporation for business purposes.
That makes sense. It wants to discourage using private

Le sénateur Neufeld : Je voudrais vous lire ce qu’a écrit le
ministre des Finances, ce type qui parle d’aider la classe
moyenne. Vous nous avez dit que vous pensez appartenir à la
classe moyenne. Le ministre des Finances a dit au comité que le
gouvernement reconnaît que les sociétés ont besoin de réinvestir
des fonds dans leur exploitation. C’est logique. Il veut seulement
que les gens n’utilisent pas ces fonds pour accumuler un fonds de
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corporations to save for retirement. What he is saying is that all
the money you make on a farm you should have to reinvest in the
business. But you shouldn’t plan for your retirement.

retraite. En fait, il dit que tout l’argent que génère votre ferme
doit y être réinvesti et que vous ne devriez pas planifier votre
retraite.

Now, I think Mr. Morneau and Mr. Trudeau are planning for
their retirement. Actually their families ahead of them planned
for their retirement, to be perfectly honest, with their income
trusts. But what do you think about that statement by the
Minister of Finance when he says he is looking after people in
the middle class?

Mais je suis convaincu que M. Morneau et M. Trudeau
planifient leur retraite. En fait, leurs familles ont déjà planifié
leur retraite en établissant des fiducies de revenu. Quoi qu’il en
soit, que pensez-vous de cette affirmation du ministre des
Finances selon laquelle il prend bien soin des gens de la classe
moyenne?

Mr. van den Heuvel:  I think that is a very easy statement to
make when you have a guaranteed pension waiting for you at the
end of your retirement. I do not.

M. van den Heuvel : À mon avis, c’est très facile à dire pour
une personne dont la pension de retraite est déjà garantie. Moi, je
n’en ai pas.

My pension is my job. My pension is the work, the calluses on
my hands that I put into my labour every single day. So, for
somebody to come to me and say that the work that I do and the
income that I earn off of that cannot be used for retirement, isn’t
right. I would tell them, “Let’s switch jobs. You come and do
what I do for a day and you will see how long you last.”

Ma pension de retraite, c’est mon travail, les durillons aux
mains que causent mes tâches quotidiennes. Alors il n’est pas
juste de me dire que je ne peux pas utiliser le revenu de mon
travail pour établir mon fonds de retraite. Je lui suggérerais de
changer de place avec moi. Je lui suggérerais de venir faire mon
travail pendant une journée, et nous verrons combien d’heures il
réussira à tenir le coup.

Senator Neufeld:  I will take that message back to them. Le sénateur Neufeld : Je vais leur transmettre votre message.

Mr. Damsteegt:  I couldn’t add much more. I think that was
very well said, Chris.

M. Damsteegt : Je n’ai rien à ajouter. Vous avez très bien
décrit la situation, Chris.

Senator Oh:  Thank you, gentlemen, two of our hardworking
middle class in Nova Scotia. My question to you is: Are children
and spouses normally involved in the operation of the farm? If
so, is it always in a formal way or informal way? Are farmers
nervous to know about whether CRA officers will consider their
contributions meaningful enough for them to be compensated?

Le sénateur Oh : Je vous remercie, messieurs. Vous êtes des
travailleurs acharnés de la Nouvelle-Écosse. Je voudrais vous
poser la question suivante : est-ce que, en général, les enfants et
les épouses participent à l’exploitation d’une ferme? Dans
l’affirmative, leurs tâches sont-elles formelles, ou officieuses?
Les agriculteurs s’inquiètent-ils de savoir si les fonctionnaires de
l’ARC considéreront la contribution de ces personnes assez
importante pour autoriser leur rémunération?

Mr. van den Heuvel:  Thank you very much for the question.
To answer that, I think that their contributions are both formal
and informal. My family members, my son and three daughters,
all have chores, and they all work on the farm. They have formal
tasks that they do. But like Gerrit has mentioned, there are times
and opportunities for them where we have to call them out and
do something different, lend a helping hand or whatever.

M. van den Heuvel : Merci beaucoup d’avoir posé cette
question. Je crois que leur contribution est formelle et officieuse.
Les membres de ma famille, mon fils et mes trois filles, ont des
tâches à accomplir et ils participent tous à l’exploitation de la
ferme. Ils ont des tâches formelles à exécuter, mais comme l’a
expliqué Gerrit, il nous arrive de leur demander de les lâcher
temporairement pour nous aider à faire autre chose.

As well, my wife is an equal partner in this. I do not consider
this my farm, it is our farm. She works just as hard, and if need
be she drives a tractor, or grabs a pitchfork and does whatever.
Those are the formal tasks on the farm. But her contributions go
way beyond that in the form of bookkeeping and in the form of
making sure that when we are in the tractor for 12 hours at a time
I do not have to go back to the house to get my meal, or to get
my drink, or whatever. Those contributions are extremely
important and cannot be under looked or understated. It is a
concerted family effort that crosses both formal and informal
lines.

Mon épouse est partenaire de plein droit dans mon
exploitation. Je ne considère pas ma ferme comme ma possession
personnelle, c’est notre ferme. Mon épouse travaille tout aussi
fort. Au besoin, elle conduit un tracteur, elle manie la fourche et
s’attaque à d’autres tâches formelles de la ferme. Mais elle en
fait beaucoup plus. Elle fait de la tenue de livres et s’organise
pour que je puisse travailler pendant 12 heures d’affilée sur le
tracteur sans devoir rentrer à la maison pour les repas ou pour
boire ou autre. Ses contributions sont cruciales. On ne peut pas
les ignorer ou les sous-estimer. Nous travaillons en famille,
officiellement et officieusement.
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Senator Oh:  Gerrit, would you like to comment? Le sénateur Oh : Gerrit, auriez-vous quelque chose à
ajouter?

Mr. Damsteegt:  I really appreciate the question. Quite often
from the outside it is not recognized that it is a family event. I
can share with all of you that I am involved as the Chairman of
Dairy Farmers of Nova Scotia, which takes a considerable
amount of time. I am involved in Dairy Farmers of Canada. I
spend a lot of time in Ottawa, but that wouldn’t happen if it
wasn’t for the input of my family.

M. Damsteegt : Je suis vraiment heureux que vous nous ayez
posé cette question. De l’extérieur, les gens ne remarquent
souvent pas que nous travaillons en famille. Je peux vous dire à
tous que je suis président de Dairy Farmers of Nova Scotia, et
cette fonction me tient très occupé. Je fais aussi partie de Dairy
Farmers of Canada, alors je passe beaucoup de temps à Ottawa.
Mais je ne pourrais pas occuper ces postes sans l’aide de ma
famille.

I could not be doing that if it wasn’t for my wife dealing with
the issues when I’m not there, if it wasn’t for her to be able to
call on some of the kids, “Listen, dad is not here. You have to be
here.” Do I want to be away from the farm? No, to be really
honest. I want to be in my boots and my coveralls. That is the
passion. That is what I love. I am not a suit guy.

Je ne pourrais pas le faire si mon épouse ne réglait pas les
problèmes pendant mon absence. Je ne pourrais pas le faire si
elle ne pouvait pas demander aux enfants d’effectuer certaines
tâches quand je ne suis pas à la ferme. Est-ce que je tiens à
m’absenter de ma ferme? Non, pas du tout. Je me sens bien
mieux en bottes et en salopettes. Mon exploitation me passionne,
je l’adore. Je ne me sens pas à l’aise dans un complet-veston.

Mr. van den Heuvel:  He looks good in it. M. van den Heuvel : Il est très beau dans son complet-
veston.

Mr. Damsteegt:  Sometimes you have to do what you have to
do, and you need people to do these other jobs that keep the
industry going. It is certainly a family event, no question. That is
not always recognized.

M. Damsteegt : Nous sommes souvent obligés d’assumer
certains rôles. Il faut bien que quelqu’un le fasse pour faire
progresser notre industrie. Nous travaillons en famille, c’est sûr.
Mais les gens ne le reconnaissent pas toujours.

With this income sprinkling, that is a thing to remember. I am
not just doing a job myself. It is all of us.

Il faut tenir compte de cela en parlant de la répartition du
revenu. Je ne suis pas seul à faire le travail. Nous y contribuons
tous.

Senator Oh:  Over the next few years we will need more
accountants and lawyers, tax lawyers. How much more do you
estimate that farmers will spend on accountants if this tax reform
goes through?

Le sénateur Oh : Au cours de ces prochaines années, il
faudra engager un plus grand nombre de comptables et d’avocats
fiscalistes. À votre avis, combien les agriculteurs devront-ils
payer de plus en services comptables si cette réforme est
adoptée?

Mr. Damsteegt:  That is a big question and I could put a
number to it, but I would be just picking a number out of the air.
However, I am certainly glad that I did meet with my accountant
yesterday afternoon. She told me, from the perspective of
PriceWaterhouseCoopers, that they do not understand where all
of this is going, that there are many questions. You know, are
things grandfathered? Is it retroactive? What are the
implications?

M. Damsteegt : Vous me posez là toute une question. Je
pourrais vous donner un chiffre, mais je l’inventerais de toutes
pièces. Toutefois, je suis content d’avoir consulté ma comptable
hier après-midi. Elle m’a dit que même les gens du cabinet
PriceWaterhouseCoopers ne savent pas vraiment comment les
choses vont évoluer. Ils ont encore bien des questions. Par
exemple, seront-elles protégées par des droits acquis? Ces règles
seront-elles rétroactives? Quelles en seront les répercussions?

When we talked about this reasonableness test she said,
“Okay. What are the parameters? How are we going to measure
this?” Given all the uncertainty around this issue, if government
plans to move forward on the proposals it has to allow time —
set timetables so that things can be planned, things can be done
and, first of all, understood.

Au sujet du critère de raisonnabilité, elle m’a demandé quels
en seront les paramètres, comment mesurer cela? Nous baignons
dans l’incertitude. S’il décide d’appliquer ces changements, le
gouvernement devra nous accorder un certain temps pour
planifier, pour modifier nos façons de faire et surtout pour
comprendre.

Senator Oh:  Last question: Do you have a family trust or an
offshore account somewhere on the islands?

Le sénateur Oh : Ma dernière question est la suivante :
Avez-vous établi une fiducie familiale ou un compte en banque
quelque part dans les Antilles?
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Mr. van den Heuvel:  The only island I deal with is Cape
Breton.

M. van den Heuvel : La seule île où je me promène est l’île
du Cap-Breton.

Mr. Damsteegt:  I would love to, but I can’t afford it. M. Damsteegt : Cela me plairait beaucoup, mais je ne peux
pas me le payer.

Senator Cools:  I would like to thank you first of all for
appearing before us and sharing with us your very keen
perspective. I am very pleased that you have also echoed what
we have heard everywhere, which is the terrible uncertainty and
uneasiness that is just sitting on top of every person in the
country. The terrible uncertainty and uneasiness is because they
do not know what to do and they do not know where to go. It is
not a good thing when a government measure, proposed by the
minister, is in that situation. As a matter of fact, it makes it
extremely terrible and frightening, I would say.

La sénatrice Cools : Je tiens à vous remercier tous d’avoir
comparu devant nous et de nous avoir fait part de vos points de
vue, qui nous sont précieux. Je suis aussi très heureuse que vous
ayez réitéré ce que nous avons entendu ailleurs, c’est-à-dire la
grande incertitude et le profond malaise que ressentent les
intervenants de toutes les régions du pays parce qu’ils ne savent
pas quoi faire et où s’adresser. Il est désolant que la proposition
d’un ministre mette les gens dans un tel état. Cette proposition a
un effet dévastateur et affolant.

You have shared so much about your farming experience, I
must tell you my mother owned a plantation. We did not have
farms in that part of the world, we had plantations. So I saw a lot
about plantation operations in the development of sugar and so
on.

Vous nous avez beaucoup parlé de votre exploitation. Je vous
dirai que ma mère était propriétaire d’une plantation. Nous
n’avions pas de fermes, dans notre région, nous avions des
plantations. J’ai beaucoup observé l’exploitation de la plantation
et la culture du sucre et autres.

As you know, at the completion of this study we are expected
to produce a report on our findings and we will present this
report to the Senate. Part of this report will include the
committee’s recommendations. So, if you were sitting here on
this side of the table making these recommendations, what would
be the best four recommendations that you would make, or that
you want us to make? We have to put forth very healthy and
robust recommendations; it is a very serious situation.

Comme vous le savez, à la fin de cette étude, nous devrons
produire un rapport pour présenter nos conclusions au Sénat.
Nous y présenterons aussi des recommandations. Si vous étiez de
notre côté de la table, quelles seraient les quatre
recommandations principales que vous nous suggéreriez de
présenter? Il faut qu’elles soient très solides, car la situation est
grave.

Mr. van den Heuvel:  I made a few recommendations earlier
on and we will reiterate some of those. Of course, we have
mentioned a couple of times the income sprinkling and this
reasonableness test. What is reasonable? What is not? We need
details. We need definitions. We need to understand what we can
and cannot do. What are the ramifications on our operations?
That would be a key one.

M. van den Heuvel : Je vous ai présenté quelques
recommandations tout à l’heure, alors je vais vous en répéter
quelques-unes. Évidemment, nous avons mentionné plusieurs
fois la répartition du revenu et le critère de raisonnabilité.
Qu’est-ce qui est vraisemblable et qu’est-ce qui ne l’est pas? Il
nous faut des détails et des définitions. Il faut que nous
comprenions ce que nous pouvons faire et ne pas faire. Quelles
répercussions ces règles auront-elles sur nos exploitations? Voilà
notre recommandation fondamentale.

With regard to transfer of farms within families, we need a
level playing field. The unfortunate reality is it is easier for me to
transfer my farm to you than it is to my son or my daughter, and
that is not right. Something needs to be done about that. So, that
would be two big ones from my perspective.

Dans le cas du transfert des fermes aux membres de la famille,
il nous faut des règles équitables. Il est bien triste de penser qu’il
me serait plus facile de vous passer ma ferme que de la transférer
à mon fils ou à ma fille. C’est injuste. Il faut corriger cela. De
mon point de vue, ce sont les deux recommandations les plus
importantes à présenter.

Gerrit, you may want to add to that. Gerrit, vous avez probablement quelque chose à ajouter à cela.

Mr. Damsteegt:  Certainly, in the broad perspective of it all,
it is clarification, around the uncertainty that you talked about. I
can deal with situations, but I need to know in advance so I can
make right decisions in regard to succession planning. That
speaks about the timing as well. The timing on this passive

M. Damsteegt : Oui, en effet. En termes très généraux, il
nous faut des éclaircissements, il faut éliminer l’incertitude dont
vous avez parlé. Je suis tout à fait capable d’aborder ces
situations, mais il faut que l’on m’avertisse pour me donner le
temps de prendre les bonnes décisions sur la planification de
notre succession. Il y a aussi les calendriers, ceux des
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investment and so on. There is just great uncertainty on what is
allowed and what is not allowed.

investissements passifs et autres. Nous ne savons pas du tout ce
qui est permis et ce qui ne l’est pas.

The accountant said yesterday as well that she has clients who
are moving money from one place to the other right now. But is
it the right thing to do? The ultimate question is what are we
doing to the overall infrastructure? By creating that uncertainty
are you stagnating economic growth? I think you are. On the one
hand, you are trying to get more tax dollars. But the uncertainty,
I think, is the big one.

Ma comptable m’a aussi dit hier que, de ce temps, certains de
ses clients transfèrent leur argent. Est-ce une mesure judicieuse?
Ensuite, il faut se demander ce que nous faisons à l’infrastructure
globale. Cette incertitude bloque-t-elle la croissance de
l’économie? Je le pense bien. D’un côté vous essayez de générer
plus de recettes fiscales, mais cette incertitude, selon moi, est
extrêmement grave.

The Chair:  On a second round, the chair will recognize
Senator Marshall and Senator Andreychuk.

Le président : Nous entamons la deuxième ronde, et le
président cède la parole à la sénatrice Marshall et à la sénatrice
Andreychuk.

Senator Marshall:  One or both of you mentioned that you
were on Parliament Hill talking to members of Parliament. Could
you just give us some information on that? My understanding is
that it was on these tax proposals. What sort of feedback did you
get from them? Did you meet with the Minister of Agriculture,
whose riding is just next door? Could you just tell us what
happened with regard to those meetings?

La sénatrice Marshall : L’un de vous, ou peut-être vous
deux avez dit que vous êtes allés sur la Colline pour discuter
avec des députés. Pourriez-vous nous parler un peu de ces
conversations? Si j’ai bien compris, vous avez discuté de ces
propositions fiscales. Que vous ont-ils dit? Avez-vous rencontré
le ministre de l’Agriculture, dont la circonscription se trouve
juste à côté de chez vous? Pourriez-vous nous dire ce qui s’est
dit au cours de ces rencontres?

Mr. van den Heuvel:  As Nova Scotia’s representative on the
Canadian Federation of Agriculture, I was in Ottawa a couple of
weeks ago. We do these meetings on the Hill twice a year. We
organize meetings with various MPs, and in some incidences
senators. We try to meet with both the sitting government and
opposition MPs to get a good cross section.

M. van den Heuvel : Dans le cadre de mes fonctions de
représentant de la Fédération canadienne de l’agriculture, je suis
venu à Ottawa il y a deux ou trois semaines. Nous tenons ces
sessions sur la Colline deux fois par année. Nous organisons des
rencontres avec divers députés et parfois avec des sénateurs.
Nous nous efforçons de rencontrer des membres du
gouvernement au pouvoir et de l’opposition pour nous faire une
idée équilibrée de la situation.

Obviously the topics change from session to session, but the
fall session this time was specifically geared around the two
major issues which were the income tax changes and the trade
issues around NAFTA and TPP, and so on. Those were the two
things that we talked about in general.

Il est évident que chaque session, nous parlons de sujets
différents. Cependant, la session de cet automne portait
spécifiquement sur deux enjeux : les changements proposés au
régime fiscal et les enjeux commerciaux liés à l’ALENA et au
PTP et autres. En général, nos discussions portaient sur ces deux
enjeux.

We met with 42 different MPs over the course of the day in
various groups. By and large, the feedback that we got from
them was that “Yes, we did this wrong.” They understood that. I
think they were genuine about that. I think they wore that on
their sleeves and they understood that they have to do a better
job in the future in order to ensure that Canadians are treated
fairly.

Nous avons rencontré différents groupes pendant cette
journée, soit 42 députés en tout. En général, ils reconnaissaient
qu’ils ne s’y étaient pas pris comme ils auraient dû. Ils le
comprenaient. Je suis sûr qu’ils étaient sincères. Je suis certain
qu’ils comprenaient que la prochaine fois, ils devraient mieux
faire les choses afin de traiter les Canadiens de façon équitable.

Senator Marshall:  So these were your own MPs, Nova
Scotia MPs? You met with them also?

La sénatrice Marshall : Alors vous avez aussi rencontré les
députés de votre province, de la Nouvelle-Écosse?

Mr. van den Heuvel:  Well, there were some Nova Scotia
MPs, but we met with MPs from across the country.

M. van den Heuvel : Oui, quelques députés de la Nouvelle-
Écosse étaient présents, mais nous avons rencontré des députés
de toutes les régions du pays.

Senator Marshall:  But it did include some from your own
province?

La sénatrice Marshall : Mais il y en avait quelques-uns de
votre province?
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Mr. van den Heuvel:  Yes, that is correct. M. van den Heuvel : Oui, bien sûr.

Senator Marshall:  And were you able to meet with the
Minister of Agriculture?

La sénatrice Marshall : Avez-vous eu l’occasion de
rencontrer le ministre de l’Agriculture?

Mr. van den Heuvel:  Yes, he is often on the list. I was not
part of that meeting. The way we do these is we split them up.
There is two or three CFA members that visit each one.
Typically, if your local MP is on that list, we try and ensure that
you are too. For example, I would go visit Rodger Cuzner, or
whatever the case might be. Some of the senior level staff at
CFA were part of consultations with Minister MacAulay.

M. van den Heuvel : Oui, son nom est souvent sur la liste,
mais je n’ai pas participé à cette rencontre. Nous nous
subdivisons en groupes de deux ou trois membres de la
fédération pour chaque rencontre. En général, nous essayons de
prendre part à celles où se trouve le député de notre région. Par
exemple, je m’efforce d’aller rencontrer Rodger Cuzner, ou le
député de l’époque. Certains hauts directeurs de la fédération ont
pris part aux consultations du ministre MacAulay.

Senator Andreychuk:  We have heard that there was
probably more activity in incorporating about 10 years ago,
although there have been incorporations since they have been
allowed and that current scheme has been in place at least 30
years.

La sénatrice Andreychuk : On nous a dit que le taux de
constitutions en personne morale était probablement plus élevé il
y a 10 ans, mais que les gens s’en prévalent depuis
l’établissement du système il y a au moins 30 ans.

We heard from a lot of farmers who are very worried that they
are coming to an age where they are thinking of passing on the
farming operations to their children, and it is critical in the next
five years to know where you are going. Is that the case also in
Nova Scotia, this kind of generational shift that will be taking
place?

Un grand nombre d’agriculteurs nous ont dit qu’en se voyant
vieillir, ils désirent ardemment transférer leur ferme à leurs
enfants. Ils ont ajouté qu’il serait crucial qu’ils sachent comment
s’y prendre au cours de ces cinq prochaines années. Est-ce que
ce type de transfert entre générations est aussi courant en
Nouvelle-Écosse?

They were not only worried about their own families, but also
about what it might do to agriculture. Is that kind of discussion
going on in the Canadian federation across the country? Is that
happening across your farming communities?

Ils ne s’inquiétaient pas uniquement pour leurs propres
familles, mais pour les répercussions que cela aurait dans tout le
domaine de l’agriculture. Tient-on ce genre de conversation à la
fédération canadienne dans toutes les régions du pays? En parle-
t-on dans toutes les communautés agricoles du pays?

Mr. Damsteegt:  Certainly I can speak for the dairy sector. In
the dairy sector in this province we are certainly seeing a very
keen interest in the young individuals. I am 54 years old. I was
bald when I was 22, so do not use it against me. When I am in a
room meeting with producers there is a lot of the younger
generation. I wouldn’t say that Nova Scotia is on the lower end.
There are a lot of younger producers in the dairy sector. I cannot
talk about the other sectors.

M. Damsteegt : Je ne peux vous parler que du secteur laitier.
Les membres de ce secteur, dans notre province, désirent
beaucoup attirer des jeunes. J’ai 54 ans. J’étais déjà chauve à
22 ans, alors ne me vieillissez pas trop! Quand nous rencontrons
les producteurs, nous voyons beaucoup de jeunes. Je peux vous
dire qu’en Nouvelle-Écosse, nous avons beaucoup de jeunes
producteurs. Je ne peux pas vous parler des autres secteurs.

Nevertheless, it doesn’t matter if it is me, or a 32-year-old who
is taking an interest, because he is into that corporation as well
and he will face the same things that I will face when these
things are going to be changed; not in the very short term, but in
the longer term. There is an interest in getting into the industry,
but it is the uncertainty.

Mais pour moi comme pour un jeune de 32 ans, la situation est
la même. Nous faisons tous face à ces changements proposés. Ils
n’auront pas lieu à court terme, cela se passera à plus long terme.
Les jeunes désirent se lancer dans notre industrie, mais
l’incertitude les en empêche.

In regard to your question in meetings with MPs the Dairy
Farmers of Canada always meet with them the first week of
February. We visit all the MPs on the Hill and we try to meet all
the senators as well. Nevertheless, with this tax bill coming out,
we have encouraged our membership, “You do not all have to go
to Ottawa, but meet your MPs locally, here,” and they have. But
you have got to recognize the colour of what we have within
Nova Scotia and they hear us, and I think they understand. I

Pour répondre à votre question, les Producteurs laitiers du
Canada rencontrent toujours les députés pendant la première
semaine de février. Nous rendons visite à tous les députés sur la
Colline et nous essayons de rencontrer aussi tous les sénateurs.
Mais face au projet de loi qui risque d’être adopté, nous avons
encouragé nos membres en leur disant qu’il n’était pas nécessaire
qu’ils aillent tous à Ottawa, mais qu’il est crucial qu’ils parlent à
leurs députés dans leur localité. Ils nous ont écoutés. Il faut
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think we felt support. It is also somewhat, “You are the
government in power today.” The message has been out there, no
question.

cependant reconnaître la couleur qui règne en Nouvelle-Écosse.
Je crois qu’ils nous écoutent et qu’ils comprennent. Je crois
qu’ils se sont sentis soutenus. Nous leur avons fait comprendre
qu’ils doivent prendre leur destin en main. Ils ont écouté notre
message, c’est certain.

Senator Andreychuk:  One area that concerns me
particularly from my background was the idea of an individual
from the CRA coming in to assess what is an appropriate,
reasonable spreading of income. We have spent decades now
trying to legitimize family units and saying, “You know, we are
not going to get involved in your marriage and your relationship
because every family is unique and different.”

La sénatrice Andreychuk : C’est sans doute à cause de mes
antécédents professionnels, mais je suis troublée à l’idée qu’un
fonctionnaire de l’ARC peut se présenter pour évaluer ce qui
constitue un partage raisonnable et approprié du revenu. Nous
avons passé des décennies à essayer de légitimer les unités
familiales et à répéter que nous n’allions pas nous immiscer dans
les couples et les ménages parce que nous savons qu’il n’y a pas
deux familles pareilles.

We survive and thrive, as we used to say in the social services,
when we give the maximum discretion to a family to develop.
Government normally does not intrude until there is a bottom
line. We do not set a standard of what is a good family unit.
What we say is, “It is at your discretion.” But if you fall below a
line, like in abuse cases or something, the government will
intervene.

Comme nous avions l’habitude de le dire dans les services
sociaux, la clé de la survie et de la prospérité, c’est de laisser à
une famille toute la latitude dont elle a besoin pour se
développer. Normalement, le gouvernement n’intervient que si la
ligne rouge est franchie. Nous n’établissons pas de norme pour
déterminer ce qui constitue une bonne unité familiale. Nous
laissons chaque famille agir à son gré, mais si elle franchit la
ligne rouge, par exemple dans les cas d’abus, le gouvernement
interviendra.

So we are setting up a system now where we are going to have
CRA accountants, who I presume will be good, assessing what is
acceptable for the sharing of income within a family unit. Does
that give you any pause? How are we going to justify, “Here is
how you run your operation?”

Nous sommes donc en train de mettre en place un système en
vertu duquel des comptables de l’ARC, et je présume qu’ils
seront compétents, évalueront ce qui est acceptable en matière de
partage du revenu au sein d’une unité familiale. N’est-ce pas le
moment de réfléchir? Quelle raison invoquerons-nous pour dicter
aux entrepreneurs la manière de gérer leur entreprise?

You mentioned being on the tractor for 12 hours, and
somebody has got to prepare a meal and get it to you. I mean, I
remember the old farming harvests. Everyone pitched in, and the
women all came together to cook, to make sure you could do it
on a 24-hour practical basis. So, my concern is from the social
policy point. We have put measures in place to recognize family
units, to not intrude on those family units as to division of
labour, etc., and to value every contribution, whether you are in
the kitchen or in the field. How are we going to have CRA
accountants determine your family unit and what is fair?

Vous avez dit que vous passiez parfois 12 heures sur votre
tracteur et que quelqu’un devait vous préparer et vous apporter
votre repas. Je me rappelle les récoltes dans le bon vieux temps à
la ferme. Tout le monde participait aux travaux et les femmes se
rassemblaient pour cuisiner afin de permettre à tous d’être sur un
pied d’alerte 24 heures sur 24. Mon inquiétude relève donc de la
politique sociale. Nous avons mis en place des mesures qui
prennent en compte les unités familiales, nous nous gardons
d’intervenir auprès de celles-ci pour ce qui est de la répartition
du travail, par exemple, et nous valorisons la contribution de
chaque membre, qu’il travaille à la cuisine ou dans les champs.
Pourquoi faut-il laisser des comptables de l’ARC définir ce
qu’est une unité familiale et ce qui est équitable?

Mr. van den Heuvel:  Thank you. I couldn’t agree with you
more. That gives us very great pause for concern, about what
will happen and who will determine in my operation the value of
one skill over another. Agriculture is unique in all aspects. It is
not a factory. It is not an office building. It is not a workshop. It
is all of the above and more. The government has to recognize
that there is a very wide range of skill sets and a very wide range
of opportunities for people to become involved in the farming
operations. For somebody to come down, whether it is an
accountant, a tax lawyer, or whomever, somebody from

M. van den Heuvel : Merci. Je suis tout à fait d’accord avec
vous. Nous sommes très inquiets de ce qui va arriver et de savoir
qui déterminera la valeur d’un métier par rapport à un autre dans
une exploitation agricole. L’agriculture est une entreprise unique
dans tous ses aspects. Ce n’est pas une usine, ni des bureaux, ni
un atelier. C’est tout cela à la fois et beaucoup plus encore. Le
gouvernement doit reconnaître que l’agriculture fait appel à un
large éventail de compétences et offre de multiples possibilités
aux personnes qui participent aux activités agricoles. Si un
comptable, un fiscaliste ou un autre fonctionnaire du
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wherever, from the government, and tell me or my children that,
“Hey, sorry, but we do not value the contribution that you are
making to this family farm.” No, that is simply not acceptable.

gouvernement vient chez moi pour me dire ou dire à mes
enfants : « Désolé, mais pour nous, votre contribution dans cette
ferme n’a aucune valeur », c’est carrément inacceptable.

Mr. Damsteegt:  Further to that, I think Senator Oh raised the
question earlier about what are the implications going to be?
How many lawyers are going to be involved? What is the charge
going to be from the accountants’ perspective?

M. Damsteegt : De plus, je pense que le sénateur Oh a
demandé précédemment quelles allaient être les répercussions de
cela. Combien d’avocats s’occuperont de cela? Quel en sera le
coût du point de vue des comptables?

When you open this can of worms or kick the hornet’s nest, be
prepared for all that can happen, because how do you determine?
As Chris said, “This is worth this much and that is worth that
much.” I like my cup of coffee and I like my meal on time.
When I am on the tractor, my wife will prepare food for all of us.
We are not going to the kitchen to have that bite and that cup of
coffee. What value do you put on that? How is the CRA going to
determine the value of that? They are a lot smarter than us if they
can.

Si vous ouvrez cette boîte de Pandore ou donnez un coup de
pied dans le nid de frelons, soyez prêts à tout, sinon comment
ferez-vous votre évaluation? Comme l’a fait remarquer Chris,
c’est un exercice subjectif. J’aime que mon café et mon repas me
soient servis à l’heure. Quand je suis sur mon tracteur, c’est mon
épouse qui prépare le repas pour tout le monde. Nous n’avons
pas besoin d’aller à la cuisine manger une bouchée et boire un
café. Quelle valeur attribuez-vous à ce travail? Comment les
fonctionnaires de l’ARC détermineront-ils la valeur de ce
travail? S’ils y arrivent, c’est qu’ils sont beaucoup plus
intelligents que nous.

Senator Neufeld:  Senator Cools asked you about
recommendations. We’ve had a lot of recommendations come to
us that say, “Government, you have just cherry-picked a few
things in the tax system that have huge implications for
everyone.”

Le sénateur Neufeld : La sénatrice Cools vous a demandé
quelles étaient vos recommandations. Beaucoup de témoins nous
ont dit aujourd’hui que le gouvernement avait simplement choisi
quelques éléments du régime fiscal qui ont d’énormes
conséquences sur chacun.

It may be best for them to actually step aside and not do any of
that, but do a whole review of the taxation system in Canada
because it hasn’t been done for many years and the world has
changed for everyone. Would you agree that maybe that should
be a recommendation: “Look government, you didn’t realize
what you were doing. Here is what you have done. The best
thing you can do now is to do a review of the whole tax
structure.” It is not just you people who are unhappy with it; a lot
of other people are unhappy with it. Would you agree with that
recommendation?

Il vaudrait peut-être mieux que le gouvernement se retire avant
d’aller plus loin et qu’il entreprenne un examen complet du
régime fiscal canadien; le dernier examen remonte à longtemps
et le monde a bien changé depuis. Seriez-vous d’accord pour dire
que le gouvernement ne s’est pas rendu compte de ce qu’il était
en train de faire? Vous pourriez lui montrer ce qu’il a fait et lui
recommander de revoir la structure fiscale de fond en comble.
Vous n’êtes pas les seuls à être insatisfaits de ce système,
beaucoup d’autres Canadiens le sont également. Seriez-vous
d’accord pour faire cette recommandation?

Mr. Damsteegt:  I think we would support that, live and
learn. We went through this process. There is an explanation,
with all due respect to all those individuals who started this. You
get this feedback through this committee. Take that information
and say, “Okay, maybe we were on the wrong path here,” and for
that we need to back up. Just the transfer, the taxation from
father to son, or father to children, the tax burden on that in
comparison to me selling it off to someone outside of the family,
or outside of the corporation needs to be addressed.

M. Damsteegt : Nous y serions favorables, je pense;
attendons de voir ce que cela donnera. Nous avons déjà fait cette
démarche. Il y a une explication à cela, sauf tout le respect que je
dois aux personnes qui ont lancé ce processus. Vous recevez des
commentaires dans le cadre de vos travaux. À la lumière de ces
renseignements, vous devez reconnaître que vous avez fait fausse
route et que vous devez faire machine arrière. Il suffit de régler
la question du transfert, l’impôt entre un père à son fils ou ses
enfants, le fardeau fiscal que cela entraîne comparativement à la
vente de la ferme à une personne qui n’est pas de la famille ou de
l’entreprise.

Mr. van den Heuvel:  Thank you very much for the question.
Again, I couldn’t agree with you and Gerrit more. We need to
know details and we have to plan these things. We cannot go
about this and in three-months’ time, or four-months’ time,
implement tax changes that have such wide-ranging
ramifications. They are admitting they themselves do not even
know what the details are. So, how can we go ahead and roll out

M. van den Heuvel : Merci beaucoup pour cette question. Là
encore, je suis tout à fait d’accord avec vous et Gerrit. Nous
devons connaître les détails et planifier ces changements. Il est
impossible de mettre en œuvre des changements fiscaux qui ont
des répercussions aussi vastes en l’espace de trois ou quatre
mois. Les fonctionnaires eux-mêmes reconnaissent ne pas être au
courant des détails. Comment pouvons-nous mettre en œuvre des
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tax changes, or tax plans, without knowing ahead of time what
those details are and their ramifications on our businesses and
the very fabric of rural Canada?

changements fiscaux ou des plans financiers, sans connaître les
détails et leurs répercussions sur nos entreprises et le tissu même
du Canada rural?

The Chair:  As we close, there is no doubt in my mind that
the Dairy Farmers of Nova Scotia and the Nova Scotia
Federation of Agriculture, through both of you gentlemen, have
articulated the views, the comments, and the concerns of your
associations. On behalf of the Standing Senate Committee on
National Finance, thank you.

Le président : En terminant, je suis convaincu que, par votre
entremise messieurs, le groupe des Dairy Farmers of Nova
Scotia et la Fédération de l’agriculture de la Nouvelle-Écosse ont
exprimé les opinions, les observations et les préoccupations de
leurs membres. Au nom du Comité sénatorial permanent des
finances nationales, je vous remercie.

Mr. van den Heuvel, do you have a comment? Monsieur van den Heuvel, souhaitez-vous faire un
commentaire?

Mr. van den Heuvel:  I would just say thank you very much
for the leeway, Mr. Chairman. In closing, thank you folks for the
opportunity to come forth and present our views. It is an
important feedback loop that has to continue and move forward.

M. van den Heuvel : Je voudrais simplement vous remercier
de m’avoir donné la parole, monsieur le président. Je remercie
également tous les membres de nous avoir invités à leur
présenter notre point de vue. C’est un échange important qui doit
se poursuivre et progresser.

We’ve thrown lots of numbers around here today and there are
lots more available. I would just recommend in closing that if
you guys have not had a chance to read the Advisory Council on
Economic Growth Report put out by Dominic Barton, please do
so, because it does name agriculture as the number one growth
industry in Canada. We have to grow in the next 40 years the
same amount of food as we have in the past 10,000 years
combined, safe food. So, that tells us the importance of
agriculture.

Il a été beaucoup question de chiffres ici et il en reste encore
beaucoup à dévoiler. Je vous conseille fortement, si vous en avez
la chance, de lire le rapport du Conseil consultatif en matière de
croissance économique dirigé par Dominic Barton; on peut y lire
que l’agriculture est le premier secteur de croissance au Canada.
Au cours des 40 prochaines années, nous devrons produire la
même quantité de nourriture, des aliments sécuritaires, qu’au
cours de la totalité des 10 000 dernières années. Cela donne une
idée de l’importance de l’agriculture.

I will close with one last number, and I have been doing this at
all of the talks that I give; 88,695. Anybody have any idea of
what that number represents; 88,695? Remember it. If you live to
the average age of a Canadian, 81 and a half years, and eat three
meals a day, that is the number of times in your lifetime you are
going to require the services of a farmer.

En guise de conclusion, permettez-moi de vous donner un
dernier chiffre, comme je fais chaque fois que je prononce un
discours : 88 695. Quelqu’un a une idée de ce que représente le
chiffre 88 695? Ne l’oubliez pas. Si vous atteignez l’âge moyen
d’un Canadien, soit 81 ans et demi, et mangez trois repas par
jour, c’est le nombre de fois que vous aurez besoin des services
d’un agriculteur tout au long de votre vie.

The Chair:  Senators, we will now hear from our second
panel. First, to the witnesses, thank you very much for accepting
our invitation. We are anxious to hear your recommendations,
your comments and your opinions.

Le président : Chers collègues, nous sommes maintenant
prêts à entendre notre deuxième groupe de témoins. Permettez-
moi d’abord de remercier les témoins d’avoir accepté notre
invitation. Nous avons hâte d’entendre vos recommandations,
vos commentaires et vos points de vue.

We have with us, from the Halifax Chamber of Commerce,
Mr. Patrick Sullivan, President and Chief Executive Officer;
from the Atlantic Chamber of Commerce, Mr. Glenn Davis, Vice
President, Policy; and from the Cape Breton Barristers’ Society,
Ms. Nicole LaFosse, Lawyer, LaFosse MacLeod. Thank you for
being here.

Nous accueillons M. Patrick Sullivan, président-directeur
général de la Chambre de commerce d’Halifax; M. Glenn Davis,
vice-président, Politique, à la Chambre de commerce de
l’Atlantique; et Me Nicole LaFosse, avocate, LaFosse MacLeod,
qui représente la Cape Breton Barristers’ Society. Je vous
remercie de votre présence.

I have been informed by the clerk that presentations will
commence with Mr. Sullivan, followed by Mr. Davis and Ms.
LaFosse. You will have approximately five minutes each.

La greffière m’a informé que M. Sullivan sera le premier à
présenter son exposé, suivi par M. Davis et Me LaFosse. Vous
disposez d’environ cinq minutes chacun.
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Patrick Sullivan, President and Chief Executive Officer,
Halifax Chamber of Commerce:  Good morning, everyone.
Thank you very much for joining us in Halifax. We are thrilled
to have you here on a very important topic.

Patrick Sullivan, président-directeur général, Chambre de
commerce d’Halifax : Bonjour à tous. Je vous remercie d’être
venus nous rencontrer à Halifax. Nous sommes ravis de vous
avoir ici aujourd’hui pour discuter d’un sujet d’une grande
importance.

My name is Patrick Sullivan. I am the President and CEO of
the Halifax Chamber of Commerce. The Halifax Chamber of
Commerce is a best practices business advocacy organization
that continuously strives to make Halifax an even more attractive
city, if that is possible, in which to live, work and play. Together
we have over 1,600 members that represent over 65,000
employees who act as a single, powerful voice through the
chamber to promote local businesses in the area.

Je m’appelle Patrick Sullivan et je suis président-directeur
général de la Chambre de commerce d’Halifax. La Chambre de
commerce d’Halifax fait la promotion des meilleures pratiques
commerciales et ne ménage aucun effort pour rendre notre ville
encore plus attractive, si cela est possible, comme endroit où
vivre, travailler et se divertir. Nos 1 600 membres représentent
plus de 65 000 employés et s’expriment d’une seule et forte voix
par le biais de la chambre pour promouvoir les entreprises de la
région.

I am very happy to be able to speak to you today about the
changes and the updates to the tax policies that we have recently
learned of. We hear continuously from our members of the
uncertainty and added stress that these changes have created and
would like to take the next few minutes to address some of those
concerns.

Je suis très heureux de pouvoir discuter avec vous aujourd’hui
des modifications et mises à jour des politiques fiscales
récemment annoncées. Nos membres ne cessent de nous parler
de l’incertitude et du stress accru engendrés par ces
changements. J’aimerais donc prendre les prochaines minutes
pour vous exposer certaines de ces inquiétudes.

In our letter submitted to the Department of Finance on
September 29, 2017, we noted our concern over the
reasonableness test that they had presented. The updates from the
week of October 16 stated that those making meaningful
contributions to the business will not be impacted by the
proposed income sharing measures. Our members do not know
how this initiative will be interpreted, applied, or enforced.
Entrepreneurs will spend more time on administration instead of
growing their businesses and creating jobs. We recommend a
cost benefit analysis be done on this initiative to reduce the
uncertainty surrounding this potential change.

Dans la lettre que nous avons adressée au ministère des
Finances le 29 septembre 2017, nous lui faisions part de notre
inquiétude au sujet du critère de raisonnabilité. Les mises à jour
présentées durant la semaine du 16 octobre confirmaient que les
personnes qui apportent une contribution appréciable à
l’entreprise ne seraient pas touchées par les mesures proposées
sur le partage du revenu. Nos membres ne savent pas comment
cette mesure sera interprétée, appliquée ou mise en œuvre. Les
entrepreneurs consacreront plus de temps aux tâches
administratives au lieu de faire croître leur entreprise et de créer
des emplois. Nous recommandons qu’une analyse de rentabilité
de cette mesure soit effectuée afin de dissiper l’incertitude
engendrée par ce changement potentiel.

We are pleased with the decision to not move forward with the
proposed measures to limit access to the lifetime capital gains
exemption. The proposed tax reform would have impacted
family succession, farmers, fishers, and many family businesses
that would be sold or transferred to a family member. With over
70 per cent of businesses expected to change hands in the next
decade, those proposed tax changes would have severely
impacted the ability for succession to occur, or the value of those
businesses.

Nous nous réjouissons de la décision de renoncer aux mesures
proposées visant à restreindre l’accès à l’exonération cumulative
des gains en capital. La réforme fiscale proposée aurait eu des
répercussions sur la succession familiale, les agriculteurs, les
pêcheurs et de nombreuses entreprises familiales destinées à être
vendues ou transférées à un membre de la famille. Comme plus
de 70 p. 100 des entreprises devraient changer de main au cours
de la prochaine décennie, on comprend que les modifications
fiscales proposées auraient grandement compromis les
successions ou réduit la valeur des entreprises.

We saw those kinds of changes even from the time the original
changes were announced in July. Uncertainty drove down the
value of businesses of our members. The unintended
consequences would have been that many small businesses
would close when third party purchasers were not available.

Nous avons constaté cette tendance depuis l’annonce des
modifications initiales en juillet dernier. L’incertitude a fait
chuter la valeur des entreprises de nos membres. Les
conséquences non voulues auraient été la fermeture de
nombreuses petites entreprises qui ne trouvaient pas d’acheteurs
tiers.
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We are very happy to hear the government has fast tracked
their promise to reduce tax on business to 9 per cent by 2019,
after initially saying in the last budget that it would be delayed.
The proposed legislation on investment income will severely
impact the ability of a business to save for expansion and to
weather an economic downturn. So, obviously, two thoughts.

Nous sommes très heureux d’apprendre que le gouvernement
s’est empressé de tenir sa promesse d’abaisser à 9 p. 100 le taux
d’imposition des entreprises d’ici 2019, après avoir d’abord
annoncé, dans le dernier budget, que cette mesure serait retardée.
Les mesures législatives proposées relativement aux revenus de
placement diminueront grandement la capacité d’une entreprise
de mettre des fonds de côté pour prendre de l’expansion ou pour
traverser une période de ralentissement économique. De toute
évidence, il y a là deux courants de pensée.

In addition, many entrepreneurs provide capital to other
entrepreneurs with innovative ideas. The level of proposed
taxation on these funds will result in significant negative
economic impacts on small business sustainability and growth. It
is our belief that the Finance Department only believes that
organizations hold funds for savings. Our members tell us they
hold funds for reasons including unplanned downturns,
competitive activity and cash needs for acquisition. Now they
will be taxed on these funds at an exorbitant rate. We do not
understand why at a time when other jurisdictions are examining
how to reduce taxes for businesses, Canada is considering how to
increase the cost of capital.

En outre, de nombreux entrepreneurs fournissent des capitaux
à d’autres entrepreneurs qui lancent des idées novatrices. Le taux
d’imposition proposé sur ces fonds compromettra grandement la
viabilité et la croissance des petites entreprises. Nous avons la
conviction que le ministère des Finances croit que les entreprises
détiennent des fonds seulement pour épargner. Nos membres
nous disent qu’ils le font pour diverses raisons, notamment pour
faire face à des ralentissements imprévus, pour soutenir la
concurrence et pour avoir des liquidités pour leurs acquisitions.
Et voilà qu’ils devront payer de l’impôt sur ces fonds à un taux
exorbitant. Nous ne comprenons pas pourquoi, au moment où
d’autres gouvernements cherchent à réduire les impôts des
entreprises, le Canada cherche à augmenter le coût du capital.

The Halifax Chamber of Commerce and our members still
have concerns that are yet to be addressed that are causing undue
stress and worry in the business community. As recently as last
Friday, I gave a presentation to a group of business executives in
the city. The chartered accountant partner, CPA now, who was
sitting next to me told me that he was advising his clients, and
has been advising his clients since July, to hold on business
purchases, on investments because they simply do not
understand what the landscape will be in the coming months and
years.

La Chambre de commerce d’Halifax et nos membres
continuent de nourrir certaines inquiétudes qui n’ont pas encore
été dissipées et qui sont une source de stress accru et
d’inquiétude dans le milieu des affaires. Pas plus tard que
vendredi dernier, j’ai prononcé une allocution devant un groupe
de chefs d’entreprise de la ville. L’associé comptable agréé qui
prenait place à mes côtés, aujourd’hui membre de l’Association
des comptables professionnels, m’a dit que, depuis juillet
dernier, il conseillait à ses clients d’attendre pour faire des achats
d’entreprise ou des placements étant donné qu’on ne sait tout
simplement pas quel sera le contexte dans les mois et les années
à venir.

Underrating entrepreneurs, the white paper compared taxes
paid by an employee with an entrepreneur. This is an apple to
oranges comparison. The entrepreneur bears the stress, risk and
rewards that come with owning a business. These changes could
unintentionally create barriers for those entrepreneurs. Those
same entrepreneurs are the backbone of the Canadian economy,
accounting for some 1.17 million businesses in 2015, of which
97.9 per cent were small businesses.

Le livre blanc sous-évalue les entrepreneurs en comparant les
impôts payés par un employé et ceux payés par un entrepreneur.
C’est une comparaison boiteuse. L’entrepreneur subit le stress,
prend des risques et profite des avantages qui vont avec le fait de
posséder une entreprise. Ces changements pourraient poser des
obstacles pour les entrepreneurs, même si ce n’est pas le but. Ces
mêmes entrepreneurs sont l’épine dorsale de l’économie
canadienne et, en 2015, ils représentaient quelque 1,17 million
d’entreprises, dont 97,9 p. 100 étaient de petites entreprises.

Economic uncertainty is another area of concern. In the
current climate of global uncertainty, with areas like NAFTA
discussions and slow economic growth, we question whether
these changes will incur more harm than good for the business
environment and competitiveness in Canada.

L’incertitude économique est une autre source d’inquiétude.
Dans le climat actuel d’incertitude mondiale, avec les
discussions sur l’ALENA et la lenteur de la croissance
économique, nous nous demandons si ces changements ne feront
pas plus de mal que de bien pour le milieu des affaires et la
compétitivité au Canada.
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We still have questions we hope you will take into
consideration, such as: Has an economic impact study been
conducted on these proposed changes? Has government
evaluated the increased burden and costs to small business? Has
government evaluated the increased cost and administration for
CRA? How will the proposed changes be managed?

Nous avons d’autres questions auxquelles, nous l’espérons,
vous répondrez. Une étude d’impact économique a-t-elle été
menée sur les changements proposés? Le gouvernement a-t-il
évalué dans quelle mesure le fardeau et les coûts des petites
entreprises augmenteront? A-t-il évalué dans quelle mesure les
coûts et le fardeau administratif de l’ARC augmenteront?
Comment les modifications proposées seront-elles gérées?

Some of the language is vague and subject to interpretation.
For example, implementing a reasonableness test. Has the
benefit to the Canadian taxpayer been evaluated against the
potential job losses and business failures that will result once
these measures are implemented? Small businesses are the
employers of the middle class. Who will employ the middle class
once many of these small businesses no longer exist, or will not
be founded? Small business will be required to make the Atlantic
Growth Strategy a success, a priority of this government. How
will this strategy be executed if entrepreneurs are discouraged by
these recent tax changes?

Certaines dispositions sont vagues et sujettes à interprétation.
Par exemple, l’application d’un critère de raisonnabilité.
L’avantage qu’en retirera le contribuable canadien a-t-il été
évalué par rapport aux pertes d’emplois et aux faillites
d’entreprises qui pourraient résulter de l’application de ces
mesures? Les petites entreprises emploient des travailleurs de la
classe moyenne. Qui les emploiera lorsque ces petites entreprises
auront disparu ou cesseront de voir le jour? Les petites
entreprises seront nécessaires pour assurer le succès de la
Stratégie de croissance pour l’Atlantique, une priorité de ce
gouvernement. Comment cette stratégie sera-t-elle mise en
œuvre si les entrepreneurs sont démobilisés par ces récentes
modifications fiscales?

Nova Scotia is currently the highest-taxed province in Canada,
and with a large amount of red tape facing current and future
businesses the proposed changes to Canada’s tax policy could
have a significant impact on the Nova Scotia economy. Adding
more barriers in a climate ripe with roadblocks like Nova Scotia,
could hinder Nova Scotia’s ability to support not only Halifax-
based businesses, but those in rural communities as well.

La Nouvelle-Écosse est actuellement la province où les impôts
sont les plus élevés et, compte tenu de la lourdeur des formalités
administratives auxquelles font face les entreprises actuelles et
futures, les modifications proposées à la politique fiscale du
Canada pourraient compromettre grandement la croissance
économique de la province. La multiplication des obstacles dans
un climat aussi précaire que celui de la Nouvelle-Écosse risque
de nuire non seulement aux entreprises établies à Halifax, mais
aussi à celles des régions rurales.

We will be separately asking the provincial government to ask
how they plan to compensate for these changes to ensure small
business growth when there are fewer incentives to open, run, or
hold cash inside a small business.

Nous demanderons directement au gouvernement provincial
de nous dire quelles mesures il entend prendre pour faire
contrepoids à ces modifications afin d’assurer la croissance des
petites entreprises au moment où il y aura moins d’incitatifs pour
la création et l’exploitation de petites entreprises ou pour le
réinvestissement de liquidités dans l’entreprise.

The Halifax Chamber of Commerce is committed to helping
businesses succeed and we want to ensure all businesses are
treated fairly and equitably, and provided with the right
environment to succeed. We hope you take the time to review
our comments and questions. We are certain that the proposed
changes to the current tax policy for private corporations would
have a myriad of existential impacts on Canada’s economy and
Canadians’ well-being.

La Chambre de commerce d’Halifax est déterminée à aider les
petites entreprises à prospérer; nous voulons également faire en
sorte qu’elles soient toutes traitées avec justice et équité et
qu’elles bénéficient d’un environnement propice à la réussite.
Nous espérons que vous prendrez le temps d’examiner nos
observations et nos questions. Nous sommes persuadés que les
changements proposés à la politique fiscale relativement aux
sociétés privées auront une myriade d’incidences existentielles
sur l’économie canadienne et le bien-être des Canadiens.

We agree the tax system is not perfect. As mentioned by the
Canadian Chamber of Commerce, we believe it might be in the
best interest of the government to procure a royal commission
for tax reform that clearly defines the problems to be solved and
the objective of the change to tax policy to reduce the undue
stress and uncertainty in the business community and lessen the
impacts to global business competitiveness.

Nous reconnaissons que le régime fiscal n’est pas parfait.
Comme l’a fait observer la Chambre de commerce du Canada,
nous croyons qu’il est dans l’intérêt supérieur du gouvernement
d’instituer une commission royale sur la réforme fiscale qui
saura définir clairement les problèmes à résoudre et l’objectif
recherché, qui est de réduire le stress et l’incertitude indûment
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imposés au milieu des affaires et d’atténuer les incidences pour
la compétitivité des entreprises sur les marchés mondiaux.

Utilizing accurate language that more precisely describes the
legal practices businesses use, instead of demonizing small
businesses by using words like, “loophole” and “sprinkling”
would also provide more clarity for both business owners and the
public.

Pour aider les propriétaires d’entreprises et le public à y voir
plus clair, il faut décrire en termes précis les pratiques légales
employées par les entreprises et cesser de blâmer les petites
entreprises en utilisant des mots comme « échappatoire fiscale »,
« répartition des revenus ».

Thank you very much for giving the Halifax Chamber of
Commerce the platform to voice our members’ concerns and
recommendations for a healthy business economy.

Je vous remercie beaucoup d’avoir offert à la Chambre de
commerce d’Halifax une tribune pour exprimer les
préoccupations et les recommandations de nos membres pour
assurer la santé de l’économie.

Glenn Davis, Vice President, Policy, Atlantic Chamber of
Commerce:  Good morning, senators, and thank you very much
for this opportunity to present our members’ concerns regarding
the proposed changes to tax planning regulations.

Glenn Davis, vice-président, Politique, Chambre de
commerce de l’Atlantique : Mesdames et messieurs, bonjour,
et merci de nous offrir l’occasion d’exprimer les préoccupations
de nos membres concernant les changements proposés aux règles
en matière de planification fiscale.

Simply put, our network of 93 Chambers of Commerce and
Boards of Trade, representing over 16,000 businesses and
professionals across Atlantic Canada are gravely concerned by
the government’s proposals and amendments.

Pour dire les choses simplement, notre réseau de 93 chambres
de commerce représentant plus de 16 000 entreprises et
professionnels de toute la région atlantique est profondément
préoccupé par les propositions et les modifications fiscales du
gouvernement.

If there was ever an issue that warrants the involvement of the
Senate as a chamber of sober second thought, this is it. The
substance and process of the so-called consultation has created a
divisive controversy where one did not previously exist. To say
that the approach was flawed would be gracious. The choice
made to schedule consultations during summer months has been
described as more of a sneak attack on small business and
professionals than a genuine consultation.

S’il y a un enjeu qui justifie le rôle du Sénat comme lieu de
réflexion objective, c’est bien celui-là. La substance et le
processus de la soi-disant consultation ont suscité une
controverse qui divise, alors qu’elle n’existait pas auparavant.
Dire que l’approche adoptée était imparfaite est un euphémisme.
La décision de tenir des consultations durant les mois d’été a été
vue comme une nouvelle attaque sournoise contre les petites
entreprises et les professionnels plutôt qu’une véritable
consultation.

While welcoming recent announcements by the Minister of
Finance that appear to limit the impact of new rules on income
splitting, passive income, and the transfer of businesses to family
members, there are many aspects of the government’s objectives
and methods that remain undefined, appear arbitrary and will
assign subjective powers to those who will enforce the tax rules.
It appears that the concept of fairness is driving the minister to
adopt a “come hell or high water” attitude to moving forward
with reform of CCPC regulations.

Tout en saluant les récentes annonces faites par le ministre des
Finances qui semblent atténuer l’impact des nouvelles règles sur
le fractionnement du revenu, le revenu passif et le transfert des
entreprises entre membres d’une même famille, de nombreux
aspects des objectifs et des méthodes du gouvernement
demeurent imprécis, semblent arbitraires et attribuent des
pouvoirs subjectifs aux responsables de l’application des règles
fiscales. Il semble que ce soit le concept de l’équité qui incite le
ministre à aller de l’avant, contre vents et marées, avec la
réforme des règles sur les SPCC.

By now it should be clear to both Houses of Parliament that
the original proposals were overkill. It is not necessary to change
the rules for all private businesses instead of targeting a small
percentage of business owners who enjoy inordinate benefit from
the current tax laws. The initial shotgun approach, followed by
adoption of arbitrary thresholds, demonstrates the folly of trying
to pursue fairness one issue at a time.

Il devrait maintenant être clair pour les deux Chambres du
Parlement que les propositions initiales étaient excessives. Il
n’est pas nécessaire de changer les règles applicables à
l’ensemble des entreprises privées, il suffit de cibler un petit
pourcentage de propriétaires d’entreprises qui profitent d’un
avantage indu en vertu des actuelles lois sur l’impôt. L’approche
initiale brutale, suivie par l’adoption de seuils arbitraires,
démontre la folle tentative de réaliser l’équité, un enjeu à la fois.
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We feel the level of concern is potentially greater in Atlantic
Canada than the rest of the country. We have the highest
percentage of rural population, a full two and a half times the
national average. These people are located in small communities
whose sustainability depends on small retail businesses and
resource industries such as forestry, fishing, and agriculture. A
significant portion of these businesses are supported by pledging
family assets, are subject to seasonal cash flows, and often
passed from generation to generation.

Nous pensons que l’inquiétude est potentiellement plus vive
dans le Canada atlantique qu’ailleurs au pays. Nous avons la
population rurale la plus nombreuse du pays, un taux deux fois et
demie supérieur à la moyenne nationale. Ces gens vivent dans de
petites collectivités dont la viabilité dépend de petits commerces
de détail et du secteur des ressources, comme la forêt, la pêche et
l’agriculture. Bon nombre de ces entreprises sont financées au
moyen d’actifs familiaux, connaissent des flux de trésorerie
variables en raison de la nature saisonnière du travail et sont
souvent transmises de génération en génération.

Our economies and urban centres also include a burgeoning
ICT sector that is predominantly populated again with small
businesses. The proposed regulations will inevitably cause these
small businesses to re-evaluate their investment and operational
decisions to ensure that their corporate tax environment does not
duly restrict their profitability.

Nos économies et nos centres urbains incluent aussi un secteur
des TIC florissant, également composé en majorité de petites
entreprises. Le règlement proposé incitera inévitablement ces
dernières à réévaluer leurs décisions d’investissement et
d’exploitation afin que l’impôt des sociétés dans leur cas ne
limite pas indûment leur rentabilité.

Going forward, we urge the members of this committee to
recommend withdrawal of these ad hoc measures that are not
adequately justified by economic impact analysis. Evidenced by
CRA’s recent misstep on interpreting rules regarding employee
benefits, and the revelation that a very small number of tax
payers are registering in tax havens to save enormous amounts of
tax, it is clear that the potential exists for unreasonable
interpretation of poorly defined regulations and there are better
cost benefit opportunities for government to expand their sights
beyond Canadian control of private corporations. If we want to
rebuild Canadian’s confidence in the tax system and the Canada
Revenue Agency, the only reasonable response is a
comprehensive review of the entire tax system, with the
objectives of proving fairness and competitiveness.

Nous exhortons les membres de ce comité à recommander le
retrait des mesures ponctuelles qui ne sont pas suffisamment
justifiées par l’analyse des répercussions économiques. L’erreur
récente de l’ARC en matière d’interprétation des règles
concernant les avantages sociaux des employés et la révélation
suivant laquelle un très petit nombre de contribuables recourent
aux paradis fiscaux pour épargner d’énormes montants d’impôt
montrent clairement que des règlements mal définis entraînent
un risque d’interprétation déraisonnable et qu’aux fins d’en
arriver à un meilleur rapport coûts-avantages, le gouvernement
serait mieux avisé d’élargir son champ d’action au-delà des
sociétés privées sous contrôle canadien, ou SPCC. Si nous
voulons rétablir la confiance des Canadiens dans le régime fiscal
et dans l’Agence du revenu du Canada, la seule façon
raisonnable d’y arriver consiste à mener un examen exhaustif de
l’ensemble du régime fiscal en vue de prouver qu’il est à la fois
équitable et concurrentiel.

Even with the minister’s revisions to the original CCPC tax
reforms there remains too much uncertainty and lack of
objectivity. Is the objective to improve the well-being of the
middle class individuals in employment situations; or to cap the
maximum benefits available to those who would risk their
financial well-being to operate a business; or to reduce tax
avoidance in hopes of increasing government tax revenue; or
some or all of the above? Answers to these questions would
logically influence the manner in which tax reform should be
approached.

Malgré les révisions apportées par le ministre aux réformes
fiscales initiales concernant les SPCC, l’incertitude et le manque
d’objectivité demeurent trop élevés. Veut-on améliorer le bien-
être des représentants de la classe moyenne qui occupent un
emploi, plafonner les avantages maximaux offerts à ceux qui
risquent leur bien-être financier pour exploiter une entreprise,
réduire l’évitement fiscal dans l’espoir d’augmenter les revenus
fiscaux de l’État, ou une partie ou la totalité des objectifs qui
précèdent? Les réponses à ces questions devraient logiquement
influer sur l’approche adoptée en matière de réforme fiscale.

In direct response to the tax reform proposals as they currently
stand, our members have asked that government publicly release
comprehensive economic impact assessments of the proposals
for review, including projections of the impact on business
investment; fully define the determinants of measurable
contribution to increase objectivity and reduce potential legal
issues; exempt spouses entirely from the measurable contribution
requirements in recognition of the risks borne by the family
union, not simply direct contribution to the operation of a

En réaction directe aux propositions de réforme fiscale dans
leur forme actuelle, nos membres ont demandé au gouvernement
de rendre publiques des évaluations exhaustives des
répercussions économiques des propositions de réforme, y
compris les projections de l’impact sur l’investissement des
entreprises, de définir en détail les facteurs déterminants de la
contribution mesurable en vue d’accroître l’objectivité et de
réduire les problèmes juridiques potentiels, d’exempter
entièrement les conjoints des exigences de contribution
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business; create passive investment limits that are more
representative of industry conditions and individual corporate
ownership; and do not proceed with changes to regulations
regarding the transfer of businesses between family members
without adequate public consultation.

mesurable en reconnaissance des risques assumés par l’entité
familiale, et non seulement des exigences de contribution directe
au fonctionnement d’une entreprise, d’instaurer des limites de
l’investissement passif qui soient plus représentatives de la
propriété individuelle des sociétés et des conditions en place
dans un secteur, et de ne pas modifier les règlements concernant
le transfert des entreprises entre membres d’une famille sans
d’abord consulter le public comme il se doit à ce sujet.

Reforming the tax system to be fair is desirable, but by nature
the complex regulations is a monumental task. It should not
move forward until government and taxpayers have a mutual
understanding of the objectives and effective solutions that will
satisfy employers and employees alike. The current public
dialogue between government and the business community
clearly indicates that this understanding does not yet exist. To
continue down this road would risk further alienating future
investors and limiting the growth potential of the backbone of
our economy.

Il est souhaitable de réformer le régime fiscal pour le rendre
équitable, mais s’attaquer à la réglementation complexe que ce
régime englobe constitue en soi une tâche monumentale à
laquelle on ne devrait pas s’attaquer avant que le gouvernement
et les contribuables se soient mis d’accord sur des objectifs et
des solutions efficaces, pour les employeurs comme pour les
salariés. Le dialogue public en cours entre le gouvernement et le
milieu des affaires révèle toutefois clairement que ce n’est pas
encore le cas. Poursuivre dans cette voie risquerait d’éloigner
davantage les éventuels investisseurs et de limiter le potentiel de
croissance du moteur de notre économie.

The Atlantic Chamber of Commerce urges the Senate
Committee on Finance to exercise their prerogative to
recommend that the Government of Canada conduct a royal
commission on tax reform that will analyze the deficiencies and
fairness and develop solutions based on comprehensive impact
analysis and create a balance between the interest of citizens,
private and public corporations.

La Chambre de commerce de l’Atlantique exhorte le Comité
sénatorial permanent des finances nationales à exercer sa
prérogative pour recommander au gouvernement du Canada de
créer une commission royale sur la réforme fiscale chargée de se
pencher sur les lacunes et l’équité, de mettre au point des
solutions fondées sur une analyse d’impact exhaustive et de
concilier les intérêts des citoyens, des sociétés privées et des
sociétés publiques.

I thank you for your attention and will answer any questions. Je vous remercie de votre attention et je suis disposé à
répondre à toutes vos questions.

Nicole LaFosse, Lawyer, LaFosse MacLeod, Cape Breton
Barristers’ Society:  Thank you, honourable senators, for this
opportunity this morning. I intend to speak today with respect to
income sprinkling, passive investment, and access to justice.

Nicole LaFosse, avocate, LaFosse MacLeod, Cape Breton
Barristers’ Society : Honorables sénateurs, je vous remercie de
m’accueillir ici ce matin. J’ai l’intention de parler aujourd’hui de
la répartition du revenu, de l’investissement passif et de l’accès à
la justice.

Those seeking to make changes to the Income Tax Act have
portrayed income sprinkling in a negative light. Income
sprinkling acts as so much more than an individual trying to
avoid paying their typically highest marginal tax rate on the
income that they sprinkle to their family members. When used
legitimately, this tool is used to put children through university,
to pay expenses for the sick or disabled, or to pay for the care of
an elderly relative, thus potentially clearing up some of the long
wait lists for assistance in this province. By removing or limiting
the ability to income sprinkle, this will have a limiting effect for
some individuals to obtain a post-secondary education. My own
education was at the benefit of income sprinkling, and while I
have no doubt that I would have pursued my education without
this aid, it is quite likely that many children will not. By
implementing these changes, the government will not improve
anyone’s access to education or to better healthcare. In fact,
these changes may act as a barrier to some.

Ceux qui proposent d’apporter des modifications à la Loi de
l’impôt sur le revenu ont dépeint la répartition du revenu de
façon négative. On aurait tort de croire que cette pratique est
l’apanage de personnes qui essaient d’éviter de payer le taux
marginal d’imposition le plus élevé en répartissant leur revenu
entre les membres de leur famille. Lorsqu’il est utilisé en toute
légitimité, cet outil permet de payer les études universitaires de
nos enfants, de couvrir les frais engagés pour des personnes
malades ou handicapées, ou de payer les soins dispensés à un
parent âgé, et de raccourcir ainsi les longues listes d’attente pour
obtenir de l’aide dans cette province. Si la capacité de répartir le
revenu est supprimée ou limitée, cela entraînera un effet limitatif
sur l’accès aux études postsecondaires pour certaines personnes.
J’ai moi-même pu étudier grâce à la répartition des revenus, et
même si je n’ai aucun doute que j’aurais quand même poursuivi
mes études sans cette aide, il est fort probable que de nombreux
enfants n’en feront pas autant. En instaurant ces changements, le
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gouvernement n’améliorera pas l’accès aux études ou à de
meilleurs soins de santé, et il pourrait même plutôt y faire
obstacle dans certains cas.

Further, the discussion surrounding a reasonableness test for
sprinkling will create a great deal of uncertainty and will most
certainly lead to an increase in CRA audits, appeals and
litigation far outweighing the benefit of the stricter sprinkling
regulations. There are certainly mechanisms to cut down on the
abuse of sprinkling, but the government should not disregard the
many benefits that come from this legitimate usage.

En outre, le débat qui entoure le critère de raisonnabilité de la
répartition du revenu risque de créer beaucoup d’incertitude et
mènera très certainement à une augmentation des vérifications,
des appels et des poursuites à l’ARC et de neutraliser, et de loin,
les avantages d’une réglementation plus stricte en matière de
répartition du revenu. Il est assurément possible d’envisager des
mécanismes visant à réduire le recours abusif à cette pratique,
mais le gouvernement ne devrait pas négliger les nombreux
avantages qui découlent de cet usage légitime.

With respect to passive investment, the government was clear
that their focus with these changes was to target the wealthy, the
1 per cent. A clear line was drawn in the sand to determine who
fell into that category. As opposed to eliminating passive
investment for small business, the government has proposed a
threshold of $50,000. As such, we are accepting the premise that
there is a threshold that will only affect the 1 per cent, that being
those who are able to save in excess of $50,000 annually in their
small businesses, although no statistical data have been
presented to date to support this arbitrary figure. The government
has also declined to specify whether this threshold is per
household or per person. The lack of clarification would suggest
that it is the former. Now if that is the case and the most you are
allowed to passively invest is $50,000 as a household, you are
suddenly reaching and affecting well past the 1 per cent targeted
group.

En ce qui concerne l’investissement passif, le gouvernement a
clairement indiqué que ces changements ciblaient la tranche d’un
pour cent des contribuables les plus riches. Les balises de cette
catégorie ont été clairement établies. Au lieu d’abolir
l’investissement passif des petites entreprises, le gouvernement a
proposé un seuil de 50 000 $. Nous acceptons donc la prémisse
selon laquelle un seuil n’affectera que cette tranche d’un pour
cent, à savoir ceux qui sont en mesure d’épargner plus de
50 000 $ par année dans leur petite entreprise, même si aucune
donnée statistique n’a été présentée à ce jour à l’appui de ce
chiffre arbitraire. Le gouvernement a également refusé de
préciser si ce seuil s’applique aux ménages ou aux personnes,
mais l’imprécision de la mesure permet de supposer qu’il s’agit
des ménages. Si c’est bel et bien le cas et si l’investissement
passif maximal autorisé n’est que de 50 000 $ pour un ménage,
le gouvernement cible soudainement un groupe de contribuables
qui dépasse largement cette tranche visée d’un pour cent des
personnes les plus riches.

Both my spouse and I are lawyers in private practice. Under
this proposed scheme, we would be limited to passive
investments of $25,000 each. Savings of this amount are
presumably more attainable for many individuals. Limiting
savings to $25,000 a person is well below what the government
has established as its 1 per cent in its targeted group.

Dans mon ménage, nous exerçons tous les deux le droit en
pratique privée. En vertu de cette mesure proposée, nous serions
limités à des investissements passifs de 25 000 $ chacun. Des
économies de cet ordre sont vraisemblablement plus facilement
réalisables pour de nombreuses personnes. En limitant l’épargne
à 25 000 $ par personne, le gouvernement cible un groupe bien
plus vaste que la tranche d’un pour cent initialement visée.

I understand that some will have little sympathy for small
business owners who are able to use these provisions of the
Income Tax Act to their advantage. We have heard the
comparisons of two neighbours with the same salary, and the
small business owner paying less taxes as compared to the
employee. My response is one word; risk. There is much more
risk and uncertainty in starting your own business versus being
an employee. You have to make sacrifices as a small business
owner. You have no guaranteed annual income or pension. One
year you may earn the same amount as that neighbour, while the
next it could be far less.

Je comprends que certains auront peu de sympathie pour les
propriétaires de petites entreprises qui sont en mesure d’utiliser à
leur avantage ces dispositions de la Loi de l’impôt sur le revenu.
Nous avons tous entendu les comparaisons entre deux voisins qui
ont le même salaire, mais où celui qui est propriétaire d’une
petite entreprise paie moins d’impôts que celui qui en est
employé. À ceux qui me soumettent cette comparaison, je n’ai
qu’un mot à dire : risque. Il y a beaucoup plus de risque et
d’incertitude à démarrer sa propre entreprise qu’à en être
employé. Le propriétaire d’une petite entreprise doit faire de
nombreux sacrifices. Il n’a pas de revenu annuel garanti ni de
rente. Vous pouvez gagner le même revenu que votre voisin une
année, et gagner beaucoup moins l’année suivante.
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Small business owners typically do not have the same long-
term planning available to them, as opposed to those with steady,
stable income streams. A small business owner’s income can be
affected by many things outside of their control. Given all the
risks associated with starting and operating a small business, we
need some mechanism in place to acknowledge the risks taken
by small business owners to incentivize them to do more and to
grow, and to support them during difficult periods.

En règle générale, les propriétaires de petites entreprises ne
peuvent pas planifier à long terme comme ceux qui ont des
sources de revenus stables et prévisibles. Le revenu du
propriétaire d’une petite entreprise varie en fonction de
nombreux facteurs qui échappent à son contrôle. Compte tenu de
tous les risques associés au démarrage et à l’exploitation d’une
petite entreprise, nous devons mettre en place un mécanisme qui
tiendra compte des risques courus par les propriétaires de petites
entreprises afin de les inciter à en faire davantage et à faire
croître leur entreprise, et pour les soutenir durant les périodes
difficiles.

Tax is the cost of doing business. Now in order to reduce these
costs business owners are going to take steps like terminating
employees, raising prices, or in my profession decreasing the
amount of pro bono work.

L’impôt correspond au coût des affaires. Afin de réduire ces
coûts, les propriétaires d’entreprises procèdent à des mises à
pied, augmentent leurs prix ou, dans ma profession, réduisent le
travail bénévole.

In Cape Breton, the majority of those affected by this justice
system are those who are not able to afford representation. As
such, many lawyers ensure that a certain percentage of their time
is dedicated to pro bono endeavours. If these amendments are
passed as proposed, it will be increasingly difficult for lawyers to
dedicate time to pro bono projects. Everyone will soon be
required to put in more hours to take home the same, or less,
than we were taking home before. This leaves less time for those
who need our assistance, becoming an access to justice issue. I
suspect our profession is not alone and that this will become an
access to service issue, transcending many professions.

Au Cap-Breton, la majorité des personnes touchées par le
système de justice n’ont pas les moyens de se faire représenter.
De nombreux avocats s’assurent donc de consacrer un certain
pourcentage de leur temps à faire de la représentation à titre
bénévole. Si les modifications proposées sont adoptées dans leur
forme actuelle, il sera de plus en plus difficile pour les avocats
de consacrer du temps à des projets bénévoles. Les avocats
devront tous bientôt travailler un plus grand nombre d’heures
pour gagner un salaire comparable, voire inférieur, à celui
d’avant. Cela nous laisse moins de temps à consacrer à ceux qui
ont besoin de notre aide, et entraîne donc un problème d’accès à
la justice. Je soupçonne que notre profession ne sera pas la seule
dans cette situation et que ce problème d’accès au service
touchera de nombreux domaines.

In closing, we should not structure these changes into a one-
size-fits-all approach. We should tailor our tax programs to
change only around the specific areas where abuse exists. If
there is abuse with sprinkling, figure out where that abuse is and
change the law so that it decreases opportunity for that particular
abuse. Do not change the law to the detriment of those who are
lawfully abiding by the rules.

En conclusion, nous ne devrions pas instaurer ces
changements en adoptant une approche universelle. Nous
devrions adapter nos programmes fiscaux de façon que les
modifications ne touchent que les domaines précis où des abus
sont observés. Si la répartition du revenu donne lieu à des abus,
il faut en déterminer l’origine précise et modifier la loi de façon
à réduire le risque d’utilisation abusive. Il ne faut surtout pas
modifier la loi au détriment de ceux qui respectent les lois.

My fear going forward is that if you take away these tax
strategies, how do you grow your business? We want to
encourage risk and encourage the entrepreneurial spirit. These
proposals impose a punitive tax rate on private corporations and
will consequently have harsh impacts on small businesses that
are at the heart of our economy. If you discourage people from
starting businesses, who is going to start them? All of a sudden it
makes more sense to be an employee to get a steady income and
a pension. Without risk takers, a community dies.

En abolissant ces stratégies fiscales, le gouvernement risque
selon moi d’empêcher les propriétaires de faire croître leur
entreprise. Ne voulons-nous pas plutôt encourager la prise de
risques calculés et l’esprit d’entreprise? Ces propositions
appliquent un taux d’imposition punitif aux sociétés privées et
auront donc de graves répercussions sur les petites entreprises
qui constituent un pilier de notre économie. Si vous dissuadez les
gens de créer des entreprises, qui s’en occupera? Il devient
beaucoup plus sensé dans ce contexte d’être employé pour
profiter d’un revenu régulier et d’une rente. Sans preneurs de
risques, une collectivité court à l’extinction.

The Cape Breton Regional Municipality, where I am from, has
an aging and declining population and the only way to develop
and encourage growth is to encourage and not discourage the

Dans la municipalité régionale du Cap-Breton, d’où je viens,
la population vieillit et diminue, et la seule façon d’appuyer et de
favoriser la croissance consiste à faciliter le développement des
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development of small businesses. By discouraging new or
growing businesses, this policy disproportionately affects those
regions like mine that most need the help.

petites entreprises, et non à l’entraver. En faisant obstacle au
démarrage ou à la croissance des entreprises avec cette mesure,
le gouvernement cible de façon disproportionnée les régions
comme la mienne, qui ont le plus besoin d’aide.

I would strongly urge our government to reconsider its
proposed tax changes and to truly study the far-reaching impact
that it will have on our economy as a whole. This not only
affects those who own small businesses, but their families, their
employees, and their communities.

J’exhorte le gouvernement à reconsidérer les modifications
fiscales qu’il propose et à approfondir les répercussions
substantielles qu’elles auront sur l’ensemble de notre économie.
Outre les propriétaires de petites entreprises, elles toucheront
aussi leurs familles, leurs employés et leurs collectivités.

Thank you very much for this opportunity. Merci beaucoup de votre attention.

The Chair:  The first question will go to Senator Marshall, to
be followed by Senator Eaton.

Le président : La première question sera celle de la sénatrice
Marshall, suivie de la sénatrice Eaton.

Senator Marshall:  I have the same question for all of you,
but I am just taking a look at the document that was provided by
Mr. Sullivan. You asked whether an economic impact study had
been conducted. We know now that there was not, because we
had asked that question of the minister. Has the government
evaluated the increased burden of costs to small business? That
has not been done either. I went down through all of your other
questions. I do not think they could have addressed them at this
point in time because the proposals are not finalized yet. All we
have so far is like a framework. We think we know where the
government is going, but everybody is sitting and waiting to see
what the specifics will be.

La sénatrice Marshall : J’ai la même question pour vous
tous, mais je viens de jeter un coup d’œil au document fourni par
M. Sullivan. Vous avez demandé si une étude d’impact
économique avait été réalisée. Nous savons maintenant qu’il n’y
en a pas eu, puisque nous avions posé cette question à l’intention
du ministre. Le gouvernement a-t-il évalué le fardeau accru des
coûts imposés aux petites entreprises? Cela n’a pas été fait non
plus. J’ai passé en revue toutes vos autres questions. Je ne pense
pas que le gouvernement aurait pu y répondre pour l’instant étant
donné que les propositions ne sont pas encore finales. Nous
n’avons qu’un genre de cadre pour le moment. Nous pensons
savoir où se dirige le gouvernement, mais tout le monde attend
de voir les détails.

Mr. Sullivan, I think you said you were talking to a CPA and
the advice was to do nothing right now. Hearing from other
witnesses across the country some people are not doing anything.
But there are a lot of people who are doing something, and some
people are doing some really big things in anticipation. They are
trying to second guess the federal government. So I am interested
in knowing what your members are telling you with regard to
what they are doing now, because I know they are not all just
waiting for the federal government to come out with the details. I
would just like to get a flavour for what this uncertainty is doing
to people in the interim, because even when Budget 2018 comes
out and people know the specifics, there will still be a lot of
work to be done to find out exactly what the specifics mean. So
what are people doing?

Monsieur Sullivan, j’ai cru vous entendre dire que vous parliez
à un CPA et qu’il vous conseillait de ne rien faire pour l’instant.
Si l’on se fie aux témoignages qui nous parviennent d’un bout à
l’autre du pays, ils sont effectivement nombreux à ne rien faire,
mais ils sont aussi nombreux à agir, certains avec plus de
conviction, en prévision de cette mesure. Ils se perdent en
conjectures à propos des intentions du gouvernement fédéral.
J’aimerais donc savoir ce que vos membres vous disent qu’ils
font à l’heure actuelle, parce que je sais qu’ils n’attendent pas
tous que le gouvernement fédéral donne les détails. J’aimerais
simplement avoir une meilleure idée de ce que crée cette
incertitude entretemps, parce que même lorsque le budget
de 2018 sera déposé et que les gens connaîtront les détails, il y
aura encore beaucoup de travail à faire pour déchiffrer avec
exactitude les répercussions de ces détails. Pourriez-vous donc
me dire ce que font vos membres?

Mr. Sullivan:  Let me give a couple of specific examples.
The majority of the people that I have spoken to are sitting and
waiting. The reason they are sitting and waiting is second
guessing the federal government is a bit of a fool’s errand
because we did see proposed legislation during the summer. That
proposed legislation seems to be changing. So I do not know that
doing a lot of things in the interim is a wise decision.

M. Sullivan : Permettez-moi de donner quelques exemples
précis. La majorité des gens à qui j’ai parlé sont en mode attente,
parce qu’ils estiment que le gouvernement fédéral fait fausse
route parce qu’un projet de loi a bel et bien été déposé cet été.
On semble maintenant vouloir modifier ce projet de loi. Je ne
suis donc pas sûr qu’il soit fort utile de bouger tout de suite.
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I will give you two specific examples of folks that have been
impacted. A business was being sold. This is relayed by a CPA
who advises people on the sale of their business. It was a small
business, five employees. It was being sold to an individual.
After the proposed changes were presented that sale was put on
hold. The individual who was doing the purchase believed that
they would have less opportunity for return, or income;
therefore, they would not pay the price that the seller was
offering. So, that was a reduction in the value of the business.
The seller then pulled back and is considering selling the
business to someone outside. It is a travel agency. It can operate
in any location. So, they may actually be selling the business to
someone outside of Nova Scotia. There is one example.

Je vais vous donner deux exemples précis de personnes qui ont
été directement touchées. Une entreprise était à vendre. Cette
information m’est communiquée par un CPA qui conseille les
gens sur la vente de leur entreprise. Il s’agissait en l’occurrence
d’une petite entreprise de cinq employés qui était vendue à un
particulier. Après la présentation des modifications proposées, la
vente a été mise en attente. Puisque l’acheteur estimait ne pas
pouvoir tirer un rendement ou un revenu aussi élevé qu’au
départ, il n’était plus prêt à offrir le prix que le vendeur
demandait. La valeur de l’entreprise avait donc été réduite. Le
vendeur a donc retiré son offre de vente et songe maintenant à
vendre son entreprise à quelqu’un de l’extérieur. Il s’agit d’une
agence de voyages qui peut être exploitée n’importe où dans le
monde. L’entreprise pourrait donc être vendue à l’extérieur de la
Nouvelle-Écosse. C’est mon premier exemple.

Another example, it is common to negotiate the purchase price
of a business when you begin the purchase if you are buying in.
He had bought 40 per cent of the business. The purchase price
was already agreed upon. He knew, based on the previous tax
legislation, what his income stream would be and he had the
option to purchase the other 60 per cent. He did not have an
option to renegotiate the price. He is, therefore, not going to
purchase the business or purchase the remaining 60 per cent of
the business today because he will not have the income stream
that he had in the past. So, there is a second example.

Dans mon autre exemple, l’acheteur éventuel, qui négocie
toujours ou presque toujours le prix, avait acquis 40 p. 100 de
l’entreprise. Les deux parties en étaient arrivées à un accord sur
le prix d’achat. L’acheteur connaissait les revenus qu’il allait
obtenir en fonction des lois fiscales antérieures et il avait la
possibilité d’acheter les 60 p. 100 restants ultérieurement, sans
toutefois pouvoir renégocier le prix. Il n’achètera donc pas
l’entreprise ni les 60 p. 100 restants maintenant parce qu’elle ne
lui procurera pas les mêmes revenus que par le passé. C’est mon
deuxième exemple.

I will give you one more brief example. I was, and I still am, a
private corporation. Although I am a full-time employee of the
Halifax Chamber, I still have a private corporation. I was on my
own for a number of months, or years. When I got my loan to
start my business, my wife had to sign-off on that loan. Although
she didn’t contribute every day, she would say that since we
mortgaged the house to start that business she was an equal
contributor to the business.

Je vais vous donner un autre exemple, plus rapidement. J’ai
constitué une société privée, qui existe toujours. Même si je suis
employé à temps plein de la Chambre de commerce d’Halifax, je
possède encore ma société privée. J’ai été à mon compte pendant
des mois, voire des années. Quand j’ai obtenu mon prêt pour
démarrer mon entreprise, ma femme a dû signer ce prêt. Même si
elle n’a pas contribué tous les jours, elle pourrait dire que
puisque nous avions hypothéqué la maison pour démarrer cette
entreprise, elle y avait contribué à parts égales.

Senator Marshall:  The proposed tax changes are not
finalized yet so there is uncertainty there. What is happening
with your members? Are they looking at other things that are
happening? We have been through a great period of growth, but
now it looks like we are facing an economic slowdown. Interest
rates are going up and that is a concern. Some businesses are
concerned about the NAFTA negotiations, like the dairy farmers
who were on the panel earlier this morning. How does that factor
in? For some people is this like the straw that breaks the camel’s
back. Where are these other uncertainties with regard to the
uncertainty on the tax changes?

La sénatrice Marshall : Puisque les modifications fiscales
proposées ne sont pas encore finales, elles créent de l’incertitude.
Que se passe-t-il avec vos membres? Examinent-ils tout ce qui se
passe autour de cette question? Nous avons connu une longue
période de croissance, mais nous semblons maintenant
confrontés à un ralentissement économique. L’augmentation des
taux d’intérêt est préoccupante. Certains propriétaires
d’entreprises, comme les producteurs laitiers qui ont témoigné
devant le comité plus tôt ce matin, sont préoccupés par les
négociations de l’ALENA. Quel effet tout cela aura-t-il? Pour
certains, c’est comme la goutte d’eau qui fait déborder le vase.
Quels sont les autres facteurs d’incertitude en ce qui a trait aux
modifications fiscales?

Mr. Sullivan:  We have a broad range of members. So, I
would say for our doctors, and we have doctors, this is the straw
that broke the camel’s back. There is no doubt about it. They are
very angry and upset about these changes. I do not want to speak
for lawyers.

M. Sullivan : L’éventail de nos membres est très vaste. Je
dirais donc que pour les médecins, car nous comptons des
médecins, c’est effectivement la goutte d’eau qui fait déborder le
vase, aucun doute là-dessus. Ils sont très fâchés et contrariés par
ces modifications. Je ne veux pas parler au nom des avocats.

50:38 National Finance 21-11-2017



I would say for many of our members that — and Atlantic
Canada is a little different than the rest of Canada, obviously –
while Canada had good GDP growth the last 12 months and is
projected to have good growth, Atlantic Canada was not so
lucky.

Pour bon nombre de nos membres — et le Canada atlantique
est évidemment un peu différent du reste du Canada —, alors
que la croissance du PIB a été bonne dans la dernière année et
qu’elle devrait le demeurer, le Canada atlantique n’est pas aussi
chanceux.

Senator Marshall:  I come from Newfoundland and
Labrador, so I know.

La sénatrice Marshall : Je le sais, puisque je viens de Terre-
Neuve-et-Labrador.

Mr. Sullivan:  There you go; you understand. So, Nova
Scotia is not quite as lucky, as is New Brunswick. I would say
many of them are putting on hold their business changes or
investments and that is really worrying. I mean we expect that
we may have a nine-month pause in business, and a nine-month
pause in business in an economy that is already slow, will create
another nine-month pause at the other end, sadly.

M. Sullivan : Voilà, alors vous comprenez tout. La Nouvelle-
Écosse n’a donc pas autant de chance que le Nouveau-
Brunswick. Pour bon nombre de nos membres, les changements
opérationnels et les investissements sont en attente, et c’est très
inquiétant. Nous nous attendons à une pause de neuf mois dans
le milieu des affaires, et une pause de cette durée, dans le
contexte d’une économie qui tourne déjà au ralenti, engendrera
malheureusement une autre pause de neuf mois à l’autre
extrémité.

Senator Marshall:  We are waiting for the smack. La sénatrice Marshall : Nous attendons la gifle.

Mr. Sullivan:  We have had the smack, we think. M. Sullivan : Nous avons eu la gifle, à notre avis.

Senator Marshall:  Well you are going to get another one. La sénatrice Marshall : Eh bien, vous allez en recevoir une
autre.

Mr. Sullivan:  We are going to get another one, yes. M. Sullivan : Nous allons en effet en recevoir une autre.

Senator Marshall:  Mr. Davis, what are you hearing from
your members? Would you share some members?

La sénatrice Marshall : Monsieur Davis, qu’en pensent vos
membres? Pourriez-vous nous en parler un peu?

Mr. Sullivan:  We are a member of the Atlantic Chamber.
Therefore, all of our members are their members, but they would
have a lot more.

M. Sullivan : Puisque nous sommes membres de la Chambre
de commerce de l’Atlantique, tous nos membres appartiennent
aussi à leur groupe, mais leur groupe est beaucoup plus
nombreux.

Mr. Davis:  Essentially our members are Chambers of
Commerce and Boards of Trade. So, indeed, each of those
Chambers of Commerce is independent and come together in a
voluntary association for common issues. You asked the
question, “What are people doing?” Certainly, at our level where
we work with Chambers of Commerce, there has never been an
issue in which the Chambers of Commerce have been more
active, more involved, more engaged. One of the examples of
how they are working is Chambers of Commerce across the
provinces, across the region, have been organizing information
sessions to help their businesses better understand what is on the
table and how it will impact them. There have been hundreds
across this, if not thousands. For example, in a small town like
Tracadie, New Brunswick, they rented the local theatre in order
to put on a presentation. They were turning people away at the
door, which is a demonstration of the level of concern.

M. Davis : Nos membres sont essentiellement des chambres
de commerce, et chacune d’elles constitue une entité
indépendante dont les membres se réunissent au sein d’une
association volontaire pour étudier des enjeux communs. Vous
avez demandé ce que faisaient nos membres. Au niveau où nous
travaillons avec les chambres de commerce, il n’y a certes jamais
eu de dossier dans lequel les chambres de commerce ont été plus
actives, plus concernées et plus mobilisées. Dans toutes les
provinces et dans l’ensemble de la région, les chambres de
commerce ont organisé des séances d’information pour aider
leurs entreprises à mieux comprendre les modifications et leurs
répercussions sur leurs affaires. Il y a eu des centaines, voire des
milliers de réunions. Ainsi, dans une petite ville comme
Tracadie, au Nouveau-Brunswick, ils ont loué le théâtre de
l’endroit pour y tenir une réunion, et ils ont dû refuser des gens à
l’entrée, pour vous donner une idée du niveau de préoccupation.

Senator Marshall:  We have heard from witnesses that
people are selling their businesses closing down their businesses.
One of the concerns that some witnesses raised is specific to
doctors. Doctors are mobile and can move to the States. Some
businesses are mobile as well. I find, especially in Ontario and

La sénatrice Marshall : Nous avons entendu des témoins
dire que des gens vendent leurs entreprises et mettent fin à leurs
activités. Parmi les situations préoccupantes soulevées par
certains témoins figure celle des médecins. Ils sont mobiles et ils
peuvent déménager aux États-Unis. Certaines entreprises sont
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out West, that there seems to be opportunities to move things
south of the border. Are you hearing that from businesses in the
chamber? I mean, not all businesses can.

mobiles aussi. Selon moi, particulièrement en Ontario et dans
l’Ouest, il semble exister des possibilités pour les entreprises de
déplacer leurs activités au sud de la frontière. Est-ce cela que
disent les entreprises à la Chambre de commerce? Évidemment,
ce ne sont pas toutes les entreprises qui peuvent le faire.

Mr. Sullivan:  Certainly, from members who are mobile, we
are hearing that they are exploring other options, whether that is
another province, which would be just as bad for us, or the
United States. We certainly have heard that from medical folks
who can work anywhere and are clearly exploring other options.
We in Nova Scotia already have approximately 100,000 people
without a family doctor. So, this is an area of significant concern
provincially.

M. Sullivan : Il est certain que les membres qui sont mobiles
nous disent qu’ils explorent d’autres options, que ce soit dans
une autre province, ce qui ne semble pas mieux pour nous, ou
aux États-Unis. Nous avons certainement entendu le même son
de cloche de la part des médecins, qui peuvent travailler partout
et qui explorent de toute évidence d’autres options. En Nouvelle-
Écosse, il y a déjà environ 100 000 personnes qui n'ont pas de
médecin de famille. C’est donc dire que cela est très préoccupant
à l’échelle de la province.

I shouldn’t speak provincially, but for Halifax it is still a
worry.

Je ne devrais pas parler pour toute la province, mais à Halifax,
oui, cela continue d’être une préoccupation.

Senator Marshall:  Ms. LaFosse, you are here representing
the Cape Breton Barristers’ Society. I sort of look at your
members a little bit differently than I look at members from the
chamber. You are representing lawyers, but it would be from the
perspective of how it impacts them, but also how it impacts their
clients.

La sénatrice Marshall : Maître LaFosse, vous représentez la
Cape Breton Barristers’ Society. J’ai tendance à considérer vos
membres un peu différemment de ceux de la chambre de
commerce. Vous représentez des avocats et, dans ce cas, il faut
se préoccuper à la fois des répercussions que cela a sur eux, mais
aussi sur leurs clients.

Ms. LaFosse:  Exactly. Mme LaFosse : Exactement.

Senator Marshall:  So, could you give us your perspective on
that?

La sénatrice Marshall : Pouvez-vous nous faire part de votre
point de vue à ce sujet?

Ms. LaFosse:  Certainly, and I think my comments would
echo those of these two gentlemen in that everything right now is
on pause. I work very closely with several accountants for the
purpose of incorporating these companies and these family
trusts.

Mme LaFosse : Certainement, et je pense que mes
commentaires font écho à ceux de ces deux messieurs, à savoir
que tout est en suspens pour le moment. Je travaille en très
étroite collaboration avec plusieurs comptables dans le but de
constituer en société ces entreprises, de même que ces fiducies
familiales.

One of the first things that new physicians do as soon as they
finish their residency is they incorporate. That is when they
come to see me. I think they typically finish in June or July. This
year I saw several in late July, right before this happened. We
started the process. Then as soon as these proposals came out we
went right to the accountant and everybody said, “Stop. Put
everything on pause.” Even after the changes in October, the
message has been the same, “Just wait. Just hold off.”

L’une des premières choses que les nouveaux médecins font
lorsqu’ils terminent leur résidence, c’est de se constituer en
société. C’est à ce moment-là qu’ils viennent me consulter. Je
pense qu’ils terminent généralement en juin ou juillet. Cette
année, j’en ai rencontré plusieurs à la fin de juillet, juste avant
que cela se produise. Nous avons commencé le processus. Puis,
dès que ces propositions ont été faites, nous avons tout de suite
consulté un comptable, et tout le monde s’est dit qu’il fallait
arrêter les démarches et mettre les choses en attente. Même
depuis les changements d’octobre, le message est le même :
« Attendons. Laissons les choses en suspens. »

My colleague Dr. Stone will be able to speak to that in much
greater detail this afternoon and the impact that it will have on
physicians. I know Cape Breton is kind of ground zero for
physicians leaving. So, it will have a very drastic impact on our
area.

Mon collègue, le Dr Stone, pourra vous en parler de façon
beaucoup plus détaillée cet après-midi et vous donner une idée
des répercussions que cela aura sur les médecins. Je sais que le
Cap-Breton est un peu une zone sinistrée en ce qui a trait aux
médecins qui partent. C’est donc dire que cela aura des
répercussions très marquées sur notre région.
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Senator Marshall:  What about the lawyers, the members of
the society? I would think a lot of lawyers have these private
corporations. They are probably not so mobile as the doctors.

La sénatrice Marshall : Qu’en est-il des avocats, des
membres de votre société? J’aurais pensé que beaucoup
d’avocats ont constitué des sociétés privées. Ils ne sont
probablement pas aussi mobiles que les médecins.

Ms. LaFosse:  We are also a much less sympathetic group
versus the doctors. I guess it depends what stage you are at in
your career. I know some of the older, more senior lawyers are
saying, “I am just going to close. I am done.” While I get the
message from others that this year will be a big year for
hoarding, for passive investment, because we just do not know
what 2018 will bring. There is just too much uncertainty right
now.

Mme LaFosse : Nous sommes aussi un groupe qui suscite
beaucoup moins de sympathie que les médecins. J’imagine que
cela dépend de l’étape où se trouvent les gens dans leur carrière.
Je sais que certains des avocats plus âgés et ayant plus
d’ancienneté disent qu’ils vont fermer leur entreprise, qu’ils en
ont assez. Toutefois, d’autres me disent que cette année sera une
excellente année pour la thésaurisation, pour l’investissement
passif, parce que nous ne savons tout simplement pas ce qui se
produira en 2018. Il y a beaucoup trop d’incertitude à l’heure
actuelle.

Senator Marshall:  Too much uncertainty. We do not know
what passive income is yet.

La sénatrice Marshall : Beaucoup trop d’incertitude, en
effet. Nous ne savons pas encore ce que représente le revenu
passif.

Ms. LaFosse:  Exactly. Mme LaFosse : Exactement.

The Chair:  Senator Eaton, to be followed by Senator
Andreychuk.

Le président : La parole va à la sénatrice Eaton, suivie par la
sénatrice Andreychuk.

Senator Eaton:  From the previous panel, Nova Scotia is
currently the highest-taxed area in Canada. You said, Mr.
Sullivan, in one of your speeches that it also has the largest
amount of red tape and that Canada’s tax policy may have a
significant impact on Nova Scotia’s economy.

La sénatrice Eaton : Selon le groupe de témoins précédent,
la Nouvelle-Écosse est actuellement la région du Canada où les
impôts sont les plus élevés. Monsieur Sullivan, dans une de vos
interventions, vous avez dit que c’est aussi celle où les formalités
administratives sont les plus nombreuses au Canada, et que la
politique fiscale du Canada pourrait avoir un impact important
sur l’économie de la province.

Jack Mintz, when he appeared before the committee, and I
quote him, “Evaluating taxation only in terms of fairness is
inappropriate . . . .”

Jack Mintz, lorsqu’il a comparu devant le comité, a dit, et je le
cite : « […] on ne peut pas évaluer un régime d’imposition
uniquement sous l’angle de l’équité… ».

And this is something we have heard over and over again from
the Liberal government. “Oh, it’s only fair.” They do not talk
about equal opportunity. They talk about equal outcomes, which
is strange. He said, “Evaluating taxation only in terms of fairness
is inappropriate since public policy must balance competing
objectives. Growth is also important.’

C’est quelque chose que nous avons entendu à maintes et
maintes reprises de la part du gouvernement libéral; que c’est
une question d’équité. Il n’est pas question de possibilités
équitables. Il est question de résultats équitables, ce qui est
curieux. Toujours selon M. Mintz, « […] on ne peut pas évaluer
un régime d’imposition uniquement sous l’angle de l’équité, car
les politiques publiques doivent concilier des objectifs parfois
opposés. La croissance est aussi importante… ».

Could you talk about the importance of recognizing the need
for economic growth as a part of tax policy and how these
measures could work against that?

Pouvez-vous nous parler de l’importance de reconnaître que la
croissance économique est nécessaire dans le cadre d’une
politique fiscale, et nous dire comment ces mesures vont à
l’encontre de cela?

Mr. Sullivan, I think you have on the back of your card
specific areas you would like to see the federal government look
at. As you know, e minister lowered the small business tax or he
is threatening to. Will that have much of an impact?

Monsieur Sullivan, je crois que vous avez au verso de votre
fiche des domaines précis sur lesquels vous aimeriez que le
gouvernement fédéral se penche. Comme vous le savez, le
ministre a diminué les impôts des petites entreprises ou menace
de le faire. Est-ce que cela aura beaucoup de répercussions?
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Mr. Sullivan:  Just to qualify, Nova Scotia does not have the
largest amount of red tape, it has red tape. So, I would not say
that.

M. Sullivan : Juste pour préciser, la Nouvelle-Écosse n’a pas
les formalités administratives les plus lourdes, mais juste un
niveau normal. Donc, je ne dirais pas cela.

Senator Eaton:  That’s good. I am glad. La sénatrice Eaton : C’est bien. Je suis contente.

Mr. Sullivan:  We have the largest taxes, but I think we share
red tape. It is fair to say that the current tax policies have built
what we have today. So, there is enthusiasm among small
business owners for the current tax policy. But it has been
layered on over years and years. I really do get a little disturbed
when I hear words like “loopholes.” The reality is that tax policy
has been created to advantage small business at times, large
business at times, doctors at times - maybe never lawyers.
Certainly, it is there to assist businesses and their growth and it
has done that over the years.

M. Sullivan : Nous avons les impôts les plus élevés, mais
notre juste part de formalités administratives. On peut dire que
les politiques fiscales en place ont mené à la situation dans
laquelle nous nous trouvons aujourd’hui. La politique fiscale
actuelle suscite donc de l’enthousiasme chez les propriétaires de
petites entreprises. Elle est toutefois le résultat de l’accumulation
de mesures sur plusieurs années. Cela me dérange un peu
d’entendre des mots comme « échappatoires ». La réalité est que
la politique fiscale a été créée pour avantager parfois les petites
entreprises, parfois les grandes entreprises, parfois les médecins,
peut-être jamais les avocats. Elle est certes là pour aider les
entreprises et favoriser leur croissance, et c’est qu’elle a fait au
fil des ans.

A wholesale change is very worrying because it creates the
unintended consequences that we are seeing with these kinds of
changes: threats to leave; people closing down their businesses;
the loss of value in a business; lack of expansion. That is what
happens when you try to do things in one fell swoop without, it
appears, adequately reviewing the economic impacts of these
kinds of changes. I do not know if that answers your question.

Un changement de fond en comble est très inquiétant parce
qu’il engendre les conséquences inattendues que nous avons
constatées : menaces de départ; personnes qui ferment leurs
entreprises; perte de valeur des entreprises; absence d’expansion.
C’est cela qui se produit lorsque l’on tente de tout régler d’un
coup, sans, semble-t-il, examiner de façon appropriée les
répercussions économiques de ce genre de changements. Je ne
sais pas si cela répond à votre question.

Senator Eaton:  Well, yes it does. Mr. Davis, do you have
anything that you would like to add to that?

La sénatrice Eaton : Oui, tout à fait. Monsieur Davis, avez-
vous quelque chose à ajouter à cela?

Mr. Davis:  Just to emphasize that we fully agree with Mr.
Mintz on the issue that fairness is not the only, and should never
be the only issue when developing tax policy. Competitiveness
and economic growth have to be integral parts of the evaluation.

M. Davis : J’aimerais seulement souligner que nous sommes
entièrement d’accord avec M. Mintz sur le fait que l’équité n’est
pas et ne devrait jamais être le seul enjeu au moment d’élaborer
une politique fiscale. La compétitivité de même que la croissance
économique doivent faire partie intégrante de l’évaluation.

We have talked about the mobility of doctors to be able to
leave if they find the tax regime unfair. Capital, investment
capital, is equally mobile and probably more so. People are
making decisions locally, for instance, on whether to invest in a
growth business here, in New Brunswick, or take it across the
border where they can access more markets, or new markets, or
to Europe. These are the kind of questions that the government
needs to include in their assessment of changes to the tax regime.

Nous avons parlé de la mobilité des médecins et de la
possibilité qu’ils ont de partir s’ils trouvent le régime fiscal
injuste. Le capital, le capital d’investissement, est tout aussi
mobile, et probablement plus. Les gens prennent des décisions à
l’échelle locale, par exemple, sur la pertinence d’investir dans
une entreprise en croissance ici, au Nouveau-Brunswick, ou de la
transférer de l’autre côté de la frontière, où un plus grand nombre
de marchés ou de nouveaux marchés sont accessibles, ou encore
en Europe. Voilà le genre de questions que le gouvernement doit
inclure dans son évaluation des changements proposés au régime
fiscal.

Senator Eaton:  Ms. LaFosse, we heard quite a few panels of
doctors before us when we were in Ottawa. One made a very
strong case when she said the average doctor, and I equate it to
some lawyers too, when leaving school usually has debt which
you have to pay off. In your case you set up your firm, I gather,
with your husband and with others, which is also a risk.

La sénatrice Eaton : Maître LaFosse, nous avons entendu
plusieurs groupes de médecins lorsque nous étions à Ottawa.
L’une des personnes que nous avons entendues a présenté un
argument très solide lorsqu’elle a dit que le médecin moyen, et
j’assimile cela à certains avocats aussi, lorsqu’il quitte l’école, a
habituellement des dettes à rembourser. Dans votre cas, vous
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avez mis sur pied votre entreprise, si je ne m’abuse, avec votre
mari et d’autres associés, ce qui présente aussi un risque.

As you said in your presentation, nobody will pay you
maternity leave if you decide to have children. Nobody is setting
aside money for your pension. Nobody buys you new office
equipment. So, will $50,000 really do it? As you say, you are
going to hoard lots this year. You are going to try to put a lot
away. But they are going to cap it at a million dollars. If you
think of that as your pension, keeping your office going, will that
be enough?

Comme vous l’avez mentionné dans votre présentation,
personne ne vous paiera de congé de maternité si vous décidez
d’avoir des enfants. Personne ne met de l’argent de côté pour
votre retraite. Personne ne vous achète de nouvel équipement de
bureau. Alors, est-ce que 50 000 $ suffiront vraiment? Comme
vous l’avez dit, vous allez beaucoup thésauriser cette année.
Vous allez essayer de mettre beaucoup d’argent de côté.
Toutefois, le montant sera plafonné à un million de dollars. Si
vous considérez la poursuite des activités de votre bureau comme
votre retraite, cela sera-t-il suffisant?

Ms. LaFosse:  I do not think so. It is hard right now to come
up with an exact number. That is why we need the facts and
analysis to determine the magic number. Does that magic
number exist? I think $50,000 is too low, particularly if it is a per
household situation. That is not enough.

Mme LaFosse : Je ne crois pas. Il est difficile à l’heure
actuelle de trouver un chiffre exact. C’est pourquoi nous devons
prendre connaissance des faits et de l’analyse pour déterminer le
chiffre magique. Ce chiffre magique existe-t-il? Je crois que
50 000 $ est un montant trop faible, particulièrement si on
l’envisage par ménage. Cela n’est pas suffisant.

In speaking to things like maternity leave, if I choose to do
that; one, it would be very nice to be able to have my spouse’s
income for that period because we have a cost of living now that
is certainly above what I would be receiving from the
government during a period of maternity leave. Further, I do not
necessarily have the opportunity to even take that leave when I
have a small business and I have a practice. It is very difficult to
step away from that.

Pour ce qui est du congé de maternité, si je choisis d’avoir des
enfants, il serait tout d’abord très agréable de pouvoir compter
sur le revenu de mon conjoint pour cette période, parce qu’il
nous en coûte actuellement beaucoup plus pour vivre que ce que
je recevrais du gouvernement pendant un congé de maternité. De
plus, je n’ai pas nécessairement la possibilité de prendre congé
puisque j’ai une petite entreprise et une pratique. Il est très
difficile de laisser cela de côté.

Senator Eaton:  Would you be better off if you were a
member of a union, if lawyers unionized themselves, like the
teachers?

La sénatrice Eaton : Votre situation serait-elle meilleure si
vous apparteniez à un syndicat, si les avocats se syndiquaient,
comme les enseignants?

Ms. LaFosse:  I do not know if I want to promote unionizing
lawyers, but I would be better off as a government lawyer
certainly, because then I would have considerably more
significant benefits.

Mme LaFosse : Je ne sais pas si je veux faire la promotion de
la syndicalisation des avocats, mais ma situation serait
certainement meilleure si j’étais avocate au gouvernement, parce
que je profiterais alors d’avantages beaucoup plus importants.

Senator Eaton:  Your benefits would be assured? La sénatrice Eaton : Vos avantages seraient assurés?

Ms. LaFosse:  Yes. Mme LaFosse : Oui.

Senator Andreychuk:  Thank you for the presentations. I
think you have covered a lot of ground and it is good to hear
from the legal profession. I think we have presumed that the
legal profession was going to gain from this confusion because
there would be more cases to look at and more time expended.
However, you pointed out the valuable pro bono work that
lawyers do, so I appreciated learning of that perspective from
lawyers.

La sénatrice Andreychuk : Je vous remercie de vos exposés.
Je crois que vous avez couvert beaucoup de choses, et il est bon
d’entendre le point de vue de quelqu’un qui pratique le droit. Je
crois que nous avons présumé que les avocats allaient profiter de
cette confusion, parce qu’il y aurait davantage de cas à traiter et
plus d’heures à leur consacrer. Toutefois, vous avez souligné le
précieux travail bénévole que font les avocats, et j’ai été
heureuse de pouvoir prendre connaissance de cet aspect de leur
situation.

I want to put to all of you this issue of reasonableness and the
meaningful contribution. Certainly, this is one of the most
difficult areas for me to understand, how a CRA official will be
able to say that certain income spreading is not meaningful and

J’aimerais vous soumettre à tous la question du caractère
raisonnable et de la contribution notable. Il ne fait aucun doute
qu’il s’agit d’un des aspects les plus difficiles à comprendre pour
moi, à savoir comment un fonctionnaire de l’ARC pourra dire
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not reasonable. In fact, it goes against social policy that we have
developed over decades to understand the differences within
family units, to respect that as part of our societal fabric and
certainly to spend a lot of resources sustaining families, having
them grow in the direction they want. We have only intervened
at a minimum rate. We do not say what a good family is. We are
saying all families are good, they are different, they are diverse,
they need to be nurtured. It is only when you do not meet the
minimum standards that we intrude. So, we are now going to
have a CRA accountant who will say, “This is not a reasonable
family unit,” or “This is not a meaningful contribution.”

qu’une certaine répartition du revenu n’est pas notable ni
raisonnable. En fait, cela va à l’encontre de la politique sociale
que nous avons établie au fil des décennies, et qui vise à
comprendre les différences à l’intérieur des unités familiales, à
respecter cela comme faisant partie de notre tissu social et,
certainement, à consacrer une somme importante de ressources
pour soutenir les familles et leur permettre d’évoluer dans la
direction qu’elles souhaitent. Notre intervention a été minime.
Nous ne définissions pas ce qu’est une bonne famille. Nous
croyons que toutes les familles sont de bonnes familles, qu’elles
sont différentes, qu’elles sont diverses et qu’elles doivent être
soutenues. C’est seulement lorsque les normes minimales ne sont
pas respectées que nous intervenons. Désormais, nous allons
avoir des fonctionnaires de l’ARC qui pourront dire qu’une unité
familiale n’est pas raisonnable ou qu’une contribution n’est pas
notable.

Have any of you taken this issue up directly with the minister,
members of the government or finance officials that they will put
on people who are skilled and trained as accountants, financial
people, the job of assessing what is a meaningful family unit and
a meaningful apportionment of work?

L’un d’entre vous a-t-il abordé cette question directement avec
le ministre, les députés ou les représentants des Finances, à
savoir que l’on imposera à des personnes qui sont qualifiées et
formées comme comptables, comme conseillers financiers, la
tâche de déterminer le caractère raisonnable d’une unité familiale
et d’une répartition du travail?

Mr. Sullivan:  I can take a crack at your question to start. I
will not pretend to understand matrimonial law. Maybe Nicole
has a better sense of that. My understanding is that many of these
things in terms of family contribution have been determined over
decades, as you pointed out. I think matrimonial law and
property law could go down a long way if they would look at
some of the rules and laws that are currently in place, or
decisions that are currently in place. That is one thing.

M. Sullivan : Je peux commencer par répondre à votre
question. Je ne prétends pas comprendre le droit matrimonial.
Peut-être que Nicole en a une meilleure idée. Sauf erreur, bon
nombre de ces facteurs, en ce qui a trait à la contribution de la
famille, ont été déterminés au fil des décennies, comme vous
l’avez souligné. Je pense que le droit matrimonial et le droit de la
propriété pourraient faire beaucoup de chemin si l’on examinait
les règles et les lois qui sont actuellement en place, ou encore les
décisions qui ont été prises. C’est une chose.

I think you are absolutely right there is a lack of clarity, and
lack of clarity will create uncertainty. People will either push the
boundaries or not push the boundaries far enough.

Je crois que vous avez absolument raison de dire qu’il y a un
manque de clarté et que ce manque de clarté entraînera de
l’incertitude. Soit les gens repousseront les limites, soit ils ne
repousseront pas les limites assez loin.

We have not responded directly to CRA. We have not asked
them questions. They do not have the answers yet, for sure. We
have asked our members of Parliament. We have asked the
Minister of Finance. We have written to the Prime Minister, of
course. The responses that we have received to date are
underwhelming. There is no clarity yet on what that
reasonableness test would be and it is a pretty good bet that CRA
will receive many varieties of interpretation of what reasonable
is. In Year One they will start to assess those, and in Year Two
those will be overturned, and in Year Three those will end up in
tax court. So, there will be likely lots of growth on the CRA side
for employment. But we do see the uncertainty creating less
opportunity for people to run their businesses and much more
administrative burden.

Nous n’avons pas répondu directement à l’ARC. Nous ne lui
avons pas posé de questions. Il est évident qu’elle n’a pas encore
les réponses. Nous avons posé la question à nos députés. Nous
avons posé la question au ministre des Finances. Nous avons
écrit au premier ministre, évidemment. Les réponses que nous
avons reçues jusqu’à présent sont décevantes. On ne sait pas
encore clairement quelle forme prendrait ce critère de
raisonnabilité, et il y a fort à parier que l’ARC recevra de
nombreuses interprétations de ce qui constitue le caractère
raisonnable. La première année, elle commencera à produire des
décisions relatives aux cotisations, la deuxième année, ces
décisions seront annulées et, la troisième année, elles se
retrouveront devant la Cour canadienne de l’impôt. C’est donc
dire qu’il y aura probablement beaucoup de nouveaux emplois
disponibles à l’ARC. Cependant, nous pensons que l’incertitude
réduit les possibilités des gens au chapitre de la gestion de leurs

50:44 National Finance 21-11-2017



entreprises, et qu’elle alourdit considérablement le fardeau
administratif.

Mr. Davis:  In terms of our organization’s involvement in this
issue, from our members across the region more than 1,200
letters were sent to MPs, the Minister of Finance, the Atlantic
Caucus for the Liberal Party, all pushing for a much clearer and
more appropriate definition of what is firstly reasonable and now
what is measurable, both concepts that do not preclude the
potential for extensive litigation or need for clarification.

M. Davis : En ce qui a trait à la participation de notre
organisation à ce dossier, plus de 1 200 lettres ont été envoyées
par nos membres dans la région à des députés, au ministre des
Finances, au caucus de l’Atlantique du Parti libéral, en réclamant
dans tous les cas une définition beaucoup plus claire et plus
pertinente de ce qui est, en premier lieu, raisonnable, et aussi
mesurable, deux concepts qui n’excluent pas la possibilité
d’intenses litiges ou le besoin de clarification.

I fully agree with you that the concept is, in the case of small
business, the definition of a family unit and their contribution
both directly and indirectly to the success of the business. These
are concepts that we have communicated in writing at any
opportunity to meet with our local members of Parliament.

Je suis tout à fait d’accord avec vous pour dire que les
concepts ont trait, dans le cas des petites entreprises, à la
définition de l’unité familiale et à sa contribution, directe et
indirecte, au succès de l’entreprise. Nous avons communiqué ces
concepts par écrit à nos députés locaux, toutes les fois que nous
avons pu.

Ms. LaFosse:  I do not practise family law; however, my
understanding of family law is that it is generally a 50/50 split
when you are in a divorce situation. So, the law has been clear
that a family shares equally. I am unclear as to why the
government now wants to step in to retry that fact when we have
already determined that we all share as family units. It will be
difficult for the government to now set a standard for what they
believe is a reasonable family unit.

Mme LaFosse : Je ne pratique pas le droit de la famille;
toutefois, d’après ce que je comprends, il y a généralement un
partage à parts égales lorsque survient un divorce. C’est donc
dire que la loi a clairement établi le principe de partage équitable
dans une famille. Je ne comprends pas très bien pourquoi le
gouvernement veut maintenant intervenir pour contester cela,
alors qu’il a déjà été déterminé qu’un partage se produit dans les
unités familiales. Il sera difficile maintenant pour le
gouvernement d’établir une norme concernant ce qui est
considéré comme une unité familiale raisonnable.

With respect to your comment earlier about potentially more
work for lawyers, it will only be tax lawyers who see a benefit
from this. I can say that I have actually seen a decrease in what I
do since July. It has cut down professionally on my workload.

En ce qui a trait à votre commentaire précédent au sujet de
l’augmentation de la charge de travail des avocats, je dirais que
seuls les avocats fiscalistes en profiteront. Je peux dire que j’ai
constaté une diminution de ma charge de travail depuis juillet;
une réduction de mes activités professionnelles.

Senator Andreychuk:  You talked about equality. “Equality”
does not mean sameness and that we can value one type of work,
whether it is outside of the home, inside of the home, sharing the
mortgage, whatever. There are all these intangibles. We have
said equality is 50/50 because we leave the rest for the family
unit.

La sénatrice Andreychuk : Vous avez parlé d’égalité.
« Égalité » ne veut pas dire similitude et ne signifie pas que nous
pouvons accorder une valeur à un type de travail, que ce soit à
l’extérieur de la maison, à la maison, pour le partage d’un prêt
hypothécaire, peu importe. Il y a tous les aspects intangibles.
Nous avons dit que l’égalité signifie moitié-moitié, parce que le
reste va à l’unité familiale.

One of you pointed out that if there is some income sprinkling
or spreading that is inappropriate, let’s go for it. I certainly have
not heard of where there has been an abuse of income sprinkling.
Are you aware of any of it? It seemed that it was happening.
CRA was dealing with it, but not in such a way that it came to
the attention of the public or journalists in any way. They were
isolated cases, if they were there. They said, “Let’s not go after
all of the income spreading, let’s go after the abuse.” I would
like to know where the abuse is, because I have not heard about
it.

L’un d’entre vous a fait remarquer que s’il y a une répartition
ou un étalement du revenu inapproprié, nous devrions agir. Je
n’ai certainement pas entendu parler de cas où il y a eu des abus
au chapitre de la répartition du revenu. Êtes-vous au courant de
tels cas? Il semble que cela se soit produit, que l’ARC s’en soit
occupée, sans que le public ou les journalistes en aient pris
connaissance d’aucune façon. Si cela s’est produit, il s’agissait
de cas isolés. On a décidé de ne pas s’occuper de tous les cas
d’étalement du revenu, mais uniquement des abus. J’aimerais
savoir où de tels cas se produisent, parce que je n’en ai pas
entendu parler.
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Ms. LaFosse:  I can speak to that briefly. I had never known
abuse to exist in this system. It was not until I was actually
preparing for this presentation that I learned that there were some
people taking advantage of the system. In speaking with
numerous accountants, there were limited situations in which
people were writing cheques to their beneficiaries and perhaps
that money flowed back to the individual who had originally
earned that income. I have never seen that situation happen,
although I understand that that is one example where there has
been abuse. As you said, this has not been a widespread issue
that we are losing a lot of tax dollars over.

Mme LaFosse : Je peux vous en parler brièvement. Je n’ai
jamais eu connaissance d’abus dans ce système. Ce n’est que
lorsque je me suis préparée pour cette présentation que j’ai
appris que certaines personnes profitaient du système. Après
avoir parlé à de nombreux comptables, j’ai constaté qu’il y avait
quelques cas de personnes qui faisaient des chèques au nom de
leurs bénéficiaires et à qui l’argent revenait peut-être. Je n’ai
jamais eu connaissance de telles situations, même si je
comprends qu’il s’agit là d’abus. Comme vous l’avez dit, on n’a
pas affaire à un problème généralisé qui nous fait perdre
beaucoup d’argent.

Senator Andreychuk:  Your example is tax evasion, as
opposed to legitimately using income spreading. Am I correct in
that?

La sénatrice Andreychuk : Votre exemple concerne
l’évasion fiscale, par opposition à l’utilisation légitime de
l’étalement du revenu. Ai-je raison?

Ms. LaFosse:  Exactly. Mme LaFosse : Tout à fait.

Mr. Davis:  In terms of answering your question, one of the
things it highlights is that we are talking about a small number of
people who potentially are benefiting inordinately from the
current tax laws. If you go by the minister’s historical
background of how we got to where we are, there is indication
that some form of study, some form of consultation with experts
was undertaken since their election, and they came up with the
original proposals that have currently been proven to be
unworkable and punitive.

M. Davis : En réponse à votre question, une des choses
qu’elle fait ressortir, c’est qu’on est en présence d’un petit
nombre de personnes qui pourraient profiter démesurément des
lois fiscales actuelles. Si l’on se fie au contexte exposé par le
ministre quant à la façon dont nous sommes arrivés là, il semble
y avoir eu une certaine forme d’étude, de consultations des
experts, depuis les élections, qui ont été suivies par les
propositions originales, qui se sont avérées irréalisables et
punitives.

So, really, when you ask the question of whether there are
abuses, it speaks to the fact that the government itself has not
been particularly helpful in identifying those abuses, and has
done so only in general terms. It almost looks like they looked at
a table of incomes, then circled an area and said, “These are the
guys we are going after.”

Donc, en fait, lorsque vous vous demandez s’il y a eu des
abus, cela montre bien que le gouvernement lui-même n’a pas
particulièrement bien réussi à les déterminer, et l’a fait
uniquement en termes généraux. On dirait presque que quelqu’un
a pris une table de revenus, en a encerclé une partie et a décidé
que c’est à ces personnes qu’on s’attaquerait.

Mr. Sullivan:  I would agree with the other two folks. I
believe the reality is CRA addressed that a number of years ago
when they raised some of the age limits on income sharing. I
prefer to call it “sharing,” rather than “sprinkling.” I think
sprinkling was an unfortunate term that I had never heard of until
July. It is my belief that the CRA dealt with that a long time ago
and it is not so much an issue currently.

M. Sullivan : Je suis d’accord avec les deux autres personnes.
Je crois que, en réalité, l’ARC a entrepris cette démarche il y a
quelques années lorsqu’elle a augmenté la limite d’âge pour le
partage du revenu. Je préfère appeler cela « partage » que
« répartition ». Je crois qu’il s’agit d’un terme malheureux, que
je n’avais jamais entendu avant juillet. À mon avis, l’ARC s’est
occupée de cette question il y a longtemps, et cela ne constitue
plus autant un problème à l’heure actuelle.

The Chair:  Senator Neufeld, to be followed by Senator Oh. Le président : La parole va au sénateur Neufeld, suivi par le
sénateur Oh.

Senator Neufeld:  Thank you to all three of you for taking
time out of your busy schedules to come in and speak to us about
some of the changes proposed by the government.

Le sénateur Neufeld : Je vous remercie tous les trois d’avoir
pris le temps de nous rencontrer, malgré votre horaire chargé, et
de nous parler de certains des changements proposés par le
gouvernement.

I would like each of you to answer my questions, if you would
please. In your statement, Mr. Sullivan, I will just read what you
said,

J’aimerais que vous répondiez tous à mes questions, si cela est
possible. Dans votre intervention, monsieur Sullivan, et je vais
citer ce que vous avez dit :
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With over 70 per cent of businesses expected to change hands
in the next decade, those proposed tax changes would have
severely impacted the ability for succession to occur or the value
of the business.

Comme plus de 70 p. 100 des entreprises devraient changer de
main au cours de la prochaine décennie, on comprend que les
modifications fiscales proposées auraient grandement compromis
les successions ou réduit la valeur des entreprises.

I had not heard that 70 per cent of small business were
expected to change hands in the next decade, although generally
there is supposed to be a lot. I am just asking for a broad answer,
but do you think that is why the government made these changes,
to severely impact people so that they collect some of their taxes
that they thought were due? I mean, we have a “tax and spend”
government in place in Ottawa. I do not want to get political, but
it is certainly a fact that they are looking for money. Do you
think this was a move on their part to say, “Hey, we will get a
big share of that if we change these certain things in the tax
structure?”

Je n’avais pas entendu dire que 70 p. 100 des petites
entreprises sont censées changer de main au cours de la
prochaine décennie, bien qu’on suppose qu’il y en aura
beaucoup. Je voudrais simplement une réponse générale, mais
pensez-vous que c’est la raison pour laquelle le gouvernement a
apporté ces changements : s’agit-il de frapper fort pour recueillir
une partie de l’impôt qu’il estime dû? En d’autres termes, nous
avons actuellement un gouvernement porté sur les impôts et les
dépenses à Ottawa. Je ne tiens pas à mêler la politique à cela,
mais c’est un fait qu’il cherche de l’argent. Pensez-vous que
c’était une façon de dire : « Tiens, on pourrait en récupérer une
bonne partie en changeant certaines choses dans la structure
fiscale »?

Mr. Sullivan:  I have to be careful about what I say. I think it
would be, perhaps, giving the Finance Department too much
credit to say that they had thought this through fully.

M. Sullivan : Je dois faire attention à ce que je dis. Je crois
que c’est peut-être accordé trop de crédit au ministère des
Finances que de dire qu’on a réfléchi attentivement à tout cela.

Senator Neufeld:  Too much credit? That’s a good answer. Le sénateur Neufeld : Trop de crédit? Voilà une bonne
réponse.

Mr. Sullivan:  My understanding, based on what has been
published, was that the expectation that all of these changes
combined would deliver about $250 million. Now that the
corporate tax rate has been reduced, that will reduce taxes in the
billions. I do not really understand what the government’s
original objective was, compared to what they tried to do to
soften the blow. I cannot answer the question, really.

M. Sullivan : À ce que j’ai compris, compte tenu de ce qui a
été publié, on s’attendait à ce que tous ces changements
rapportent ensemble environ 250 millions de dollars. Maintenant
que le taux d’imposition des entreprises a été réduit, cela va
réduire les impôts par milliards. Je ne comprends pas vraiment ce
que le gouvernement voulait faire à l’origine comparativement à
ce qu’il a essayé de faire pour amortir le coup. À vrai dire, je ne
peux pas répondre à cette question.

Senator Neufeld:  Okay. Le sénateur Neufeld : D’accord.

Mr. Davis:  My only observation is that this particular
government has adopted an enforcement perspective to tax. They
have invested a lot more money in collecting tax from
individuals and businesses. To the extent that maybe they have
seen an opportunity, as you say, to increase revenue for
government, I cannot say, but would not discount what you are
proposing.

M. Davis : Ma seule observation est que ce gouvernement
envisage la fiscalité du point de vue de l’application du droit. Il a
investi beaucoup plus d’argent pour percevoir les impôts des
particuliers et des entreprises. Je ne saurais dire dans quelle
mesure il a trouvé là une occasion, comme vous dites, d’accroître
ses revenus, mais je n’écarterais pas votre hypothèse.

Ms. LaFosse:  I think that this proposal unfairly targets what I
would consider to be the middle class. We are not the wealthiest
Canadians. I think there could have been other mechanisms to
pursue that would have generated much more than the proposed
$250 million. I would suggest they could have gone after the
offshore funds, things like that. That would have generated
significantly more tax revenue for the government.

Mme LaFosse : Je pense que cette proposition vise
injustement ce qui est, à mes yeux, la classe moyenne. Nous ne
sommes pas les Canadiens les plus riches. On aurait pu employer
d’autres moyens, qui auraient pu rapporter bien plus que les
250 millions envisagés. On aurait pu, par exemple, s’attaquer
aux fonds étrangers, des choses de ce genre-là. Le gouvernement
en aurait tiré beaucoup plus de recettes fiscales.

Senator Neufeld:  Part of what the government talks about is
they want to bring parity, or “equalness” between the 9-to-5
worker and business. They say there is too big a spread there.
Could you give me your thoughts on why they think that is so? I

Le sénateur Neufeld : Le gouvernement parle, entre autres,
d’instaurer la parité ou l’égalité entre les travailleurs qui font du
9 à 5 et les entreprises. Il estime que l’écart est trop grand.
D’après vous, pourquoi le gouvernement pense-t-il cela? Je crois
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think there should be a spread for a whole bunch of reasons. I
want to hear from you folks on why you think there should be a
spread? On top of that, perhaps to quiet people a little bit, they
went and made the gap larger by saying they are going to drop
the small business tax to 10 per cent and then to 9 per cent. Is it
as confusing to you folks as it is to me?

qu’il devait y avoir un écart pour toutes sortes de raisons.
J’aimerais connaître les raisons pour lesquelles vous pensez qu’il
devrait y avoir un écart. Par-dessus le marché, peut-être pour
calmer un peu les gens, le gouvernement a creusé cet écart en
disant qu’il va faire passer le taux d’imposition des entreprises à
10, puis à 9 p. 100. Est-ce que cela vous laisse aussi perplexes
que moi?

Mr. Sullivan:  Yes. I think it is very confusing. I think the
reality is that when you look at the government’s original
proposal and the examples that were provided, and I alluded to it
in my presentation, they talked more about neighbours as
opposed to employees. I think that is how they presented it.
Neighbours are very different.

M. Sullivan : Oui. Tout à fait. Je crois, en fait, quand on se
penche sur la proposition initiale et les exemples fournis — et j’y
ai fait allusion dans mon exposé — que le gouvernement parle de
voisins et non d’employés. Je crois que c’est ainsi qu’il en a
parlé. Les voisins, c’est très différent.

The majority of our 1,600 members are small businesses. So,
83 per cent of them are small businesses. As Nicole has said,
they are very clearly the middle class. They are not terribly
wealthy people. Some of them do well, some of them do okay.
Many of them are starting businesses, trying to grow their
businesses and hire employees and build their businesses.

Nos 1 600 membres sont en majorité de petites entreprises. En
fait, 83 p. 100 le sont. Comme l’a dit Nicole, ils font
manifestement partie de la classe moyenne. Ce ne sont pas des
gens si riches que cela. Certains d’entre eux réussissent bien,
d’autres s’en tirent correctement. Beaucoup d’entre eux viennent
de lancer leur entreprise et essaient de la développer et
d’embaucher des employés.

The risk for entrepreneurs is the lack of reward. When I speak
to some of my female members they talk about their inability to
take maternity leave, whether it is a month, 12 months, or 18
months, versus the neighbour they may have who works for
government — to kind of bring up the elephant in the room, I
suppose — and can achieve a 12-month or an 18-month
maternity leave with a guaranteed job to come back to, maybe
not the same job but a guaranteed job to come back to. That is
clearly very different than someone who has now the ability to
keep $1 million; granted it sounds like a lot of money, but $1
million for an economic downturn, for a risk, for an acquisition,
all of these kinds of things.

Pour les entrepreneurs, le risque, c’est l’absence de
gratification. Quand je m’entretiens avec certaines femmes parmi
nos membres, elles parlent de l’impossibilité de prendre un
congé de maternité, que ce soit 1 mois, 12 mois ou 18 mois,
comparativement à une voisine qui travaille pour le
gouvernement — pour en revenir au cœur du sujet, peut-être —
et qui peut prendre 12 ou 18 mois de congé de maternité en
sachant qu’un emploi l’attend au retour, peut-être pas exactement
le même, mais un emploi garanti. C’est vraiment très différent de
la situation de quelqu’un qui peut actuellement garder 1 million
de dollars. Je vous accorde que cela semble beaucoup, mais c’est
1 million de dollars pour faire face à ralentissement économique,
atténuer un risque, absorber une acquisition, et ainsi de suite.

So, I think it is very different when you talk about neighbours,
when you talk about entrepreneurs, when you talk about
employees. Everyone has the opportunity to take the risk and
become an entrepreneur if they choose to — we would
encourage them to — but I don’t know that we should be
comparing people as quickly as the government has.

Je pense donc qu’il y a de très grandes différences selon qu’on
parle des voisins, des entrepreneurs et des employés. Tout le
monde peut prendre le risque de se lancer en affaires s’il le
souhaite — et nous les y encourageons —, mais je ne vois pas
comment on peut ainsi comparer les gens comme s’y est
empressé le gouvernement.

I apologize, I must leave. I am very sorry to have to step out. Veuillez m’excuser, je dois partir. Je suis désolé d’avoir à
vous quitter.

The Chair:  Thank you. Le président : Merci.

Mr. Davis:  In short, I fully agree with Mr. Sullivan. The
concept of parity between an employee and a person who has
created a business is a false premise. It is not tenable at all.

M. Davis : En bref, je suis entièrement d’accord avec
M. Sullivan. La notion de parité entre un employé et une
personne qui a créé une entreprise est une fausse prémisse. Cela
ne tient absolument pas.

To add to that the concept of passive investment as it is
currently composed seems to be a number picked out of the air
— $1 million, a round number, and if it goes beyond that level

Qui plus est, la notion d’investissement passif telle qu’elle est
actuellement envisagée semble avoir donné lieu à un chiffre
choisi au hasard : un million, un chiffre tout rond, au-delà duquel
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the average person says, “Oh, my gosh. They’re hugely rich.”
Taken in the context of businesses that are trying to grow,
businesses that are looking to new opportunities that may
become available under the European Trade Agreement, it is
especially important to our neighbourhood in Atlantic Canada.
There are opportunities where an individual company going after
a contract can spend millions of dollars just preparing their bids,
submitting their proposals. So, again what the government has
put on the table under the guise of parity or fairness is just not
working for us.

tout un chacun s’exclame : « Oh mon dieu, ils sont immensément
riches. » Du point de vue des entreprises qui essaient de prendre
de l’expansion, qui cherchent de nouvelles occasions d’affaires
dans le cadre de l’accord commercial avec l’Europe, c’est
particulièrement important pour nos voisins du Canada
atlantique. Dans certains cas, une entreprise en quête de contrats
peut avoir à dépenser des millions de dollars simplement pour
préparer ses offres et soumettre ses propositions. Donc, encore
une fois, ce que le gouvernement a mis sur la table sous couvert
de parité ou d’équité ne fonctionne tout simplement pas pour
nous.

Ms. LaFosse:  I will echo Patrick’s comment that everyone
has the opportunity to take the risk and become an entrepreneur.
As I mentioned in my presentation, as a business owner you do
not have the steady stream of income when there are downturns
in the economy. Right now, I do not have the same stream of
corporate work that I had prior to July. I am not incorporating as
many companies. Times are a little bit slower. There is really no
such thing for a business owner as a 9 to 5 job. That doesn’t
exist.

Mme LaFosse : Je dirai, comme Patrick, que tout le monde
peut prendre le risque de lancer une entreprise. Comme je l’ai dit
dans mon exposé, les propriétaires d’entreprise ne peuvent pas
s’appuyer sur une source de revenus stable lorsque l’économie
ralentit. À l’heure actuelle, les activités de mon entreprise ne
sont pas les mêmes qu’avant juillet dernier. Je ne suis pas
constituée en personne morale comme beaucoup de sociétés.
L’activité est un peu ralentie. Pour un propriétaire d’entreprise,
le 9 à 5, cela n’existe pas.

Again, with respect to Patrick’s comments on maternity leave,
an employee can come back to a guaranteed position; I cannot. I
cannot take a year of maternity leave and expect my clients to
stay with me. They cannot go a year without their lawyer, and a
corporate lawyer. There is no else in my firm who does corporate
work. Everyone else does litigation. They would have to go
elsewhere and I cannot guarantee that they would be there when
I come back.

Pour rappeler ce que disait Patrick au sujet du congé de
maternité, une employée sait qu’un emploi lui est garanti au
retour. Pas moi. Je ne peux pas prendre un an de congé de
maternité et m’attendre à ce que mes clients me restent fidèles.
Ils ne peuvent pas se passer de leur avocate ou de leur comptable
pendant un an. Personne d’autre, dans mon cabinet, n’offre de
services corporatifs. Tous les autres s’occupent de litiges. Mes
clients seraient obligés d’aller ailleurs, et je ne peux pas être sûre
qu’ils reviendraient à mon retour.

Senator Oh:  Thank you, witnesses, for all the information
given. Truly, you are the voice of Nova Scotia.

Le sénateur Oh : Merci aux témoins de tous ces
renseignements. Vous êtes vraiment la voix de la Nouvelle-
Écosse.

I want to bring the discussion a little more south to NAFTA.
The NAFTA negotiations are not looking too good. What if they
do not go well? The U.S. is also looking at tax reform, lowering
their corporate taxes and so on. We are raising our taxes, and
they are going down. There could be a shift in future investments
between Canada and U.S. Can you comment on that, please?

J’aimerais soulever la question un peu plus au sud, en
direction de l’ALENA. Les négociations ne semblent pas aller
trop bien. Supposons qu’elles n’aboutissent pas. Les États-Unis
songent également à réformer la fiscalité et à abaisser l’impôt sur
les entreprises, et cetera. Nous sommes en train d’augmenter les
impôts, pendant qu’ils les baissent. Les investissements
pourraient être détournés du Canada vers les États-Unis. Qu’en
pensez-vous?

Mr. Davis:  I fully agree with what you are proposing. The
current global approach to tax reform has been largely to reduce
taxes on corporations or small businesses in order to encourage
their growth and investment. If indeed we, as a country, decide
that while other countries are reducing their tax rates we need to,
on a broad scale rather than a targeted approach, reduce the
profitability of small businesses, then we are doing a great
disservice to our potential growth.

M. Davis : Je suis tout à fait d’accord avec votre hypothèse.
La tendance globale actuelle des réformes fiscales est
généralement de réduire le taux d’imposition des sociétés ou des
petites entreprises pour les aider à prendre de l’expansion et les
inciter à investir. Si notre pays décide, pendant que d’autres
réduisent leurs taux d’imposition, que nous avons besoin, à
grande échelle plutôt que dans une perspective ciblée, de réduire
la profitabilité des petites entreprises, c’est notre croissance
potentielle qui sera gravement compromise.
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Atlantic Canada as a whole is super reliant on exports. We
have a proximity to the major markets in the United States. In
New Brunswick, I believe, exports going to the United States are
worth over 70 per cent of the entire economy, and I apologize if I
have it wrong. So, what is being proposed by the current
government and what is developing, especially south of the
border, as you indicate, are significant concerns to the businesses
in Atlantic Canada.

Le Canada atlantique tout entier dépend énormément des
exportations. Nous sommes à proximité des grands marchés des
États-Unis. Au Nouveau-Brunswick, excusez-moi si je me
trompe, mais je crois que les exportations à destination des États-
Unis représentent plus de 70 p. 100 de l’activité économique. Par
conséquent, ce que propose le gouvernement actuel et ce qui est
en train de se passer, notamment au sud de la frontière, comme
vous l’avez expliqué, sont autant de motifs de préoccupation
pour les entreprises du Canada atlantique.

Ms. LaFosse:  If I can just speak briefly on this? I would
agree with your comments and I think these changes are going to
affect our competitive advantage on a global scale, if they come
into effect. I cannot speak specifically to my region and how
much we are exporting and the direct impact that would have,
but certainly as a country as a whole, I think this will have a
negative impact.

Mme LaFosse : Permettez que je dise un mot à ce sujet. Je
suis d’accord avec vous et je pense que ces modifications vont se
répercuter sur notre avantage dans la concurrence globale si elles
sont adoptées. Je ne peux rien dire de précis au sujet de ma
région, du volume de nos exportations ni des effets directs
éventuels de ces modifications, mais je pense que, à l’échelle de
notre pays, il est certain qu’elles auront des effets néfastes.

Senator Oh:  What recommendation would you give to
Minister Morneau if he were today? Would you tell him to scrap
these changes? If he told you that he does not plan to do that,
what recommendation would you give him to fix it?

Le sénateur Oh : Que recommanderiez-vous au ministre
Morneau s’il était ici aujourd’hui? Lui diriez-vous d’abandonner
complètement son projet? S’il vous disait qu’il n’en est pas
question, que lui recommanderiez-vous pour corriger la
situation?

Mr. Davis:  As in our presentation our number one priority,
both as a Chamber of Commerce for Atlantic Canada and in
partnership with the Canadian Chamber of Commerce, the
agreement is that these changes ideally should be withdrawn at
this point in favour of a more comprehensive review of the tax
system in general. Anything less is tinkering, and as the initial
proposals have demonstrated they carry the danger of being
regressive rather than progressive in terms of our future
prosperity.

M. Davis : C’était la priorité numéro un dans notre exposé, au
nom de la Chambre de commerce de l’Atlantique et de concert
avec la Chambre de commerce du Canada : nous sommes d’avis
que la meilleure solution serait de retirer ces modifications pour
privilégier un examen plus exhaustif de tout le système fiscal.
Toute mesure moindre serait un expédient et risquerait, comme
les propositions initiales en ont fait la preuve, d’entraver et non
de favoriser notre prospérité à venir.

If indeed they do go forward, of the three issues it is hard to
pick which one is more important. The numbers that Mr.
Sullivan mentioned in terms of companies that will be sold over
the next 10 years indicates there is a significant crisis, both in
terms of changes to the tax laws and also just generally business
owners being able to organize a very cogent succession plan. It is
both an opportunity and a danger, especially in our region with a
large number of small businesses that we have.

Si les modifications sont effectivement adoptées, il est difficile
de choisir parmi les trois enjeux qu’elles soulèvent. Les chiffres
avancés par M. Sullivan sur le nombre d’entreprises qui seront
vendues au cours de la prochaine décennie donnent à penser
qu’il y a une crise importante, aussi bien du point de vue des
modifications fiscales que de la possibilité pour les propriétaires
d’entreprise de dresser un plan successoral très cohérent. C’est à
la fois une occasion et un danger, notamment dans notre région,
qui compte un très grand nombre de petites entreprises.

Ms. LaFosse:  I would agree with Glenn with respect to his
comment about withdrawing the proposals altogether. However,
to make some recommendations, first of all slow it down. Get the
details. Do a comprehensive study of the impact that these
changes are going to have. If we have to do something with
sprinkling, really expand on that definition of reasonableness,
exempt spouses in recognition of their contribution to a family
business.

Mme LaFosse : Je suis d’accord avec Glenn au sujet du
retrait pur et simple des propositions. Cela dit, s’il faut
recommander des mesures, je dirais qu’il faut d’abord ralentir,
obtenir les détails, effectuer une analyse complète des
répercussions que ces changements vont avoir. S’il y a lieu de
faire quelque chose au sujet de la répartition des revenus, que
l’on commence par élargir la définition du caractère raisonnable
et que l’on exempte les conjoints en reconnaissance de leur
contribution à l’entreprise familiale.

50:50 National Finance 21-11-2017



Again, with passive investment get the information. Get the
statistics. Do not pick an arbitrary number. Please make it so it is
not per household, but rather per person. Just simply make small
businesses feel valued. That is the way to grow the economy.

Encore une fois, il faudrait se renseigner sur l’investissement
passif, obtenir des statistiques, au lieu de s’arrêter à un chiffre
arbitraire, et faire le calcul à l’échelle du ménage et non du
particulier. Il s’agit simplement de faire en sorte que les petites
entreprises se sentent valorisées. C’est ainsi qu’on facilite
l’épanouissement de l’économie.

Senator Oh:  We will convey your message and your
concern. Thank you.

Le sénateur Oh : Nous transmettrons votre message et vos
préoccupations. Merci.

The Chair:  For the second round, the chair will recognize
Senator Marshall, to be followed by Senator Andreychuk.

Le président : Pour la deuxième série de questions, nous
écouterons la sénatrice Marshall, puis la sénatrice Andreychuk.

Senator Marshall:  We have talked a good bit about income
sharing, the definition of reasonableness and the family unit. But
what about passive income? That will have a big impact too.

La sénatrice Marshall : Nous avons un peu parlé du partage
des revenus, de la définition du caractère raisonnable, et de
l’unité familiale. Qu’en est-il du revenu passif? Cela aura aussi
des répercussions importantes.

Ms. LaFosse, I got the impression from what you said that you
are thinking that $50,000 is per company. An MP asked the
minister was it per company or was it per shareholder, and he
didn’t answer the question. Passive income is not really nailed
down either, any more than the reasonableness thing on income
sharing.

Maître LaFosse, ce que vous avez dit m’a laissé l’impression
que vous parliez de 50 000 $ par entreprise. Un député a
demandé au ministre si c’était par entreprise ou par actionnaire,
mais le ministre n’a pas répondu. Le revenu passif n’est pas
clairement défini non plus, pas plus que le caractère raisonnable
au sujet du partage des revenus.

Do you think there is a good understanding of what has to go
into the passive income pot? The tax experts are saying to us that
there now has to be maintained different pots of income. One of
the pots will be passive income. Do you think there is a good
understanding as to what type of income has to go into that
passive income?

Pensez-vous qu’on comprend bien ce qui doit entrer dans le
revenu passif? Les experts de la fiscalité nous disent qu’il faut
maintenant distinguer différents types de revenus, dont le revenu
passif. Pensez-vous qu’on comprend bien ce qui, dans les
revenus, doit être considéré comme revenu passif?

Ms. LaFosse:  There are so many questions with this. I spoke
with my accountant yesterday. He is a tax specialist. In speaking
with him, I just asked the questions, “So, what happens over that
$50,000 mark? What happens to that money? What percentage is
that going to be taxed at?” And he said, “To be perfectly honest,
I do not know.” He said, “In looking at it, it can be taxed at
anywhere between 63 per cent to 73 per cent. We just do not
know. The details are not out there.” How do you plan going
forward when you do not even know the details?

Mme LaFosse : Tout cela soulève tant de questions. Je me
suis entretenue avec mon comptable hier. C’est un spécialiste de
la fiscalité. Je lui ai simplement demandé : « Que se passe-t-il
au-delà du seuil de 50 000 $? Qu’arrive-t-il à cet argent? Quel
pourcentage d’impôt y sera-t-il appliqué? » Et il m’a répondu :
« Très franchement, je n’en sais rien. » Il a ajouté : « À première
vue, je dirais qu’il pourrait être imposé à raison de 63 à
73 p. 100. On ne sait pas. On n’a pas de détails. » Comment aller
de l’avant quand on ne connaît même pas les détails?

Senator Marshall:  Was there any indication as to what will
go into the passive income pot? I thought I understood it but then
I went to the Department of Finance website, and after going
through everything I thought, “I am not so sure anymore.” Has
there been any discussion on that? We keep talking about the
reasonableness and that is pretty grey. What about passive
income? Do we have the same problem there?

La sénatrice Marshall : A-t-on une idée de ce qui devra être
considéré comme revenu passif? Je pensais avoir compris, et
puis j’ai consulté le site web du ministère des Finances et je ne
suis plus sûre du tout. Est-ce qu’on en a discuté? Nous passons
notre temps à parler du caractère raisonnable, mais c’est assez
flou. Qu’en est-il du revenu passif? Est-ce que nous avons le
même problème à ce sujet?

Mr. Davis:  I think we absolutely do. As Ms. LaFosse
mentioned, there is on the table the potential that different pools
of capital will have to be treated differently within a corporation
— number one, adding complexity; number two, as you
mentioned, creating variable tax rates depending on where the
income is. Number one, the Minister of Finance says this will
apply to a small number of companies. Number two, it is too

M. Davis : Oui, absolument, à mon avis. Comme l’a expliqué
Me LaFosse, il est question de traiter différentes réserves de
capitaux de façons différentes au sein d’une même entreprise.
Premièrement, cela ajoute de la complexité. Deuxièmement,
comme vous l’avez dit, cela entraîne des taux d’imposition
variables selon le type de revenus. Premièrement, le ministre des
Finances dit que cela s’appliquera à un petit nombre
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complex for the average small business to track those kinds of
pools of capital, to differentiate them all for the goal of
addressing some benefits that a small number of companies are
accessing.

d’entreprises. Deuxièmement, c’est trop complexe pour que les
petites entreprises ordinaires puissent retracer et différencier ces
types de capitaux dans le seul but d’obtenir certains avantages
auxquels seules quelques entreprises ont accès.

I fully agree with you. We do not have enough information on
the passive income issue. It is not clearly defined and the current
proposal seems entirely arbitrary when you consider that
individual businesses have different needs and requirements.

Je suis entièrement d’accord avec vous. Nous n’avons pas
assez de renseignements sur le revenu passif. Ce n’est pas
clairement défini, et la proposition actuelle semble totalement
arbitraire étant donné que chaque entreprise a ses propres
besoins et ses propres exigences.

Senator Marshall:  Do you think the reduction in the
proposed tax rate to 10 per cent and 9 per cent compensates for
what is happening with regard to the passive income and the
income sharing?

La sénatrice Marshall : Pensez-vous que la réduction
éventuelle du taux d’imposition à 10, puis à 9 p. 100,
compensera ce qui se passe du côté du revenu passif et du
partage des revenus?

Mr. Davis:  I think I am quoting the government’s own stats
in stating that the maximum benefit for a company earning up to
$500,000, would max out at $7,500.

M. Davis : Si je ne me trompe pas, les statistiques du
gouvernement indiquent que l’avantage maximal pour une
entreprise dont les gains ne dépassent pas 500 000 $ serait de
7 500 $.

Senator Marshall:  The reason I asked the question is that
some of the tax experts who appeared before the committee have
told us that they are going to change the dividend tax credit and,
in effect, the proposed tax increase will not make any difference.
In fact, I think somebody said it would be punitive. That is why I
was asking the question.

La sénatrice Marshall : La raison pour laquelle je pose cette
question est que certains experts fiscaux qui sont venus
témoigner ici nous ont dit qu’on va modifier le crédit d’impôt
pour dividendes, et, en effet, la hausse d’impôt proposée ne
changera rien. Je crois même que quelqu’un ici a dit que cette
mesure serait punitive. C’est pour cela que j’ai posé la question.

Mr. Davis:  When you look at the changes in the dividend tax
rate, which I was not aware of, and the types of tax rates that Ms.
LaFosse was quoting, and I have heard them myself, up to 73 per
cent, again, a small change in the small business tax rate of
$7,500 annually does not seem, on the face of it, that it will
compensate adequately.

M. Davis : Si on tient compte des changements apportés au
taux d’imposition des dividendes, dont je n’avais pas entendu
parler, et des taux d’imposition des revenus dont parlait
Me LaFosse — et j’ai moi-même entendu parler d’un maximum
de 73 p. 100 —, eh bien, il me semble qu’un petit changement de
7 500 $ par an dans le taux d’imposition des entreprises ne sera
pas une compensation suffisante.

Senator Andreychuk:  I want to cover two points. La sénatrice Andreychuk : Je voudrais aborder deux
questions.

The intergenerational transfer issue was taken off the table.
Some people say that they believe that means they have
abandoned it. Others are saying it is off the table, which means
they have put it in abeyance, but it will likely come back. What
is your take on where the minister is going with this?

La question du transfert intergénérationnel a été laissée de
côté. Certains pensent que c’est qu’on l’a abandonnée. D’autres
estiment qu’elle est suspendue, mais qu’on y reviendra. À votre
avis, dans quelle direction le ministre s’en va-t-il avec tout cela?

Mr. Davis:  Again, the communication coming from the
government sometimes is without clarity and subject to
interpretation. My understanding of reading it and dialoguing
with other people is that the initial proposal is off the table.
However, some believe that new regulations regarding the
transfer of businesses are under consideration. This is one of
those areas where there is so little information. There is only a
principle that they will provide us with workable, equitable or
fair regulations regarding the intergenerational transfer of
businesses.

M. Davis : Encore une fois, ce que communique le
gouvernement est parfois flou et sujet à interprétation. D’après
moi et compte tenu de mes échanges avec d’autres personnes, la
proposition initiale est écartée. Mais certains pensent que la
nouvelle réglementation du transfert d’entreprises est à l’étude.
C’est l’un des secteurs où l’on a très peu d’information. Il y a
simplement la promesse qu’on nous fournira une réglementation
fonctionnelle, équitable ou juste au sujet du transfert
intergénérationnel d’entreprise.
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Like I say, you have to take the government at its word that
that is what they will do. Again, it opens up the need for a better
and more complete assessment and consultation with business
before the proposals that are forthcoming go to law.

Comme je le disais, il faut s’en tenir à ce que dit le
gouvernement et croire que c’est ce qu’il fera. Mais, avant que
les propositions à venir prennent force de loi, il faudra procéder à
une évaluation et à des consultations plus complètes.

Ms. LaFosse:  I will echo Mr. Davis’s comments. I do not
know as much about the intergenerational transfer, but I think
again it is a matter of better communication and studying the far-
reaching impacts that this would have.

Mme LaFosse : Je suis d’accord avec M. Davis. Je n’en sais
pas autant que lui au sujet du transfert intergénérationnel, mais je
crois, encore une fois, qu’il s’agit de mieux communiquer et
d’examiner les conséquences à long terme de ces propositions.

Senator Andreychuk:  With the government putting in this
interim measure, or this amendment, shall we say, of the
$50,000, they say it will only hit the top, the real earners. Sitting
on another committee I found that, particularly with women
entrepreneurs, when you are a small business you want to grow
your business. The government wants you to grow your business.
However, you do not have the resources to do. We are looking at
subsidies and other ways to help businesses grow their business.

La sénatrice Andreychuk : Grâce à cette mesure provisoire,
ou cette modification, disons, des 50 000 $, le gouvernement dit
qu’il ne touchera que les plus riches. Dans un autre comité où je
siège, j’ai compris, notamment en écoutant des femmes
entrepreneures, que, quand on a une petite entreprise, on veut
qu’elle grandisse. Le gouvernement le veut aussi. Mais les
entrepreneurs n’ont pas ressources nécessaires. Nous cherchons
des moyens, comme des subsides et d’autres mesures, pour aider
les entreprises à prendre de l’expansion.

What we have heard by putting this cap of $50,000, or moving
it up to $100,000, discourages moving into medium-sized and,
therefore, becoming competitive internationally. We say small
businesses and medium-sized businesses are the backbone of
Canada. They produce the jobs. This is where innovation comes
from and this where our future lies. Yet, if they are going to
attack even the small 3 per cent, they say, the mindset of some of
the witnesses we have heard is that they will stay small. They
will not move forward. In other words, they see it as a
disincentive.

D’après ce qu’on nous a dit, le seuil de 50 000 $, ou même de
100 000 $, décourage les entrepreneurs de passer au palier des
moyennes entreprises et, par conséquent, de se placer sur le
marché international. On dit que les petites et moyennes
entreprises sont la colonne vertébrale du Canada. Ce sont elles
qui créent les emplois. C’est là que s’élaborent les innovations et
que se prépare l’avenir. Et pourtant, si on s’attaque même aux
3 p. 100 d’entre elles, certains des témoins que nous avons
entendus nous disent qu’ils resteront des petites entreprises. Ils
ne progresseront pas. Autrement dit, à leurs yeux, c’est un frein.

I haven’t heard from you about innovation, the new kinds of
young entrepreneurs that start small but want to grow big. I am
thinking of women in my area who started a jewellery business
in their kitchen, moved into a provincial thing, nationally,
internationally. They have the savvy to do it, but they also need
the means and the support of the government to do it. Is any cap
helpful in growing business or is it a disincentive if you grow
beyond $50,000 — in other words, $1 million – because then
you will be penalized really.

Vous n’avez pas parlé d’innovation, ni des jeunes
entrepreneurs d’un nouveau genre qui commencent
modestement, mais qui ont beaucoup d’ambition. Je pense à des
femmes de ma région qui ont lancé une entreprise de fabrication
de bijoux dans leur cuisine, puis ont élargi leurs activités à
l’échelle provinciale, nationale et internationale. Elles ont le
savoir-faire, mais elles ont aussi besoin des moyens et de l’appui
que peut offrir le gouvernement. Est-ce qu’un plafonnement est
utile à l’expansion des entreprises ou est-ce que c’est un frein
quand vous passez au-delà du seuil de 50 000 $ — autrement dit
d’un million — parce que l’entreprise est alors, en fait,
pénalisée?

Ms. LaFosse:  The cap certainly is not an incentive for
anyone. The way I see it in my rural community is that it will
discourage, first of all, even small businesses from starting. Your
comments are very accurate in that it is certainly going to
decrease the opportunities to grow from the small to a medium-
sized business to a large-sized business. We do not have many of
those in Cape Breton, and we never will if this goes forward.

Mme LaFosse : Ce plafonnement n’est un stimulant pour
strictement personne. Ce que je constate dans ma collectivité
rurale, c’est que, d’abord, cela va même décourager la création
de petites entreprises. Vos remarques sont très justes, et il est
certain que cela va empêcher de petites entreprises de passer au
palier de moyenne entreprise, puis de grande entreprise. Nous
n’en avons pas beaucoup au Cap-Breton, et, si ces propositions
sont adoptées, ce ne sera jamais le cas.

Mr. Davis:  Thank you. We fully agree with your assessment.
Given the nature of the Atlantic economy there is a heavy
emphasis on the whole concept of assisting start-up companies,
whether it be incubators, mentors, so on and so forth. The limits

M. Davis : Merci. Nous sommes tout à fait d’accord avec
votre évaluation de la situation. Compte tenu de la nature de
l’économie dans la région de l’Atlantique, il est très important
d’aider les entreprises en démarrage sous la forme d’incubateurs,
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on passive investment do have a significant demotivation for
growth.

de mentors, et cetera. La limitation de l’investissement passif est
effectivement un frein important à la croissance.

Two concepts come to mind. Number one, is devolving your
company into two small businesses in order to access an
extremely preferential small business rate. The other is simply
relocation. Mr. Sullivan has mentioned that tax rates are quite
high in Nova Scotia and other provinces of Atlantic Canada.

Deux idées viennent à l’esprit. La première est de décentraliser
l’entreprise en deux petites entreprises pour avoir droit à un taux
d’imposition extrêmement préférentiel. L’autre solution est la
relocalisation. M. Sullivan a parlé des taux d’imposition très
élevés en vigueur en Nouvelle-Écosse et dans d’autres provinces
du Canada atlantique.

I can say from talking to some of our board members who are
business owners, that they are certainly in the investigation stage
of setting up subsidiaries outside of the Atlantic region just for
that reason. Others are considering it.

D’après mes entretiens avec quelques-uns des membres de
notre chambre de commerce qui sont des propriétaires
d’entreprise, je peux vous dire qu’ils sont en train de réfléchir à
la possibilité de créer des succursales en dehors de la région pour
cette raison. D’autres l’envisagent carrément.

The Chair:  To the witnesses, I noticed that as you made
various comments, members of the audience were signalling
their support. Your testimony has been very informative. Thank
you very much.

Le président : Merci aux témoins, dont les diverses
remarques ont suscité des réactions de soutien dans l’auditoire.
Vos témoignages ont été très instructifs. Merci beaucoup.

(The committee adjourned.) (La séance est levée.)
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EVIDENCE TÉMOIGNAGES

HALIFAX, Tuesday, November 21, 2017 HALIFAX, le mardi 21 novembre 2017

The Standing Senate Committee on National Finance met this
day at 1:03 p.m. to study the Minister of Finance’s proposed
changes to the Income Tax Act respecting the taxation of private
corporations and the tax planning strategies involved.

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des finances nationales se
réunit aujourd’hui, à 13 h 3, pour étudier les modifications
fiscales proposées à la Loi de l’impôt sur le revenu concernant
l’imposition des sociétés privées et les stratégies de planification
fiscale connexes.

Senator Percy Mockler (Chair) in the chair. Le sénateur Percy Mockler (président) occupe le fauteuil.

[English] [Traduction]

The Chair:  Welcome to this meeting of the Standing Senate
Committee on National Finance.

Le président : Bienvenue à la présente réunion du Comité
sénatorial permanent des finances nationales.

My name is Percy Mockler, a senator from New Brunswick
and chair of the committee. At this time I would like to ask
senators to introduce themselves, starting by my left, please.

Je m’appelle Percy Mockler, sénateur du Nouveau-Brunswick
et président du comité. À cette étape-ci, j’aimerais demander aux
sénateurs de se présenter, en commençant à ma gauche, s’il vous
plaît.

Senator Marshall:  Elizabeth Marshall, Newfoundland and
Labrador.

La sénatrice Marshall : Elizabeth Marshall, Terre-Neuve-et-
Labrador.

Senator Neufeld:  Richard Neufeld, British Columbia. Le sénateur Neufeld : Richard Neufeld, Colombie-
Britannique.

Senator Oh:  Victor Oh, Ontario. Le sénateur Oh : Victor Oh, Ontario.

Senator Cools:  Anne Cools, Toronto, Ontario. La sénatrice Cools : Anne Cools, Toronto, en Ontario.

Senator Andreychuk:  Raynell Andreychuk, Saskatchewan. La sénatrice Andreychuk : Raynell Andreychuk,
Saskatchewan.

The Chair:  We also have at the table the clerk of the
committee, Ms. Gaëtane Lemay, and the chief analyst of the
committee, Sylvain Fleury.

Le président : Nous avons aussi à la table la greffière du
comité, Mme Gaëtane Lemay, et l’analyste en chef du comité,
Sylvain Fleury.

Today, here in Halifax, Nova Scotia, our committee continues
its special study on the proposed changes to the Income Tax Act
respecting the taxation of private corporations and the tax
planning strategies involved, changes that the Minister of
Finance proposed during the summer of 2017.

Aujourd’hui, ici, à Halifax, en Nouvelle-Écosse, notre comité
continue son étude spéciale sur les modifications proposées à la
Loi de l’impôt sur le revenu concernant l’imposition des sociétés
privées et les stratégies de planification fiscale connexes,
modifications que le ministre des Finances a proposées durant
l’été 2017.

The committee received an order of reference on September
26, 2017. Permit me to share with you the mandate we received
from the Senate of Canada: that the Standing Senate Committee
on National Finance be authorized to examine and report on the
Minister of Finance’s proposed changes to the Income Tax Act
respecting the taxation of private corporations and the tax
planning strategies involved, in particular income sprinkling,
holding passive investments inside a private corporation and
converting income into capital gains; and that the committee take
particular note of the impact of the government’s proposed
changes on incorporated small businesses and professionals,
economic growth and government finances, the fairness of the
taxation and different types of income and other related matters.

Le comité a reçu un ordre de renvoi le 26 septembre 2017.
Permettez-moi de vous faire part du mandat que nous avons reçu
du Sénat du Canada : Que le Comité sénatorial permanent des
finances nationales soit autorisé à étudier, en vue d’en faire
rapport, les modifications proposées par le ministre des Finances
à la Loi de l’impôt sur le revenu concernant l’imposition des
sociétés privées et les stratégies de planification fiscale
connexes, et, plus particulièrement, la répartition du revenu; la
détention de placements passifs dans une société privée et la
conversion du revenu régulier en gain en capital; et surtout, que
le comité porte une attention particulière aux répercussions des
changements proposés sur les petites entreprises et les
professionnels constitués en société; la croissance économique et
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les finances publiques; l’équité de l’imposition des différents
types de revenus et d’autres questions connexes.

To the witnesses, we want to share with you that the
committee will submit its final report to the Senate no later than
December 15, 2017, and will retain all powers necessary to
publicize its findings for 180 days after presenting the final
report.

Mesdames et messieurs les témoins, nous voulons vous faire
part du fait que le comité présentera son rapport final au Sénat au
plus tard le 15 décembre 2017, et qu’il conservera tous les
pouvoirs nécessaires pour diffuser ses conclusions dans les
180 jours suivant le dépôt du rapport final.

Today we have a panel of three witnesses. On behalf of the
Standing Senate Committee of National Finance, thank you for
accepting our invitation. We are looking forward to your
comments, your opinions and your recommendations.

Aujourd’hui, nous avons un groupe de trois témoins. Au nom
du Comité sénatorial permanent des finances nationales, merci
d’avoir accepté notre invitation. Nous sommes impatients de
connaître vos commentaires, vos opinions et vos
recommandations.

We have with us, from Doctors Nova Scotia, Dr. Maria
Alexiadis, Family Doctor and Past President; from the Cape
Breton Medical Staff Association, Dr. Craig Stone, Physician;
and from Maritime Resident Doctors, Dr. Caitlin Lees, Chair.

Nous accueillons la Dre Maria Alexiadis, médecin de famille
et ancienne présidente de Doctors Nova Scotia, le Dr Craig
Stone, médecin, de l’Association du personnel médical du Cap-
Breton, et la Dre Caitlin Lees, présidente, Maritime Resident
Doctors.

We ask them to make your presentations, starting with Dr.
Alexiadis, to be followed by Dr. Stone and Dr. Lees.

Nous leur demandons de présenter leur exposé, en
commençant par la Dre Alexiadis, qui sera suivie du Dr Stone et
de la Dre Lees.

Dr. Maria Alexiadis, Family Doctor, Past President,
Doctors Nova Scotia:  Good afternoon and welcome to Nova
Scotia.

Dre Maria Alexiadis, médecin de famille, ancienne
présidente, Doctors Nova Scotia : Bonjour et bienvenue en
Nouvelle-Écosse.

My name is Maria Alexiadis. I am a family physician and Past
President of Doctors Nova Scotia. As the professional
association for the province’s doctors, Doctors Nova Scotia
represents 3,500 practising physicians, residents, medical
students and retired physicians.

Je m’appelle Maria Alexiadis. Je suis médecin de famille et
ancienne présidente de Doctors Nova Scotia. En tant
qu’association professionnelle des médecins de la province,
Doctors Nova Scotia représente 3 500 médecins actifs, résidents,
étudiants en médecine et médecins à la retraite.

On July 18, Minister Morneau announced proposed changes to
how private corporations are taxed. Although the proposed
changes have since been amended, removing some of the tax
saving and deferral benefits currently available to the 75 per cent
of Nova Scotian physicians who are incorporated will have
serious, unintended consequences.

Le 18 juillet, le ministre Morneau a annoncé des modifications
proposées concernant la façon dont les sociétés privées sont
imposées. Même si les modifications proposées ont depuis été
modifiées, le retrait d’une partie des économies d’impôt et des
avantages du report d’impôt actuellement disponibles pour les
75 p. 100 des médecins de la Nouvelle-Écosse qui sont
constitués en société aura de graves conséquences imprévues.

Nova Scotia’s doctors were allowed to incorporate by the
provincial government in 1996. The Minister of Health at the
time stated:

Les médecins de la Nouvelle-Écosse ont été autorisés à se
constituer en société par le gouvernement provincial en 1996. Le
ministre de la Santé de l’époque a affirmé ce qui suit :

There are certain physicians who, when looking across
Canada at opportunities, may well find that incorporation is
one of the pluses that might lead them to make a decision to
come and remain in Nova Scotia. We would like to provide
some stability in terms of business practices and stability in
terms of competitive advantage.

Lorsqu’ils contempleront des occasions partout au Canada,
certains médecins pourraient bien découvrir que la
constitution en société est l’une des impulsions qui pourrait
les inciter à décider de venir et de rester en Nouvelle-
Écosse. Nous aimerions procurer une certaine stabilité
relativement aux pratiques commerciales et une stabilité
pour ce qui est de l’avantage concurrentiel.
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Incorporation was provided to physicians in lieu of
competitive compensation to aid recruitment and retention.
Ironically, our province is in exactly the same spot it was in the
mid-1990s.

On a accordé aux médecins la capacité de se constituer en
société plutôt qu’une rémunération concurrentielle pour
contribuer au recrutement et au maintien en poste. De façon
ironique, notre province se trouve exactement là où elle était au
milieu des années 1990.

Today, Nova Scotians pay the highest personal taxes in the
country, and Nova Scotian physicians are paid among the lowest
in the country. More than 110,000 Nova Scotians don’t have a
family doctor. We regularly hear news stories about people who
don’t have access to primary care, patients calling doctors’
offices begging to be part of their practice. The Nova Scotia
Physician Resource Plan identifies the need to recruit more than
1,000 family physicians and specialists to the province in the
next 10 years.

Aujourd’hui, les Néo-Écossais paient les impôts personnels les
plus élevés au pays, et les médecins de la Nouvelle-Écosse sont
parmi les moins bien rémunérés au pays. Plus de 110 000 Néo-
Écossais n’ont pas de médecin de famille. Nous entendons
régulièrement aux nouvelles des histoires de gens qui n’ont pas
accès à des soins primaires, de patients qui appellent des cabinets
de médecins en les suppliant de les intégrer dans leur pratique.
Dans le plan de dotation en médecins de la Nouvelle-Écosse, on
estime qu’il est nécessaire de recruter plus de 1 000 médecins de
famille et spécialistes dans la province au cours des
10 prochaines années.

In a province facing significant financial challenges, where
physicians are paid well below the national average, it is difficult
to compete with other provinces. Physicians can choose to
practise elsewhere if the effects of the proposed tax changes are
not mitigated.

Dans une province qui fait face à des difficultés financières
marquées, où les médecins sont rémunérés bien en deçà de la
moyenne nationale, il est difficile de faire concurrence aux autres
provinces. Les médecins peuvent choisir de pratiquer ailleurs si
les effets des modifications fiscales proposées ne sont pas
atténués.

Physicians largely use their corporations for family planning
and retirement purposes. We do not have sick leave, pensions or
other benefits that employees enjoy. In rural Nova Scotia, where
a physician’s highly trained spouse is unable to find work, the
ability to defer or sprinkle income to a family member is a
benefit that makes it easier for physicians to choose to practise in
rural areas.

Les médecins utilisent abondamment leur société à des fins de
planification familiale et de retraite. Nous n’avons pas de
régimes de congés de maladie, de régimes de retraite ni d’autres
avantages dont se prévalent les employés. Dans les régions
rurales de la Nouvelle-Écosse, où l’épouse hautement qualifiée
d’un médecin est incapable de trouver un travail, la capacité de
reporter le revenu ou de le répartir avec un membre de la famille
est un avantage qui fait en sorte qu’il est plus facile pour les
médecins de choisir de pratiquer dans des régions rurales.

Doctors Nova Scotia surveyed physicians to determine how
the original proposed tax changes will impact them. Some 52 per
cent of 864 respondents indicated that they are considering to
moving to another jurisdiction if the proposed changes are
enacted. Another 43 per cent would consider reducing the
number of hours they dedicate to their practice or professional
activities, and 42 per cent would consider changing their practice
profile.

Doctors Nova Scotia a sondé des médecins pour déterminer
comment les modifications fiscales proposées originales vont les
toucher. Quelque 52 p. 100 des 864 répondants ont indiqué qu’ils
songent à déménager dans une autre province si les
modifications proposées entrent en vigueur. Une autre tranche de
43 p. 100 songerait à réduire le nombre d’heures qu’ils
consacrent à leur pratique ou à des activités professionnelles, et
42 p. 100 envisageraient de changer leur profil de pratique.

The impact of the proposed tax changes is compounded by the
current practice environment in Nova Scotia. Burnout, inferior
compensation and the proposed tax changes could result in
physicians leaving the province, working fewer hours or retiring
early, all of which impact negatively patient care.

Les répercussions des modifications fiscales proposées sont
aggravées par l’environnement de pratique actuel en Nouvelle-
Écosse. L’épuisement professionnel, la rémunération inférieure
et les modifications fiscales proposées pourraient se traduire par
des médecins qui quittent la province, qui travaillent moins
d’heures ou qui prennent une retraite précoce, conséquences qui
auront toutes des répercussions négatives sur les soins fournis
aux patients.

We view the benefits of incorporation as one component of a
physician’s total compensation package. A change to any
component of the compensation package, which has existed for

Nous considérons les avantages de la constitution en société
comme un élément du système de rémunération totale d’un
médecin. Le changement de n’importe quel élément du système
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more than 20 years, will impact the capacity of physicians to
practise.

de rémunération, qui existe depuis plus de 20 ans, influera sur la
capacité des médecins.

Physicians are unable to mitigate income losses. We cannot
raise our rates. They are set by the provinces. We cannot
increase our billings. We are already working at maximum
capacity.

Les médecins ne sont pas en mesure d’atténuer les pertes de
revenu. Nous ne pouvons hausser nos honoraires. Ils sont établis
par les provinces. Nous ne pouvons augmenter notre chiffre
d’affaires. Nous travaillons déjà à capacité maximale.

Physicians who cannot accept the tax changes will likely move
to either a jurisdiction where compensation is higher or retire
early. The result: fewer physicians to care for Nova Scotians.

Les médecins qui ne peuvent accepter les modifications
proposées déménageront probablement dans une province où la
rémunération est supérieure ou prendront une retraite précoce. Il
en résultera moins de médecins pour s’occuper des Néo-
Écossais.

We urge the federal government to give serious consideration
to the unintended impacts of the proposed changes. Physicians
come to Nova Scotia because they want to care for Nova
Scotians. They want to live in Nova Scotia. However, we must
all do what is best for our families. We are fearful the changes
will cause physicians to leave our province, and this will
ultimately be harmful to our patients. Thank you.

Nous pressons le gouvernement fédéral d’envisager
sérieusement les conséquences imprévues des modifications
proposées. Les médecins viennent en Nouvelle-Écosse parce
qu’ils veulent s’occuper des Néo-Écossais. Ils veulent vivre en
Nouvelle-Écosse. Toutefois, nous devons tous faire ce qu’il y a
de mieux pour notre famille. Nous craignons que les
modifications entraînent le départ de médecins de notre province,
et cela finira par nuire à nos patients. Merci.

Dr. Craig Stone, Physician, President, Cape Breton
Medical Staff Association:  I am President of the Cape Breton
Medical Staff Association. Cape Breton is that great big island
about four hours away from here.

Dr Craig Stone, médecin, président, Association du
personnel médical du Cap-Breton : Je suis président de
l’Association du personnel médical du Cap-Breton. Le Cap-
Breton est cette superbe grande île située à environ quatre heures
d’ici.

The association was created in June 2016 and its mandate is to
advocate for the physicians of Cape Breton and for the greater
Cape Breton medical community. The association has been vocal
in the media in its role as advocate. Its voice has been heard in
printed, electronic, voice and video media, and by the
Government of Nova Scotia, the opposition parties and by the
entire province.

L’association a été créée en juin 2016, et son mandat est de
défendre les intérêts des médecins du Cap-Breton et de la grande
communauté médicale du Cap-Breton. L’association s’est fait
entendre dans les médias dans le cadre de son rôle de
défenderesse. Sa voix a été entendue dans des médias imprimés,
électroniques, audio et vidéo et par le gouvernement de la
Nouvelle-Écosse, les partis de l’opposition et la province entière.

My face and those of my colleagues are all over the Internet.
Our message has always been the same: Recruitment and
retention of physicians to Cape Breton is of paramount
importance, as is maintenance of services locally on the island.

Mon visage et celui de mes collègues apparaissent partout sur
Internet. Notre message a toujours été le même : le recrutement
et le maintien en poste de médecins au Cap-Breton revêtent une
importance primordiale, tout comme le maintien des services
fournis localement sur l’île.

We have lost services critical to the community, vascular
surgery and thoracics to name two. Cape Breton is short of
psychiatrists, infectious disease specialists, family practitioners
and others. We have many citizens without a family doctor.
Statistics Canada estimates 90,000 to 100,000 Nova Scotians to
be without a family doctor.

Nous avons perdu des services essentiels à la collectivité,
comme la chirurgie vasculaire et la chirurgie thoracique, pour en
nommer deux. Le Cap-Breton a une pénurie de psychiatres, de
spécialistes des maladies infectieuses, de médecins de famille et
d’autres. Beaucoup de nos citoyens n’ont pas de médecin de
famille. Statistique Canada estime que de 90 000 à 100 000 Néo-
Écossais n’ont pas de médecin de famille.

At the next meeting of the association I shall be resigning as
president. I no longer have the personal strength to advocate for
my community and the physicians who serve it. We are entering
the Valley of Shadow of the great game changer, and the results
might be catastrophic to the community, to my colleagues, to my
family and to me.

Au cours de la prochaine réunion de l’association, je vais
démissionner de mon rôle de président. Je n’ai plus la force
personnelle pour défendre les intérêts de ma collectivité et ceux
des médecins qui la servent. Nous pénétrons dans la vallée des
ténèbres du grand changement des règles du jeu, et les résultats
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pourraient être catastrophiques pour la collectivité, mes
collègues, ma famille et moi.

“What is the great game changer,” you ask? It is the proposed
changes to professional incorporations. I am certain that Mr.
Morneau has not heard of this great game changer, but it has the
power to reverse any of the health care gains the association has
been fighting for these last two years. It will affect Cape Breton,
the province of Nova Scotia, and most likely any underserviced
part of Canada.

Vous vous demandez : « Quel est le grand changement des
règles du jeu? » Ce sont les modifications proposées touchant la
constitution en société de professionnels. Je suis certain que
M. Morneau n’a pas entendu parler de ce grand changement des
règles du jeu, mais celui-ci a le pouvoir de renverser n’importe
lequel des gains en matière de soins de santé pour lesquels
l’association s’est battue durant les deux dernières années. Cela
va toucher le Cap-Breton, la province de la Nouvelle-Écosse et,
probablement, toute région insuffisamment desservie du Canada.

The current government is playing populist politics at its best,
playing one group, the salaried, against the other, the
incorporated, with the latter labelled tax cheats and income
sprinklers. With the backlash against the reforms and in the light
of revelations of family fortunes, a French villa and possible
conflicts of interest by the PM and the Minister of Finance, the
populist divisions continue, only in this case the incorporated are
being split from within.

Le gouvernement actuel joue la carte de la politique populiste
à son meilleur, faisant s’affronter un groupe, les salariés, et
l’autre, ceux qui sont constitués en société, ces derniers étant
qualifiés de fraudeurs fiscaux et de « fractionneurs du revenu ».
Compte tenu de la réaction contre les réformes et à la lumière
des révélations de fortunes familiales, d’une villa française et de
conflits d’intérêts possibles par le premier ministre et le ministre
des Finances, les divisions populistes continuent; seulement,
dans ce cas-ci, ceux qui sont constitués en société sont divisés de
l’intérieur.

One announcement was made that farmers would not be
affected. Then real small business would not be affected. Oh,
now only new money and investments will be affected going
forward. In October Canadians saw a financial dance of the
seven veils.

On a annoncé que les agriculteurs ne seraient pas touchés.
Puis, que les petites entreprises réelles ne seraient pas touchées.
Oh, maintenant, c’est seulement le nouvel argent et les nouveaux
investissements qui seront touchés dans l’avenir. En octobre, les
Canadiens ont vu une danse financière des sept voiles.

Moreover, this pitting of one group against another reveals
that the federal government is guilty of the one thing Prime
Minister Trudeau said in his 2016 Christmas message to Canada
that he would never do. He said he would never govern by
division. I believe he is.

De plus, le fait de dresser un groupe contre l’autre révèle que
le gouvernement fédéral est coupable de la chose que le premier
ministre Trudeau a dit qu’il ne ferait jamais dans son message de
Noël de 2016 au Canada. Il a dit qu’il ne gouvernerait jamais en
divisant. Je crois qu’il le fait.

For certain, you have already heard that incorporation was
given to physicians in lieu of rate increases. In the 1990s Nova
Scotia, the then current Liberal government of Mr. John Savage,
made huge cuts to public finances to balance the provincial
budget. Salaried workers were given a week off without pay.
Doctors had their billings capped. It was presumed that doctors
would not stop services when their cap was reached.
Unfortunately many did. Those who did left the province
temporarily to work as a locum. Some left permanently, going to
other provinces or to the United States of America.

Certains d’entre vous ont déjà entendu dire qu’on a donné le
droit aux médecins de se constituer en société plutôt que leur
fournir des augmentations d’honoraires. Dans la Nouvelle-
Écosse des années 1990, le gouvernement libéral de l’époque,
celui de M. John Savage, a coupé énormément dans les finances
publiques pour équilibrer le budget provincial. Les travailleurs
salariés se sont vu accorder une semaine de congé sans salaire.
On a plafonné la facturation des médecins. Il a été présumé que
les médecins ne cesseraient pas d’offrir les services lorsque leur
plafond serait atteint. Malheureusement, bon nombre d’entre eux
l’ont fait. Ceux qui l’ont fait ont quitté la province
temporairement pour travailler comme suppléants. Certains sont
partis de façon permanente, allant dans d’autres provinces ou aux
États-Unis.

The budget changes were made after the Liberals took over in
1993 and inherited a $471 million deficit. Austerity was the rule
of the day. In 1995-96 and 1996-97 there was a net decline in
physician numbers, minus 3.1 per cent and minus 3.8 per cent
respectively. It rose to normal historic levels in 1997-98, plus 2.7
per cent.

Les changements budgétaires ont été apportés après la prise du
pouvoir, en 1993, par les libéraux, qui ont hérité d’un déficit de
471 millions de dollars. L’austérité était la règle du jour. En
1995-1996 et en 1996-1997, il y a eu une diminution nette du
nombre de médecins, soit moins 3,1 p. 100 et moins 3,8 p. 100,
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respectivement. Ce nombre a augmenté jusqu’à des niveaux
historiques normaux en 1997-1998, soit plus 2,7 p. 100.

What changed in 1997? The thing that changed was that in
1995-96 the Nova Scotia House of Assembly passed an act to
permit physicians to incorporate for the purpose of carrying on
the practice of medicine. Why was this act passed? The hansard
of the fifty-sixth General Assembly of Friday, January 5, 1996,
explains why:

Qu’est-ce qui a changé en 1997? Ce qui a changé, c’est que,
en 1995-1996, la Chambre d’assemblée de la Nouvelle-Écosse a
adopté une loi pour permettre aux médecins de se constituer en
société afin de pratiquer la médecine. Pourquoi cette loi a-t-elle
été adoptée? Le compte rendu de la 56e Assemblée générale du
vendredi 5 janvier 1996 explique pourquoi :

. . . is very simply that we want to provide a competitive
edge, if you would, in attracting, both recruiting and
retaining physicians, particularly specialists in this province.

[…] nous voulions procurer un avantage concurrentiel aux
médecins ce qui favoriserait leur recrutement et leur
maintien en poste dans la province, surtout les médecins
spécialistes.

Those are the words of the Honourable Dr. Ron Stewart, the then
Minister of Health.

Ce sont les mots de l’honorable Ron Stewart, ministre de la
Santé de l’époque.

I have you given you the reason why Nova Scotia permitted
incorporation: recruitment and retention of physicians. We are
not tax dodgers using loopholes to avoid our fair share of taxes.
Incorporation was given to physicians to make a relatively
poorly paid situation more attractive for retention and
recruitment.

Je vous ai donné la raison pour laquelle la Nouvelle-Écosse a
autorisé les médecins à se constituer en société : le recrutement
et le maintien en poste de médecins. Nous ne sommes pas des
fraudeurs fiscaux qui utilisent des échappatoires pour éviter de
payer notre juste part d’impôt. On a donné droit aux médecins de
se constituer en société afin de rendre une situation salariale
relativement médiocre plus attrayante en vue de la rétention et du
maintien en poste.

Physicians have endured vilification by provincial
governments and now it appears we are the targets of the federal
government. Others practise income splitting, but the
government cries out that professionals such as physicians
practise income sprinkling with negative connotations, as if our
wives, husbands, and children have no part in the professional
practice of medicine and are therefore not to be beneficiaries of
the family business. Again, I refer to the same hansard:

Les médecins ont subi le dénigrement des gouvernements
provinciaux, et il semble maintenant que nous soyons les cibles
du gouvernement fédéral. D’autres pratiquent le fractionnement
du revenu, mais le gouvernement s’écrie que les professionnels
comme les médecins pratiquent le fractionnement du revenu avec
des connotations négatives, comme si nos épouses, nos maris et
nos enfants n’avaient aucun rôle à jouer dans la pratique
professionnelle de la médecine et ne devaient donc pas être des
bénéficiaires de l’entreprise familiale. De nouveau, je me reporte
au même compte rendu :

Very often families are involved in the practice, relatives,
husbands, perhaps participate in their wives’ practices or
vice-versa wives participate in the husbands’ practices in a
salaried way, in a way that would be a family business and
so, in rural and smaller towns, this may well help. . . .

Très souvent, les familles participent à la pratique; des
parents, des époux peut-être, participent à la pratique de leur
épouse, ou l’inverse : des épouses participent à la pratique
de leur époux en étant salariées, d’une façon qui
constituerait une entreprise familiale, et donc, dans les
régions rurales et les petites villes, cela pourrait bien aider…

. . . We would say that the arrangements for the practice of
medicine, particularly, in rural areas may well benefit from
this.

Nous dirions que les ententes concernant la pratique de la
médecine, particulièrement dans les régions rurales,
pourraient bien profiter de cela.

Again, those are the words of the Honourable Dr. Ron Stewart,
Minister of Health.

De nouveau, ce sont les mots de l’honorable Ron Stewart,
ministre de la Santé.

Under current rules I can give my son a dividend from my
incorporation. The corporate tax is already paid and the personal
tax is paid at my son’s own rate. As for dividing income with
other family members, the corporate tax is already paid and the
recipient pays the tax at her marginal rate.

En vertu des règles actuelles, je peux donner à mon fils un
dividende qui provient de ma société constituée. L’impôt sur le
revenu des sociétés est déjà payé, et l’impôt sur le revenu des
particuliers est payé selon le propre taux de mon fils. En ce qui
concerne la division des revenus avec d’autres membres de la
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famille, l’impôt sur le revenu des sociétés est déjà payé, et le
bénéficiaire paie l’impôt selon son taux d’imposition marginal.

If, as Trudeau and Morneau imply, my family has no right to
my income, well, under the current rules existing for the past 20-
plus years, I have not had a need to buy RESPs for my children.
Now with the rule changes, I cannot issue dividends to my
children to fund their university education. The rug has been
pulled out from beneath my feet at this stage in my career. With
no RESPs or income splitting, what am I to do now?

Si, comme le laissent entendre MM. Trudeau et Morneau, ma
famille n’a pas droit à mon revenu, eh bien, en vertu des règles
actuelles qui existent depuis au moins les 20 dernières années, je
n’ai pas eu besoin de me procurer des REEE pour mes enfants.
Maintenant, compte tenu des changements apportés aux règles,
je ne peux verser de dividendes à mes enfants pour financer leurs
études universitaires. On m’a coupé l’herbe sous le pied à ce
moment-ci dans ma carrière. Sans REEE ni fractionnement du
revenu, que dois-je faire maintenant?

As for Mrs. Stone, my wife, not being eligible for any income
from the family incorporation, why does she automatically get
50 per cent in the event we divorce? She may have funded my
medical education. She certainly sees the state I am in when I
return home after 36-hour shift. She certainly misses me when I
am away 60 hours to 80 hours per week. She pays the price of
my job as well as I do.

En ce qui concerne Mme Stone, mon épouse, qui n’est
admissible à aucun revenu de mon entreprise familiale constituée
en société, pourquoi obtient-elle automatiquement 50 p. 100 si
nous divorçons? Elle a peut-être financé ma formation médicale.
Elle voit assurément l’état dans lequel je me trouve lorsque je
reviens à la maison après un quart de travail de 36 heures. Elle
s’ennuie certainement de moi lorsque je suis absent de 60 à
80 heures par semaine. Elle paie le prix de mon emploi aussi
bien que moi.

I do not have a family fortune. I do not have stock options to
rely upon, like some current government members in Ottawa. I
do not have a pension, EI benefits or workers compensation. I
may have some Doctors Nova Scotia maternity/paternity benefits
and some dental plan, all taxable, but that is unlikely.

Je n’ai pas de fortune familiale. Je n’ai pas d’options d’achat
d’actions sur lesquelles m’appuyer, comme quelques députés
ministériels à Ottawa. Je n’ai pas de régime de retraite, de
prestations d’assurance-emploi ni d’indemnisation des
travailleurs. J’ai peut-être quelques prestations de maternité ou
de paternité de Doctors Nova Scotia et un certain régime de soins
dentaires, lesquels sont tous imposables, mais c’est improbable.

Firstly, the maternity benefits will not pay office expenses in
many cases. Secondly, the entire benefits scheme in Nova Scotia
might be withdrawn by the provincial government. That is one of
the reasons why Doctors Nova Scotia has issued an intent to
litigate against the Government of Nova Scotia.

Premièrement, les prestations de maternité ne vont pas payer
les dépenses du cabinet dans de nombreux cas. Deuxièmement,
le régime de prestations complet en Nouvelle-Écosse pourrait
être retiré par le gouvernement provincial. C’est une des raisons
pour lesquelles Doctors Nova Scotia a fait part de son intention
de poursuivre le gouvernement de la Nouvelle-Écosse.

The medicare rates in Nova Scotia have not kept up with
inflation since 1974. Doctors are paid in units. The unit value in
1974 was $1.08. In 2017 it is $2.44. According to the Bank of
Canada interest calculator it should be $5.08, not $2.44. Nova
Scotia has the highest marginal tax in Canada at 54 per cent, the
fifth highest small business provincial tax rate at 13.5 per cent,
and the highest sales tax rate in Canada at 15 per cent, as in the
rest of Atlantic Canada. Nova Scotia physicians are among the
most poorly paid in Canada.

Les tarifs de l’assurance-maladie en Nouvelle-Écosse n’ont
pas suivi le rythme de l’inflation depuis 1974. Les médecins sont
payés en unités. La valeur unitaire en 1974 était de 1,08 $. En
2017, elle est de 2,44 $. D’après la feuille de calcul des intérêts
de la Banque du Canada, elle devrait être de 5,08 $, non pas de
2,44 $. La Nouvelle-Écosse a le taux d’imposition marginal le
plus élevé au Canada, à 54 p. 100, le cinquième taux
d’imposition provincial des petites entreprises en importance, à
13,5 p. 100, et le taux de la taxe de vente le plus élevé au
Canada, à 15 p. 100, comme dans le reste du Canada atlantique.
Les médecins de la Nouvelle-Écosse sont parmi les moins bien
rémunérés au Canada.

Morneau has been talking a lot about passive investments. In
the same way that a salaried employee makes tax-free
contributions to a group or government pension plan, which are
then invested tax free to be taxed on withdrawal, I use my
company to prepare for my retirement. Outlawing or putting
limits on investment income is as offensive to me as it would be

M. Morneau a beaucoup parlé des placements passifs. De la
même façon qu’un employé salarié apporte des contributions
libres d’impôt à un groupe ou à un régime de pension du
gouvernement, qui sont ensuite investies libres d’impôt pour être
imposées lorsqu’elles sont retirées, j’utilise mon entreprise pour
préparer ma retraite. Le fait d’interdire le revenu passif ou d’y
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to the government worker or supermarket worker working down
the road.

imposer des limites est aussi offensant pour moi que ce le serait
pour le fonctionnaire ou l’employé du supermarché qui pourrait
être touché par ailleurs.

Morneau calls my corporate money and investments dead
money. Once again, I am being disparaged. It might be dead to
him because he cannot spend it. It is not dead to me or my family
who need it for adversity or for retirement. It is not dead money
to the Canadian businesses in which I have invested.

M. Morneau désigne l’argent de mon entreprise et mes
investissements comme de l’argent mort. De nouveau, on me
dénigre. L’argent est peut-être mort pour lui parce qu’il ne peut
le dépenser. Il n’est pas mort pour moi ni pour ma famille, qui en
a besoin dans des moments difficiles ou pour la retraite. Ce n’est
pas de l’argent mort pour les entreprises canadiennes dans
lesquelles j’ai investi.

Aside from retirement, corporate investments of medical
earnings serve to top up poor medicare earnings. Remember that
the doctor works for the government store. He cannot increase
prices to match expenses and he in incapable of working longer
hours. The only way to increase income is to invest. The
earnings are taxable corporately at the corporate rate and then
taxable at the personal rate once they leave the corporation.

Mis à part la retraite, les investissements des sociétés des gains
tirés des médecins servent à compléter de mauvais gains issus du
régime d’assurance-maladie. Rappelez-vous que le médecin
travaille pour le magasin du gouvernement. Il ne peut augmenter
ses prix pour qu’ils correspondent aux dépenses et il est
incapable de travailler un plus grand nombre d’heures. La seule
façon d’augmenter le revenu est d’investir. Les gains sont
imposables à l’échelle des sociétés, au taux d’imposition du
revenu des sociétés, puis imposables au taux d’imposition du
revenu des particuliers une fois qu’ils quittent la société.

At this point no one — not an accountant, a financial adviser,
not even a fortune teller — can advise incorporated physicians
on what to do. Here it is now, almost the end of the tax year, and
I still do not know how to arrange my affairs. Maybe, sir, that is
the plan. How cynical: a summer announcement when no one is
listening and fall implementation when it’s too late to do
anything about it. One thing is sure, though: the accounting bills
will see a jump in the new year.

En ce moment, personne — ni le comptable, ni le conseiller
financier, ni même le diseur de bonne aventure — ne peut dire
quoi faire à des médecins constitués en société. Nous voici
maintenant presque à la fin de l’exercice, et je ne sais toujours
pas comment organiser mes affaires. Peut-être, monsieur, que
c’est le plan. Voyez comme c’est cynique : une annonce estivale
quand personne n’écoute, et une mise en œuvre automnale quand
il est trop tard pour faire quoi que ce soit à ce sujet. Une chose
est sûre, cependant : les factures des comptables connaîtront un
bond au cours de la prochaine année.

In this time of uncertainty some things are probably certain.
Physicians will react to economic stresses. This is natural as
money provides for personal and family security and well-being.
If I am not well then I have nothing to offer my patients.

En cette époque d’incertitude, il y a des choses qui sont
probablement certaines. Les médecins vont réagir aux pressions
économiques. C’est naturel, car l’argent assure la sécurité et le
bien-être personnels et familiaux. Si je ne vais pas bien, je n’ai
rien à offrir à mes patients.

A physician’s reaction might take one of four forms, generally
speaking. He will work less. He will change jobs, going from
private practice to salaried job with benefits. He will retire now
and avoid punishing tax changes later. It may be 74 per cent. I
don’t know. Or, she will relocate. Number four already happened
in Nova Scotia in 1995-96. Only this time it might become a
Canada-wide exodus to another country. Many U.S. states
recognize Canadian education and qualifications.The famous
green card specifically mentions physicians within the physician
national interest waiver.

La réaction du médecin pourrait prendre l’une des quatre
formes, de façon générale. Il va travailler moins. Il va changer
d’emploi, passant d’une pratique privée à un emploi salarié
assorti d’avantages. Il va prendre sa retraite maintenant et éviter
des changements fiscaux qui le puniraient plus tard. Ce sera
peut-être 74 p. 100 des médecins. Je ne sais pas. Ou il va
déménager. La quatrième option s’est déjà produite en Nouvelle-
Écosse en 1995-1996. Seulement, cette fois-ci, on pourrait
assister à un exode à l’échelle du Canada vers un autre pays. De
nombreux États américains reconnaissent les études et les
qualifications des Canadiens. La célèbre carte verte mentionne
précisément que les médecins s’inscrivent dans l’exonération
d’intérêt national des médecins.

To summarize, I am grateful, senators and staff, for the
opportunity to address this committee. It is an honour for me to
appear before you today representing the 250 doctors of Cape

Pour résumer, je suis heureux, mesdames et messieurs les
sénateurs et les employés, d’avoir l’occasion de m’adresser au
comité. C’est un honneur pour moi de comparaître devant vous
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Breton. The opportunity gives you and my fellow Canadians
insight into why my colleagues and I are fearful for our futures.
It serves to explain what is going through my mind as I decide
what is best for my family and me.

aujourd’hui pour représenter les 250 médecins du Cap-Breton.
Cette occasion vous donne, à vous et à mes concitoyens
canadiens, une idée de la raison pour laquelle mes collègues et
moi-même craignons pour notre avenir. Cela sert à expliquer ce
qui se passe dans ma tête au moment où je dois décider ce qui est
le mieux pour ma famille et moi-même.

It is also an apology to the Cape Breton Medical Staff
Association for my upcoming resignation as its president. I
apologize to the people of Cape Breton for what I fear will be a
worsening of the medical system. The great game changer sir is
too massive and a terrible beast for me to oppose. I fear that
loyal citizens are being encouraged to leave their country, to
consider the promise of life, liberty, and the pursuit of happiness,
over peace, order, and good government.

C’est aussi l’occasion pour moi de présenter mes excuses à
l’Association du personnel médical du Cap-Breton concernant
ma démission prochaine en tant que président. Je présente mes
excuses aux gens du Cap-Breton pour ce qui, je le crains, sera
une aggravation du système de santé. Monsieur, le grand
changement des règles du jeu est trop imposant — et c’est une
bête terrible — pour que je m’y oppose. J’ai peur que des
citoyens loyaux soient encouragés à quitter leur pays, à choisir la
promesse de vie, de liberté et la poursuite du bonheur plutôt que
la paix, l’ordre et un bon gouvernement.

I beg this committee, ladies and gentlemen, to seriously
consider my words today. The association and I are fearful of an
uncertain future. Thank you for your time.

Je supplie le comité, mesdames et messieurs, de songer
sérieusement aux paroles que j’ai dites aujourd’hui.
L’Association et moi-même redoutons un avenir incertain. Merci
de votre temps.

Dr. Caitlin Lees, Chair, Maritime Resident Doctors:  Good
afternoon, and thank you for the opportunity to speak on behalf
of Maritime Resident Physicians.

Dre Caitlin Lees, présidente, Maritime Resident
Doctors : Bonjour et merci de me fournir l’occasion de parler au
nom de Maritime Resident Physicians.

My name is Dr. Caitlin Lees. I am a third-year internal
medicine and clinician investigator resident at Dalhousie
University. As President of Maritime Resident Doctors, I
represent nearly 600 resident physicians in Nova Scotia, New
Brunswick and Prince Edward Island.

Je m’appelle Dre Caitlin Lees. Je suis médecin résidente en
médecine interne et en recherche clinique à l’Université
Dalhousie. En tant que présidente de Maritime Resident Doctors,
je représente près de 600 médecins résidents en Nouvelle-
Écosse, au Nouveau-Brunswick et à l’Île-du-Prince-Édouard.

The vast majority of resident physicians in the Maritime
provinces are opposed to the tax changes proposed by the
Honourable Minister of Finance on July 18, 2017. A recent poll
of our membership, with an approximate 50 per cent response
rate, demonstrated that over 85 per cent oppose changes to the
current passive income system and a further 75 per cent oppose
changes to income splitting.

La grande majorité des médecins résidents dans les provinces
des Maritimes s’opposent aux modifications fiscales proposées
par l’honorable ministre des Finances le 18 juillet 2017. Un
sondage récent de nos membres, dont le taux de réponse était
d’environ 50 p. 100, a démontré que plus de 85 p. 100 des
membres s’opposent aux changements du système actuel de
revenu passif et que 75 p. 100 des membres s’opposent aux
modifications touchant le fractionnement du revenu.

While Mr. Morneau has proposed amendments to his initial
draft, we remain very concerned about the impact of these
proposed changes on our physician workforce and mostly
importantly on our patients.

Même si M. Morneau a proposé des modifications de son
ébauche initiale, nous demeurons très préoccupés par rapport aux
effets de ces modifications proposées sur notre effectif de
médecins et, fait plus important encore, sur nos patients.

As resident physicians we are doctors who have completed our
medical degrees but are pursuing further training in a medical
specialty such as family medicine, psychiatry, surgery or
radiology among many others. Specialty training programs can
take between two years and seven years to complete.

En tant que médecins résidents, nous sommes des médecins
qui ont obtenu leur diplôme en médecine, mais qui poursuivent
une autre formation dans une spécialité médicale, comme la
médecine de famille, la psychiatrie, la chirurgie ou la radiologie,
parmi tant d’autres. Il faut entre deux et sept ans pour terminer
un programme de formation spécialisée.

As future small business owners we make financial
investments to our business. Prior to entering into practice the
average Maritime resident will have invested approximately

En tant que futurs propriétaires de petites entreprises, nous
réalisons des investissements financiers pour notre entreprise.
Avant d’exercer la médecine, le résident en médecine moyen des
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$73,000 into tuition fees alone, in addition to four years of living
expenses only while studying medicine. Many of my colleagues
have debt loads of well over $200,000.

Maritimes aura investi environ 73 000 $ en seuls droits de
scolarité, en plus des frais de subsistance de quatre ans,
seulement pendant ses études de médecine. Bon nombre de mes
collègues ont un niveau d’endettement qui dépasse largement les
200 000 $.

Once practising independently resident physicians become
independent small business owners, employing nurses,
administrative assistants and other health professionals.

Une fois qu’ils pratiquent de façon indépendante, les médecins
résidents deviennent des propriétaires de petites entreprises
indépendantes, employant du personnel infirmier, des adjoints
administratifs et d’autres professionnels de la santé.

As young physicians about to enter the workforce substantial
debt loads and family planning are significant factors in where
we choose to work. As future small business owners we will not
share the same benefits as employees, such as pensions, parental
leave, sick leave or vacation pay. For young physicians, in
particular, parental leave is an important consideration.

Pour nous, en tant que jeunes médecins prêts à entrer dans le
marché du travail, les niveaux d’endettement importants et la
planification familiale sont des facteurs déterminants pour ce qui
est de savoir où nous choisissons de travailler. En tant que futurs
propriétaires de petites entreprises, nous ne partageons pas les
mêmes avantages que les employés, comme des régimes de
retraite, des congés parentaux, des congés de maladie ou des
paies de vacances. Pour les jeunes médecins, en particulier, le
congé parental est une considération importante.

Since 1995, as we have already heard, tax planning measures
for private corporations have legitimately and appropriately used
strategies to mitigate the personal risk and financial sacrifices
associated with entrepreneurship. In particular, these measures
are relied upon to fund parental or sick leave while managing
significant debt loads, as well as fund retirement.

Depuis 1995, comme nous l’avons déjà entendu dire, des
mesures de planification fiscale pour les sociétés privées ont
utilisé, de façon légitime et appropriée, des stratégies visant à
atténuer le risque personnel et les sacrifices financiers associés à
l’entrepreneuriat. Plus particulièrement, on s’appuie sur ces
mesures pour financer des congés parentaux ou des congés de
maladie, tout en gérant des niveaux d’endettement importants et
financer la retraite.

We have substantial concerns about how these proposed tax
changes will impact the recruitment and retention of young
physicians in the Maritime provinces. While the proposed tax
changes are federal tax changes we anticipate an inordinate
impact on our provinces. As provinces where recruitment and
retention of physicians is already an issue of great concern, again
as you have already heard, a negative tax environment creates an
even greater deterrent to practising in our provinces where
physicians are so badly needed.

Nous avons de vives préoccupations par rapport à la façon
dont ces modifications fiscales proposées vont influer sur le
recrutement et le maintien en poste de jeunes médecins dans les
provinces des Maritimes. Même si les modifications fiscales
proposées proviennent du gouvernement fédéral, nous prévoyons
des conséquences démesurées pour nos provinces. Puisque nous
sommes des provinces où le recrutement et le maintien en poste
de médecins sont déjà des questions qui soulèvent de grandes
préoccupations, de nouveau, comme vous l’avez déjà entendu,
un environnement fiscal négatif crée une mesure dissuasive
encore plus grande à la pratique dans nos provinces où on a un
criant besoin de médecins.

By way of a personal example, I will be finishing residency in
two years. Like many of my colleagues I am currently
considering where I will practise. To practise in Nova Scotia I
already face a $100,000 pay cut when compared to other
provinces. Should these tax changes come into effect, and in
light of my debt load, it may no longer be practical for me to
remain in my home province. The United States, the United
Kingdom or even other provinces where pay is higher will all be
more viable options. Nova Scotians could lose yet another
physician and the health care access they deserve.

À titre d’exemple personnel, je vais terminer ma résidence
dans deux ans. Comme bon nombre de mes collègues, je songe
actuellement à l’endroit où je vais exercer ma pratique. Si je
pratique en Nouvelle-Écosse, je m’expose déjà à une réduction
de salaire de 100 000 $ par rapport à d’autres provinces. Si ces
modifications fiscales entrent en vigueur, et, à la lumière de mon
niveau d’endettement, il pourrait ne plus être pratique pour moi
de demeurer dans ma province d’origine. Les États-Unis, le
Royaume-Uni ou même d’autres provinces où la rémunération
est supérieure seront toutes des options plus viables. Les Néo-
Écossais pourraient perdre encore une fois un autre médecin et
l’accès aux soins de santé qu’ils méritent.
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Most importantly, I am just one resident physician among
nearly 600 who is now reconsidering where I will be able to
practise in light of the proposed tax changes. When viewed on
that scale the potential impact of these changes is staggering.

Fait plus important encore, je ne suis qu’une parmi près de
600 médecins résidents qui réévalue maintenant où je serai en
mesure de pratiquer à la lumière des modifications fiscales
proposées. Si on l’examine par rapport à cette échelle, l’impact
possible de ces changements est renversant.

In summary, we have substantial concerns about the impact of
these proposed tax changes; concerns that young physicians in an
effort to mitigate the impact of these tax changes on their
financial well-being will increasingly choose to practise
elsewhere; and concerns that this would lead to an exacerbation
of the current difficulties faced by Nova Scotians in attempting
to access health care, which would be simply unacceptable. This
is a very real and serious potential impact of the proposed tax
changes. I ask that this Senate committee give these issues
adequate consideration before moving forward. Thank you.

En résumé, nous avons de vives préoccupations au sujet des
répercussions de ces modifications fiscales proposées; des
préoccupations selon lesquelles les jeunes médecins, dans un
effort visant à atténuer les conséquences de ces modifications
fiscales sur leur bien-être financier, choisiront de plus en plus de
pratiquer ailleurs; et des préoccupations selon lesquelles cela
entraînerait une exacerbation des difficultés actuelles auxquelles
les Néo-Écossais font face pour ce qui est de tenter d’accéder à
des soins de santé, ce qui serait simplement inacceptable. C’est
une conséquence possible très réelle et grave des modifications
fiscales proposées. Je demande que votre comité sénatorial
tienne compte de façon adéquate de ces enjeux avant d’aller de
l’avant. Merci.

The Chair:  Thank you, doctors. Le président : Merci, mesdames et messieurs.

Senator Marshall:  Thank you very much for your excellent
presentations. We were in Western Canada the week before last
and we heard from physicians out there. We heard from
physicians in Ontario, and yesterday we heard from a physician
in Newfoundland and Labrador. They are all telling us similar
things.

La sénatrice Marshall : Merci beaucoup d’avoir livré vos
excellents exposés. Il y a deux semaines, nous étions dans
l’Ouest canadien, et nous avons entendu des médecins là-bas.
Nous avons entendu des médecins en Ontario, et hier, nous
avons entendu un médecin de Terre-Neuve-et-Labrador. Ils nous
disent des choses similaires.

I am from Newfoundland and I feel like in the Atlantic
provinces the problems seem to be a bit more intense than they
are in other jurisdictions. I think Dr. Stone went back to the
1990s, but you talk about what has been happening over the last
20 years. It seems as though something is happening to our
doctors. It is not as attractive as it used to be. It is almost like
doctors now are public servants but they do not have the benefits
of public servants. It is really concerning when I think about
what is happening in Newfoundland and I am hearing a similar
story from you. It is almost frightening.

Je viens de Terre-Neuve et j’ai l’impression que, dans les
provinces de l’Atlantique, les problèmes sont un peu plus
intenses que dans d’autres administrations. Je pense que le
Dr Stone est retourné jusqu’aux années 1990, mais vous parlez
de ce qui s’est produit au cours des 20 dernières années. On
dirait que quelque chose se produit chez nos médecins. Ce n’est
pas aussi attrayant que ce l’était autrefois. On dirait presque que
les médecins sont maintenant des fonctionnaires, mais ils n’ont
pas les avantages qui y sont associés. Je trouve vraiment
préoccupant ce qui se passe à Terre-Neuve et le fait que
j’entende de votre bouche une histoire semblable. C’en est
presque effrayant.

When we were out west last week in the provinces we visited,
I was asking the physicians to tell us about their medical school
and how many physicians they were training and how many they
were retaining. I know for the Prairie provinces my recollection
is that they were saying they retained 50 per cent of the doctors
that they train and the other 50 per cent are foreign born and are
mobile.

Lorsque nous étions dans l’Ouest, la semaine dernière, dans
les provinces que nous avons visitées, je demandais aux
médecins de nous parler de leur faculté de médecine, du nombre
de médecins qu’ils formaient et du nombre de médecins qu’ils
retenaient. Pour les provinces des Prairies, je me rappelle qu’ils
disaient retenir 50 p. 100 des médecins qu’ils forment, tandis que
les autres 50 p. 100 sont nés à l’étranger et sont mobiles.

What is happening here in Nova Scotia? You have one
medical school at Dalhousie. What are your statistics showing?
You have a shortage of doctors. We are all aware of that because
we all read the news. What is happening? How many doctors are
trained each year and how many are you retaining? Would you
know how many doctors are coming from other jurisdictions,
from other countries?

Que se passe-t-il ici, en Nouvelle-Écosse? Vous avez une
faculté de médecine à Dalhousie. Que montrent vos statistiques?
Vous avez une pénurie de médecins. Nous savons tous cela parce
que nous lisons les nouvelles. Que se passe-t-il? Combien de
médecins sont formés chaque année et combien en retenez-vous?
Sauriez-vous combien de médecins proviennent d’autres
administrations, d’autres pays?
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I am trying to set the stage. You provided much information
but I wanted the stage to be set a bit more broadly.

J’essaie d’établir le contexte. Vous avez fourni beaucoup de
renseignements, mais je voulais que le contexte soit établi de
façon un peu plus générale.

Dr. Alexiadis:  I will start. I will get you that information. I
do not know the exact numbers.

Dre Alexiadis : Je vais commencer. Je vais vous fournir ces
renseignements. Je ne connais pas les chiffres exacts.

Senator Marshall:  Okay, but your gut feel. La sénatrice Marshall : D’accord, mais allez-y
instinctivement.

Dr. Alexiadis:  My gut feel is that we have about 100
physicians that start in first year medical school, but the medical
student who starts has had at least four years of university, if not
more, because a lot of them come with degrees as well.

Dre Alexiadis : Mon instinct me dit que nous avons environ
100 médecins qui débutent en première année de la faculté de
médecine, mais l’étudiant en médecine qui débute a fait au moins
quatre ans d’université, si ce n’est plus, parce que beaucoup de
ces médecins ont déjà aussi des diplômes.

Senator Marshall:  That’s right, yes. La sénatrice Marshall : C’est exact, oui.

Dr. Alexiadis:  That is another four years. After that you
decide whether you want to be a family doctor or whether you
want to do a speciality and a fellowship. You are looking at
between 12 and 15 years of training.

Dre Alexiadis : C’est quatre ans de plus. Après cela, vous
décidez si vous voulez être médecin de famille ou si vous voulez
faire une spécialité et un programme de recherche. Ce sont entre
12 et 15 ans de formation.

The reason why I am bringing that up is because of the age of
physicians when they are ready to practise. When you are
looking at physician shortages, yes, there are the ones that are
coming in. Nova Scotia is having problems with retaining some
of those new students and new grads just like Dr. Lees talked
about because what they are doing is they are leaving.

La raison pour laquelle je soulève cela, c’est en raison de l’âge
des médecins lorsqu’ils sont prêts à pratiquer. Lorsque vous
examinez les pénuries de médecins, oui, il y a ceux qui arrivent.
La Nouvelle-Écosse a des problèmes pour ce qui est de retenir
certains de ces nouveaux étudiants et nouveaux diplômés, tout
comme en a parlé la Dre Lees, parce que ce qu’ils font, c’est
partir.

Senator Marshall:  Yes, and there are 100 of them. La sénatrice Marshall : Oui, et il y en a 100.

Dr. Alexiadis:  There are 100 of them, and they are leaving.
They want to stay in Nova Scotia but they are leaving because of
their debt loads and their salaries.

Dre Alexiadis : Il y en a 100, et ils partent. Ils veulent rester
en Nouvelle-Écosse, mais ils partent en raison de leur niveau
d’endettement et de leur salaire.

I was at a meeting where there was a person who wanted to
come and practise dermatology in Halifax, but Ontario offered
them $400,000 and they said, “Sorry, but we are going there
even though my family is here.” Those are the kinds of decisions
that are happening. We are not recruiting the new doctors and
keeping them here.

J’ai participé à une réunion où une personne voulait venir
pratiquer la dermatologie à Halifax, mais l’Ontario lui offrait
400 000 $, et elle a dit : « Je m’excuse, mais nous allons y aller,
même si ma famille est ici .» C’est le genre de décisions qui sont
prises. Nous n’arrivons pas à recruter les nouveaux médecins et à
les garder ici.

What about the ones that are staying? You heard very
eloquently from Dr. Stone that there is a lot who are frustrated. I
go to meetings now where I see doctors who used to work here
that have moved to Alberta or have moved to B.C. That is a
surprise to me, but in Nova Scotia over 50 per cent of the doctors
are over 50 years of age.

Qu’en est-il de ceux qui restent? Vous avez entendu dire de
façon très éloquente de la bouche du Dr Stone que beaucoup de
médecins sont frustrés. J’assiste maintenant à des réunions où je
vois des médecins qui ont déjà travaillé ici et qui sont déménagés
en Alberta ou en Colombie-Britannique. Cela me surprend, mais
en Nouvelle-Écosse, plus de 50 p. 100 des médecins ont plus de
50 ans.

Senator Marshall:  How many of the new ones do you think
you retain? You have 100 coming out a year. Do you think you
are keeping 50 for a couple of years?

La sénatrice Marshall : À votre avis, combien parmi les
nouveaux arrivez-vous à retenir? Vous en avez 100 qui arrivent
chaque année. Pensez-vous que vous en retenez 50 pour quelques
années?
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Dr. Lees:  I can speak to this a bit. Again, I do not have the
exact numbers. I could get them to you. We did a survey of our
membership last year.

Dre Lees : Je peux m’exprimer un peu à ce sujet. De
nouveau, je n’ai pas les chiffres exacts. Je pourrais les obtenir
pour vous. Nous avons sondé nos membres l’année dernière.

Senator Marshall:  If you are talking to your colleagues you
must have an idea of who is interested in leaving.

La sénatrice Marshall : Si vous parlez à vos collègues, vous
devez avoir une idée de qui souhaiterait partir.

Dr. Lees:  A lot of people who train here want to stay here.
They train in New Brunswick, Nova Scotia and P.E.I. because
they want to stay here. Unfortunately, when it comes to
recruitment either it is often not financially feasible or we have
some issues with communication between our health authority
and government. It is just not set up well for them to be able to
do so.

Dre Lees : Beaucoup de gens qui sont formés ici veulent
rester ici. Ils sont formés au Nouveau-Brunswick, en Nouvelle-
Écosse et à l’Île-du-Prince-Édouard, parce qu’ils veulent rester
ici. Malheureusement, lorsqu’il s’agit du recrutement, ou bien ce
n’est pas financièrement possible, ou bien nous avons quelques
problèmes de communication entre notre autorité sanitaire et le
gouvernement. Cela n’est juste pas bien établi pour eux pour
qu’ils puissent le faire.

I know in an anesthesia program over the last four years they
have had four graduates and none of them have stayed. The vice
president of Maritime Resident Doctors has had issues with
recruitment as well.

Je sais que, dans un programme en anesthésiologie, au cours
des quatre dernières années, quatre personnes ont obtenu leur
diplôme, et aucune d’entre elles n’est restée. Le vice-président
de Maritime Resident Doctors a aussi eu des problèmes avec le
recrutement.

Senator Marshall:  Where are they going? I am thinking
about the tax changes and what you are talking about. You have
a lot of physicians going to other provinces because the salaries
are higher. They will have to cope with these tax changes too,
right?

La sénatrice Marshall : Où s’en vont-ils? Je réfléchis aux
modifications fiscales et à ce dont vous parlez. Vous avez
beaucoup de médecins qui vont dans d’autres provinces parce
que les salaires sont plus élevés. Ils devront aussi composer avec
ces modifications fiscales, n’est-ce pas?

I am very concerned if we lose our doctors. Our health care
system is fragile enough. We do not need to lose doctors. If the
doctors are moving to other jurisdictions and the Western
provinces are saying that, will doctors be more mobile to the
States?

Je suis très préoccupée si nous perdons nos médecins. Notre
système de soins de santé est assez fragile. Nous n’avons pas
besoin de perdre des médecins. Si les médecins déménagent dans
d’autres administrations et que les provinces de l’Ouest disent
cela, les médecins seront-ils plus mobiles pour aller aux États-
Unis?

I am just trying to get a handle on it. With these proposed tax
changes, doctors cannot be looking at moving next door to New
Brunswick. They must be looking somewhere else.

J’essaie simplement de mieux comprendre. Dans le cadre de
ces modifications fiscales proposées, les médecins ne peuvent
pas envisager de déménager dans la province voisine du
Nouveau-Brunswick. Ils doivent chercher ailleurs.

Dr. Lees:  I can speak to that. I am a Canadian with dual
citizenship in the United Kingdom. Again, I would very much
like to stay in Nova Scotia, but it is certainly feasible for me to
go to another country.

Dre Lees : Je peux en parler. Je suis Canadienne et j’ai la
double citoyenneté au Royaume-Uni. De nouveau, j’aimerais
beaucoup rester en Nouvelle-Écosse, mais c’est certainement
faisable pour moi d’aller dans un autre pays.

I know that these tax changes are country wide. There is
already pay disparity between here and other provinces. Should
these tax changes come into effect, to move to another province
where I do not take a pay cut to work there would mitigate the
impact of the tax changes if I wanted to stay in Canada.

Je sais que ces modifications fiscales touchent l’ensemble du
pays. Il y a déjà un écart salarial entre ici et d’autres provinces.
Si ces modifications fiscales entrent en vigueur, le fait de
déménager dans une autre province où je ne subis pas une
réduction de salaire pour travailler atténuerait les conséquences
des modifications fiscales si je souhaitais rester au Canada.

Senator Marshall:  Yes, I see what you mean. I have asked
my last question of other doctors. I worked with the Department
of Health in Newfoundland for a while. All these things have
been happening to physicians over the past 20 years. The

La sénatrice Marshall : Oui, je vois ce que vous voulez dire.
J’ai posé ma dernière question à d’autres médecins. J’ai travaillé
avec le ministère de la Santé à Terre-Neuve pendant un certain
temps. Toutes ces choses sont arrivées aux médecins au cours
des 20 dernières années. Les médecins n’en sont pas heureux. Ils
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physicians do not like it. They say, “We will move to another
jurisdiction.”

disent : « Nous allons déménager dans une autre
administration .»

Do you think that threat will materialize? Most times the
physicians will sort of cope with whatever changes are coming
and stay put. Is this the straw that broke the camel’s back or is
this another threat that will not to materialize?

Pensez-vous que cette menace va se concrétiser? La plupart du
temps, les médecins vont en quelque sorte faire face à n’importe
quel changement qui survient et rester sur place. Est-ce la goutte
d’eau qui fait déborder le vase ou s’agit-il d’une autre menace
qui ne sera pas mise à exécution?

Dr. Lees:  For new physicians, I would like to say that we are
young. We are mobile and we will move. It is not an empty
threat.

Dre Lees : Pour les nouveaux médecins, j’aimerais dire que
nous sommes jeunes. Nous sommes mobiles et nous allons
déménager. Ce n’est pas une menace lancée dans le vide.

Senator Marshall:  What about the doctors that have been
here for a while?

La sénatrice Marshall : Qu’en est-il des médecins qui sont
ici depuis longtemps?

Dr. Alexiadis:  We had a rally. We invited any doctor that
wanted to come in on a Saturday morning. With a week’s notice,
we had 400 doctors come in from across the provinces to this
rally to talk about these tax changes. In the room was all age
groups but there are a lot that are ready to retire. We are talking
about a province that has physician shortages.

Dre Alexiadis : Nous avons tenu un rassemblement. Nous
avons invité tous les médecins qui voulaient venir un samedi
matin. À une semaine d’avis, 400 médecins sont venus de
l’ensemble des provinces pour participer à ce rassemblement afin
de parler des modifications fiscales. Dans la salle se trouvaient
des gens de tous les groupes d’âge, mais il y en a beaucoup qui
sont déjà prêts à prendre leur retraite. Nous parlons d’une
province qui a des pénuries de médecins.

Senator Marshall:  Significant physician shortages. La sénatrice Marshall : Des pénuries importantes de
médecins.

Dr. Alexiadis:  Over 50 per cent of its doctors are 50 and
looking at retirement. They are looking at saying maybe they
will just work until December or work until August. Then they
do not have to work anymore because at the end their tax bill
will be the same.

Dre Alexiadis : Plus de 50 p. 100 de ses médecins sont âgés
de 50 ans et envisagent de prendre leur retraite. Ils disent qu’ils
travailleront peut-être seulement jusqu’en décembre ou en août.
Ils n’ont plus à travailler parce que, au final, leur facture d’impôt
sera la même.

Senator Marshall:  It is not worth their while. La sénatrice Marshall : Le jeu n’en vaut pas la chandelle.

Dr. Alexiadis:  It is not worth their while. Interestingly, in
that big meeting everyone was talking. When you said “the straw
that broke the camel’s back,” those were similar words to those
of one of our doctors. I think she said, “The straw that broke
health care back.” The whole purpose was in the moment when
she said that she talked about the impact and how these tax
changes would affect patient care. In the room of 400 doctors we
all joined our souls. It was like one continuous thought.

Dre Alexiadis : Il n’en vaut pas la chandelle. Fait intéressant,
dans cette grande réunion, tout le monde parlait. Lorsque vous
avez dit « la goutte d’eau fait déborder le vase », cela ressemblait
aux paroles d’une de nos médecins. Je pense qu’elle a dit :
« C’est la goutte d’eau qui a fait déborder le vase des soins de
santé .» L’idée, c’est qu’au moment où elle a dit cela, elle parlait
des répercussions et de la façon dont ces modifications fiscales
toucheraient les soins fournis aux patients. Dans la salle se
trouvaient 400 médecins. Nous avons tous uni nos âmes. C’était
comme une réflexion continue.

That is the real reason we are upset. The doctors that are here
want to stay here. They want to practise here. They love their
practices. They love their patients. They also have families and
lives to lead, so you have to choose your family. The doctors
want to stay here. These tax changes will make them think twice
about what they will do, when they will finish, and how they will
change the way they practise.

C’est la vraie raison pour laquelle nous sommes fâchés. Les
médecins qui sont ici veulent rester ici. Ils veulent pratiquer ici.
Ils adorent leur pratique. Ils adorent leurs patients. Ils ont aussi
une famille et une vie à vivre, donc vous devez choisir votre
famille. Les médecins veulent rester ici. Ces modifications
fiscales les feront réfléchir à deux fois par rapport à ce qu’ils
feront, lorsqu’ils auront terminé, et à la façon dont ils vont
changer leur pratique.

The Chair:  Dr. Stone, do you want to make a few
comments?

Le président : Docteur Stone, avez-vous quelques
commentaires à formuler?
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Dr. Stone:  Senator Marshall, I do not think this is a threat.
Dalhousie University puts out maybe 100 doctors a year. Those
doctors go all across the country and all around the world for
training opportunities. Then they want to come back.

Dr Stone : Madame la sénatrice Marshall, je ne pense pas que
ce soit une menace. Peut-être que 100 médecins sortent de
l’Université Dalhousie chaque année. Ces médecins vont partout
au pays et partout dans le monde pour trouver des occasions de
formation. Puis, ils veulent revenir.

You said Newfoundland has a problem. Atlantic Canada has a
problem, and the reason is that we have a shrinking tax base. All
our young people are gone. They have gone to Alberta to work
on the prairies or to Ontario. Our tax base is small.

Vous avez dit que Terre-Neuve a un problème. Le Canada
atlantique a un problème, et c’est parce que nous avons une
assiette fiscale qui diminue. Tous nos jeunes sont partis. Ils sont
partis en Alberta pour travailler dans les Prairies ou en Ontario.
Notre assiette fiscale est réduite.

What is left behind are the same people who are sick and ill
and need medical care. The people that stay behind and the
doctors that stay behind can be overwhelmed. Practices that have
five, six or seven people only have two or three doctors.

Ce qui reste, ce sont les mêmes personnes qui sont malades et
ont besoin de soins médicaux. Les personnes qui restent derrière
et les médecins qui restent derrière peuvent être submergés. Les
pratiques qui comptent cinq, six ou sept personnes n’ont que
deux ou trois médecins.

Governments could not afford to pay us more so they gave us
incorporation. Overworked doctors, an overburdened health care
system, patients who are increasingly demanding and limited
resources are all bad things. You can’t increase my pay to
compensate so you have given me incorporation. You take that
away. Yes, I want to help people, but there are ways for me to
help people rather than work 60 hours to 80 hours a week and
deal with sickness and stuff.

Les gouvernements n’ont pas pu se permettre de nous payer
davantage, et ils nous ont donc permis de nous constituer en
société. Des médecins surmenés, un système de soins de santé
surchargé, des patients de plus en plus exigeants et des
ressources limitées sont tous de mauvaises choses. Vous ne
pouvez augmenter mon salaire en guise de compensation, et vous
m’avez donc permis de me constituer en société. Vous retirez
cela. Oui, je veux aider les gens, mais il y a pour moi d’autres
façons d’aider des gens, plutôt que de travailler de 60 à
80 heures par semaine et d’avoir affaire à la maladie et à d’autres
choses.

Senator Marshall:  Yes, I agree. La sénatrice Marshall : Oui, je suis d’accord.

Dr. Stone:  It is the straw. It is not a choice. It is not a threat.
It is an imperative.

Dr Stone : C’est la goutte. Ce n’est pas un choix. Ce n’est pas
une menace. C’est un impératif.

This happened before. It happened in 1995, 1996 and 1997 in
Nova Scotia and it happened in Ontario in the mid-1990s at the
same time as the federal government was reducing transfer
payments. It is not a threat. It is an imperative. I have to look
after my family, my own health, and whatnot.

C’est déjà arrivé. C’est arrivé en 1995, en 1996 et en 1997 en
Nouvelle-Écosse, et c’est arrivé en Ontario au milieu des
années 1990, au moment même où le gouvernement fédéral
réduisait les paiements de transfert. Ce n’est pas une menace.
C’est un impératif. Je dois m’occuper de ma famille, de ma
propre santé et de que sais-je encore.

It is not a threat. I don’t want to think about having to move
away. I don’t. I didn’t like moving away from Newfoundland.
The farthest west I came is here. I don’t want to move again, not
at my stage in the game. It breaks my heart. It is not a threat.

Ce n’est pas une menace. Je ne veux pas penser au fait de
devoir déménager. Je ne veux pas. Je n’ai pas aimé partir de
Terre-Neuve. Le plus loin dans l’Ouest où je suis allé, c’est ici.
Je ne veux pas déménager de nouveau, pas à ce stade-ci de la
partie. Cela me fend le cœur. Ce n’est pas une menace.

Senator Marshall:  It is a concern. La sénatrice Marshall : C’est une préoccupation.

Senator Eaton:  Thank you very much for those
presentations. We heard very much the same thing in Ontario:
medical student debt, the cost of opening a practice, putting aside
for maternity care if you are a woman, pension, and buying new
equipment, especially if you live in an isolated area and you
want a new EKG machine. Your concerns are being felt across
the country and rightly so.

La sénatrice Eaton : Merci beaucoup de ces exposés. Nous
avons entendu pratiquement la même chose en Ontario : la dette
des étudiants en médecine, le coût de l’ouverture d’une pratique,
le fait d’économiser pour des soins de maternité si vous êtes une
femme, le régime de retraite et l’achat de nouveaux équipements,
particulièrement si vous vivez dans une région isolée et que vous
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souhaitez vous procurer un nouvel électrocardiographe. Vos
préoccupations sont ressenties partout au pays, et avec raison.

Just to follow up a bit on what Senator Marshall was asking,
have we ever kept or does the Canadian Medical Association or
your specific medical associations keep data on how many
doctors have left Canada already and are practising in the U.K.,
the United States or elsewhere?

Juste pour faire suite un peu à ce que la sénatrice Marshall
demandait, avez-vous déjà conservé ou l’Association médicale
canadienne ou vos associations médicales particulières
conservent-elles des données sur le nombre de médecins qui ont
déjà quitté le Canada et qui pratiquent au Royaume-Uni, aux
États-Unis ou ailleurs?

Dr. Alexiadis:  I would expect that probably CIHI collects
that kind of information or somewhere it is collected. We don’t
have it for you here today. If that is something you would like us
to chase down, we can do that.

Dre Alexiadis : J’imagine que l’ICIS recueille probablement
ce type de renseignement ou qu’on le recueille quelque part.
Nous n’avons pas ces données pour vous aujourd’hui. Si vous
voulez que nous obtenions ces renseignements, nous pouvons le
faire.

Senator Eaton:  I would, and it would be handy to know if
you had it specifically too for Nova Scotia.

La sénatrice Eaton : Je le voudrais, et ce serait commode
d’avoir aussi ces données précisément pour la Nouvelle-Écosse.

Do you know of doctors that are planning to leave? Yes, you
have heard a lot and you have among the young. Are there tax
incentives we don’t know about? Canada is full of very isolated
areas. Most people live in rural and I understand in this province
most of the population is rural. Are there tax incentives for you
to practise in a rural or isolated area?

Savez-vous si les médecins prévoient partir? Oui, vous en avez
entendu beaucoup, et certains sont des jeunes. Y a-t-il des
incitatifs fiscaux dont nous ne sommes pas au courant? Le
Canada est rempli de régions très isolées. La plupart des gens
vivent dans des régions rurales, et je comprends que, dans cette
province, la majeure partie de la population est rurale. Y a-t-il
des mesures incitatives fiscales pour que vous pratiquiez dans
une région rurale ou isolée?

Dr. Alexiadis:  No, there are not. Basically the incorporation
is that tax incentive because we have the small business tax, the
small business credits and the passive income that we can keep
in our corporations. I guess that would be the incentive.

Dre Alexiadis : Essentiellement, la constitution en personne
morale est l’incitation fiscale, parce que nous bénéficions de
l’imposition des petites entreprises, du crédit d’impôt pour les
petites entreprises et du revenu passif que nous pouvons
conserver dans nos sociétés. J’imagine qu’il est là, l’incitatif.

On the ability to do the sprinkling, as I said in my speech,
there are people who come to the rural communities that they
have a spouse that has a particular speciality and is not even a
physician.

Pour ce qui est de la capacité de fractionner le revenu, comme
je l’ai dit dans mon discours, il y a des gens qui se présentent
dans des collectivités rurales et dont la conjointe ou le conjoint a
une spécialité précise et n’est même pas médecin.

Senator Eaton:  She can do the books. She can be a
receptionist.

La sénatrice Eaton : Elle peut s’occuper de la comptabilité.
Elle peut être réceptionniste.

Dr. Alexiadis:  Exactly, but maybe they have other jobs that
are of higher earning in other centres. If you want to go to a rural
community how are you to then pay them for their losses to
come to the rural community? Income sharing is something that
actually helps that as well. The physician making the decision to
come to the rural community is recognizing that can also happen
and help to decrease your tax bill.

Dre Alexiadis : Exactement, mais il y a peut-être des emplois
encore plus rémunérés dans d’autres centres. Si une personne
veut aller pratiquer dans une collectivité rurale, de quelle façon
est-elle censée rémunérer son conjoint pour ce qu’il perd en
allant dans la collectivité rurale? Le partage du revenu aide aussi,
dans de tels cas. Le médecin qui prend la décision de pratiquer
dans une collectivité rurale reconnaît que cela peut aussi se
produire, et cela peut aider à réduire la facture d’impôts.

Senator Eaton:  I appreciated, Dr. Stone, what you said about
the fact that your fees are capped but you don’t get any benefits.
If you were to work directly for the province your benefits would
be assured. It is not equal terrain for you, is it really? It is not as
if you could charge what you want for a service.

La sénatrice Eaton : Docteur Stone, je comprends ce que
vous avez dit quant au fait que vos frais sont plafonnés, mais que
vous n’en tirez pas davantage. Si vous travailliez directement
pour la province, vos avantages seraient garantis. Les règles ne
sont pas vraiment égales pour vous, n’est-ce pas? Ce n’est pas
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comme si vous pouviez facturer ce que vous voulez pour un
service.

Dr. Stone:  I could not charge what I want for a service and
that is the simple fact of it.

Dr Stone : Je ne pourrais pas facturer ce que je veux pour un
service, c’est aussi simple que cela.

You asked me just now about the numbers. CIHI hospital
information numbers in the 1990s did not go back that far.
However, we use the medicare doctor identity numbers.

Vous venez de me poser une question sur les chiffres. Les
numéros d’information des hôpitaux de l’ICIS durant les
années 1990 ne remontaient pas si loin. Cependant, nous
utilisons les numéros d’identification des médecins du régime
d’assurance-maladie.

Senator Eaton:  Yes. La sénatrice Eaton : Oui.

Dr. Stone:  I have them from 1992 to 1999. I have all those
numbers right here and I can print them off for you. Basically,
the doctor numbers grew anywhere from 3.8 per cent to 2.1 per
cent, until that period of financial austerity in which case they
dropped 3 per cent or whatever.

Dr Stone : Je les ai de 1992 à 1999. J’ai tous ces chiffres ici,
et je peux vous les imprimer. Essentiellement, le nombre de
médecins a augmenté — l’augmentation variait de 3,8 p. 100 à
2,1 p. 100 — jusqu’à la période d’austérité financière, qui a
entraîné une diminution de 3 p. 100 ou quelque chose du genre.

Senator Eaton:  Yes, we heard that from the head of the
Canadian Medical Association. He said there was a flight of
doctors which reduced the number of doctors per Canadians
considerably.

La sénatrice Eaton : Oui, c’est quelque chose que nous a dit
le président de l’Association médicale canadienne. Selon lui, il y
a eu un exode des médecins, ce qui a réduit le nombre de
médecins par Canadien de façon importante.

Dr. Stone:  I have the numbers here for the decade of 1990. I
have them right here. I can print them for you.

Dr Stone : J’ai les chiffres, ici pour les années 1990. Ils sont
ici. Je peux vous les imprimer.

Senator Eaton:  Thank you. That would be very helpful. Are
there any more numbers as to how many of your colleagues have
left the province? If you were to start tracking that, it would be
helpful to us.

La sénatrice Eaton : Merci. Ce serait très utile. Y a-t-il
d’autres chiffres supplémentaires sur le nombre de vos collègues
qui ont quitté la province? Ce serait très utile pour nous si vous
pouviez commencer à en faire le suivi.

The Chair:  In order to follow up on the questions from
Senator Eaton, please send any additional information you want
to share to the clerk.

Le président : Afin de donner suite aux questions de la
sénatrice Eaton, veuillez envoyer tout renseignement
supplémentaire que vous voulez à la greffière.

Senator Andreychuk:  I have a comment. I know that
universities keep and track where their alumni go. I think that
might be another source, Dr. Lees, that you can look at to see
where your residents go. We are doing a better job of tracking
our graduates from universities.

La sénatrice Andreychuk : Je veux simplement formuler un
commentaire. Je sais que les universités gardent des registres des
endroits où vont leurs diplômés. Je crois qu’il pourrait s’agir
d’une autre source, docteure Lees, vers laquelle vous pourriez
vous tourner pour savoir où vont vos résidents. Nous faisons un
meilleur travail de suivi des diplômés des universités.

I asked some questions of the minister or some of the financial
officials when this proposal came through. It appears that most
people have continuous conversations with the taxation
department, at least professional organizations, but they are of a
broad, general nature. When these came out July 18, they
blindsided everyone. That is what we have been told. It was the
language used that was most offensive and grabbed everyone’s
attention.

J’ai posé certaines questions au ministre ou à certains
responsables des finances lorsque la proposition a été soumise. Il
semble que la plupart des gens ont discuté de façon continue
avec l’Agence du revenu, du moins les organisations
professionnelles, mais il s’agissait de choses globales et
générales. Lorsque les propositions ont été communiquées le
18 juillet, elles ont pris tout le monde par surprise. C’est ce
qu’on nous a dit. Ce sont les mots utilisés qui étaient les plus
offensants et qui ont attiré l’attention de tout le monde.

When the financial officials came before us, I asked if they
consulted with the Ministry of Health when it came to the
doctors, and the answer was no at that time. Since then I have

Lorsque les représentants des finances ont comparu, ici, je leur
ai demandé s’ils avaient consulté le ministère de la Santé au sujet
des médecins, et on nous a répondu non à ce moment-là. Depuis,
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informally and formally asked whether the Minister of
Agriculture was consulted. It appears not.

j’ai demandé de façon officieuse et officielle si le ministre de
l’Agriculture avait été consulté, et il semble que non.

It would appear that this was a financial issue, looked at
strictly on a money basis within the department. We are not quite
sure as to why they put them forward because we have received
about three reasons why. It was fairness between employees and
companies. We then heard that it was inappropriate benefits,
loopholes, et cetera. We have received some answers as to why
they did it but they were all financial.

Il semble selon moi qu’il s’agissait d’un enjeu financier, qui a
été examiné strictement du point de vue monétaire au sein du
ministère. Nous ne savons pas exactement pourquoi ces
propositions ont été présentées, parce que nous avons reçu à peu
près trois explications. C’était une question d’équité entre les
employés et les entreprises. On nous a ensuite dit qu’il s’agissait
d’avantages inappropriés, d’échappatoires et ainsi de suite. On
nous a fourni certaines réponses sur les raisons de procéder ainsi,
mais elles étaient toutes de nature financière.

You are talking to us, the Senate, which is good, but have you
talked to the Minister of Health? Have you said that there will be
a repercussion across Canada to a medical system when all of us
are aging, needing you more and specialities are becoming very,
very expensive? The cost of one piece of equipment now is
unbelievable.

Vous nous parlez à nous, le Sénat, et c’est bien, mais avez-
vous parlé à la ministre de la Santé? Avez-vous dit qu’il y aura
des répercussions partout au Canada sur le système de santé,
alors que nous vieillissons tous, et que nous aurons besoin de
plus en plus besoin de vous et que les spécialités deviendront de
plus en plus dispendieuses? Le coût d’une seule pièce
d’équipement est rendu incroyable à l’heure actuelle.

Another question is on the cost we may gain. If we do, it will
be offset by a horrific problem in the health system. I come from
Saskatchewan where we recruit doctors and have recruited
doctors from around the world. We give them incentives to go
into rural areas. We find that those incentives are not good
enough. They want to go to a more urban centre, et cetera. It is a
massive cost on the health side, not to mention Aboriginal health
which is a huge one in my province.

Une autre question concerne l’argent que nous pourrons
épargner. Si c’est le cas, tout gain sera neutralisé par un horrible
problème au sein du système de santé. Je viens de la
Saskatchewan, où nous recrutons des médecins et avons recruté
des médecins de partout dans le monde. Nous leur offrons des
incitatifs pour qu’ils aillent dans des régions rurales. Nous
constatons que certains de ces incitatifs ne sont pas assez bons.
Ils veulent aller dans des centres urbains. Cela constitue un coût
majeur sur le plan de la santé, sans mentionner la santé des
Autochtones, qui est un immense enjeu dans ma province.

You have been bringing us the financial issues and the
consequences, but you made a compelling case that you care
about your patients. That caught my attention. You are doing this
obviously for yourself, but you care about the communities and
you care about your profession. Should the target not be talking
to the Prime Minister, the Ministry of Health and to the
provincial departments all about the transfer payments? To me it
is a huge health issue and social issue.

Vous nous avez parlé des enjeux financiers et des
conséquences, mais vous m’avez convaincue que vous avez à
cœur vos patients. C’est quelque chose qui a retenu mon
attention. Vous le faites, évidemment, pour vous, mais vous avez
à cœur les collectivités et vous avez à cœur votre profession.
L’objectif ne devrait-il pas être de parler au premier ministre, à
la ministre de la Santé et aux ministères provinciaux au sujet des
paiements de transfert? Selon moi, c’est un important enjeu lié à
la santé et un important enjeu social.

I have to disclose my conflict of interest. I am a family court
judge and the psychiatrist was the best resource I had. The social
worker was the best resource I had, et cetera. While we are
focusing here on finance the repercussions are not financial. The
repercussions are social. Could you respond to that?

Je dois communiquer mon conflit d’intérêts. Je suis juge d’un
tribunal de la famille, et le psychiatre était ma ressource la plus
utile. Le travailleur social était la meilleure ressource à laquelle
j’avais accès et ainsi de suite. Tandis que nous nous concentrons,
ici, sur les finances, les répercussions ne sont pas financières.
Les répercussions sont sociales. Avez-vous quelque chose à dire
à ce sujet?

Dr. Alexiadis:  I would like to say hear, hear. All your
comments are exactly right. If you are talking about the federal
Minister of Health and the Minister of Health in Nova Scotia, I
think everyone was a bit shocked in Nova Scotia. As physicians
we were talking to ministries, saying, “Don’t you realize that the
implications of what happens federally will become a problem
for the provinces?”

Dre Alexiadis : J’aimerais vous dire bravo. Tout ce que vous
dites est tout à fait exact. Si vous parlez de la ministre fédérale
de la Santé et du ministre de la Santé de la Nouvelle-Écosse, je
crois que tout le monde était un peu surpris en Nouvelle-Écosse.
En tant que médecins, nous parlions aux ministères et disions :
« Ne vous rendez-vous donc pas compte des répercussions de ce
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qui se passe à l’échelon fédéral et du fait que cela va devenir un
problème pour les provinces? »

At first it was slow to percolate through. There was a writing
campaign throughout the whole of Canada that was fostered
through Doctors Nova Scotia that supported it. Also CMA
supported it. We all sent letters and notifications to all our
members of parliament explaining that doctors want to pay their
fair share of taxes. To understand how physicians got the ability
to incorporate, it was part of a compensation package to make us
have competitive compensation. Compared to not having the
provinces pay but getting some tax incentives, the incorporation
allowed us to save some of the tax to plan for our futures.

Au début, cela s’est fait lentement. Il y a eu une campagne de
lettres dans tout le Canada facilitée par l’intermédiaire de
Doctors Nova Scotia, qui était favorable. L’AMC a aussi fourni
son soutien. Nous avons tous envoyé des lettres et des avis à tous
nos députés pour leur expliquer que les médecins voulaient payer
leur juste part d’impôt. Pour comprendre de quelle façon les
médecins ont pu constituer des sociétés, il faut savoir que cela
faisait partie d’une trousse de rémunération afin que notre
rémunération soit compétitive. Comparativement à la possibilité
que les provinces payent, mais que nous obtenions certains
incitatifs fiscaux, la constitution en personne morale nous a
permis de payer un peu moins d’impôt pour planifier notre
avenir.

That was probably the biggest shock that this came out of the
finance world versus through the Ministry of Health. That
conversation has to happen and I think that is an important place
to go. I really appreciate your comments, and I make you an
honorary physician today.

Ce qui a été le plus frappant, c’est probablement le fait que
c’est quelque chose qui est venu du milieu des finances plutôt
que du ministère de la Santé. C’est une conversation qu’il faut
avoir, et je crois qu’elle est importante. Je vous remercie
beaucoup de vos commentaires et je fais de vous un médecin
honoraire aujourd’hui.

Dr. Stone:  Senator Andreychuk, as president of the
association, either myself or my delegates have spoken to the
Nova Scotia Minister of Health and other groups have spoken to
the minister. The message was reached to the premier, Mr.
McNeil. He referred to it, I believe, in a CBC interview as its
going to have a catastrophic effect on health care in Nova Scotia
Mr. McNeil also went so far as to voice his concerns in a one-to-
one meeting with Mr. Morneau when he was here last fall.

Dr Stone : Sénatrice Andreychuk, mes délégués ou moi, en
tant que président de notre association, avons parlé au ministre
de la Santé de la Nouvelle-Écosse, tout comme d’autres groupes.
Le message s’est rendu au premier ministre, M. McNeil. Il l’a
mentionné, je crois, dans une entrevue de CBC. Il a dit que cela
allait avoir un effet catastrophique sur les soins de santé en
Nouvelle-Écosse. M. McNeil a même fait part de ses
préoccupations à M. Morneau durant une réunion en personne
lorsque ce dernier est venu ici, l’automne dernier.

The message is out there. The provincial government of Nova
Scotia, anyway, knows what this will do. That is all I have to say
on that.

Le message a été communiqué. Le gouvernement provincial de
la Nouvelle-Écosse, en tout cas, sait ce qui arrivera. C’est tout ce
que j’ai à dire à ce sujet.

Senator Andreychuk:  You are without a contract now with
the provincial government since 2013. Am I correct?

La sénatrice Andreychuk : Vous n’avez pas de contrat avec
le gouvernement provincial depuis 2013. C’est exact?

Dr. Alexiadis:  No, we have a contract. Dre Alexiadis : Non, nous avons un contrat.

Senator Andreychuk:  You now have now a contract. Some
provinces are still in negotiations.

La sénatrice Andreychuk : Vous avez maintenant un contrat.
Certaines provinces en sont encore à l’étape des négociations.

Dr. Lees:  Thank you for getting to the heart of the matter,
which is really that it is about patients. If physicians leave the
province we are leaving patients, many of whom do not have a
family physician. It is quite distressing and sad the stories that
are coming out in the news about patients who need a physician
and cannot access health care that they deserve and have a right
to access.

Dre Lees : Merci d’entrer dans le vif du sujet, soit le fait que
c’est des patients qu’il est question. Si des médecins quittent la
province, ils quittent des patients, dont bon nombre n’ont pas de
médecin de famille. Les histoires qu’on voit aux actualités au
sujet des patients qui ont besoin des médecins et qui n’ont pas
accès aux soins de santé qu’ils méritent et auxquels ils ont droit
sont très troublantes et désolantes.

In terms of reaching out to the Minister of Health, we have
done so. Maritime Resident Doctors has. We have also spoken
with our provincial Minister of Health. We are trying. I think

Pour ce qui est de communiquer avec la ministre de la Santé,
nous l’avons fait. Maritime Resident Doctors l’a fait. Nous avons
aussi parlé avec notre ministre provincial de la Santé. Nous

21-11-2017 Finances nationales 50:73



catastrophic impact would describe the potential impact of this
quite well.

essayons. Je crois qu’il est tout à fait juste de décrire l’impact
auquel il faut s’attendre en affirmant qu’il sera catastrophique.

Senator Neufeld:  Thanks to all three of you for some very
good presentations. I appreciate that very much. It is similar to
what we are hearing across the country from the West to the
East. The federal government should be starting to catch on to
that there is a problem. Hopefully they do. I hope they do.

Le sénateur Neufeld : Merci à vous trois de vos très bons
exposés. Je vous en suis très reconnaissant. C’est similaire à ce
qu’on entend partout au pays, de l’Ouest à l’Est. Le
gouvernement fédéral devrait commencer à comprendre qu’il y a
un problème. Espérons que ce sera le cas. Je l’espère.

Dr. Alexiadis, you talked about most of your doctors being
over 50 and intending on retiring. When do most doctors retire? I
guess they are all a bit different, but what is the average age that
they actually retire?

Docteure Alexiadis, vous avez parlé du fait que la plupart de
vos médecins ont plus de 50 ans et qu’ils envisagent de prendre
leur retraite. À quel moment la plupart des médecins prennent-ils
leur retraite? J’imagine que c’est toujours un peu différent selon
le cas, mais quel est l’âge moyen de la retraite?

Dr. Alexiadis:  When I first started to practise I went to a
financial planner and I said, “Can I retire when I am 55?” He
started to laugh at me. That is not the age. We have practising
physicians of 75. There is a physician who is not incorporated,
who is a surgeon and who actually does surgical assists. We like
what we do, but we want to have an environment that is
respecting of us and not hostile to us to do it.

Dre Alexiadis : Lorsque j’ai commencé à pratiquer la
médecine, je suis allée voir un planificateur financier et je lui ai
dit : « Puis-je prendre ma retraite à 55 ans? » Il a ri de moi. Ce
n’est pas le bon âge. Nous avons des médecins âgés de 75 ans
qui pratiquent encore. Il y a un médecin qui n’est pas constitué
en société, un chirurgien, qui joue le rôle d’assistant en chirurgie.
Nous aimons ce que nous faisons, mais nous voulons le faire
dans un environnement qui nous respecte et qui ne nous est pas
hostile lorsque nous travaillons.

If you have a very happy workforce in the health care sector,
meaning the physicians, they will practise longer. If they are
unhappy, they will think about closing shop earlier. That is
probably the best number I could give you.

Si vous avez un effectif très heureux dans le secteur des soins
de santé, et je parle ici des médecins, il travaillera plus
longtemps. Si les gens sont malheureux, ils penseront à prendre
leur retraite plus rapidement. C’est probablement le meilleur
chiffre que je peux vous donner.

Senator Neufeld:  I think I heard you say, Dr. Lees, that you
have met with the Minister of Health federally?

La sénatrice Neufeld : Je crois vous avoir entendu dire,
docteure Lees, que vous avez rencontré la ministre fédérale de la
Santé?

Dr. Lees:  Not federally. Just provincially. Dre Lees : Pas à l’échelon fédéral, seulement à l’échelon
provincial.

Senator Neufeld:  Have any of your organizations met with
the federal Minister of Health? Have you attempted to? Have
they responded in the positive?

Le sénateur Neufeld : Est-ce que l’une de vos organisations a
rencontré la ministre fédérale de la Santé? Avez-vous tenté de le
faire? La réponse a-t-elle été positive?

Dr. Alexiadis:  My other representative is through the
Canadian Medical Association. I am sure they have had those
conversations. They do that on behalf of all doctors in Canada. I
am sure that our president has had conversations with the
Minister of Health.

Dre Alexiadis : Je suis aussi représentée par l’Association
médicale canadienne. Je suis sûre qu’elle a eu ces conversations.
L’association parle au nom de tous les médecins du Canada. Je
suis sûre que notre président a discuté avec la ministre de la
Santé.

I don’t know the details of what has been happening because
right now it is all in the finance area where the decisions are
being made. The more it can be put forward that it needs to reach
that table is important.

Je ne sais pas en détail ce qui s’est produit parce que,
actuellement, toutes les décisions sont prises par le milieu des
finances. Il est important de rappeler le plus possible qu’il est
important que cette question se retrouve à la bonne table.

Senator Neufeld:  I am wondering what kind of feedback you
are getting from the Minister of Health. That minister sits at the
same table as the federal Minister of Finance. I would be
interested to know what kind of contact there has been and what

Le sénateur Neufeld : Je me demande quel genre de
rétroaction vous obtenez de la ministre de la Santé. Cette
ministre est assise à la même table que le ministre fédéral des
Finances. Ce serait intéressant de savoir quel genre de contact il
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the response has been from the federal Minister of Health to
what is taking place across Canada.

y a eu et quelle a été la réaction de la ministre fédérale de la
Santé relativement à ce qui se passe partout au Canada.

My other question is about your MPs from this area. Have you
had success in sitting down with those MPs and stating your
case? What kind of response are you getting there?

Mon autre question concerne vos députés dans la région.
Aviez-vous réussi à rencontrer ces députés pour leur faire
connaître votre point de vue? Quel genre de réponse avez-vous
obtenue de ce côté-là?

Dr. Stone:  Senator Neufeld, I don’t have the minutes of my
last association meeting, but at our last meeting we made a
resolution to protest the tax changes. I believe a copy of that
letter went to the Prime Minister. It went to the Minister of
Finance. It may have gone to the federal Minister of Health. I
just cannot recall right now, but I do know copies of those letters
went to our local MPs. In fact, I met with the local MP for
Sydney—Victoria, the Honourable Mark Eyking. He heard me
out but again there was no response for or against the changes.

Dr Stone : Sénateur Neufeld, je n’ai pas le procès-verbal de
la dernière réunion de l’association, mais à notre dernière
réunion, nous avons adopté une résolution de contester les
changements fiscaux. Je crois qu’une copie de la lettre en
question a été envoyée au premier ministre. Elle a été envoyée au
ministre des Finances. Elle a peut-être été envoyée à la ministre
fédérale de la Santé. Je ne m’en souviens pas actuellement, mais
je sais que des copies de ces lettres ont été envoyées à nos
députés locaux. En fait, j’ai rencontré le député de Sydney-
Victoria, l’honorable Mark Eyking, il m’a écouté, mais, encore
une fois, je n’ai pas eu de réponse favorable ou défavorable
quant aux changements.

Senator Neufeld:  They just heard you out and said, “Fine,
thank you. Next.”

Le sénateur Neufeld : Ils ont tout simplement écouté et ont
dit : « C’est parfait, merci, au prochain .»

Dr. Stone:  We got the message out, sir, but I don’t recall any
emails coming back from Ottawa. When I contacted Mr. Eyking,
he did give me time out of his busy day but he was non-
committal. He did hear me out and I am grateful for that.

Dr Stone : Nous avons dit ce que nous avions à dire,
monsieur, mais je ne me rappelle pas avoir reçu de courriel en
provenance d’Ottawa. Lorsque j’ai communiqué avec
M. Eyking, il a pris le temps de me parler malgré son horaire
occupé, mais il ne s’est engagé à rien. Il m’a cependant écouté,
et je lui en suis reconnaissant.

Senator Neufeld:  Out of the proposed changes, because there
is a number of them, which ones would you like to not have
happen?

Le sénateur Neufeld : Parmi les modifications proposées,
parce qu’il y en a un certain nombre, quelle modification auriez-
vous préféré ne jamais voir proposée?

Dr. Lees:  I think for younger physicians changes to passive
income is one of the scariest proposals, particularly because this
is used to fund parental leave and to help pay down debt and
continue to pay for overhead while on parental leave. For us that
is a huge issue in terms of family planning. Certainly for
retirement that is also very important. We are a little younger in
terms of our population, so there are different priorities.

Dre Lees : Je crois que, pour les jeunes médecins, les
changements liés au revenu passif constituent l’une des
propositions les plus effrayantes, surtout qu’ils utilisent ces
revenus pour financer leurs congés parentaux tout en continuant
à payer leurs dettes et à payer les frais généraux durant leur
congé parental. Pour nous, c’est un grave problème au chapitre
de la planification familiale. Assurément, pour leur retraite, c’est
aussi très important. Notre population est un petit peu plus jeune,
alors les priorités sont différentes.

Dr. Stone:  For me, passive investment and investment
income are really important. I have about 10 years left. Maybe
longer, maybe less, God willing. I have two children
approaching university age. I have not RESPs or any such thing.
I was relying on what the law was to give me: the ability to issue
dividends to my children to fund their university. Now it is being
taken away. The carpet is pulled out from under my feet. Those
two items will really affect me personally.

Dr Stone : Selon moi, les placements passifs et les revenus
d’investissement sont vraiment importants. Il me reste environ
10 ans à travailler. Peut-être plus, peut-être moins, Dieu seul le
sait. J’ai deux enfants qui auront bientôt l’âge de fréquenter
l’université. Je n’ai pas de REEE et de choses du genre. Je me
fiais à ce que la loi me permettait : la capacité de verser des
dividendes à mes enfants pour financer leurs études
universitaires. C’est une possibilité qu’on me retire maintenant.
On est en train de me couper l’herbe sous le pied. Ces deux
éléments me toucheront vraiment personnellement.
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Dr. Alexiadis:  I say none. I want no changes. The reason
why I say that is simply that it is part of our compensation
package. If you take away one or the other, you will
disadvantage someone. In the end, when I am looking at trying to
keep our doctors here, attracting doctors here and keeping our
health care at the top number that we need, changing any one
thing could have an effect.

Dre Alexiadis : Je dis aucun. Je ne veux aucun changement.
La raison est simple : cela fait partie de notre programme de
rémunération. Si on en retire un ou un autre, quelqu’un sera
désavantagé. Au bout du compte, lorsque j’essaie de voir
comment garder tous nos médecins ici, comment attirer des
médecins ici et m’assurer que la qualité des soins de santé reste
optimale, comme elle doit l’être, modifier une de ces choses
pourrait avoir un impact.

Therefore, for me, all three should be maintained. Par conséquent, selon moi, il faut maintenir le statu quo sur
ces trois choses.

Senator Neufeld:  All three should be. That is consistent,
folks, to what we are hearing across the country. This cherry-
picking part of the tax system is affecting not just doctors but
generally the whole small business world of Canada-controlled
corporations. It is affecting some worse than others but it is
having a huge negative effect.

Le sénateur Neufeld : Il faudrait garder les choses comme
elles sont dans les trois cas. Chers amis, c’est conforme à ce
qu’on a entendu à l’échelle du pays. Ces mesures sélectives du
système fiscal touchent non seulement les médecins, mais, de
façon générale, tout le milieu des petites entreprises des sociétés
sous contrôle canadien. Certains sont plus durement touchés que
d’autres, mais tout ça aura d’importantes répercussions
négatives.

For your information, we had the Minister of Finance at a
committee meeting similar to this one. When we talked about
passive income the Minister of Finance told the committee that
the government recognized the need to retain funds within a
corporation for business purposes. I think we can kind of agree
to that, but the Minister of Finance said that it wanted to
discourage using private corporations to save for retirement.

À titre d’information, nous avons accueilli le ministre des
Finances durant une réunion du comité similaire à celle-ci.
Lorsque nous avons parlé de revenus passifs, le ministre des
Finances a dit au comité que le gouvernement reconnaissait le
besoin de conserver des fonds dans une société à des fins
d’affaires. Je crois que nous pouvons tous être d’accord dans une
certaine mesure avec lui, mais il a dit qu’il voulait décourager
l’utilisation des sociétés privées comme véhicule
d’investissement pour la retraite.

I find it unbelievable, when you have a small business, your
own business, that you cannot save your money for retirement.
To me that is completely wrong, as is someone from government
saying, “I know how to spend your money better.” The
government does not know how to spend your money better,
guaranteed.

Je trouve incroyable que, lorsqu’une personne a une petite
entreprise, son entreprise à elle, elle ne peut pas économiser pour
la retraite. À mes yeux, c’est tout à fait inapproprié, comme si
quelqu’un du gouvernement disait : « je sais mieux que vous
comment dépenser votre argent ». Je vous garantis que le
gouvernement ne sait pas comment mieux dépenser votre argent
que vous.

Senator Oh:  Thank you, doctors, for your wonderful
presentations. From the West Coast to the East Coast, all medical
practitioners have voiced their concerns.

Le sénateur Oh : Merci, mesdames et messieurs de nous
avoir présenté de merveilleux exposés. D’un bout à l’autre du
pays, tous les professionnels de la santé ont communiqué leurs
préoccupations.

You had a rally where over 400 doctors showed up. You guys
care about these tax changes and care about your patients. It
shows that these tax changes will be an overburden on the
Canadian health care system. Do you agree that it will affect
doctor/patient care?

Vous avez organisé un rassemblement auquel plus de
400 médecins ont participé. Les médecins ont à cœur les
changements fiscaux et ont à cœur leurs patients. On voit bien
que ces changements fiscaux constitueront un fardeau inutile
pour le système de santé canadien. Êtes-vous d’accord avec le
fait que les changements influeront sur la relation entre les
médecins et les patients?

Do you also believe that these proposed tax changes will
create more gender inequalities? If so, can you specify the
issues? Would you highlight them?

Croyez-vous aussi que ces changements fiscaux proposés
créeront plus d’inégalités de genre? Dans l’affirmative, pouvez-
vous préciser quels problèmes seront rencontrés? Pouvez-vous
nous les souligner?
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Dr. Alexiadis:  You are saying gender inequalities. You are
probably aware that the number of woman in medicine is
increasing to the point where now medical classes are almost
fifty-fifty. Being a female in practice now for 28 years, I have
seen it change for the better. Still there are some gender
inequalities, but it is for the better.

Dre Alexiadis : Vous parlez d’inégalités de genre. Vous
savez probablement que le nombre de femmes en médecine
augmente au point où il y a maintenant quasiment autant
d’hommes que de femmes dans les cours de médecine. En tant
que femme qui pratique depuis maintenant 28 ans, j’ai vu la
situation changer en mieux. Il reste certaines inégalités de genre,
mais la situation s’améliore.

The problem is that as you have more physicians that are
female, you are looking at physicians that also want to have a
family. It is not just a profession. It is also a life. Part of your life
includes being a physician and part of your life includes being a
mother and being able to plan for having time off.

Le problème, c’est que plus il y a de femmes médecins... Ce
sont là des médecins qui veulent aussi avoir une famille. Ce n’est
pas seulement une profession. C’est aussi un mode de vie. Le fait
d’être médecin est une partie de notre vie, mais être une mère et
planifier du temps pour jouer ce rôle en est un autre.

Doctors in Nova Scotia do not get more than 17 weeks of
maternity leave, which is not a lot, especially now when they are
saying maybe it is 18 months for the rest of Canada. Having
those corporations to be able to put passive income is very
important.

Les médecins en Nouvelle-Écosse n’obtiennent pas plus de
17 semaines de congé de maternité, ce qui n’est pas beaucoup,
surtout maintenant qu’on dit que, dans le reste du Canada, les
femmes auront 18 mois. Le fait de compter sur ces sociétés afin
de pouvoir y conserver des revenus passifs est très important.

The other piece that has nothing to do with gender inequality
is also about health issues. I had some personal health issues. I
think you have in our submission that I am a breast cancer
survivor. I had to take six months off in order to get my
treatment. During that time I had four staff. I had a whole office
to keep running as I am away. If I did not have the benefit of
having those monies in my corporation I could not keep that
going. For me that is a personal face to how these things will
change.

L’autre aspect de la question, qui n’a rien à voir avec
l’inégalité de genre concerne aussi les problèmes de santé. J’ai
eu, personnellement certains problèmes de santé. Je crois qu’il
est mentionné dans notre mémoire, que j’ai eu un cancer du sein.
J’ai dû prendre six mois de congé pour obtenir mon traitement.
Durant cette période, j’avais quatre employés. J’avais tout un
bureau qui devait continuer à fonctionner pendant mon absence.
Si je n’avais pas eu la chance d’avoir ces fonds dans ma société,
je n’aurais pas pu maintenir cette structure en place. Selon moi,
il s’agit d’un récit personnel de la façon dont ces choses
changeront.

At the rally that you mentioned physicians were coming up
and telling us their stories. They were ill. They had strokes and
heart attacks. Someone with Crohn’s disease has to go one day
every week to get IVs so they can go back to treat their patients
for the rest of the week.

Durant le rassemblement dont vous avez parlé, les médecins
venaient nous voir pour nous raconter leur histoire. Ils étaient
malades. Ils avaient eu des incidents vasculaires cérébraux et des
crises cardiaques. Une personne qui avait la maladie de Crohn
devait obtenir un traitement par intraveineuse un jour par
semaine afin de pouvoir retourner traiter ses patients durant le
reste de la semaine.

These are the things that we don’t enjoy as employees do. We
don’t have a medical plan. Having the ability to still keep our
small businesses going because we are small business owners,
the freedom of having that corporation, is a significant help to us
to keep practising. It is not just the fact of retirement. It is the
fact of having a life, being able to raise a family, sending them to
university, as well as having any adversity happening to your
family.

Il y a certaines choses dont bénéficient les employés auxquels
nous n’avons pas accès. Nous n’avons pas de régime de soins de
santé. Avoir la capacité de maintenir les activités de notre petite
entreprise, parce que nous sommes les propriétaires de petites
entreprises, la liberté d’avoir une société, c’est quelque chose qui
nous aide beaucoup à maintenir notre pratique. Ce n’est pas
seulement la question de la retraite. C’est la possibilité d’avoir
une vie, d’avoir des enfants, de les envoyer à l’université et de
s’en sortir lorsque notre famille est confrontée à de l’adversité.

Therefore there is also a personal face in these tax changes. It
is not just about money. It is also about a life.

Par conséquent, il y a aussi un aspect personnel à ces
changements fiscaux. Ce n’est pas seulement une question
d’argent. C’est aussi une question de vie.

Dr. Lees:  I know many young female physicians. When the
proposed tax changes first came out many of us felt as though we
were being asked to choose between our career and having a

Dre Lees : Je connais beaucoup de jeunes femmes médecins.
Lorsque les propositions de changements fiscaux ont été
communiquées, initialement, bon nombre d’entre nous avions
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family. When we graduate the debt load we have is often over
$200,000. To embark on a career, to have to pay those overhead
costs, and then to try to fund your own parental leave during that
time, without the current tax strategies we are able to use, would
make it very difficult, if not impossible, to take time away to
have a family. There is a lot of fear and anxiety around that right
now.

l’impression qu’on nous demandait de choisir entre mener notre
carrière et avoir une famille. Lorsque nous obtenons notre
diplôme, nous avons souvent une dette de plus de 200 000 $.
Lorsqu’on commence une carrière et qu’il faut payer ces frais
généraux, puis essayer de financer nos propres congés parentaux
en même temps… sans les stratégies fiscales actuelles auxquelles
nous avons accès, ce sera très difficile, voire impossible, de
prendre congé pour avoir une famille. Tout cela soulève
actuellement beaucoup de craintes et génère beaucoup d’anxiété.

Senator Oh:  I have a quick question. How many hours per
day does a doctor work?

Le sénateur Oh : Je vais poser rapidement une question.
Combien d’heures par jour un médecin travaille-t-il?

Dr. Lees:  While in residency with our current contract we are
capped at 90 hours a week.

Dre Lees : Durant notre résidence, dans le cadre de notre
contrat actuel, le plafond est 90 heures par semaine.

Dr. Stone:  If you look at the written submissions I gave,
there is a couple of typos because I wrote that after being on call
for 24 hours.

Dr Stone : Si vous regardez les mémoires que j’ai fournis, il y
a deux ou trois fautes de frappe parce que je l’ai écrit après avoir
été sur appel pendant 24 heures.

Senator Oh:  Wow. Le sénateur Oh : Eh bien!

Dr. Stone:  I would have been on call 36 hours, except I
cancelled the remaining day because I was sick as a dog. For me
60 hours to 80 hours a week is normal. If I take time off, surgery
gets cancelled and patients suffer.

Dr Stone : J’aurais été sur appel pendant 36 heures, mais j’ai
annulé le reste de la journée parce que j’étais malade comme un
chien. Pour moi, de 60 à 80 heures par semaine est normal. Si je
prends congé, des interventions chirurgicales sont annulées, et
des patients souffrent.

Dr. Alexiadis:  I would say a minimum of 60, but in addition
to my clinical work I do a family practice. I also work with
young people with schizophrenia so I do work in psychiatry. It is
at least 60 hours.

Dre Alexiadis : Je dirais un minimum de 60 heures, mais, en
plus de mon travail clinique, je pratique la médecine familiale. Je
travaille aussi auprès des jeunes schizophrènes, alors je travaille
dans le domaine de la psychiatrie. Au moins 60 heures.

Then there is all the paperwork that has to get done. I do have
a love of protecting. I love the profession, so I also want to
advocate for the profession both for my patients and for my
colleagues. I do a lot of committee work that also takes my time.

Puis, il y a tous les documents qu’il faut remplir. Mais j’aime
protéger. J’aime la profession, alors je veux défendre ma
profession, pour les patients et pour mes collègues. Je travaille
beaucoup au sein de comités, ce qui prend aussi du temps.

Senator Cools:  I would like to thank the three physicians for
what I thought was stunning and excellent testimony. For many
years I have always had a real soft spot and a place in my heart
for doctors. It is the story of my life in a way. I was a young girl
and for the first several years at university I used to work in a
biochemistry lab at a big hospital. I saw those doctors running to
save lives.

La sénatrice Cools : J’aimerais remercier les trois médecins
de nous avoir présenté ce qui était, selon moi, des témoignages
excellents et frappants. Pendant de nombreuses années, j’ai
toujours eu un petit faible et une place dans mon cœur pour les
médecins. C’est l’histoire de ma vie, d’une certaine façon. J’étais
une jeune fille et, pendant mes premières années à l’université, je
travaillais dans un laboratoire de biochimie dans un grand
hôpital. J’ai vu des médecins courir pour aller sauver des vies.

We would take in a patient and realize it was a rupturing
appendix. You would see them running and pushing the
stretcher. I have seen that endless times. You become aware of
the challenges that those people meet, handle and deal with every
day.

Un patient arrivait, et on se rendait compte que son appendice
s’était rompu. Vous auriez dû voir les médecins courir en
poussant la civière. C’est quelque chose que j’ai vu
d’innombrables fois. On finit par comprendre les défis auxquels
ces gens sont confrontés et les situations avec lesquelles ils
composent chaque jour.

My personal opinion is that the practice of medicine is a
vocation, not just a profession. It is a profession plus. I want to
make a suggestion. We should set aside in our report a special
section on doctors, physicians, and the state of medicine at this

Mon opinion personnelle, c’est que la médecine est une
vocation, pas seulement une profession. C’est une profession
avec un petit plus. J’aimerais formuler une suggestion. Nous
devrions prévoir une section spéciale de notre rapport sur les
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time in history. We would do our report and the country a good
service if we could replicate and present as much of what they
have said as is possible within our report.

médecins et la situation de la médecine actuelle. Ce serait bien,
tant pour notre rapport que pour le pays, si nous pouvions
reproduire et présenter le plus possible ce qu’ils ont dit dans
notre rapport.

If the committee is agreeable, we should go ahead and do that.
I think it is needed and it is necessary. Doctors have not been
getting a fair shake in the last many years, but that is another
story. This is a report. We have to report to the Senate what we
saw and what we heard. I think we should deal with it that way,
if it the committee is agreeable. Thank you.

Si le comité accepte, nous devrions aller de l’avant et procéder
ainsi. Je crois que c’est quelque chose qu’il faut faire et que c’est
nécessaire. Les médecins n’ont pas obtenu la reconnaissance
qu’ils méritent au cours des nombreuses dernières années, mais
c’est une autre histoire. C’est un rapport. Nous devons présenter
au Sénat ce que nous avons vu et ce que nous avons entendu. Je
crois que c’est ainsi qu’on devrait envisager de le faire, si le
comité accepte. Merci.

The Chair:  Thank you, Senator Cools. Le président : Merci, madame la sénatrice Cools.

To the three doctors, the chair will permit each of you 30
seconds each to make one recommendation individually as to
what you would like to see in our report that will be tabled to the
Senate of Canada on December 15.

En tant que président, je vais maintenant accorder aux trois
médecins 30 secondes chacun pour qu’ils formulent
individuellement une recommandation quant à ce qu’ils
aimeraient qu’on mentionne dans notre rapport qui sera déposé
devant le Sénat du Canada le 15 décembre.

Dr. Alexiadis:  My one recommendation is to recognize how
incorporation became part of the compensation package for
physicians and that changing it will affect patient care. All
physicians who practise medicine do it because they want to
practise good medicine to keep their patients healthy.

Dre Alexiadis : Ma recommandation principale, c’est de
reconnaître la mesure dans laquelle la constitution en société est
devenue une composante du programme de rémunération des
médecins et qu’une modification à ce chapitre aura un impact sur
les soins prodigués aux patients. Tous les médecins qui
pratiquent la médecine le font parce qu’ils veulent bien faire les
choses et garder leurs patients en santé.

Dr. Stone:  Saving a life, Senator Cools, provides me more
satisfaction than any money could provide. Unfortunately, when
things go bad, no amount of money can compensate me.

Dr Stone : Sauver une vie, madame la sénatrice Cools, me
donne plus de satisfaction que tout l’argent du monde.
Malheureusement, lorsque les choses ne vont pas bien, il n’y a
aucun montant d’argent qui peut régler les choses.

Since you are asking what I want, Senator Mockler, don’t
change the rules at all. Leave things as they are.

Puisque vous me demandez ce que je veux, monsieur le
sénateur Mockler, ne changez pas les règles du tout. Laissez les
choses telles qu’elles sont.

Dr. Lees:  Many of the most profound and meaningful
experiences I have had in my life, and I know that I am young,
have all been with patients. I am incredibly grateful to have been
given the opportunity to be a physician.

Dre Lees : Bon nombre des expériences les plus profondes et
significatives que j’ai eues dans ma vie, et je sais que je suis
jeune, ont toutes été avec des patients. Je suis incroyablement
reconnaissante d’avoir eu l’occasion d’être médecin.

I want to be a physician here in Nova Scotia. I am concerned
that I will not be able to because it will no longer be financially
feasible for me to do so. I would ask that these changes do not go
ahead so that we can preserve health care in the Maritimes.

Je vais être médecin, ici, en Nouvelle-Écosse. Je crains de ne
pas pouvoir continuer à l’être parce que ce ne sera plus possible
financièrement de le faire. Je demanderais qu’on n’apporte pas
ces changements afin qu’on puisse préserver la qualité des soins
de santé dans les Maritimes.

The Chair:  Doctors, thank you very much. You have
certainly been informative, enlightening and even, I could say
from my part, educational.

Le président : Docteures Alexiadis et Lees et docteur Stone,
je vous remercie beaucoup. Vos propos ont assurément été
instructifs, enrichissants et même, à mes yeux, éducatifs.

Senators, we will now welcome our second panel. From the
Atlantic Provinces Economic Council, Finn Poschmann,
President and Chief Executive Officer; from Dalhousie
University, IWK Health Centre, Dr. Pierre Schmit, Associate

Mesdames et messieurs les sénateurs, nous allons maintenant
accueillir notre deuxième groupe de témoins. Nous accueillons
Finn Poschmann, président-directeur général du Conseil
économique des provinces de l’Atlantique, le Dr Pierre Schmit,
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Professor, Radiology and Pediatric; from Flaim Wolsey Hall,
Chartered Professional Accountants, Don Wolsey, Partner; and
from Halifax-Dartmouth & District Labour Council, Suzanne
MacNeil, President.

professeur agrégé, Radiologie et Pédiatrie du Centre de soins de
santé IWK de l’Université Dalhousie, Don Wolsey, associé de
Chartered Professional Accountants, et Suzanne MacNeil,
présidente du Halifax-Dartmouth & District Labour Council.

Thank you very much, witnesses, for accepting our invitation
to be here to share your comments and opinions. I will ask you to
stay within the five minutes allotted by the clerk, following
which we will move to questions.

Mesdames et messieurs, je vous remercie beaucoup d’avoir
accepté notre invitation de venir formuler vos commentaires et
vos opinions. Je vous demande de ne pas dépasser les cinq
minutes qui vous ont été accordées par la greffière, après quoi,
nous passerons aux questions.

Before we table our report to the Senate on December 15, do
not hesitate to contact us if you wish to add something.

N’hésitez pas à communiquer avec nous si vous voulez ajouter
quelque chose avant le dépôt de notre rapport devant le Sénat
le 15 décembre.

Mr. Poschmann, the floor is yours. Monsieur Poschmann, la parole est à vous.

Finn Poschmann, President and Chief Executive Officer,
Atlantic Provinces Economic Council:  In view of the time, I
am drawing lines through sentences and paragraphs.

Finn Poschmann, président-directeur général, Conseil
économique des provinces de l’Atlantique : Compte tenu du
temps, j’élimine d’un trait des phrases et des paragraphes de ma
déclaration.

Thank you, Mr. Chair and the committee, for your invitation to
be here on an issue profoundly important to me and the region. I
represent APEC, an independent think tank and charity. I don’t
speak for any government and I don’t necessarily represent the
views of my board or members, for which they may be very
thankful.

Merci, monsieur le président, et merci aux membres du comité
de m’avoir invité pour parler d’un enjeu extrêmement important
pour moi et la région. Je représente le CEPA, un groupe de
réflexion indépendant et un organisme de bienfaisance. Je ne
parle au nom d’aucun gouvernement et je ne représente pas
nécessairement les points de vue de mon conseil
d’administration, ce dont ils seront peut-être très reconnaissants.

We are here discussing proposed changes to the taxation of
private corporations as proposed by the current government in
July 2017. Since significantly revised, I will limit my comments
to the version of the proposal we expect may be proceeded with
at this time.

Nous discutons ici des changements proposés à l’imposition
des sociétés privées. Ces changements ont été proposés par le
gouvernement actuel en juillet 2017. Puisque les propositions ont
été révisées de façon importante, je limiterai mes commentaires à
la version des changements proposés à laquelle on peut
s’attendre actuellement.

The initial proposals arose for a good reason. After decades of
cuts to the general corporate tax rate, alongside in my view some
unnecessary federal and provincial cuts to the small business
rate, we have a huge gap between the tax rates on small business
income held within the corporation and employment income
earned by most other people.

Au départ, on avait une bonne raison de proposer les
changements. Après des décennies de réduction du taux général
d’imposition des sociétés, ce à quoi se sont ajoutées, selon moi,
certaines réductions inutiles du taux d’imposition des petites
entreprises par le gouvernement fédéral et les provinces, il y a un
écart énorme entre les taux d’imposition du revenu que les
petites entreprises conservent au sein de leur société et les taux
d’imposition du revenu d’emploi qui s’appliquent à la plupart
des autres personnes.

That gap motivated a lot of tax planning which is great for the
people involved, including the tax profession, tax accountants,
lawyers and many of my friends, but not so much for the rest of
the economy.

Cet écart a motivé beaucoup de planification fiscale, ce qui est
parfait pour les gens visés, y compris les fiscalistes, les
comptables fiscalistes, les avocats et bon nombre de mes amis,
sans donner grand-chose au reste de l’économie.

Tax planning is not a terrible useful social activity. In this
context we should wonder why a hypothetical Dr. Able, who has
incorporated her practice, gets terrifically better tax treatment
than her neighbour, Dr. Baker, with an identical practice that has
not incorporated. Of course Dr. Baker could incorporate but that

La planification fiscale n’est pas une activité sociale
terriblement utile. Dans ce contexte, on peut se demander
pourquoi une hypothétique Dre Alpha, qui s’est constitué une
société, obtient un traitement fiscal vraiment meilleur que celui
de son voisin, le Dr Bravo, qui a une pratique identique non

50:80 National Finance 21-11-2017



should make us wonder about the purpose of the corporate
forum, the way we’ve designed it.

constituée en personne morale. Bien sûr, le Dr Bravo pourrait se
constituer en société, mais cette situation devrait nous pousser à
réfléchir au but de la constitution, à la façon dont on l’a conçue.

Notwithstanding some solid grounds for change, there were
big flaws in the government’s approach as suggested by an
explosion of outrage as you have heard here at this committee at
length. Among the flaws, to my mind, was an emotional plea for
tax fairness wrapped in a middle class cloak. To me that smacks
of some ugly class warfare.

Peu importe les bonnes raisons d’apporter des changements, il
y avait de grandes lacunes dans l’approche du gouvernement,
comme le donne à penser l’explosion d’indignation dont le
comité a été abondamment témoin, ici. Parmi les lacunes, selon
moi, il y avait cet appel émotif à l’équité fiscale drapé dans les
intérêts de la classe moyenne. Selon moi, cela ressemble à une
vilaine lutte des classes.

Fairness is a desirable characteristic of a tax system but it’s
also very difficult to define. The October fiscal update from the
Department of Finance referred to fair and fairness dozens of
times but repetition doesn’t give a word a lot more meaning or
instil a lot more logic to a given proposal. The announcement
was entitled “Doubling Down on Progress for the Middle Class.”
Not only are the definitions of middle class and progress moving
targets, but not every tax measure needs to be dressed up in
progressive language.

L’équité est une caractéristique souhaitable d’un système
fiscal, mais c’est aussi quelque chose de très difficile à définir.
La mise à jour financière d’octobre du ministère des Finances a
parlé d’équité et de justice des dizaines de fois, mais le fait de
répéter un mot ne le rend pas plus lourd de sens et ne renforce
pas la justification d’une proposition donnée. L’annonce était
intitulée « Redoubler d’efforts afin de réaliser des progrès pour
la classe moyenne ». Non seulement les définitions de classe
moyenne et de progrès changent constamment, mais ce ne sont
pas toutes les mesures fiscales qui doivent être présentées
comme étant progressistes.

The details of the proposal are such as they were and are. The
big jolts are the income sprinkling measures and those aimed at
passive investment earned within the corporate forum. These are
still on the table.

Les détails des propositions sont tels qu’ils étaient et tels
qu’ils sont. Les principaux éléments sont les mesures contre le
fractionnement du revenu et les mesures qui visent les
investissements passifs gagnés au sein d’une société. Ces
éléments sont encore sur la table.

The government had objected to income splitting among
family members who had little direct or reasonable connection to
the firm’s business activities because you divide up income
specifically to reduce the family tax bill and not for other
business reasons. Among the obvious problems with the word
reasonable is the sea of litigation that will inevitably follow in
trying to define it. Finance has since sought to clarify it by
adding the word meaningful, but we will still need detailed
legislation and regulation to sort out exactly what it does mean.
This is with reference to income sprinkling.

Le gouvernement s’est opposé au fractionnement du revenu
entre les membres de la famille qui avaient peu de liens directs
ou raisonnables avec les activités d’une entreprise parce qu’on
divise le revenu précisément pour réduire le fardeau fiscal de la
famille et pour aucune autre raison d’affaires. Parmi les
problèmes évidents liés à l’utilisation du mot raisonnable, c’est
la vague de litiges qui suivra inévitablement pour tenter de
définir cette notion. Les responsables des Finances ont depuis
tenté de préciser ce terme en ajoutant le mot « notable », mais il
faudra tout de même une loi et une réglementation détaillée pour
déterminer exactement ce que cela signifie. Il est ici question du
fractionnement du revenu.

The initial proposals also aim at passive income earned within
the corporation. For some business owners passive investments
are their retirement savings plans or provisions for long-term
leave or illness, as we just heard from Doctors Nova Scotia and
others. For them the appropriate axis of comparison is savings
within a registered savings plan or a tax-free savings account for
which the effective tax rate numbers are similar. For many
business owners an RSP or an RRSP is not a good option. They
may not have enough earned income to having meaningful
contribution room. Funds may end up being needed within the
business to ride out a down market or to fund new opportunities.
The RSP is just wrong for that.

Les propositions initiales visaient aussi le revenu passif gagné
et conservé dans les sociétés. Pour certains propriétaires
d’entreprises, des investissements passifs constituent leur régime
d’épargne-retraite ou leur filet de sécurité en cas de congé de
maladie à long terme, comme on vient de l’entendre de Doctors
Nova Scotia et d’autres témoins. Pour eux, une comparaison
appropriée serait avec un régime enregistré d’épargne ou un
compte d’épargne libre d’impôts, puisque, dans ces cas-là, le
taux d’imposition effectif est similaire. Pour beaucoup de
propriétaires d’entreprises, un RER ou un REER ne sont pas une
bonne option. Leur revenu gagné n’est peut-être pas suffisant
pour leur assurer des droits de cotisation suffisants. Les fonds
peuvent devenir nécessaires au sein de l’entreprise pour
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composer avec un ralentissement du marché ou financer de
nouvelles occasions. Un REER n’est pas bon dans ce cas-là.

What this points up is that the reform proposals would have
been better set within a broader tax system review and still could
be. Obviously salaried folks can’t build savings as readily or to
the same extent as business owners. Perhaps we ought to look at
how savings are taxed for salary earners.

Ce que cela souligne, c’est qu’il aurait été préférable d’inclure
les propositions de réforme dans un examen plus général du
système fiscal et qu’on pourrait encore procéder ainsi.
Évidemment, les salariés ne peuvent pas générer des économies
aussi facilement ou dans la même mesure que les propriétaires
d’entreprises. Nous devrions peut-être réfléchir à la façon dont
on impose les économies des salariés.

Why do we limit RSP contribution room to 18 per cent of
earned income and not some other number? Why is there an
earned income requirement at all for RSPs? We don’t have it for
tax-free savings accounts, TFSAs. Why not have a simple and
generous lifetime contribution limit that only some of us would
feel binding? When we withdraw funds from an RSP, why don’t
we get the contribution room back the way we do with a TFSA?

Pourquoi limitons-nous les droits de cotisation dans les RER
à 18 p. 100 du revenu gagné et pas un autre pourcentage?
Pourquoi impose-t-on même une exigence en matière de revenus
gagnés à tous les RER? Ce n’est pas quelque chose qu’on fait
pour les comptes d’épargne libres d’impôts, les CELI. Pourquoi
n’a-t-on pas une limite de cotisations à vie simple et généreuse
qui ne serait limitative que pour un petit nombre? Lorsque nous
retirons des fonds d’un RER, pourquoi ne récupérons-nous pas
les droits de cotisation connexes comme c’est le cas pour les
CELI?

In a liberalized system salaried earners would be on a more
even footing with people who own businesses and business
owners would have plausible alternatives to saving passively
within the corporation.

Dans un système libéral, les salariés seraient davantage sur un
pied d’égalité avec les personnes qui ont des entreprises, et les
propriétaires d’entreprises auraient d’autres solutions de
rechange plausibles pour économiser passivement au sein de leur
société.

For the moment we have a $50,000 limit on passive
investment income before facing an additional tax. That strikes
me as a bit low. In the absence of a broader review, we’re in an
odd and haphazard place. As I said at the outset and in line with
the government’s objectives we had a large gap between a small
business and the personal income tax rate. For the moment our
current solution is to make that gap bigger, so clearly we needed
a bigger rethink.

Pour l’instant, il y a une limite de 50 000 $ aux revenus
d’investissement passif avant une imposition supplémentaire.
C’est un montant qui me semble un peu bas. Sans un examen
plus général, nous nous retrouvons dans une situation bizarre et
improvisée. Comme je l’ai dit au début, et conformément aux
objectifs du gouvernement, il y avait un écart important entre les
taux d’imposition des petites entreprises et des particuliers. Pour
l’instant, notre solution actuelle, c’est d’élargir cet écart, alors, il
est évident qu’il faut revoir tout ça plus en profondeur.

The last review, just of the business income tax system, was in
1997-98. There were major federal tax changes on the personal
side, other than the creation of TFSAs. They’re back from the
1980s, 1990s and earlier. I think long-term thinking still could be
done. A proper review could happen. We could use broader,
more careful thinking about how we tax and spend and to have a
measured approach to reform.

Le dernier examen — du système d’impôt sur le revenu des
entreprises —, remonte à 1997-1998. Il y a eu d’importants
changements en matière d’imposition fédérale des particuliers,
en plus de la création des CELI. Ces changements remontent aux
années 1980 et 1990 et même avant. Je crois qu’on pourrait
encore adopter un point de vue à long terme. Un examen
approprié pourrait être réalisé. Nous pourrions réfléchir de façon
plus globale et plus minutieuse à la structure d’imposition et aux
dépenses afin d’adopter une approche mesurée dans le cadre de
la réforme.

With that, Mr. Chairman, I believe my time is up. Thank you. Cela dit, monsieur le président, je crois que mon temps est
écoulé. Merci.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Poschmann. Le président : Merci, Monsieur Poschmann.

Dr. Schmit, please. Docteur Schmit, s’il vous plaît.
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[Translation] [Français]

Dr. Pierre Schmit, Associate Professor, Radiology and
Pediatrics, Dalhousie University — IWK Health Centre, as
an individual: Good afternoon. I would first like to thank you
for this opportunity to discuss the Canadian government’s
proposed tax changes affecting personal corporations and passive
investments. My name is Pierre Schmit. I am a physician and
radiologist. I am originally from France, and a landed immigrant
in Canada, for a little over two years. I am a Canadian citizen. I
am speaking on my own behalf, but I am sure that many of my
points could have been presented by any of my colleagues.

Dr Pierre Schmit, professeur agrégé, Radiologie et
Pédiatrie, Université Dalhousie — Centre de soins de santé
IWK, à titre personnel :  Bonjour. Je voudrais tout d’abord
vous remercier de m’avoir accordé cette audience sur les
propositions de réforme fiscale du présent gouvernement sur les
corporations personnelles et les investissements passifs faits à
travers elles. Mon nom est Pierre Schmit, je suis médecin
radiologue, originaire de France et arrivé au Canada il y a un peu
plus de 10 ans, et je suis citoyen canadien. Je ne représente que
moi, mais je suis sûr que bon nombre de mes remarques auraient
pu être présentées par n’importe lequel de mes collègues.

It has been repeatedly said that the 75-day consultation was
extremely short, and could not provide a valid assessment of the
consequences of this proposed reform, which are going to deeply
affect small businesses, their owners and the social fabric of our
province and country.

Il a été dit à de nombreuses reprises que la durée de la
consultation était extrêmement courte, juste 75 jours, pour
évaluer des modifications qui auront un impact assez important
sur les « petites entreprises », leurs propriétaires et le tissu
socioéconomique de notre province et de notre pays.

My first reaction when I heard about the reform was to the
rhetoric used, and to those who used it; the words that stood out
were “fairness,” “loopholes,” “tax cheats” and “income
sprinkling.”

La première réaction que j’ai eue a été à propos de la
rhétorique employée, et a été dirigée vers ceux qui
l’employaient. Les mots les plus importants étaient « fairness »,
« loopholes », « tax cheats » et « income sprinkling ».

[English] [Traduction]

Fairness refers to a condition free from bias or injustice;
loophole refers to an opportunity to evade a law —

« Fairness », l’équité, renvoie à une condition exempte de
biais ou d’injustice, et « loophole », échappatoire, renvoie à une
occasion de contourner la loi—

[Translation] [Français]

— with an extremely negative connotation. Canadian
linguistic duality demands that I refer to the words used in their
original language.

— avec une connotation extrêmement négative. La dualité
linguistique canadienne m’impose de faire référence aux mots
prononcés dans leur langue d’origine.

This consultation nevertheless brought to light the fact that
Minister Morneau has no intention of being fair, as, on the one
hand, the proposed reform does not impact the stock option
system which benefits the minister himself and his personal
friends and family. On the other hand, this reform does not
provide physicians with health or employment benefits,
maternity leave, or CPP, which can only be acquired by paying
double the amount paid by any other Canadian.

Cette consultation a cependant mis au jour le fait que le
ministre Morneau n’a aucune intention d’être juste, car, d’un
côté, sa réforme ne touche pas le système des « stock options »
dont il peut bénéficier ainsi que ses amis personnels et sa famille.
De l’autre côté, cette réforme ne permet pas aux médecins de
bénéficier de couverture en cas de chômage, de couverture
salariale en cas de maladie, d’un congé de maternité, ni du
Régime de pensions du Canada qu’en payant le double de tout
autre contributeur.

The minister used the loopholes very well for himself,
however, by keeping control of his own Morneau Shepell stocks
through an ad hoc corporation — even if this was done with the
approval of the House Ethics Commissioner — a corporation
which was registered in another province than Ontario to take
advantage of lower taxes.

Le ministre a su très bien utiliser les échappatoires en ce qui a
trait aux actions de Morneau Shepell, dont il a conservé le
contrôle par une société tampon — même si cela aurait été fait
avec l’accord de la commissaire à l’éthique de la Chambre des
communes — société qui, par ailleurs, n’était pas enregistrée en
Ontario pour éviter une taxation trop importante.

In addition, somewhere he “forgot” to declare an estate
corporation through which he owns a mansion in Oppède-le-
Vieux in the Lubéron. This oversight only cost him $200. This
fine is less than a slap on the wrist when compared to the

En outre, il a quelque part « oublié » de déclarer une société
civile immobilière, grâce à laquelle il est propriétaire d’une villa
à Oppède-le-Vieux, dans le Lubéron. Cet oubli ne lui aura coûté
que 200 $. Or, 200 $, quand on considère le prix moyen des
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average value of properties in the Lubéron. The omission may
have been in good faith; I don’t know if this makes the minister a
tax cheat.

propriétés foncières dans le Lubéron, c’est une pénalité beaucoup
plus légère qu’une tape sur les doigts. Même si l’oubli a pu être
fait de bonne foi; je ne sais si cela fait du ministre un fraudeur
fiscal.

Finally, he has a very good understanding of the concept of
income sprinkling, considering the fact that Morneau Shepell
pays Bill Morneau’s father, the founder of the company,
$100,000 per year for fulfilling the duties of honorary member of
the board of directors. He has an elastic understanding of what
constitutes a conflict of interest when he states that there is none,
considering the fact that Morneau Shepell sells personal
retirement insurance products, which would surely become a
valid alternative to the passive investments made by the
individual corporations.

Enfin, il a parfaitement compris le concept du « income
sprinkling » puisque la société de droit Morneau Shepell verse
100 000 $ par an au père de Bill Morneau, le fondateur de la
société, à titre de membre honoraire du conseil d’administration.
Il a une conception élastique de ce que constitue un conflit
d’intérêts quand il affirme qu’il n’y a pas de conflit, alors que
l’on sait que la société Morneau Shepell propose des produits
d’assurance retraite, des régimes de retraite individuels qui
devraient constituer une alternative valide aux investissements
passifs qui sont faits dans corporations individuelles.

These are certainly ad hominem attacks, similar to the ones I
and many others endured when we were called tax cheats simply
for following the legal advice of our accountants and lawyers,
advice which was in no way illegal.

Il s’agit très certainement d’attaques ad hominem, identiques à
celles que j’ai endurées en me faisant traiter comme tant d’autres
de fraudeur fiscal, alors que je n’ai fait que suivre les conseils de
mon comptable et de mon avocat, qui n’étaient en rien illégaux.

Of all the impacts these proposed tax changes may have, I
foresee two major ones. The first one would be the loss of trust
that entrepreneurs will have in the legislative and executive
systems of Canada, because these changes would be retroactive
in nature, which is their worst defect, and would make any
retirement income planning or any financial planning of any kind
futile. I decided to incorporate my medical practice 10 years ago
in order to build savings for my retirement, and this has also
been the case for farmers, restaurant owners, retailers, et cetera.
This possibility was given to physicians as compensation,
although this was not spelled out in those terms, for the fact that
medical service fees were not increased.

De tous les impacts que ces changements fiscaux pourront
avoir, j’en distingue deux principaux. Le premier est la perte de
confiance des entrepreneurs envers les systèmes législatif et
exécutif du Canada. En effet, cette réforme fiscale est de par sa
nature rétroactive, ce qui est le défaut le plus important et qui
vide de tout sens le concept de planification en vue de la retraite.
J’ai décidé de m’incorporer il y a près de 10 ans, et cette décision
était fondée sur la nécessité de m’assurer une retraite décente.
Cela a été le cas aussi pour des fermiers, des restaurateurs, de
petits commerçants, et j’en passe. Cette possibilité de
s’incorporer avait été accordée aux médecins à titre de
compensation, même si cela n’avait pas été dit en ces termes, en
raison de la non-augmentation des tarifs des services médicaux.

From one day to the next, if the proposed tax changes are
implemented, my savings would vanish, and once these changes
become law, nothing would prohibit this or any other
government from tweaking and adjusting and readjusting it. This
is the reason why the $50,000 annual income limit on passive
investment income that the government pulled out of its hat is by
no means protective in any way.

Du jour au lendemain, si cette réforme fiscale est adoptée, les
économies que j’ai mises de côté pour la retraite vont se
volatiliser et, une fois cette loi sanctionnée, rien n’empêchera le
gouvernement, celui-ci ou un autre, de la modifier encore. C’est
pour cette raison que la limite annuelle de 50 000 $ pour les
revenus dégagés par les investissements passifs que le
gouvernement vient de sortir de son chapeau ne constitue en
aucun cas une protection.

The second impact would very likely be a brain drain to other
countries that are more understanding and kinder to small
business owners and physicians. Farmers are attached to the land
they cultivate, and restaurant owners to their restaurants. If I
were a young Canadian medical graduate today, I would not
hesitate. I would have passed the Canadian and U.S. exams
during my training, and I would not hesitate. Another perverse
effect is that it is very likely that the attraction of the Atlantic
provinces for physicians, dentists, and immigrant businessmen
would fade away. This will result in a decreasing number of
small and medium businesses, and in a rapidly progressing
medical desertification, with less revenue for the provinces, and

Le deuxième impact est une fuite vraisemblable des cerveaux
vers d’autres pays plus souples ou plus compréhensifs à l’égard
des petits entrepreneurs. Les fermiers sont attachés à la terre
qu’ils travaillent, un restaurateur à son restaurant. En tant que
médecin, je serais aujourd’hui un jeune diplômé canadien que je
n’hésiterais pas. Durant ma formation, j’aurais passé les examens
canadiens et américains, et je n’hésiterais pas. De façon plus
perverse encore, il est très vraisemblable que l’attractivité des
provinces de l’Atlantique diminue pour les médecins et dentistes
canadiens, mais aussi pour les gens d’affaires et les immigrants
investisseurs. Il en résultera une décroissance importante du
nombre de petites et moyennes entreprises et une désertification
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less access to health care professionals, although these provinces
have the oldest population in Canada and are in need of revenue
and health services.

« médicale » accrue. Il sera de plus en plus difficile aux habitants
des Maritimes d’avoir accès aux soins de santé, et ce, alors
même que la démographie nous indique qu’il s’agit là des
provinces les plus vieillissantes et donc de celles qui ont le plus
besoin de revenus fiscaux provenant des PME et de soins de
santé.

We can conclude that none of the long-term consequences of
this proposed tax reform were studied, and I am sure they go far
beyond the short-term vision that only considers the next two
years; and we are not even certain that the actual budget will be
balanced in those years. This was evident during the recent
appearance of Minister Morneau before the House of Commons
Standing Committee on Finance.

On voit donc que les conséquences à long terme de cette
réforme fiscale n’ont en aucun cas été étudiées et dépassent de
beaucoup une vision à court terme qui ne va pas plus loin que les
deux prochaines années, années pour lesquelles nous ne sommes
même pas assurés de l’équilibre budgétaire. Cela a été illustré
lors d’une récente présentation du ministre Morneau devant la
commission fiscale de la Chambre des communes.

Once again, I thank you for your time and your attention. I
would be delighted to answer your questions.

Encore une fois, je vous remercie de votre temps et de votre
écoute attentive. Je serai ravi de répondre à vos questions si vous
en avez.

I apologize if the names and titles of individuals or committees
were not exactly accurate. I meant no disrespect to these
individuals or committees.

Je vous prie de m’excuser si les titres des individus ou des
comités cités ne l’ont pas été de façon protocolaire, comme ils
auraient dû l’être. Mon intention n’était en aucun cas de manquer
de respect à ces individus ou à ces comités.

The Chair: Thank you very much, Dr. Schmit. Le président : Merci beaucoup, docteur Schmit.

[English] [Traduction]

The chair will now recognize Mr. Wolsey. Monsieur Wolsey, vous avez la parole.

Don Wolsey, Partner, Flaim Wolsey Hall, Chartered
Professional Accountants:  Thank you very much for the
opportunity to speak to you today concerning the proposed tax
changes impacting private corporations.

Don Wolsey, associé, Flaim Wolsey Hall, Chartered
Professional Accountants : Merci beaucoup de me donner
l’occasion de vous parler aujourd’hui des propositions de
changements fiscaux visant les sociétés privées.

My name is Don Wolsey and I’m here today with my business
partners, Don Flaim and David Hall, who are sitting behind me.
Together we operate the firm, Flaim Wolsey Hall, Chartered
Professional Accountants.

Je m’appelle Don Wolsey, et je suis accompagné aujourd’hui
de mes associés, Don Flaim et David Hall, qui sont assis derrière
moi. Ensemble, nous exploitons la firme Flaim Wolsey Hall,
Chartered Professional Accountants.

Our clientele includes many private corporations that we assist
with their accounting and income tax planning needs. We have
clients in many industries but physicians comprise 70 per cent of
our overall client base.

Notre clientèle inclut beaucoup de sociétés privées. Nous
répondons à leurs besoins en matière de comptabilité et de
planification fiscale. Nous avons des clients dans de nombreux
secteurs, mais les médecins représentent 70 p. 100 de notre
clientèle générale.

The proposed changes are meant to create jobs, grow the
economy and strengthen communities. We want to focus our
remarks today on the community aspect of the tax changes,
particularly on the health care system. We feel that the
conversation we’ve been having with more than 400 of our
physician clients across Atlantic Canada allows us to offer you a
perspective to the committee on the negative effects of the post-
tax changes to the health care systems of the Atlantic provinces.

Les changements proposés visent à créer de l’emploi, à assurer
la croissance de l’économie et à renforcer les collectivités. Nous
voulons concentrer nos remarques aujourd’hui sur l’aspect
communautaire des changements fiscaux, et particulièrement sur
le système de soins de santé. Selon nous, les conversations que
nous avons eues avec plus de 400 de nos médecins clients à
l’échelle du Canada atlantique nous permettent d’offrir au comité
une vision des répercussions négatives qu’auront les
changements fiscaux pour les systèmes de soins de santé dans les
provinces atlantiques.
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A recent release by Stats Canada shows that there are now
more than 5.9 million seniors in Canada, but compared to other
regions in Canada a larger percentage of the population is found
in Atlantic Canada. As the population ages, increased demands
will be placed on the health care system and on the physicians
who are key to its operation.

Un rapport publié récemment par Statistique Canada montre
qu’il y a maintenant plus de 5,9 millions d’aînés au Canada,
mais, comparativement à d’autres régions du pays, un plus grand
pourcentage de cette tranche de la population se trouve au
Canada atlantique. À mesure que la population vieillit, des
pressions accrues seront exercées sur le système de santé et les
médecins, qui sont essentiels à son fonctionnement.

The health care systems in Atlantic Canada are already
strained by the combination of increasing demand caused by an
aging population and a physician group that is itself aging with
many planned retirements in the next decade.

Les systèmes de soins de santé au Canada atlantique sont déjà
surchargés par la demande accrue découlant du vieillissement de
la population et le fait que les médecins eux-mêmes vieillissent,
bon nombre d’entre eux ayant prévu prendre leur retraite au
cours des 10 prochaines années.

This situation is compounded by tax changes that decrease the
ability of the Atlantic provinces to attract and retain physicians.
We can easily see the system becoming overwhelmed as a result.

Cette situation est accentuée par les changements fiscaux qui
réduisent la capacité des provinces atlantiques d’attirer et de
maintenir sur place des médecins. On peut facilement envisager
que le système sera débordé en conséquence.

Physician compensation has developed over many years
considering current tax rules that permit income sharing and
long-term savings using corporate structures. The tax rules are a
key element in the current compensation system for most
physicians. Abruptly changing these rules will impact physicians
during all stages of their careers, ranging from students who are
considering medicine, to retired physicians. While most students
considering medicine do so out of the desire to help patients,
many will be forced to consider the affordability of becoming a
doctor.

Le cadre de rémunération des médecins a évolué pendant de
nombreuses années, compte tenu des règles fiscales actuelles qui
permettent le partage du revenu et des économies à long terme à
l’aide des structures d’entreprise. Les règles fiscales sont un
élément clé du système de rémunération actuel de la plupart des
médecins. Le fait de changer abruptement ces règles aura une
incidence sur les médecins à toutes les étapes de leur carrière,
des étudiants qui envisagent une carrière en médecine aux
médecins à la retraite. Même si la plupart des étudiants
envisagent une carrière en médecine parce qu’ils veulent aider
les patients, beaucoup devront réfléchir à l’abordabilité de cette
carrière.

Have we given consideration to the number of people who will
be deterred by the prospect of repaying an average student debt
of $200,000 to $250,000 from a family medicine practitioner’s
income averaging $180,000? For those who are now graduation
and starting their careers, where will they choose to establish
their practices? It will likely be a location that will allow them to
repay their debt, establish a home for family and begin saving for
the future. These goals are impacted by a physician’s after-tax
cash flow and may necessitate that person moving to another
jurisdiction to allow these goals to be achieved.

A-t-on réfléchi au nombre de personnes qui seront rebutées à
la perspective d’avoir à rembourser une dette étudiante moyenne
de 200 000 à 250 000 $ grâce au revenu moyen d’un médecin de
famille qui est de 180 000 $? Pour ceux qui terminent
actuellement leurs études et commencent leur carrière, où
choisiront-ils d’établir leur pratique? Ce sera probablement dans
un endroit qui leur permettra de rembourser leur dette, de fonder
une famille et de commencer à économiser pour l’avenir. Ces
objectifs sont fonction des liquidités après impôt des médecins et
pourraient en pousser certains à déménager dans une autre
administration afin d’atteindre ces objectifs.

For the 75 per cent of physicians who have incorporated their
practices and are using their corporate structures as intended,
many will reconsider how they practise and make changes to
deal with the potential 10 per cent to 15 per cent decrease in their
after-tax household incomes. This is especially worrisome for
Atlantic Canada whose physicians are among the lowest paid and
highest taxed in the country.

Pour les 75 p. 100 de médecins qui se sont constitués en
société et qui utilisent leurs structures d’entreprise comme prévu,
bon nombre réévalueront leurs pratiques et y apporteront des
changements pour composer avec la diminution potentielle de 10
à 15 p. 100 du revenu de leur ménage après impôt. Cette
situation est particulièrement inquiétante dans le Canada
atlantique, où les médecins comptent parmi les moins rémunérés
et les plus imposés du pays.

Retired doctors who play it by the rules by saving for
retirement using the professional corporations and plan to be
able to income split with a spouse are placed at a distinct
disadvantage compared to other retirees who are able to split

Les médecins à la retraite qui ont respecté toutes les règles en
économisant pour leur retraite au moyen de leur société et qui
envisagent de pouvoir répartir leurs revenus avec leur épouse se
retrouvent dans une situation distinctement désavantagée
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income from RSPs and RRIF withdrawals and through pension
payments.

comparativement aux autres retraités qui peuvent fractionner le
revenu de leur RER et de leur FEER et qui bénéficient de
paiements de pension.

Since the rules have changed after the fact for these retirees,
they cannot adequately plan for them and they may find
themselves short of funds during retirement.

Puisque les règles ont changé après coup pour ces retraités, ils
ne peuvent pas planifier adéquatement leur avenir et pourraient
se trouver à court d’argent durant leur retraite.

By September we were so concerned by the conversations we
were having with our clients about the impacts on the health care
system that we conducted a physicians’ survey. The survey was
meant to determine physicians’ views on proposed tax changes
and unintended consequences. We polled 1,450 physicians
across Canada. The responses from that group are in orange, of
which 277 were from Atlantic Canada, and those responses are
in blue. As detailed on page 4 of the survey physicians across the
country are likely to reconsider how they practise or even
contemplate relocating to other jurisdictions.

En septembre, nous étions tellement préoccupés par les
conversations que nous avions avec nos clients, au sujet des
répercussions sur le système de santé, que nous avons réalisé un
sondage auprès des médecins. Ce sondage visait à déterminer les
points de vue des médecins sur les changements fiscaux proposés
et les conséquences imprévues. Nous avons
sondé 1 450 médecins partout au Canada. Les réponses de ce
groupe sont en orange, et il y avait dans le lot 277 médecins du
Canada atlantique, dont les réponses sont en bleu. Comme on
peut le voir à la page 4 du sondage, des médecins de partout au
pays sont susceptibles de réévaluer leur pratique ou même
d’envisager un déménagement dans d’autres administrations.

Although the numbers from the survey speak for themselves, I
would like to provide further examples from my own practice.
Prior to last year our firm has never had a physician client
emigrating from Canada to another country. However, during the
past 12 months we’ve had three clients who have left Canada.
We’ve had many conversations with our clients since the July 18
announcement about relocating to other jurisdictions with higher
remuneration and lower income tax rates.

Même si les résultats du sondage sont évocateurs, j’aimerais
fournir d’autres exemples de ma propre pratique. Avant l’année
dernière, aucun de nos clients médecins n’avait jamais émigré du
Canada vers un autre pays. Cependant, au cours des 12 derniers
mois, nous avons eu trois clients qui ont quitté le Canada. Depuis
l’annonce du 18 juillet, nous avons beaucoup parlé avec nos
clients du déménagement dans d’autres administrations ou de la
rémunération plus élevée et les taux d’imposition plus bas.

It is early days yet, but as a firm we have five more physician
clients who have confirmed that they will be emigrating from
Canada and a further eight who are moving to other provinces
outside Atlantic Canada. Those are the ones that we know about.
There will likely be more.

Nous sommes encore au tout début du processus, mais cinq
autres médecins clients de notre entreprise ont confirmé qu’ils
allaient émigrer du Canada et huit autres déménagent dans des
provinces à l’extérieur du Canada atlantique. Ce sont ceux dont
nous avons été mis au courant. Il y en a probablement d’autres.

I recently spoke with an anesthesiologist who lives in a rural
area of Atlantic Canada. For the doctor, his wife and two young
kids the proposed tax changes were the last straw. While he
regrets that he will be leaving his parents and his home town
behind, he has cited the benefit of fewer working hours and high
end compensation as the reason for his move to the United
States.

Récemment, j’ai parlé avec un anesthésiologiste qui vit dans
une région rurale du Canada atlantique. Ce médecin a une femme
et deux jeunes enfants, et pour eux, les réformes fiscales
proposées sont la goutte d’eau qui a fait déborder le vase. Même
s’il regrette de devoir quitter ses parents et sa ville natale, il dit
qu’il pourra gagner davantage en travaillant moins aux États-
Unis.

The survey results combined with our firsthand experiences
are clear. There will be an outward migration of physicians from
Atlantic Canada. This loss of physicians will exacerbate a
shortage of doctors, increase wait times and risk patient
outcomes in Atlantic Canada.

Les résultats du sondage, conjointement avec notre expérience
personnelle, dressent un portrait clair. L’exode des médecins du
Canada atlantique est inévitable. Leur départ va exacerber la
pénurie de médecins, allonger les temps d’attente et avoir des
conséquences néfastes sur la santé des patients dans le Canada
atlantique.

The current proposals represent the most significant changes
to Canadian tax law in the past 45 years and are not mere tweaks.
The 75-day consultation period cannot possibly be adequate to
consider the broad ranging impacts on the economy and health
care system.

Les réformes proposées actuellement modifieraient le droit
fiscal canadien de la façon la plus importante depuis les
45 dernières années. Il ne s’agit pas d’ajustements mineurs. C’est
tout bonnement impossible, en une période de consultation de
75 jours, d’examiner les vastes répercussions que cela pourrait
avoir sur l’économie et le système de santé.
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Given the scope of the changes the government should
withdraw all proposed tax measures and undertake a meaningful,
comprehensive tax review with all stakeholders to ensure that the
changes to tax law meet stated objectives and avoid unintended
consequences.

Étant donné l’ampleur de ces modifications, le gouvernement
devrait faire marche arrière quant à ces mesures fiscales et
entreprendre un examen exhaustif et approfondi du régime fiscal
avec l’ensemble des intervenants afin de veiller à ce que les
réformes du régime fiscal servent à atteindre les objectifs établis
et n’entraînent pas de conséquences malencontreuses.

If the government proceeds with proposed tax measures, more
work needs to be done to deal with the many concerns that were
not addressed by the announcements made during the week of
October 16.

Si le gouvernement décide d’aller de l’avant avec les mesures
fiscales proposées, il va falloir déployer davantage d’efforts afin
d’atténuer les nombreuses préoccupations dont on a fait fi dans
les annonces de la semaine du 16 octobre.

In our paper we have ended with five recommendations. As
soon as the federal government adopts these changes, we feel it
will go a long way in making these proposals workable and fair
for all Canadians. Notwithstanding, we believe it is a patchwork
job that increased the complexity of the Income Tax Act. We
also believe it is time to replace the old tire with the new one,
rather than adding patches on top of patches.

Vous trouverez, à la fin de notre mémoire, cinq
recommandations. Nous sommes d’avis que ces modifications,
dès que le gouvernement fédéral aura décidé de les adopter,
contribueront énormément à rendre les réformes proposées
réalisables et équitables pour l’ensemble des Canadiens. Malgré
tout, notre position est que ces réformes fragmentaires ne font
qu’alourdir la complexité de la Loi de l’impôt sur le revenu.
Selon nous, il est temps de remplacer notre vieux tacot par une
voiture neuve, au lieu de constamment changer des pièces.

As such, we still contend that all proposed measures should be
withdrawn in the meantime until a more meaningful
comprehensive tax review is completed. We would be pleased to
answer any questions you have.

Donc, c’est notre avis ferme que toutes les mesures proposées
devraient être retirées, le temps qu’un examen exhaustif et
approfondi puisse avoir lieu. Nous répondrons maintenant à
toutes vos questions avec plaisir.

The Chair: Thank you. Le président : Merci.

For the record, Ms. MacNeil, am I right in saying that you
represent the Halifax-Dartmouth & District Labour Council and
are a member of the Canadian Labour Congress?

Pour le compte rendu, madame MacNeil, est-ce exact que vous
représentez le Halifax-Dartmouth & District Labour Council et
que vous êtes membre du Congrès du travail du Canada?

Suzanne MacNeil, President, Halifax-Dartmouth &
District Labour Council:  That is correct. As you said, I come
here in my capacity as President of the Halifax-Dartmouth &
District Labour Council. We stand with the united position of
Canada’s unions as represent through our federal counterpart, the
Canadian Labour Congress.

Suzanne MacNeil, présidente, Halifax-Dartmouth &
District Labour Council : C’est exact. Comme vous dites, je
suis ici en tant que présidente du Halifax-Dartmouth & District
Labour Council. Nous avons adopté la position unanime des
syndicats canadiens représentés par notre homologue fédéral, le
Congrès du travail du Canada.

Here in Halifax, the labour council represents about 24,000
unionized workers and about every sector of the economy. These
members also reflect a diversity of incomes earned, everything
from just above minimum wage to much better compensated for
the work that is done.

Ici à Halifax, notre conseil du travail représente environ
24 000 travailleurs syndiqués dans à peu près tous les secteurs
économiques. Nous avons des membres d’un bout à l’autre du
spectre du revenu; certains gagnent à peine plus que le salaire
minimum, tandis que d’autres gagnent un salaire supérieur.

We stand with 3.5 million workers across the country in every
community to say that we support a number of the
recommendations of the policy changes put forward by the
government.

Nous sommes solidaires des 3,5 millions de travailleurs d’un
bout à l’autre du pays et dans l’ensemble des collectivités qui
soutiennent une partie des réformes stratégiques proposées par le
gouvernement.

When it comes to providing the vital services that we all rely
on as Canadians, everything from physical security and food
safety to health care, education and disaster relief, Canadians
expect everybody to pay their fair share. Critically important for
maintaining the fiscal capacity and political support needed to
pay for these services is a system that is built on tax fairness, a

Quand nous parlons de la prestation de services essentiels dont
l’ensemble des Canadiens ont besoin, comme la sécurité
physique, la salubrité alimentaire, les soins de santé, l’éducation,
les secours en cas de catastrophe et j’en passe, les Canadiens
s’attendent à ce que tout le monde paie sa juste part. Afin de
préserver les capacités financières et le soutien politique
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tax system that recognizes the varying levels of ability to pay
taxes, that aims at reducing inequalities in our country, that
doesn’t worsen inequalities by disproportionately rewarding the
wealthiest and that isn’t so unnecessary complex and riddled
with loopholes that high earners are able to gain from the tax
rules at the expense of the public.

nécessaires pour financer ces services, il est d’une importance
critique que le régime fiscal repose sur l’équité, c’est-à-dire que
le régime fiscal doit prendre en considération que tous n’ont pas
les mêmes moyens pour ce qui est de payer de l’impôt. Il faut
que le régime cherche à réduire les inégalités dans notre pays, et
non à les exacerber en récompensant de façon disproportionnée
les mieux nantis. Il faut également éviter que le système soit
indûment compliqué ou truffé d’échappatoires qui permettraient
aux contribuables les plus riches de profiter des règles fiscales au
détriment du public.

As our Department of Finance writes, closing tax loopholes,
cracking down on tax evasion and ensuring tax fairness are
essential to preserving the ability of the government to maintain
its role in funding health care, housing, child benefits, the Coast
Guard, and a number of other essential services and programs on
which Canadians rely.

Pour reprendre ce que le ministère des Finances a écrit,
l’élimination d’échappatoires fiscales, la lutte contre l’évasion
fiscale et l’évitement fiscal, et le maintien de l’équité fiscale sont
essentiels pour que le gouvernement puisse continuer de jouer
son rôle dans le financement des soins de santé, du logement, des
allocations pour les enfants, de la Garde côtière et d’autres
services et programmes essentiels sur lesquels comptent les
Canadiens.

Since 2000 tax changes in Canada have brought vast benefits
to corporations, small businesses, high earners and the wealthy.
The federal corporate tax income rate was slashed in half after
the year 2000 from 29.12 per cent to 15 per cent today.
Provincial and territorial governments followed suit and reduced
their corporate income tax rates as well. As a consequence,
Canada’s corporate income tax rate fell to the second lowest in
the G7 and 12.2 percentage points below the official rate in the
United States.

Depuis l’an 2000, les modifications fiscales au Canada ont
grandement favorisé les sociétés privées, les petites entreprises,
les contribuables les plus riches et les mieux nantis. Depuis
l’an 2000, le gouvernement fédéral a réduit de moitié le taux
d’imposition du revenu des sociétés, soit de 29,12 p. 100 à
15 p. 100 aujourd’hui. Les gouvernements provinciaux et
territoriaux lui ont emboîté le pas en réduisant également leur
taux d’imposition du revenu des sociétés. Par conséquent, le taux
d’imposition du revenu des sociétés au Canada se classe avant-
dernier parmi les pays du G7, 12,2 points de pourcentage
derrière le taux officiel aux États-Unis.

The federal small business tax rate has also been reduced from
13.12 per cent in 2000 to 10.5 per cent in 2016. The amount of
income eligible for the lower small business tax rate has also
been increased from $200,000 in 2003 to today’s level of
$500,000. The lifetime capital exemption has also been raised
and indexed to inflation. Provinces and territories have also
reduced their small business tax rate alongside the federal
government.

Le gouvernement fédéral a aussi réduit le taux d’imposition
des petites entreprises. Il est passé de 13,12 p. 100 en 2000, à
10,5 p. 100 en 2016. Le revenu correspondant au taux
d’imposition des petites entreprises le plus faible a également été
augmenté. En 2003, il était de 200 000 $, en comparaison de
500 000 $ aujourd’hui. L’exonération cumulative des gains en
capital a aussi été augmentée et indexée en fonction de
l’inflation. Les provinces et les territoires ont également réduit
leur taux d’imposition des petites entreprises en même temps que
le gouvernement fédéral.

The theory here was that lower tax rates for corporations allow
them to retain more earnings which can then be reinvested to
support growth and job creation. Lower corporate taxes
encourage new capital investment in better machinery and more
efficient technology that make workers more productive. In
doing so, it leads to economic growth, more jobs and high
wages. That was the theory, anyway.

La théorie prédisait qu’un taux d’imposition faible permettrait
aux sociétés de conserver une plus grande part des gains,
lesquels pourraient ensuite être réinvestis afin de favoriser leur
croissance et la création d’emplois. Un impôt des sociétés bas
encourage les entreprises à faire de nouveaux investissements en
capital, comme des machines plus efficaces ou des technologies
plus efficientes qui permettent aux travailleurs d’être très
productifs. De fil en aiguille, cela stimule l’économie, crée des
emplois et fait bondir les salaires. En théorie, du moins.

In actual fact, economic growth over the last decade has been
sluggish, primarily held back by persistently low business
investment even outside of the sectors of oil and gas. The

La réalité est tout autre : la croissance économique au cours
des 10 dernières années a été léthargique. L’un des principaux
facteurs a été que les entreprises ont peu investi pendant toute
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employment rate has been slow to recover. Wages are stagnant.
Historically bad labour productivity in growth in Canada has
been abysmal.

cette période, même à l’extérieur du secteur pétrolier et gazier.
Le taux d’emploi peine à se redresser, et les salaires stagnent. La
productivité du travail est d’une faiblesse sans précédent, et la
croissance au Canada a atteint un creux abyssal.

By any measure, corporate income tax failed to achieve the
rationale given in terms of a payoff in economic and
employment growth. In the meantime, federal tax revenues as a
share of GDP have fallen to the lowest level in 50 years.

À tous les égards, la diminution du taux d’imposition du
revenu des sociétés n’a rempli aucun des objectifs donnés en
matière d’avantages économiques ou de croissance économique.
Parallèlement, la part des recettes provenant des impôts fédéraux
contribuant au PIB est à son plus bas depuis les 50 dernières
années.

Since 2000 federal government spending on programs and
services as a share of the economy has fallen below the historical
norms an average of 13.2 per cent of GDP versus 16.4 per cent in
the previous 35 years.

Depuis l’an 2000, les dépenses fédérales pour les programmes
et les services dans l’économie du Canada sont passées sous les
valeurs historiques, s’établissait à 13,2 p. 100 du PIB en
comparaison de 16,4 p. 100 au cours des 35 dernières années.

We appreciate in the labour movement that the government
has taken some positive steps to improve tax fairness and to
reduce the opportunity for unfair advantage in the tax system.
The federal government added a further top tax bracket of 33 per
cent on incomes above $200,000; closed a number of loopholes
and boosted the ability of the Canada Revenue Agency to crack
down on wealthy and high income earners evading taxes through
offshore tax havens. Budget 2016 committed to reviewing our
increasingly complex federal tax expenditures, over 90 per cent
of which disproportionately benefit high earners.

Le mouvement syndical tient à souligner sa reconnaissance au
gouvernement fédéral des mesures positives qu’il a prises afin
d’améliorer l’équité dans le régime fiscal et de réduire les
avantages déloyaux auxquels certaines personnes ont accès. Le
gouvernement fédéral a ajouté une nouvelle fourchette
d’imposition supérieure équivalant à 33 p. 100 pour les revenus
de plus de 200 000 $. Il a également supprimé un certain nombre
d’échappatoires et renforcé la capacité de l’Agence du revenu du
Canada en matière de lutte contre l’évasion fiscale et l’évitement
fiscal par les mieux nantis et les contribuables les plus riches qui
utilisent des paradis fiscaux à l’étranger. Le gouvernement s’est
engagé, dans le budget 2016, à examiner les dépenses fiscales de
plus en plus complexes qui favorisent de façon disproportionnée,
à hauteur de 90 p. 100 sinon plus, les riches contribuables.

Budget 2017 then signalled that the government would address
tax planning by owners of Canadian-controlled private
corporations that can and do deliver unfair tax advantages to
high income earners. This step is really important in terms of
reducing income inequality as well as gender inequality since
high income earners are more likely to be men. There are a
number of further steps that we in the labour movement
recommend, but it’s all in the document so I will cut it off there.

Avec le budget 2017, le gouvernement a prévu de se pencher
sur les propriétaires de sociétés privées canadiennes qui font de
la planification fiscale, parce que cela peut favoriser — et
favorise effectivement — de façon inéquitable les mieux nantis.
Cette mesure contribuera grandement à réduire l’inégalité des
revenus ainsi que l’inégalité de genre, puisque les contribuables
les plus riches sont plus susceptibles d’être des hommes. Le
mouvement syndical a également quelques autres mesures à
recommander, mais puisqu’elles figurent toutes dans le
document, je vais conclure ici.

The Chair:  Ms. MacNeil and to the other witnesses, your
documents have been registered with the committee as official
documents.

Le président : Les documents que les témoins et vous,
madame MacNeil, avez présentés ont été inscrits comme
documents officiels du comité.

Senator Eaton:  Most of the people we’ve heard here, out
west and in our 12 hours of hearings in Ottawa, consider
themselves middle class. They’re small business owners. They’re
doctors. They’re farmers.

La sénatrice Eaton : La plupart des gens qui sont venus
témoigner, dans l’Ouest et pendant les 12 heures de séance que
nous avons tenues à Ottawa, considèrent faire partie de la classe
moyenne. Ce sont des petits entrepreneurs, des médecins, des
agriculteurs, et cetera.

What interested me about your presentation, Mr. Poschmann,
is that you said a yawning gap that’s emerged between tax rates
on small business income held within a corporation and
employment income earned by most other people. You don’t talk

Monsieur Poschmann, quelque chose a retenu mon attention
pendant votre exposé : ce que vous avez dit à propos du gouffre
béant qui s’est creusé entre le taux d’imposition sur le revenu des
petites entreprises détenu dans une société et le taux
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about most employed people, labour union people and certainly
civil servants having their benefits guaranteed. Whether it’s
maternity leave, pension benefits or sickness benefits, they’re
guaranteed.

d’imposition sur le revenu d’emploi de la plupart des
travailleurs. Vous n’avez rien dit au sujet du fait que la plupart
des employés, les gens du mouvement syndical et, en particulier,
les fonctionnaires ont des avantages assurés. Qu’on parle de
congé de maternité, des prestations de retraite ou des prestations
de maladie, les avantages sont assurés.

Most small income people or middle class people who are
self-employed don’t get benefits and take a risk. You don’t seem
to worry about that in your presentation.

La plupart des personnes à faible revenu ou des gens de la
classe moyenne qui sont travailleurs autonomes n’ont pas accès à
ces avantages en plus de devoir assumer des risques. Vous avez
passé cela sous silence dans votre exposé.

You admit in your presentation that for some business owners
passive investments are for retirement savings plans, provisions
for long-term health, leave or illness, and for them the more
appropriate axis of comparison is savings within a registered
savings plan. We know that you can’t withdraw money if you
have a downturn or a sickness and you need it. You can’t
withdraw without a penalty.

Vous avez reconnu, dans votre exposé, que pour certains
entrepreneurs, les placements passifs sont une forme de régime
d’épargne-retraite, de prestations en cas de soins de longue
durée, de congé ou de maladie. Dans leur situation, la
comparaison la plus appropriée est d’accumuler de l’argent dans
un régime enregistré d’épargne. Si les revenus baissent ou que la
personne tombe malade, elle ne pourrait pas retirer l’argent, nous
le savons. Elle ne pourrait pas retirer l’argent sans payer de
pénalité.

I wanted to ask you, Ms. MacNeil, about one of your
paragraphs where you talk about employment growth having
been sluggish, the employment rate having been slow to recover;
wages are stagnant, historically bad labour productivity in
Canada has been abysmal and by any measure corporate income
tax failed to achieve the rationale given in terms of a payoff in
economic and employment growth.

Madame MacNeil, je voulais qu’on discute du paragraphe où
vous dites que la croissance du taux d’emploi a été léthargique,
que le taux d’emploi peine à se redresser, que les salaires
stagnent, que la productivité du travail est d’une faiblesse sans
précédent au Canada, un creux abyssal, et que le taux
d’imposition sur le revenu des sociétés a échoué, à tous les
égards, de remplir les objectifs en matière de gains économiques
et d’emplois.

Now something I think we are all concerned about, and this is
non-partisan, is what would you recommend, both Mr.
Poschmann and Ms. MacNeil, to encourage growth? How do you
think the present government can encourage growth, higher
productivity, create more jobs, encourage Canada to take
advantage of CETA and hopefully if we go into the TPP, and
discourage doctors from fleeing across the border?

Je crois que cela est un sujet de préoccupation pour nous tous,
tous partis confondus. Monsieur Poschmann, madame MacNeil,
que recommanderiez-vous pour stimuler la croissance? Selon
vous, comment le gouvernement au pouvoir pourrait-il stimuler
la croissance, accroître la productivité, créer davantage
d’emplois, encourager les Canadiens à tirer parti de l’Accord
économique et commercial global et du Partenariat
transpacifique, si nous avons la chance d’en faire partie, et
dissuader les médecins de fuir chez nos voisins du Sud?

You both seem to support these tax measures, so can I hear
from either one of you?

Puisque vous semblez tous deux approuver les réformes
fiscales, j’aimerais connaître votre opinion sur le sujet.

Mr. Poschmann: I’m not sure I conveyed my thinking
entirely accurately, or it seems not so because while I agree with
some of the parts of the motivation for the changes I don’t think
that the proposed changes are appropriate.

M. Poschmann : On dirait que je n’ai pas tout à fait exprimé
convenablement ma pensée. Du moins, j’en ai l’impression, car
même si je suis en accord avec une partie de l’intention qui sous-
tend les modifications, je ne crois pas que les réformes proposées
conviennent.

As to how to compensate for risk, I think that is very
important. That’s why, for instance, in western economies we
allow the corporate forum with limited liability. In Canada and
in the provinces we have a small business deduction that allows a
substantially reduced corporate tax rate for small businesses.
Those are good things. The issue that has arisen is that because
of the gap between small business tax rate for income held

Je trouve qu’il est très important d’avoir des façons d’atténuer
les risques. C’est pourquoi, par exemple, dans les économies
occidentales, nous avons des sociétés à responsabilité limitée. Au
Canada et dans les provinces, la déduction accordée aux petites
entreprises leur permet de réduire considérablement leur taux
d’imposition. C’est une bonne chose. Le problème, c’est que
l’écart entre le taux d’imposition des petites entreprises
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within the corporate and the top marginal personal income tax
rate in Canada in many provinces we have created these
incentives for not very productive tax planning.

relativement au revenu conservé au sein de la société et le plus
haut taux d’imposition marginal du revenu personnel au Canada,
dans un bon nombre de provinces, a eu pour effet de pousser les
gens à faire de la planification fiscale qui est peu rentable pour le
Canada.

There are ways to address that and part of the mechanism
could include shrinking the gap between those two rates.
Because we do want to recognize risk and we do want to
recognize growth, building a small business is very difficult and
hard work indeed. Then it’s appropriate to have a preferred rate
and a small business deduction.

Il y a des façons de régler ce problème, et une partie de la
solution pourrait être de réduire l’écart entre ces deux taux. Le
fait est que nous voulons, bien sûr, que le risque soit pris en
considération et souhaitons encourager la croissance, parce que
fonder une petite entreprise représente un travail difficile et
acharné. Dans ce cas, c’est approprié de jouir d’un taux
préférentiel et d’une déduction.

When it comes to some of the issues that the prior panel
raised, it is relevant that one of the things the federal government
did at the beginning of 2016 was increase the top federal rate by
four percentage points. Meanwhile, Nova Scotia, New
Brunswick, Quebec and Ontario have very high top marginal tax
rates. Yes, that will affect medical professionals and, as Mr.
Wolsey mentioned, their thinking about which country they want
to live in. The provincial tax rate differences will affect, on the
margin, some of their decisions about which province they want
to work in.

Au sujet de certains enjeux soulevés par le groupe de témoins
précédent, je trouve pertinent que l’une des choses que le
gouvernement fédéral a entreprises au début de 2016 a été de
majorer le plus haut taux d’imposition fédérale de quatre points
de pourcentage. Parallèlement, les taux marginaux d’imposition
supérieure dans les provinces de la Nouvelle-Écosse, du
Nouveau-Brunswick, du Québec et de l’Ontario sont très élevés.
Cela va bien sûr avoir une incidence sur les professionnels de la
santé et, comme M. Wolsey l’a mentionné, influencer dans quel
pays ils veulent vivre. Les différents taux d’imposition
provinciaux vont aussi, à la limite, avoir un impact sur la
province dans laquelle ils souhaitent travailler.

The proposed changes do not help matters, but there is a
reason for the proposed changes. How we deal with them and
whether the proposals presented to us today are appropriate is a
different question. I don’t think federally we’ve got it right.

Les modifications proposées n’améliorent en rien la situation,
même s’il y a une justification sous-jacente. Comment pouvons-
nous régler le problème et est-ce que les modifications proposées
aujourd’hui conviennent? Ce sont deux questions différentes.
Selon moi, le gouvernement fédéral fait fausse route.

Ms. MacNeil:  It’s a pretty big question and honestly it
crosses so many different policy areas that we could be here for a
long time discussing them, but I’ll plug a couple of different
ideas.

Mme MacNeil : C’est une question très vaste, et
honnêtement, cela touche un si grand nombre de domaines
stratégiques qu’il nous faudrait énormément de temps pour faire
le tour de la question, mais je peux quand même lancer quelques
idées.

I would urge folks to look at jurisdictions that have
implemented living wage policies such as in the case of
municipalities and provinces that are prepared to do a $15
minimum wage, and on the federal level a federal minimum
wage for federally regulated industries.

Je vous conseillerais vivement de vous intéresser aux régions
administratives qui ont mis en œuvre des politiques sur le salaire
vital, par exemple les municipalités et les provinces qui sont
prêtes à instaurer le salaire minimum de 15 $ et, à l’échelon
fédéral, le salaire minimum pour les industries sous
réglementaire fédérale.

Senator Eaton:  How does that apply to independent small
businesses?

La sénatrice Eaton : Quel rapport cela a-t-il avec les petites
entreprises privées?

Ms. MacNeil:  That’s where I was going. In terms of
encouraging growth, higher productivity and more jobs there
does seem to be a virtuous cycle when we start putting money in
the pockets of lower income earners. These are the people that
spend the money in their communities on services and goods. I
would urge you to look at the work of the Better Way Alliance in
Ontario, a coalition of small business owners that have spoken

Mme MacNeil : J’y viens. Pour stimuler la croissance,
augmenter la productivité et créer des emplois, il semble que le
cycle vertueux est lancé lorsque nous donnons de l’argent aux
personnes à faible revenu. Ce sont les gens qui vont acheter des
services ou des biens dans leur collectivité. Je vous recommande
fortement de jeter un coup d’œil à ce qu’a fait la Better Way
Alliance en Ontario. Il s’agit d’une coalition de petits
entrepreneurs qui se sont prononcés en faveur de modifications
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out in favour of changes that would put more money in the
pockets of those workers.

qui laisseraient davantage d’argent dans les poches des
travailleurs.

As for small business owners, in particular some of the
physicians that have presented today, I would urge folks to take a
look at how we fund the education that physicians have to take. I
would urge folks to look at different policy solutions that are not
about the tax code. A number of the problems that have been
listed are genuine, certainly, but these should not be solved at the
expense of undermining a progressive tax system.

En ce qui concerne les petits entrepreneurs — et cela
s’applique particulièrement à certains des médecins qui ont
présenté un exposé aujourd’hui —, je recommanderais fortement
d’étudier la façon dont nous finançons la formation obligatoire
des médecins. Je recommanderais au plus haut point d’étudier
différentes solutions stratégiques autres que d’ordre fiscal.
J’admets qu’une partie des problèmes qui ont été évoqués sont
réels, mais on ne devrait pas chercher à les régler au détriment
d’un régime fiscal progressif.

Senator Eaton:  Unfortunately we are dealing with the tax
code. We are not dealing with minimum wage. We are not
dealing with guaranteed income. We are not dealing with
education costs. We are dealing with proposed loopholes to
income tax.

La sénatrice Eaton : Malheureusement, c’est du régime
fiscal dont il est question aujourd’hui. Nous ne sommes pas ici
pour discuter du salaire minimum ni du revenu garanti. Notre
étude porte non pas sur le coût des études, mais sur les
propositions visant à éliminer les échappatoires relativement à
l’impôt sur le revenu.

As you seem to be against them, how do you propose that we
grow, expand and create more jobs with these tax loopholes?

Comme vous semblez vous y opposer, que proposeriez-vous
pour nous permettre de croître, de prospérer et de créer des
emplois tout en conservant ces échappatoires fiscales?

Ms. MacNeil:  Yes, and I would argue that we need to
actually stop looking at the tax system as a policy panacea for
the problems that I listed.

Mme MacNeil : Oui, mais je soutiens que nous devons cesser
de croire que le régime fiscal offre la panacée politique qui
réglerait les problèmes que j’ai mentionnés.

Senator Eaton:  Thank you. La sénatrice Eaton : Merci.

The Chair:  Mr. Wolsey and Dr. Schmit, do you have any
comments on the question from Senator Eaton?

Le président : Monsieur Wolsey, docteur Schmit, avez-vous
des commentaires à faire par rapport à la question de la sénatrice
Eaton?

Dr. Schmit:  When it comes to physician education, as
physicians we are obliged to have a certain amount of continual
education hours per year. They are mandatory and for which we
are paying from our own pocket. We are also paying by being
out of the business we are doing. This means there is no income
and we are paying for it. It is something which happens every
year and there is no escape route or loophole to escape that.

Dr Schmit : En ce qui concerne la formation des médecins,
nous sommes obligés, en tant que médecins, de poursuivre notre
formation en y consacrant un certain nombre d’heures par année.
C’est obligatoire, et nous payons cela de notre poche. Nous
payons doublement, parce que nous ne travaillons pas pendant ce
moment-là. Donc, nous perdons du revenu et nous devons payer
pour la formation. C’est la même chose chaque année, et il n’y a
pas d’autres solutions ou d’échappatoires qui s’offrent à nous.

This is something that is very personal and ongoing. C’est un problème qui n’a pas de fin et qui nous touche de
façon très personnelle.

Senator Andreychuk:  I will not address my questions to Dr.
Schmit or Mr. Wolsey because I think your positions are clear. I
will continue to read them. They do follow what we’ve heard
from physicians and small businesses elsewhere.

La sénatrice Andreychuk : Je ne veux pas poser mes
questions au Dr Schmit ni à M. Wolsey, car il me semble que vos
positions sont claires. Je vais toutefois continuer de les lire, mais
il semble que vos mémoires concordent effectivement avec ce
que les médecins et les petits entrepreneurs dans d’autres régions
nous ont dit.

Some people asked why we have traveled, and we’ve said that
we are hearing a similar message across Canada in the context of
regions. That’s very important. While you may be a physician in
one place, you have the same skills but the environment is

Certaines personnes ont demandé pourquoi le comité a décidé
de se déplacer, et nous leur avons répondu que toutes les régions
du Canada semblent avoir une position similaire. C’est très loin
d’être anodin. Peu importe où vous pratiquez la médecine, vous
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different. The expectations are different. The problems are
different.

avez les mêmes compétences; c’est le contexte qui change. Ce
sont les attentes et les problèmes qui diffèrent.

I come from Saskatchewan so I know what medical problems
are there: rural, Aboriginal and northern. It is very difficult. We
have the highest HIV rates at the moment. That has an impact.
The basic message for physicians has been clear.

Je viens de la Saskatchewan, alors je sais quels sont nos
problèmes dans le domaine médical, dans les régions rurales,
dans les collectivités autochtones et les collectivités du Nord.
Nous affichons le plus haut taux de VIH actuellement. Cela a un
impact, et cela envoie un message général clair aux médecins.

Mr. Poschmann and Ms. MacNeil, what I hear both of you
saying in different ways is that we need changes. I think
everyone has agreed with that. We’re not as productive as we
should be. We’re not being as competitive as we should. We hear
of ministers going around the world and saying that small
business and medium size business are the backbone of our
country. They produce the jobs, not big industries or big
corporations.

Monsieur Poschmann, madame MacNeil, ce que j’ai compris
de ce que vous avez dit chacun à votre façon est que nous avons
besoin de changer les choses. Je crois que tout le monde s’entend
là-dessus. Nous ne sommes pas aussi productifs que nous
devrions l’être. Nous ne sommes pas aussi compétitifs que nous
devrions l’être. Nous entendons des histoires de ministres qui
font le tour du monde et qui disent que les petites et moyennes
entreprises sont la colonne vertébrale de la nation. Ce sont elles
qui créent des emplois, pas les grosses entreprises ou les grandes
sociétés.

The civil service could be another way but that hasn’t been the
way that most Canadians want to go. We want a valuable civil
service but we don’t want it to be the only source. We have an
innovation minister. We have an industry minister. They’re all
saying that we have to become more competitive and stronger.

J’imagine qu’une des solutions serait de nous tourner vers la
fonction publique, mais il semble que ce n’est pas ce que la
majorité des Canadiens désirent. Nous voulons une fonction
publique forte, mais il ne faut pas que ce soit l’unique source.
Nous avons un ministre de l’Innovation. Nous avons un ministre
de l’Industrie. Tous s’entendent pour dire que nous devons être
plus forts et plus compétitifs.

Am I right that what you’re saying is this piece alone isn’t
very helpful: We need to stand back and ask, “What will make
Canada productive?” What will produce jobs? We need to look
at the tax system totally because the tax system we have was one
I grew up with when we had landlines, when the most
sophisticated IT service we had was an electric typewriter, and
when the tax system started.

Ai-je raison de dire que ce qui est proposé, seul, ne nous
aidera pas beaucoup? Nous devons prendre du recul et nous
demander : « Comment améliorer la productivité au Canada? »
Qu’est-ce qui va stimuler l’emploi? Nous devons revoir notre
régime fiscal dans son ensemble, parce que le système que nous
avons actuellement était déjà en place dans ma jeunesse, à
l’époque où il n’y avait que des téléphones filaires et où la
machine à écrire électrique était le nec plus ultra de la TI. Le
régime fiscal est le produit de cette époque.

We’ve been cobbling, patchworking and band-aiding. What
we really need to do is stand back and take a look at the
incentives and the needs of the government. How do we grow the
economy? How do we make jobs more secure, et cetera? Are we
really talking about tax reform, standing back and doing a proper
tax reform?

Depuis, nous l’avons bricolé, nous en avons colmaté les fuites
et l’avons, essentiellement, fait tenir avec de la broche. Ce qu’il
nous faut vraiment faire, c’est prendre du recul et nous pencher
sur les incitatifs et les besoins gouvernementaux. Comment
pouvons-nous faire prospérer l’économie, améliorer la sécurité
d’emploi, et cetera? Il faut vraiment étudier la façon de réformer
le régime fiscal, il faut prendre du recul et faire les choses
correctement, est-ce bien cela?

Mr. Poschmann: A short answer is yes, that’s the theme. I
would like to see a broader tax review for some of the reasons I
mentioned. To choose one of them, for instance an expanded
RSP, is great for many salaried people but not everyone. It is not
ideal for small business owners. Other tools or different tools are
needed to better meet their needs. One of them, for example,
would be potentially hugely expanded contribution capacity to
TFSAs. That would allow you to accumulate tax recognized
savings to fund maternity, education or whatever. It’s quite

M. Poschmann : En bref, oui. Vous avez mentionné certaines
des raisons pour lesquelles j’aimerais que le régime fiscal soit
examiné dans son ensemble. L’une de ces raisons, par exemple,
est qu’un régime d’épargne-retraite élargi n’est pas souhaitable
pour tous, même si cela est très avantageux pour un grand
nombre de salariés. Pour les petits entrepreneurs, ce n’est pas
l’idéal. D’autres outils ou des outils différents conviendraient
mieux à leurs besoins. Entre autres, par exemple, il faudrait peut-
être augmenter de beaucoup la capacité à contribuer à un CELI.
Cela leur permettrait d’épargner de l’argent de façon
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neutral. People can make their own allocations as they see
appropriate.

avantageuse sur le plan fiscal afin d’avoir de l’argent en
prévision d’un congé de maternité, d’études futures ou d’autres
choses. C’est quelque chose de parfaitement neutre. Les gens
peuvent épargner comme ils le souhaitent.

Tax recognized savings, as we have them even with our ESPs,
simply are nowhere near the scale needed to adequately fund
high level graduate education, for instance. More tools are
needed.

Les régimes d’épargne fiscalement avantageux, comme nous
les avons avec nos régimes d’épargne-études, sont tout
simplement très loin d’être suffisants pour financer des études au
doctorat, par exemple. Nous avons besoin de davantage d’outils.

As to the productivity side, Ms. MacNeil from the labour
council, listed a lot of changes that we’ve made federally since
the turn of the century. It’s quite a list and an indictment. I think
it’s absolutely correct. However, I feel that most of the changes
were good things across a number of governments.

Par rapport à la productivité, la représentante du conseil du
travail, Mme MacNeil, a énuméré un grand nombre de réformes
adoptées par le gouvernement fédéral depuis le début du siècle.
C’est une longue liste, et cela met en lumière les torts. Je pense
qu’elle a absolument raison. Malgré tout, je crois que la majorité
des changements apportés ont été bénéfiques pour certains
gouvernements.

During the same period, in particular, we have made our
corporate income tax system or kept it quite competitive.
Notwithstanding slow productivity growth, we’ve generally had
positive real income growth over the course of the century.
We’ve had positive but low labour productivity growth. This was
in the face of just huge pressure owing to globalization across
sectors, changes in supply chains, different ways in which we
source inputs to the productive process, shifting away from the
goods sector to service sector, output and employment. Canada
overall has done pretty well globally, given all these rather huge
pressures.

En particulier, au cours de la même période, nous sommes
parvenus à ce que notre régime d’imposition sur le revenu des
sociétés soit très compétitif, ou à le garder ainsi. Malgré la
croissance lente de la productivité, la croissance du revenu réel
au cours du dernier siècle s’est avérée très positive. Nous avons
eu une croissance positive, mais lente, de la productivité du
travail. Nous devions composer alors avec la pression tout
simplement énorme de la mondialisation dans l’ensemble des
secteurs, la transformation des chaînes d’approvisionnement, les
nouvelles façons dont il faut trouver des fournisseurs pour la
production, la transition d’une économie axée sur les biens à une
économie axée sur les services, les extrants et l’emploi. Le
Canada s’en est très bien tiré dans l’ensemble face à ces
pressions énormes.

Can I promise or say that further reductions in the federal
corporate general income tax rate would improve investment in
machinery, equipment and productivity? No, I can’t claim that
with certainty. Could I claim that raising the general corporate
income tax rate would improve investment in machinery and
equipment and productivity? No, I don’t think so. There are a lot
of other issues at hand. To my mind, that bolsters the case for a
broader tax system review.

Si vous me demandez si je pourrais promettre ou affirmer qu’il
serait possible d’améliorer les investissements dans la
machinerie, l’équipement et la productivité si le gouvernement
fédéral réduisait davantage le taux d’imposition général des
sociétés, je ne pourrais pas vous donner une réponse positive
avec certitude, pas plus que je ne pourrais affirmer qu’une
augmentation du taux d’imposition général des sociétés
améliorerait les investissements dans la machinerie,
l’équipement et la productivité. J’en doute fort. Il y a une
myriade de choses à prendre en considération, et à mon avis, il
faudrait entreprendre un examen exhaustif du régime fiscal pour
tout démêler cela.

Ms. MacNeil: Yes, I would very much like to see further
steps taken. A broad review of our taxation system would be
welcomed by the labour council and by the Canadian Labour
Congress, but I’m wondering if I can ask you to reiterate the
question.

Mme MacNeil : Oui, j’aimerais vraiment que le processus
soit poussé plus loin. Notre conseil du travail et le Congrès du
travail du Canada accueilleraient favorablement un examen
global du régime fiscal. Excusez-moi, mais pourrais-je vous
demander de répéter votre question?

Senator Andreychuk:  Basically what I am saying is that
you’ve raised a lot of problems and put your own point of view
on them, but Senator Eaton pointed out we’re here looking at
what has caused such a vitriolic reaction from the people who are

La sénatrice Andreychuk : Essentiellement, ce que je dis,
c’est que vous avez mis en lumière un grand nombre de
programmes et que vous vous êtes prononcés sur eux, mais
comme la sénatrice Eaton l’a fait remarquer, nous sommes ici
pour étudier ce qui a causé une réaction si violente chez les gens
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being targeted. That’s not very constructive in a society. We
want to bring society together and work toward the same goal.

concernés. Ce n’est pas très constructif, d’un point de vue
sociétal. Ce que nous voulons, c’est que la société marche d’un
même pas vers le même but.

We’re not sure whether the targeted changes will produce
anything constructive. We see what’s happening and the unrest
and the uncertainty that it’s causing. Some witnesses before us
have said maybe we should step back and really look at a tax
system that is probably outdated and band-aided.

Nous ne sommes pas sûrs si les réformes proposées seront
constructives, au bout du compte. Ce que nous voyons, c’est
qu’elles semblent causer de l’agitation et de l’incertitude.
Certaines personnes qui sont venues témoigner nous ont dit que
nous devrions peut-être prendre du recul et examiner de façon
approfondie le régime fiscal, parce qu’il est probablement désuet
et mal rafistolé.

Wouldn’t it be better to put us all at the table to look to the
future? Do you think that is a good approach?

Ne serait-il pas mieux d’étudier tous ensemble la question afin
de préparer l’avenir? Croyez-vous que ce serait une bonne
approche?

Ms. MacNeil:  I’ll start with the principle in saying I believe
in a system that has us pay what we can each afford to pay,
certainly. Those who have been privileged under the system have
a high enough income level that they can take advantage of some
of those privileges and loopholes. They will certainly not be
happy when those things are taken away.

Mme MacNeil : Je vais commencer par dire que, en principe,
le système auquel je fais confiance est un système où nous
payons tous ce que nous pouvons payer. Cela ne fait aucun
doute. Les mieux nantis, dans ce système, ont un revenu
suffisamment élevé pour exploiter les avantages et les
échappatoires du système. Il est clair qu’ils ne se réjouiront pas
de se les faire enlever.

Is there a change that will make absolutely everybody happy?
I mean maybe not, but I appreciate that there have been some
proposals taken that are pretty bold. I would argue that some of
them don’t necessarily go far enough. There are some changes
that the labour movement and I would agree are important but
aren’t necessarily on the table.

Serait-il possible d’avoir une réforme qui satisferait tout le
monde? J’en doute, voyez-vous, mais j’ai été contente de voir
que certaines des modifications proposées étaient plutôt
audacieuses. J’irais jusqu’à dire que certaines d’entre elles ne
vont pas assez loin. Le mouvement syndical et moi-même
sommes d’avis qu’il y a certains changements importants à faire,
mais ils n’ont pas nécessairement été proposés.

In summary, I very much support the principle of a solidaristic
progressive taxation system, and I will continue to defend that.

En résumé, je suis grandement en faveur d’un régime fiscal
progressif fondé sur le principe de la solidarité et je vais
continuer à le défendre.

Senator Andreychuk: I won’t pursue it because we haven’t
heard anyone say they’re not against a progressive system.
We’re having a problem with defining terms like fairness and
fair share, those kinds of terms. We’re hearing that it will get
more complicated. It will be more costly to interpret the rules. I
don’t think we are against a progressive system.

La sénatrice Andreychuk : Je vais m’en tenir à cela, parce
que jusqu’ici, personne ne s’est opposé à un régime progressif.
Le problème tient plus à la définition de certaines expressions,
par exemple l’équité et la juste part. Ce qu’on nous dit, c’est que
les choses vont devenir plus compliquées. Il deviendra plus
onéreux d’interpréter les règles. Je ne crois pas que nous nous
opposions à un régime progressif, ici.

Mr. Poschmann, I have one further question. We raised the top
corporate rate. It was supposed to produce income for the
government, and I understand it didn’t. It didn’t reach their
targets at all.

Monsieur Poschmann, j’ai une dernière question. Nous avons
augmenté le taux d’imposition maximum des entreprises. On
prévoyait que cela allait augmenter les recettes du gouvernement,
mais d’après ce que j’en sais, cela n’a pas été le cas. Nous avons
raté la cible, et de beaucoup.

Is this the way to go, to look at those that can pay more at the
top? It was politically favourable but it didn’t produce the
income.

Sommes-nous sur la bonne voie, en mettant l’accent sur le
haut de la pyramide, ceux qui peuvent payer davantage? Sur le
plan politique, cela a bien été perçu, mais les recettes ont été
décevantes.
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Mr. Poschmann: If I hear you correctly I believe you’re
referring to events that straddled the election when the federal
government reversed, proposed or declined by half a percentage
point the general corporate rate.

M. Poschmann : Si je vous comprends bien, je crois que vous
parlez de ce qui s’est passé pendant les élections avec le demi-
point de pourcentage pour le taux d’imposition général des
sociétés. Le gouvernement fédéral a fait marche arrière, a
proposé cela ou l’a rejeté.

Senator Andreychuk:  Right. La sénatrice Andreychuk : C’est cela.

Mr. Poschmann:  The evidence is extremely mixed. Over
time we have a lot of data across countries that refers to or
attempts to analyze the impact of changes, particularly in the
corporation income tax rate, on what happens to output, income,
employment, growth and so on. I have read hundreds of papers
on this topic. I have commissioned them, reviewed, revised and
advised on them. The answer is pretty much a mixed bag, but in
part that is because a lot of things are going on at the same time.

M. Poschmann : Les données sont loin d’être uniformes.
Nous avons recueilli beaucoup de données au fil du temps dans
un grand nombre de pays afin d’analyser — ou de tenter
d’analyser — les impacts de ces changements, en particulier en
ce qui concerne le taux d’imposition sur le revenu des sociétés et
l’incidence sur les résultats, le revenu, le taux d’emploi, la
croissance, et cetera. J’ai lu des centaines d’études sur le sujet.
J’en ai commandé moi-même, j’en ai évalué, j’en ai révisé et j’ai
aussi fourni des conseils à ce sujet. Les réponses vont dans un
sens comme dans l’autre, mais c’est en partie parce qu’il y a
beaucoup de choses qui se passent en même temps.

The composition of the economy is changing. The role of
intellectual property, or more broadly intangible assets in the
composition of the asset base of the firm, has changed hugely in
the past couple of decades. There are a lot of moving pieces.

Les composantes de l’économie sont en train de changer. Le
rôle de la propriété intellectuelle ou, de façon plus générale, de
l’actif incorporel dans l’actif d’une société a beaucoup évolué au
cours des deux ou trois dernières décennies. La situation est très
complexe.

Governments and government policy is not necessarily good at
producing growth but we’re pretty good at stalling it out. That’s
something that I’d like to emphasize.

Les gouvernements, avec leurs politiques, ne sont pas
vraiment très efficaces pour ce qui est de stimuler la croissance,
mais ils sont assez efficaces pour la freiner. Je tiens à insister là-
dessus.

Another point, if I may, going back to an earlier comment with
respect to some of the vitriol that has emerged in the context of
this tax policy discussion, if you provoke class warfare there is a
small possibility that is what you get.

Une autre chose que je veux dire, si vous me le permettez,
relativement à ce qui a été dit un peu plus tôt à propos de la
virulence entourant la discussion sur la politique fiscale en
question, c’est que lorsque vous attisez la lutte des classes, c’est
toujours un résultat possible, dans une moindre mesure.

Senator Neufeld:  Thank you very much to all four of you for
your presentations. Many of my questions have been asked and
answered, but I get from each one of you that you would
recommend holding off on any changes and doing a review of
the whole tax system. What we’re facing today and have been
for quite a while is a whole change in global economy, in trade
and all kinds of things between countries from the last time the
tax system was reviewed.

Le sénateur Neufeld : Merci beaucoup aux quatre témoins de
nous avoir présenté vos exposés. Beaucoup de mes questions ont
déjà été posées et ont trouvé réponse, mais ce que je retiens de ce
que vous avez dit tous les quatre, c’est que nous devrions
attendre avant de mettre en œuvre des changements, peu importe
lesquels, et entreprendre un examen global du régime fiscal.
Depuis le dernier examen du régime fiscal, nous sommes aux
prises, aujourd’hui, et depuis un bon moment, avec une
transformation généralisée de l’économie mondiale, dans les
échanges commerciaux et toutes les choses qui entrent en ligne
de compte dans la relation entre les pays.

Would you agree with me that we should say whoa to the
government instead of doing it in the dark of night in July,
saying you’re going to put it in by the next year and not giving
all the information? Instead of a kind of a 50,000-foot level to
get everybody worrying and actually changing how they invest
and what they do, do you think that it would be the right thing to
do?

Êtes-vous d’accord avec moi pour dire que nous devrions dire
« attendez un peu » au gouvernement au lieu d’agir au beau
milieu de la nuit, en juillet, de façon à ce que tout soit mis en
œuvre l’année suivante de façon occulte? Au lieu de prendre les
gens de haut, de les inquiéter et de les pousser à changer la façon
dont ils investissent et se comportent... croyez-vous que ce soit la
bonne façon de faire les choses?
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Mr. Poschmann: In order to give other participants time to
speak, I’ll keep my answer to yes.

M. Poschmann : Dans le but de laisser aux autres participants
du temps pour parler, pour toute réponse, je m’en tiendrai à
« oui ».

Dr. Schmit:  It’s a mixed feeling because frequently the
government will say that they are changing that first and will
take care of the rest later, and in fact the later part never comes.

M. Schmit : C’est un sentiment partagé parce que, souvent, le
gouvernement affirme qu’il va changer ceci d’abord, puis qu’il
s’occupera du reste plus tard, mais, en fait, la dernière partie
n’arrive jamais.

I would say yes, please hold on but hold on for everything. If
you want to make a reform, if you want to change the taxes,
change everything at the same time, every single tax.

Je dirais « oui », veuillez attendre, mais ne changez rien pour
l’instant. Si vous voulez procéder à une réforme, si vous voulez
modifier les impôts, changez tout en même temps, chacune des
composantes.

Mr. Wolsey:  For me, an overwhelming yes. The last time the
tax system was been changed was in 1972. Business has changed
and the act needs to be. There has been a series of patches put on
patches, as I said earlier. It’s time to go back and start all over, to
see what should be changed, to see what the policy is behind it,
and to change the act so that there is not unintended income tax
consequences.

M. Wolsey : Dans mon cas, c’est un « oui » retentissant. La
dernière fois que le système fiscal a été modifié, c’était en 1972.
La façon de faire des affaires est aujourd’hui différente, et la loi
doit être modifiée. On a changé un tas de pièces, comme je l’ai
dit plus tôt. Le temps est venu de retourner en arrière et de tout
recommencer, pour voir ce qui devrait être modifié et sur quelle
politique nous nous appuyons, et de modifier la loi de manière à
ce qu’il n’y ait pas de conséquences imprévues relativement à
l’impôt sur le revenu.

Ms. MacNeil:  No, absolutely not. While I would welcome
further steps taken in addition to these, we should not delay in
implementing these particular changes. When it comes to the
three ways that CCPCs are used to avoid higher levels of
taxation, specifically the income sprinkling, the ability to exploit
capital gains and passive investing, these particular items cost
Canadians $500 million a year in forgone tax revenue. That is
something we cannot delay on implementing.

Mme MacNeil : Non, absolument pas. Même si j’accueillais
favorablement la prise d’autres mesures s’ajoutant à celles-ci,
nous ne devrions pas retarder la mise en œuvre de ces
modifications particulières. Pour ce qui est des trois manières
dont on utilise les SPCC pour éviter des taux d’imposition
élevés, plus précisément la répartition du revenu, l’exploitation
des gains en capital et l’investissement passif, ces éléments
particuliers coûtent aux Canadiens 500 millions de dollars par
année en recettes fiscales perdues. C’est quelque chose dont nous
ne pouvons pas reporter la mise en œuvre.

I do believe that a number of stakeholders would want to see
this delayed, but I would recommend pursuing these changes
without delay.

Je crois qu’un certain nombre d’intervenants voudraient voir
ce projet retardé, mais je recommanderais que l’on applique ces
modifications sans tarder.

Senator Neufeld:  Thank you. I appreciate those responses.
Further to Ms. MacNeil, about leaving the changes that are in
place, $250 million is a lot of money to me. I don’t disagree.
That’s what the government thinks they’ll get out of what they
call income sprinkling. I think it’s income sharing but income
sprinkling.

Le sénateur Neufeld : Merci. J’apprécie ces réponses. Pour
donner suite aux propos de Mme MacNeil, qui conseille de
garder les changements qui sont en place, 250 millions de
dollars, c’est beaucoup d’argent, à mes yeux. Je ne suis pas en
désaccord. C’est la somme que le gouvernement pense retirer de
ce qu’il appelle la répartition du revenu. Je pense qu’il s’agit
d’un partage des revenus, mais on dit « répartition du revenu ».

In a $300 billion budget, $250 million is not a very big part of
it. That’s the estimated revenue. That is not the estimated cost of
actually collecting that revenue. You can reduce that from $250
million down significantly because I think the government would
be able to go out and hire a bunch more people to actually figure
out how to collect the $250 million.

Une somme 250 millions de dollars ne constitue pas une très
grande partie d’un budget de 300 milliards de dollars. Voilà le
revenu estimatif. Il ne s’agit pas du coût estimatif lié à la collecte
de ce revenu. On peut réduire cette somme de 250 millions de
dollars de façon importante parce que je pense que le
gouvernement pourrait aller embaucher un tas de gens de plus
afin qu’ils découvrent comment recueillir les 250 millions de
dollars.
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I don’t know how you feel about that comparison of $250
million compared to a $300 billion budget, to cherry-pick just a
few things out of the whole tax code that has not been changed
for decades. Is it the proper thing to do? I just want to get your
feeling on that.

Je ne sais pas ce que vous pensez de cette comparaison entre la
somme de 250 millions de dollars et le budget de 300 milliards
de dollars, du fait qu’on choisit seulement les quelques éléments
qui font notre affaire dans l’ensemble du code fiscal, qui n’a pas
été modifié depuis des décennies. Est-ce ce qu’il convient de
faire? Je veux seulement obtenir votre opinion à ce sujet.

Ms. MacNeil:  Certainly any change that is brought forward
does have a front end cost with implementation but we’re also
looking at the effects of changes over the years. I do believe that
as a few first steps. The longer we delay this, the same argument
can get brought up year after year.

Mme MacNeil : Il est certain que toute modification qui est
apportée a un coût initial lié à sa mise en œuvre, mais nous
étudions également les effets des modifications au fil des ans. Je
crois qu’il s’agit de premiers pas vers l’avant. Si nous retardons
cette mise en œuvre, le même argument pourra être soulevé
année après année.

Senator Neufeld:  I hadn’t heard the argument until last July.
That’s the interesting thing for me. That’s when the argument
came out from the government all of a sudden in July saying that
they were to make these changes to certain parts of the Income
Tax Act and used all kinds of negative language until they found
out that maybe that wasn’t the smartest thing to say or to do.

Le sénateur Neufeld : Je n’avais pas entendu cet argument
avant le mois de juillet dernier. C’est ce qui est intéressant, à
mes yeux. C’est le moment où l’argument a été formulé, en
juillet, par le gouvernement, qui s’est soudainement mis à dire
qu’il allait apporter ces modifications à certaines parties de la
Loi de l’impôt sur le revenu et qui a utilisé toutes sortes de
termes négatifs jusqu’à ce qu’il découvre que ce n’était peut-être
pas la chose la plus intelligente à dire ou à faire.

Anyhow, I think I have the answers to the questions that I had.
I think other questions were asked prior to mine.

Quoi qu’il en soit, je pense avoir les réponses aux questions
que je me posais. Je pense que d’autres questions ont été posées
avant la mienne.

Senator Oh:  Thank you, witnesses. This tax reform was
introduced in the summer, in early July. By September the
government was to go ahead with tax reform. Some 22,000 or
more submissions were submitted by Canadians that tell you
there is much concern about this tax reform, and the government
is going to put it through.

Le sénateur Oh : Merci, chers témoins. Cette réforme fiscale
a été présentée durant l’été, au début de juillet. Au mois de
septembre, le gouvernement devait aller de l’avant. Quelque
22 000 mémoires ou plus ont été présentés par des Canadiens qui
vous font part de leurs nombreuses craintes au sujet de cette
réforme fiscale, mais le gouvernement va la faire adopter.

In less than three months, including summer holiday of some
of the ministers, including lots of civil servants being away from
Ottawa and on holidays, who has gone through 22,000 or more
submissions? Is that fair? They are the voice of Canadians,
hardworking Canadians from farmers to doctors to small
business owners?

En moins de trois mois, y compris les vacances d’été de
certains des ministres et de nombreux fonctionnaires qui étaient
à l’extérieur d’Ottawa, qui a feuilleté 22 000 mémoires ou plus?
Est-ce juste? Ils présentent le témoignage de Canadiens qui
travaillent fort, des agriculteurs aux médecins, en passant par les
propriétaires de petites entreprises.

What has happened? Do you think it’s fair to ram this through
under tax reform without a proper, comprehensive study?

Que s’est-il passé? Pensez-vous qu’il soit juste que l’on fasse
adopter à toute vitesse cette réforme fiscale sans procéder à une
étude complète et appropriée?

Mr. Poschmann: The timeline and the timing were very short
for potentially significant changes. That said, I’ve seen worse,
but let me answer in another way by way of an example.

M. Poschmann : L’échéancier et le délai étaient très courts
pour qu’on procède à des changements potentiellement
importants. Cela dit, j’ai vu pire, mais laissez-moi répondre
d’une autre manière au moyen d’un exemple.

In the spring 2007 budget then Finance Minister James M.
Flaherty introduced an international tax proposal that was
greeted with some shock by the business community. It turned
out that the impact seemed to be far larger and more painful than
the finance department had imagined at the time. To paraphrase,
the prime minister said to the finance minister, “You’ve got a
problem. Do you want to fix it?”

Dans le budget du printemps 2007, le ministre des Finances de
l’époque, James M. Flaherty, a présenté une proposition fiscale
internationale qui a secoué le milieu des affaires. Il s’est avéré
que les conséquences semblaient être bien plus importantes et
bien plus dommageables que ne l’avait imaginé le ministère des
Finances à l’époque. Pour paraphraser, le premier ministre avait
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dit au ministre des Finances : « Vous avez un problème. Voulez-
vous le corriger? »

He appointed an international tax review panel on which I
served. We worked for months and came up with a set of trade-
offs, some tightening the tax system and some liberalizing. We
thought it was a fair set of trade-offs. They were relatively and
easily legislatable. Over the course of a few budgets, including
straddling an election when we didn’t know what the outcome
would be, we got those pieces in place. It can be done.

Il a nommé un comité d’examen international de la fiscalité,
dont j’ai fait partie. Nous avons travaillé pendant des mois et en
sommes arrivés à un ensemble de compromis, dont certains
durcissaient le régime fiscal, et d’autres, l’assouplissaient. Nous
pensions qu’il s’agissait d’un ensemble de compromis équitable.
Ils étaient relativement faciles à légiférer. Au fil de quelques
budgets, à l’aube d’une élection, dont nous ne connaissions pas
le résultat, nous avons mis ces éléments en place. C’est faisable.

Dr. Schmit:  It was quite a shock to learn the way we learned
of the changes. What I hear from the other witnesses is that he
was participating in a process to try to correct something. It is
always better to try to think forward than to try to correct, do
something and after try to patch.

M. Schmit : C’était tout un choc que d’apprendre l’existence
des modifications comme nous l’avons fait. Ce que j’entends les
autres témoins dire, c’est que le processus visait à corriger
quelque chose. Il vaut toujours mieux tenter d’être prévoyant que
de tenter de corriger le passé : faire quelque chose et, après,
tenter d’apporter des correctifs.

Mr. Wolsey:  Since July 18 I have heard there have been
21,000 submissions. Members of my firm and I have submitted
about a half dozen of those. Since that time, on October 16, two
of the four tax proposals were supposed to be implemented.
Actually one was actually implemented on July 18 to pass the
conversion of income to capital gains. The government did a 180
on it and reversed that.

M. Wolsey : J’ai entendu dire que 21 000 mémoires ont été
présentés depuis le 18 juillet. Les membres de ma société et moi-
même en avons soumis environ une demi-douzaine. Depuis le
16 octobre, deux des quatre propositions fiscales étaient censées
avoir été mises en œuvre. En fait, on en a mis une en œuvre le
18 juillet afin de faire adopter la conversion du revenu en gains
en capital. Le gouvernement a fait un virage à 180 degrés à cet
égard et changé son fusil d’épaule.

We need sober second thought. If we want to do tax reform,
I’m all for that. Let’s think about it. Let’s do it intelligently.
Let’s not try to fix one problem perceived but only to create five
more, which is exactly what we’re doing.

Nous avons besoin d’un second examen objectif. Si nous
voulons procéder à une réforme fiscale, je suis tout à fait
favorable à cela. Réfléchissons-y. Faisons-le intelligemment. Ne
tentons pas de corriger un problème perçu, seulement pour en
provoquer cinq de plus, et c’est exactement ce que nous sommes
en train de faire.

With the sheer number of submissions by Canadians across
Canada, to me it’s overwhelmingly clear that something is not
right. Have we ever heard in our lifetime how many times for
something the government has done there has been that much
pushback? I can’t remember it. I’m 48. Not in my lifetime, not
that I know of anyway. Maybe in earlier years but I’m not sure.

Compte tenu du nombre effarant de mémoires présentés par
des Canadiens de partout au pays, à mes yeux, il est extrêmement
clair que quelque chose ne va pas. Dans toute notre vie, avons-
nous déjà entendu parler d’un projet du gouvernement qui a
suscité autant d’opposition? Je n’arrive pas à me rappeler une
telle situation. J’ai 48 ans. Je n’ai jamais vu ça, pas à ma
connaissance, du moins. Peut-être par le passé, mais je n’en suis
pas certain.

I really think there should be some tax reform. I agree but let’s
start back at the drawing board.

Je pense vraiment qu’il devrait y avoir une certaine réforme
fiscale. Je suis d’accord, mais retournons à l’étape de la planche
à dessin.

Ms. MacNeil: No, I would say that the 3.5 million union
members across the country, as represented by the Labour
Congress, and I have been lobbying and advocating for tax
fairness changes such as these for a long time. The timeline does
seem appropriate to us.

Mme MacNeil : Non, je dirais que les 3,5 millions de
membres de partout au pays, représentés par le congrès du travail
et moi-même exerçons des pressions en faveur de modifications
visant l’équité fiscale comme celles-ci depuis longtemps. Le
moment nous semble opportun.
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Senator Oh:  When the Income Tax Act first came out there
were six pages. Now there are over 3,000 pages. We went across
the country and all Canadians agreed that it has been over 40
years since the Carter commission reviewed the Income Tax Act.

Le sénateur Oh : Quand la Loi de l’impôt sur le revenu a été
adoptée, il y avait six pages. Maintenant, il y en a plus de 3 000.
Nous avons parcouru le pays, et tous les Canadiens s’entendent
pour dire que cela fait plus de 40 ans que la commission Carter a
examiné la Loi de l’impôt sur le revenu.

People agree that at this time there could be a review of the
Income Tax Act but the thing is that it’s not a makeshift
operation for three months. People want a fair tax base for all
Canadians. We have a lot of hardworking farmers and small
businesses. Those are the biggest employee/employer, job and
investment creators, and they are honest. Hardworking people
agree that they also pay their fair tax.

Les gens sont d’accord pour dire qu’actuellement, la Loi de
l’impôt sur le revenu pourrait être soumise à un examen, mais le
problème tient au fait qu’il ne peut pas s’agir d’une opération
improvisée d’une durée de trois mois. Les gens veulent une
assiette fiscale équitable pour tous les Canadiens. Nous
comptons beaucoup d’agriculteurs qui travaillent dur et de
petites entreprises. Ce sont les plus importants employés/
employeurs, créateurs d’emplois et d’investissements, et ils sont
honnêtes. Les gens qui travaillent fort sont d’accord pour dire
qu’ils doivent également payer leur juste part d’impôt.

We still have a lot of rich people in Canada that have accounts
set up somewhere else. We should go after that 1 per cent or
more. You will get more money out from 200 and some million,
as my fellow senators say, by the time you deduct all the costs.

Au Canada, nous avons tout de même beaucoup de gens riches
qui ont des comptes ouverts ailleurs. Nous devrions nous
attaquer à ce 1 p. 100 et plus. Vous obtiendrez plus d’argent que
dans le cas des quelque 200 millions, comme le disent mes
collègues sénateurs, après avoir déduit tous les coûts.

I want your comments on whatever I said, please. Je veux obtenir vos commentaires sur tout ce que j’ai pu dire,
s’il vous plaît.

The Chair:  Are there any comments from the panel? If not,
that was a good comment, Senator Oh.

Le président : Les témoins ont-ils des commentaires à
formuler? Sinon, c’était un bon commentaire, monsieur le
sénateur Oh.

Senator Eaton:  I’d like you to say yes, you agree with it or
no, you don’t. When Minister Morneau has come before us, he
has constantly talked about tax fairness. This is all about tax
fairness. I was wondering if in the country we should be
concentrating on equal opportunity but perhaps not equal
outcome. Do we really think there will ever be an equal outcome
or should we really concentrate our money, our energy and our
time on equal opportunity?

Le sénateur Eaton : Je voudrais que vous disiez que, oui,
vous êtes en faveur de la réforme ou que, non, vous ne l’êtes pas.
Quand le ministre Morneau a comparu devant nous, il a parlé
constamment de l’équité fiscale. C’est d’équité fiscale qu’il est
question. Je me demandais si, au pays, nous devrions nous
concentrer sur l’égalité des chances, mais peut-être pas sur
l’égalité des résultats. Pensons-nous vraiment qu’il y aura un
jour un résultat égal, ou bien devrions-nous en réalité concentrer
notre argent, notre énergie et notre temps sur l’égalité des
chances?

Mr. Poschmann: Fairness is a dangerous or difficult thing to
handle, especially when we convert it to what economists call
vertical equity. It’s not necessary clear how one implements that
in anything other than some sort of political accommodation
which is what the process is for. There is not much guidance on
that front in economics or public finance.

M. Poschmann : L’équité est une chose dangereuse ou
difficile à traiter, surtout si nous parlons de ce que les
économistes appellent l’équité verticale. La façon de la mettre en
œuvre dans quoi que ce soit d’autre qu’un genre
d’accommodement politique — et c’est à cela que sert le
processus — n’est pas nécessairement claire, et il n’y a pas
beaucoup de consignes sur ce plan dans les domaines de
l’économie ou des finances publiques.

Senator Eaton:  Should the tax system create equal
opportunity or should it create equal outcomes or can it actually
create equal outcomes?

Le sénateur Eaton : Le régime fiscal devrait-il créer l’égalité
des chances ou l’égalité des résultats, ou bien peut-il vraiment
créer une égalité des résultats?

Mr. Poschmann:  The short answer is no, the tax system
can’t because in response to a given set of conditions people will
always make decisions about whether and how they consume,

M. Poschmann : La réponse courte, c’est non, le régime
fiscal ne le peut pas, parce qu’en réaction à un ensemble de
conditions données, les gens prendront toujours la décision de
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save or spend, and that will change what they have available for
saving, investment or consumption a day, a week or a month
later.

consommer ou non — d’une manière ou d’une autre —,
d’épargner ou de dépenser, et ces décisions changeront la somme
dont ils disposent à des fins d’économie, d’investissement ou de
consommation un jour, une semaine ou un mois plus tard.

No, we can’t guarantee equal outcomes, but we can come up
with a neutral starting basis.

Non, nous ne pouvons pas garantir l’égalité des résultats, mais
nous pouvons trouver un point de départ neutre.

Dr. Schmit:  I did not know what was the meaning of
fairness. I looked in a dictionary and read that fairness refers to a
condition free from bias or injustice.

M. Schmit : Je ne connaissais pas la signification du terme
« équité ». J’ai consulté un dictionnaire, et j’y ai lu que l’équité
désigne une situation sans parti pris, sans biais ni injustice.

One of the questions is regarding what is justice and what is a
bias? I think I can understand bias. From my scientific
background as an observer, I am introducing bias into the
experiment. I have a bias in my presentation because I will be
impacted by the changes.

On peut se demander ce qu’est la justice et ce qu’est un parti
pris ou biais. Je pense pouvoir comprendre le biais. En raison de
mes antécédents scientifiques, en tant qu’observateur, j’introduis
la notion de biais dans l’équation. J’ai moi-même un parti pris au
moment de présenter mon exposé, parce que je serai touché par
les modifications.

As was mentioned by one of the senators, you have to put
things in perspective if you are going after me for a certain
amount of money.

Comme l’un des sénateurs l’a mentionné, vous devez mettre
les choses en perspective si vous avez l’intention de me soutirer
une certaine somme d’argent.

Senator Eaton:  I just want a yes or no. Do you think the tax
system is there to create fairness or to create equal opportunity?

Le sénateur Eaton : Je veux seulement un « oui » ou un
« non ». Pensez-vous que le régime fiscal est là pour créer une
équité ou une égalité des chances?

Dr. Schmit:  It is there to make people think there is fairness. M. Schmit : Il est là pour faire croire aux gens qu’il y a une
équité.

Mr. Wolsey:  The federal government is confusing equal
versus fair. I think there is a very big difference between those
two. In the July 18 proposal they compared two neighbours, one
being self-employed and incorporated, and the other being an
employee. They were saying they had the exact same amount of
income so they should pay the exact same amount of tax. I don’t
believe that’s fair.

M. Wolsey : Le gouvernement fédéral confond l’égalité et
l’équité. Je pense qu’il y a une grosse différence entre les deux.
Dans la proposition du 18 juillet, il comparait deux voisins, l’un
étant travailleur indépendant et constitué en société, et l’autre
étant employé. Il affirmait qu’ils touchaient exactement le même
revenu, alors ils devraient payer exactement la même somme
d’impôt. Je ne pense pas que ce soit équitable.

It may be equal, meaning the same outcome, but it’s not fair
for that same outcome to occur simply because the person who is
a small business owner is taking on risk that an employee is not.
The employee shows up for work every day. They have to do
their job and they no doubt will get paid their paycheque at the
end of next week. As a small business owner, income fluctuates.
There could be a downturn. They could have losses. The whole
family is at risk. Some families put up their homes.

C’est peut-être égal, c’est-à-dire que le résultat est le même,
mais il n’est pas équitable que le même résultat se produise,
simplement parce que la personne qui est propriétaire d’une
petite entreprise court un risque qu’un employé ne prend pas.
L’employé se présente au travail tous les jours. Il doit accomplir
ses tâches et recevra sans aucun doute son chèque de paie à la fin
de la semaine suivante. Les revenus d’un propriétaire de petite
entreprise varient. Il pourrait y avoir un ralentissement. Il
pourrait y avoir des pertes. Toute la famille est à risque.
Certaines familles hypothèquent leur maison.

The whole argument of equal versus fair is the foundation of
why these proposed tax changes are wrong. Hopefully through
real consultation that will get corrected.

Toute la question de l’égalité par rapport à l’équité, voilà
pourquoi ces changements fiscaux proposés sont mauvais.
Espérons que, grâce à de vraies consultations, ces éléments
seront corrigés.

Ms. MacNeil:  I would like to say that the issue of
opportunity versus equality is not solely a tax issue. It goes
beyond the tax system and into other policy areas for sure.

Mme MacNeil : Je voudrais dire que la question des chances
par rapport à l’égalité touche non seulement le régime fiscal,
mais aussi d’autres domaines stratégiques, c’est certain.
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Our ability to deal with those areas of justice and equality of
opportunity depend on there being a robust and fair tax system.
For example, outcomes could include things like pay equity and
the fact that Canadian women make, on average, 80 per cent.

Notre capacité de régler les problèmes liés à la justice et à
l’égalité des chances dépend de l’existence d’un régime fiscal
solide et équitable. Par exemple, les résultats pourraient
comprendre des choses comme l’équité salariale... car les
Canadiennes touchent en moyenne 80 p. 100 du salaire d’un
Canadien.

Senator Andreychuk:  That is not the question. La sénatrice Andreychuk : Là n’est pas la question.

Ms. MacNeil:  Yes, but it does relate to it. I will say that to
start to address that we can do things like close the tax loopholes
for the wealthy and make the system fairer.

Mme MacNeil : Oui, mais c’est lié. Je dirai que, pour
commencer à régler ce problème, nous pouvons faire des choses
comme refermer les échappatoires fiscales pour les riches et
rendre le régime plus équitable.

Senator Andreychuk:  I’ll make a short comment. I think it
was Lewis Carroll who said, “Words mean exactly what I intend
them to mean; nothing more, nothing less.”

La sénatrice Andreychuk : Je vais formuler un court
commentaire. Je pense que c’est Lewis Carroll qui a dit : « Les
mots veulent dire exactement ce que je veux leur faire dire; rien
de plus, rien de moins. »

I struggle with what is fairness, what is justice, what is middle
class, and all of those terms that have been bandied around. I talk
to people who make a certain amount of money and they think
the middle class. The next person says, “I’m not middle class.”
They may be lower middle class, upper middle class or may not
even be there, yet they’re making the same income.

J’ai de la difficulté à déterminer ce qu’est l’équité, ce qu’est la
justice, ce qu’est la classe moyenne, et tous ces termes qui
circulent. Je parle à des gens qui touchent une certaine somme
d’argent, et ils pensent faire partie de la classe moyenne. La
personne suivante dit : « Je ne fais pas partie de la classe
moyenne. » Elles pourraient appartenir à la classe moyenne de
second rang ou à celle du premier rang, ou elles pourraient ne
même pas en faire partie, pourtant, elles touchent le même
revenu.

It’s a very personal judgment call. What concerns me is that
we’re moving it into a CRA officer making a judgment about
what is fair. It is in a social context rather than in a tax context
because you’re evaluating families and contributions. If any of
you have an answer that you want to add, we’d appreciate it in
writing.

C’est un jugement très personnel. Ce qui me préoccupe, c’est
que nous donnons à un agent de l’ARC le pouvoir de porter un
jugement au sujet de ce qui est équitable. C’est dans un contexte
social plutôt que fiscal, car on évalue des familles et des
cotisations. S’il y en a parmi vous qui ont une réponse qu’ils
veulent ajouter, nous serons heureux de la recevoir par écrit.

Ms. MacNeil, I guess you live here in Nova Scotia, right? Madame MacNeil, je suppose que vous vivez ici, en Nouvelle-
Écosse, n’est-ce pas?

Ms. MacNeil:  I do, yes. Mme MacNeil : Oui.

Senator Andreychuk:  I want to make sure we get some
Atlantic. We’ve heard overwhelming testimony of what it will
do to the medical system. I think your membership would be as
worried about losing doctors and having access in an aging
population. I’ve had conversation with the Canadian Labour
Congress in Ottawa. They are concerned about those things, but I
would like it from the Nova Scotia perspective if you have a
paragraph that you want to add on the consequences to your
membership, should there be declining number of medical
capabilities and how that may affect you and your workers. I
don’t think we have time for the answers today.

La sénatrice Andreychuk : Je veux m’assurer que nous
obtenons certains commentaires de l’Atlantique. Nous avons
entendu des témoignages accablants concernant l’effet qu’auront
les modifications sur le système médical. Je pense que vos
membres seraient aussi préoccupés par la possibilité de perdre
des médecins et d’avoir une population vieillissante qui a de la
difficulté à obtenir des soins. J’ai tenu une conversation avec des
représentants du Congrès du travail du Canada, à Ottawa. Ils sont
préoccupés par ces choses, mais je voudrais obtenir le point de
vue de la Nouvelle-Écosse, si vous avez un paragraphe que vous
voulez ajouter énonçant les conséquences pour vos membres, s’il
y avait une réduction du nombre de médecins, et en quoi cette
réduction pourrait vous toucher, vos travailleurs et vous. Je ne
pense pas que nous ayons le temps d’entendre les réponses
aujourd’hui.
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The Chair:  No, but I would ask, if you have an answer or
comment, please do it in writing through the clerk.

Le président : Non, mais je vous demanderais, si vous avez
une réponse ou un commentaire, de bien vouloir les présenter par
écrit à la greffière.

Before we conclude, I would be remiss to honourable senators
from Atlantic Canada if I did not to bring to their attention that I
personally recognize the quality of work the Atlantic Provinces
Economic Council does for Atlantic Canada. If you haven’t seen
their magazine, I call it a quality magazine that refreshes our
minds on the challenges as we go forward.

Avant de conclure, je ferais preuve de négligence envers les
honorables sénateurs du Canada atlantique si je ne portais pas à
leur attention le fait que je reconnais personnellement la qualité
du travail que fait le Conseil économique des provinces de
l’Atlantique pour cette région. Son magazine, selon moi — si
vous ne l’avez pas vu —, en est un de qualité qui nous rafraîchit
les idées quant aux difficultés qui nous attendent.

Mr. Poschmann, to your board of directors, as chair and as a
senator from New Brunswick, I am very satisfied with the
quality of the work that you produce.

Monsieur Poschmann, je m’adresse à votre conseil
d’administration : en tant que président et que sénateur du
Nouveau-Brunswick, je suis très satisfait de la qualité du travail
que vous produisez.

To honourable senators and to all the other witnesses, thank
you very much. It was very informative. It was of quality and it
will be certainly a part of going forward with our report to the
Senate of Canada.

Aux honorables sénateurs et à tous les autres témoins, merci
beaucoup. C’était très informatif. Les renseignements étaient de
qualité, et ils nous serviront certainement à produire notre
rapport au Sénat du Canada.

(The committee adjourned.) (La séance est levée.)
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TÉMOINS

Le mardi 21 novembre 2017 (avant-midi)

Dairy Farmers of Nova Scotia :

Gerrit Damsteegt, président.

Fédération de l’agriculture de la Nouvelle-Écosse :

Chris van den Heuvel, président.

Chambre de commerce d’Halifax :

Patrick Sullivan, président-directeur général.

Chambre de commerce de l’Atlantique :

Glenn Davis, vice-président, Politique.

Cape Breton Barristers’ Society :

Nicole LaFosse, avocate, LaFosse MacLeod.

Le mardi 21 novembre 2017 (après-midi)

Doctors Nova Scotia :

Dre Maria Alexiadis, médecin de famille, ancienne présidente.

Association du personnel médical du Cap-Breton :

Dr Craig Stone, médecin, président.

Maritime Resident Doctors :

Dre Caitlin Lees, présidente.

Conseil économique des provinces de l’Atlantique :

Finn Poschmann, président-directeur général.

À titre personnel :

Dr Pierre Schmit, professeur agrégé, Radiologie et Pédiatrie,
Université Dalhousie — Centre de soins de santé IWK.

Flaim Wolsey Hall, Chartered Professional Accountants :

Don Wolsey, associé.

Halifax-Dartmouth & District Labour Council :

Suzanne MacNeil, présidente.

WITNESSES

Tuesday, November 21, 2017 (morning)

Dairy Farmers of Nova Scotia:

Gerrit Damsteegt, Chair.

Nova Scotia Federation of Agriculture:

Chris van den Heuvel, President.

Halifax Chamber of Commerce:

Patrick Sullivan, President and Chief Executive Officer.

Atlantic Chamber of Commerce:

Glenn Davis, Vice President, Policy.

Cape Breton Barristers’ Society:

Nicole LaFosse, Lawyer, LaFosse MacLeod.

Tuesday, November 21, 2017 (afternoon)

Doctors Nova Scotia:

Dr. Maria Alexiadis, Family Doctor, Past President.

Cape Breton Medical Staff Association:

Dr. Craig Stone, Physician, President.

Maritime Resident Doctors:

Dr. Caitlin Lees, Chair.

Atlantic Provinces Economic Council:

Finn Poschmann, President and Chief Executive Officer.

As an individual:

Dr. Pierre Schmit, Associate Professor, Radiology and Pediatric,
Dalhousie University — IWK Health Centre.

Flaim Wolsey Hall, Chartered Professional Accountants:

Don Wolsey, Partner.

Halifax-Dartmouth & District Labour Council:

Suzanne MacNeil, President.


